# CARDIFF UNIVERSITY



# PROBLEMS RELATED TO NUMBER THEORY

Sum-and-Distance Systems, Reversible Square Matrices and Divisor Functions

# SALLY L. HILL

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

September 2017 (and in revised form April 2018)

### DECLARATION

This work has not been submitted in substance for any other degree or award at this or any other university or place of learning, nor is being submitted concurrently in candidature for any degree or other award.

Signed ...... (candidate)

Date .....

## STATEMENT 1

This thesis is being submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of PhD

Signed ...... (candidate)

Date .....

## STATEMENT 2

This thesis is the result of my own independent work/investigation, except where otherwise stated, and the thesis has not been edited by a third party beyond what is permitted by Cardiff University's Policy on the Use of Third Party Editors by Research Degree Students. Other sources are acknowledged by explicit references. The views expressed are my own.

Signed ...... (candidate)

Date .....

## STATEMENT 3

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available online in the University's Open Access repository and for inter-library loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

Signed ...... (candidate) Date .....

# STATEMENT 4: PREVIOUSLY APPROVED BAR ON ACCESS

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available online in the University's Open Access repository and for inter-library loans after expiry of a bar on access previously approved by the Academic Standards & Quality Committee.

Signed ...... (candidate) Date .....

## Summary

We say that two sets A and B, each of cardinality m, form an m + m sum-anddistance system  $\{A, B\}$  if the sum-and-distance set  $A^*B$  comprised of all the absolute values of the sums and distances  $a_i \pm b_j$  contains either the consecutive odd integers  $\{1, 3, 5, \ldots 4m^2 - 1\}$  or with the inclusion of the set elements themselves, the consecutive integers  $\{1, 2, 3, \ldots, 2m(m+1)\}$  (an inclusive sum-and-distance system). Sum-anddistance systems can be thought of as a discrete analogue of the union of a Minkowski sum system with a Minkowski difference system. We show that they occur naturally within a traditional reversible square matrix, where conjugation with a specific orthogonal symmetric involution, always reveals a sum-and-distance system within the block structure of the conjugated matrix. Moreover, we show that the block representation is an algebra isomorphism.

Building upon results of Ollerenshaw, and Brée, for a fixed dimension n, we establish a bijection between the set of sum-and-distance systems and the set of traditional principal reversible square matrices of size  $n \times n$ . Using the *j*th non-trivial divisor function  $c_j(n)$ , which counts the total number of proper ordered factorisations of the integer  $n = p_1^{a_1} \dots p_t^{a_t}$  into *j* parts, we prove that the total number of n + n principal reversible square matrices, and so sum-and-distance systems,  $N_n$ , is given by

$$N_n = \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} \left( c_j(n)^2 + c_{j+1}(n)c_j(n) \right) = \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} c_j^{(0)}(n)c_j^{(1)}(n).$$
$$= \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} \left( \sum_{i=1}^j (-1)^{j-i} \binom{j}{i} \prod_{k=1}^t \binom{a_k+i-1}{i-1} \right) \left( \sum_{i=0}^j (-1)^{j-i} \binom{j}{i} \prod_{k=1}^t \binom{a_k+i}{i} \right),$$

where  $\Omega(n) = a_1 + a_2 + \ldots + a_t$  is the total number of prime factors (including repeats) of n.

Further relations between the divisor functions and their Dirichlet series are deduced, as well as a construction algorithm for all sum-and-distance systems of either type.

Superalgebra structures relating to the matrix symmetry properties are identified, including those for the reversible and most-perfect square matrices of those considered by Ollerenshaw and Brée. For certain symmetry types, links between the block representation constructed from a sum-and-distance system, and quadratic forms are also established.

# Acknowledgements

First and foremost I would like to thank my supervisor Dr Matthew Lettington for his unwavering support and enthusiasm, without which this would not have been possible. Our meetings were productive, enjoyable and always with a lovely cup of tea. Secondly, I would like the thank my second supervisor Prof. Karl Schmidt for his invaluable comments and expertise.

To my parents for always believing in me, for their at-most support, engorgement and optimism. They have always encouraged me to pursue my dreams and not to quit. I would like to thank the rest of my family for their invaluable support those who include my Grampy and Nanny Tovey, my late Grandfather and Nanny Hill, My brother Alex, sister-in-law Vicky and the newest member little Zac who brought much happiness in the last and most stressful stages.

To my dearest friend and one of the most selfless individuals I know, Dr Waleed Ali, who has supported me both emotionally and academically for which I will always be grateful. To Dr James Evans and Martyn Deverell for their invaluable friendship, support and ability to always have a chat. To the fantastic friends during my time at Cardiff who made my time here so enjoyable those including Bro Bishop, Danny Groves, Simon Cen, Alex Mackay, Dr Xander Ramage and everyone else who has helped me.

A special thanks to Scott Morgan to all the support and encouragement.

Finally, to Misty, because I love that fluffy cat.

I acknowledge the financial support given to me by EPSRC and the school of Mathematics at Cardiff.

# Notation

- $\mathbb R$  The set of all real numbers.
- $\mathbb C$  The set of all complex numbers.
- $\mathbbm{Z}$  The set of all integers.
- $\mathbb N$  The set of all natural numbers.

 $\emptyset$  The empty set.

 $\mathbb{Z}_n$  The set of all integers from 1 to  $n, \{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$ .

 $\mathbb{R}^n$  Any *n*-length vector of real entry values.

 $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  The set of all  $n \times n$  matrices with real number entries.

0

 $\mathbb{Z}^{n \times n}$  The set of all  $n \times n$  matrices with integer entries.

$$\begin{split} I_n & \text{The } n \times n \text{ identity matrix } I_n = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 1 \end{pmatrix}.\\ J_n & \text{The } n \times n \text{ anti-diagonal identity matrix, } J_n = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & \dots & 1 & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 1 & \dots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}\\ E_n & \text{The } n \times n \text{ matrix of ones, } E_n = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 1 & 1 & \dots & 1 \end{pmatrix}.\\ \hat{0}_n & \text{The } n \times n \text{ zero matrix, } \hat{0}_k = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{split}$$

 $c_n$  A *n*-length vector consisting only of the constant *c*. For example,  $1_n = (1, 1, ..., 1)^T$ and  $0_n = (0, 0, \dots, 0)^T$ .

 $\S_n$  is the *n*-length vector with alternating signed entries, 1 and -1,  $\S_n = (1, -1, 1, -1, \dots, \pm 1)^T$ .  $X_n$  The  $n \times n X_n$  matrix

$$X_n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( \begin{array}{cc} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{array} \right),$$

when n = 2k is even, and

$$X_{n} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_{k} & 0_{k} & J_{k} \\ 0_{k}^{T} & \sqrt{2} & 0_{k}^{T} \\ J_{k} & 0_{k} & -I_{k} \end{pmatrix}$$

when n = 2k + 1 is odd.

- $\Omega(n)$  The sum of prime powers of  $n = p_1^{a_1} p_2^{a_2} \dots p_t^{a_t}$  where  $p_1, p_2 \dots p_t$  are prime and  $a_1, a_2 \dots a_t$  are positive integers,  $\Omega(n) = a_1 + a_2 + \dots a_t$ .
- |n| The integer part of n.
- n! The factorial of positive integer  $n, n! = n(n-1) \dots 2 \times 1$ .
- $v^T u$  The dot product of two *n*-length vectors,  $v = (v_1, v_2, \dots, v_n)$  and  $u = (u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n)$ ,  $v^T u = v_1 u_1 + v_2 u_2 + \dots + v_n u_n$ .
- $vu^T$  The outer product of two vectors  $v = (v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_n)$  and  $u = (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_n)$ , giving the matrix  $vu^T = (u_i v_j)_{i,j}$ .
- $\{v\}^{\perp}$  The set of orthogonal vectors to v, i.e. if  $u \in \{v\}^{\perp}$  then  $u^T v = v^T u = 0$ .
- $\zeta(s)$  The Riemann zeta function, defined for  $s \in \mathbb{C}$ , with  $\Re(s) > 1$ , such that

$$\zeta(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^s}.$$

# Contents

1	Intro	duction to Sum-and-Distance Systems	1	
	1.1 \$	Sum-and-Distance Systems	1	
	1.2 I	Fundamental Properties of $m + m$ Sum-and-Distance Systems	2	
	1.3 (	Connection to Sum Systems	5	
	1.4 (	Overview of Main Results and Thesis Structure	10	
<b>2</b>	The <i>j</i> th Divisor Functions $d_j(n)$ and $c_j(n)$			
	2.1	A Brief History of $d_2(n)$	14	
	2.2 I	Properties of $d_j(n)$	16	
	2.3 I	Properties of $c_j(n)$	18	
	2.4	The Arithmetic Function $c_j^{(r)}(n)$	22	
	2.5	The Dirichlet Series of $c_j^{(r)}(n)$	23	
3	Reve	rsible Square Matrices	26	
	3.1	The Type R, Type V and Type $\hat{V}$ Block Representations $\ldots \ldots$	33	
	3.2 I	Legitimate Transforms and Reversible Square Equivalence Classes .	46	
	3.3	The Equivalence Class Cardinality	50	
4	Sum-	and-Distance to Reversible Square Bijection	52	
	4.1	Iraditional Reversible Squares and Sum-and-Distance Systems	52	
	4.2 I	Enumeration of Equivalent Vectors	61	
<b>5</b>	Principal Reversible Squares: their Construction and Enumera-			
	tion		63	
	5.1 \$	Smallest Corner Blocks and Divisor Paths	64	
	5.2	The Number of Principal Reversible Squares $N_n$	67	
6	Sum-	and-Distance Systems Construction Algorithm	74	
	6.1 (	Construction of (non-inclusive) Sum-and-Distance systems	79	
	6.2 (	Construction of Inclusive Sum-and-Distance Systems	86	
	6.3 (	Geometric Interpretation	89	
7	$\operatorname{Most}$	-Perfect Squares and Reversible Squares	103	
	7.1	The Most Perfect to Reversible Transform	103	
	7.2	The Most-Perfect Square Block Representation	105	
8	Algeb	oras of Matrices with Symmetric Properties	124	
	8.1	The Superlagebras $S_n \oplus V_n$ and $N_n \oplus M_n$	129	
	8.2	The Type R Matrix Algebra $R_n$	129	
9	Quad	ratic Forms from Type A Matrices	131	
	9.1	The Type A Block Representation	131	
	9.2 I	Eigenvalues of the square of a type $A \cap S$ Square $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	133	

10 Further Work			
		trix	142
	9.4	Quadratic Forms Constructed from the Square of a Type $A \cap S$ Ma-	
	9.3	Eigenvector Matrices of the Square of a Type $A\cap S$ Square $\ . \ . \ .$	137

## 1 Introduction to Sum-and-Distance Systems

#### 1.1 Sum-and-Distance Systems

Throughout this thesis, for two non-empty sets of integers A and B, we are interested in the sum-set A + B and the difference-set |A - B| defined by

$$A + B = \{a + b : a \in A, b \in B\}, \qquad |A - B| = \{|a - b| : a \in A, b \in B\}.$$

Given some constant  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  we define

$$\lambda A = \{\lambda a \mid a \in A\},\$$

and

$$A + \{\lambda\} = \{a + \lambda \mid a \in A\}.$$

More specifically we are interested in cases where the union of the sum-set and the difference-set (possibly with the set elements themselves) comprise a target set containing either consecutive integers or consecutive odd-integers with no repeats.

The combinatorial set pair formed from the union of a sum-set and difference-set (possibly with the set elements themselves) is referred to as a *sum-and-distance system*, the two types of which we now formally define.

**Definition.** For natural numbers m and n, let

$$A = \{a_1, \dots, a_m\}, \text{ and } B = \{b_1, \dots, b_n\},\$$

be two sets of non-negative integers, respectively of m and n distinct elements, ordered in terms of increasing value, with  $A \cap B = \phi$ .

Then we say that the set pair A and B form an m+n sum-and-distance system, if and only if the corresponding sum-and-distance set,  $A^*B$ , defined by

$$A^*B = (A+B) \cup |A-B| = \{a_i + b_j, |a_i - b_j| : i \in \{1, \dots, m\}, j \in \{1, \dots, n\}\},\$$

is the set of odd integers  $\{1, 3, 5, \ldots, 4mn - 1\}$ .

Similarly we say that A and B form an *inclusive* m+n sum-and-distance system if and only if the union of the corresponding sum-and-distance set,  $A^*B$ , with A and B, given by  $A^*B \cup A \cup B = A \cup B \cup (A+B) \cup |A-B|$ 

$$=\{ a_i, b_j, a_i+b_j, |a_i-b_j| : i \in \{1, \dots, m\}, j \in \{1, \dots, n\} \},\$$

is the set of consecutive integers  $\{1, 2, 3, \dots 2mn + m + n\}$ .

**Example** (of m + n sum-and-distance sets). When m = 8, n = 2, the set pair

$$A = \{2, 6, 10, 14, 18, 22, 26, 30\}, \qquad B = \{31, 33\},$$

form an 8 + 2 sum-and-distance system, because the sum-and-distance set  $A^*B$  is the set of consecutive odd integers  $1, 3, 5, \ldots, 63$ .

Similarly when m = n = 4 the set pair

$$A = \{1, 8, 9, 10\}, \qquad B = \{3, 24, 27, 30\},\$$

forms an inclusive 4 + 4 sum-and-distance system, because the inclusive sum-anddistance set, comprising the union of the sets A and B with the sum-and-distance set  $A^*B$ , is the set of consecutive integers 1, 2, 3, ..., 40.

**Remark.** From the above definition of sum-and-distance systems (of both varieties) it can be seen that one can generalise to the *d*-dimensional case of the  $m_1 + m_2 + \ldots + m_d$  sum-and-distance systems for some specified target set. However this more general case is a topic for future work and is not considered here.

**Example** (of m + m sum-and-distance systems). When m = 3 there are the seven 3 + 3 (non-inclusive) sum-and-distance systems

$$\{\{1,3,5\},\{6,18,30\}\}, \quad \{\{1,7,9\},\{2,22,26\}\}, \quad \{\{1,11,13\},\{14,18,22\}\},$$

 $\{\{1, 23, 25\}, \{2, 6, 10\}\}, \{\{3, 9, 15\}, \{16, 18, 20\}\}, \{\{3, 21, 27\}, \{4, 6, 8\}\},\$ 

and  $\{\{7,9,11\},\{12,18,24\}\}$ , but just the one inclusive 3+3 sum-and-distance system  $\{\{1,2,3\},\{7,14,21\}\}$ , where the elements of the set B are 7 times the elements of the set A. In such cases we call the set pair  $\{A, B\}$  parasymmetric.

In this thesis we primarily consider the symmetric case, when both the sets A and B have cardinality m.

One of our main aims in this present work is the enumeration and construction of all such m + m sum-and-distance systems.

#### **1.2** Fundamental Properties of *m*+*m* Sum-and-Distance Systems

The m + m sum-and-distance systems exhibit many symmetric properties, some of which we now describe below.

**LEMMA 1.1.** For a natural number m, the sum of the squares of the 2m elements of an m + m sum-and-distance system is invariant and is given by

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} (a_i^2 + b_i^2) = \frac{1}{3!} (2m)((2m)^4 - 1) = \frac{m}{3}((2m)^4 - 1).$$

Similarly, the sum of the squares of the 2m elements of an inclusive m + m sum-

and-distance system is invariant and is given by

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} (a_i^2 + b_i^2) = \frac{1}{4!} (2m+1)((2m+1)^4 - 1).$$

*Proof.* The set of  $2m^2$  integers in  $(A+B) \cup |A-B|$  is

$$\{a_i + b_j, |a_i - b_j| : i \in \{1, \dots, m\}, j \in \{1, \dots, m\}\},\$$

and the sum of their squares is

$$\sum_{1 \le i,j \le m} \left( (a_i + b_j)^2 + (a_i - b_j)^2 \right) = \sum_{1 \le i,j \le m} \left( 2a_i^2 + 2b_j^2 \right)$$
$$= \sum_{1 \le i,j \le m} 2a_i^2 + \sum_{1 \le i,j \le m} 2b_j^2 = 2m \sum_{i=1}^m a_i^2 + 2m \sum_{j=1}^m b_j^2 = 2m \sum_{i=1}^m (a_i^2 + b_i^2).$$

We also have

$$(A+B) \cup |A-B| = \{1,3,5,\dots,(4m^2-1)\},\$$

and we may use the result that

$$1^{2} + 3^{2} + 5^{2} + \ldots + (2n-1)^{2} = \frac{n(4n^{2}-1)}{3},$$

to see that the sum of the squares is also given

$$1^{2} + 3^{2} + 5^{2} + \ldots + (2m^{2} - 1)^{2} = \frac{2m^{2}(4(2m^{2})^{2} - 1)}{3}.$$

This tells us that

$$2m\sum_{i=1}^{m} (a_i^2 + b_i^2) = \frac{2m^2(16m^4 - 1)}{3}$$

or

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} (a_i^2 + b_i^2) = \frac{m(16m^4 - 1)}{3}$$

as required.

To see the second statement, from the definition of an inclusive m + m sum-anddistance system we have that the set of  $2m^2+2m$  integers in  $A \cup B \cup (A+B) \cup |A-B|$ is

$$\{a_i, b_j, a_i + b_j, |a_i - b_j| : i \in \{1, \dots, m\}, j \in \{1, \dots, m\}\},\$$

and the sum of their squares is

$$\sum_{1 \le i \le m} (a_i^2 + b_i^2) + \sum_{1 \le i,j \le m} \left( (a_i + b_j)^2 + (a_i - b_j)^2 \right)$$
$$= \sum_{1 \le i \le m} (a_i^2 + b_i^2) + \sum_{1 \le i,j \le m} \left( 2a_i^2 + 2b_j^2 \right)$$

$$= \sum_{1 \le i \le m} a_i^2 + \sum_{1 \le i, j \le m} 2a_i^2 + \sum_{1 \le j \le m} b_j^2 + \sum_{1 \le i, j \le m} 2b_j^2$$
$$= (2m+1)\sum_{i=1}^m a_i^2 + (2m+1)\sum_{j=1}^m b_j^2 = (2m+1)\sum_{i=1}^m (a_i^2 + b_i^2).$$

We also have

$$A \cup B \cup (A+B) \cup |A-B| = \{1, 2, 3, \dots, (2m^2 + 2m)\},\$$

and we may use the result that

$$1^{2} + 2^{2} + 3^{2} + \ldots + n^{2} = \frac{n(n+1)(2n+1)}{6},$$

to see that the sum of the squares is also given

$$1^{2} + 2^{2} + 3^{2} + \ldots + (2m^{2} + 2m)^{2} = \frac{(2m^{2} + 2m)(2m^{2} + 2m + 1)(4m^{2} + 4m + 1)}{6}$$
$$= \frac{((2m + 1)^{2} - 1)}{2} \frac{((2m + 1)^{2} + 1)}{2} \frac{(2m + 1)^{2}}{6} = \frac{((2m + 1)^{4} - 1)}{4} \frac{(2m + 1)^{2}}{6}.$$

This tells us that

$$(2m+1)\sum_{i=1}^{m}(a_i^2+b_i^2) = \frac{((2m+1)^2)((2m+1)^4-1)}{24},$$

or

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} (a_i^2 + b_i^2) = \frac{(2m+1)((2m+1)^4 - 1)}{4!}$$

as required.

**LEMMA 1.2.** For positive integer m, the two sets

$$A = \{2k - 1 | 1 \le k \le m\} \text{ and } B = \{2m(2k - 1) | 1 \le k \le m\} = 2mA$$

form an m + m sum-and-distance system, which we call the canonical m + m sumand-distance system.

*Proof.* The interval  $[0, 4m^2]$  contains the  $2m^2$  consecutive odd numbers  $1, 3, \ldots, 4m^2 - 1$ . It is the union of the *m* intervals

$$[0, 4m], [4m, 8m], \dots [2m(2m-2), 4m^2],$$

whose midpoints are precisely the elements of B.

Now each interval contains exactly m odd numbers greater than its midpoint and m less than its midpoint, all of which may be obtained by adding or subtracting one of the elements of set A. In this way we obtain the required odd numbers.

**LEMMA 1.3.** For positive integer m, the two sets

$$A = \{1, \dots, m\}, \text{ and } B = (2m+1)\{1, \dots, m\} = (2m+1)A$$

form an inclusive m + m sum-and-distance system, which we call the canonical inclusive m + m sum-and-distance system.

*Proof.* The set

$$A \cup B \cup (A+B) \cup |A-B| = \{ a_i, b_j, a_i+b_j, |a_i-b_j| : i, j \in \{1, \dots, m\} \}$$

contains exactly  $2m + 2m^2$  elements. We have to show that these are the integers  $1, 2, \ldots 2m + 2m^2$ . The integers  $1, 2 \ldots m$  are obtained directly from A. All integers in the interval  $[m + 1, 2m + 2m^2]$  belong to exactly one of the subintervals

$$[2m+1-m, 2m+1+m], [2(2m+1)-m, 2(2m+1)+m], [3(2m+1)-m, 3(2m+1)+m],$$
$$\dots, [m(2m+1)-m, m(2m+1)+m]$$

whose midpoints are the elements of B. To obtain any integer in the interval  $[m+1, 2m+2m^2]$  except for the midpoints we choose the subinterval to which it belongs, take the midpoint, which belongs to B, and add or subtract the appropriate element from A. The midpoints are obtained directly from B.

**LEMMA 1.4.** Let  $\{A, B\}$  be an m + n non-inclusive sum-and-distance system. Then all elements of A are even and all elements of B are odd, or vice versa.

*Proof.* If without loss of generality the set A contained both an even and an odd integer element then these could be combined with the same element of B to give an even and odd sum (or difference) in the sum-and-distance set. However the target set only contains odd numbers and so we obtain a contradiction. Hence the elements of A are either all odd or all even with the elements of B being of the opposite parity.

#### **1.3** Connection to Sum Systems

**Definition** (of sum systems). For natural numbers m and n, let

$$A = \{a_1, \dots, a_m\}, \text{ and } B = \{b_1, \dots, b_n\},\$$

be two sets of integers, respectively of m and n distinct elements, ordered in terms of increasing absolute value, with  $A \cap B = \phi$ .

Then we say that the set pair A and B form an m+n sum system, if and only if the corresponding sum set, A+B, is the set of consecutive integers  $\{0, 1, 2, \ldots, mn-1\}$ .

There exists a close relationship between sum-and-distance systems and sum systems, as for each sum-and-distance system there is a corresponding sum system, as described in the following theorem.

**THEOREM 1.5.** For each m + m sum-and-distance system  $\{A, B\}$ , there is a corresponding 2m + 2m sum system  $\{A', B'\}$ , such that  $A^*B = A' + B'$ .

Similarly, for each m + m inclusive sum-and-distance system  $\{A, B\}$ , there is a corresponding (2m + 1) + (2m + 1) sum system  $\{A', B'\}$ , such that  $A \cup B \cup A^*B = A' + B'$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\{A, B\}$  be a non-inclusive m + m sum-and-distance system with

$$A = \{a_1, \dots, a_m\}, \qquad B = \{b_1, \dots, b_m\},\$$

so that

$$(A+B) \cup |A-B| = \{1, 3, \dots, (2m)^2 - 1\}.$$

We now define the two-step map f as follows.

#### Step One

Consider the extended 2m + 2m system given by

$$\{\{-A \cup A\}, \{-B \cup B\}\} = \{\{-a_m, \dots, -a_1, a_1, \dots, a_m\}, \{-b_m, \dots, -b_1, b_1, \dots, b_m\}\}.$$

The corresponding sum-set comprising all sums of pairs of elements can then be written as

$$\{-A \cup A\} + \{-B \cup B\} = \{\pm a_j \pm b_k | a_j \in A, \ b_k \in B\}$$
$$= \{\pm 1, \pm 3, \dots, \pm ((2m)^2 - 1)\}.$$

#### Step Two

Now add  $a_m$  and  $b_m$  to the sets  $\{-A \cup A\}$  and  $\{-B \cup B\}$  respectively to obtain the system,

$$\{\{-A \cup A\} + a_m, \{-B \cup B\} + b_m\} = \{\{-a_m + a_m, \dots, -a_1 + a_m, a_1 + a_m, \dots, a_m + a_m\}, \{-A \cup A\} + a_m, \{-B \cup B\} + b_m\} = \{\{-a_m + a_m, \dots, -a_1 + a_m, a_1 + a_m, \dots, a_m + a_m\}, \{-A \cup A\} + a_m, \{-B \cup B\} + b_m\} = \{\{-a_m + a_m, \dots, -a_1 + a_m, a_1 + a_m, \dots, a_m + a_m\}, \{-A \cup A\} + a_m, \{-B \cup B\} + b_m\} = \{\{-a_m + a_m, \dots, -a_1 + a_m, a_1 + a_m, \dots, a_m + a_m\}, \{-A \cup A\} + a_m, \dots, a_m + a_m\}, \{-A \cup A\} + a_m, \dots, a_m + a_m\}, \{-A \cup A\} + a_m, \dots, a_m + a_m\}, \{-A \cup A\} + a_m, \dots, a_m + a_m\}$$

$$\{-b_m + b_m, \ldots, -b_1 + b_m, b_1 + b_m, \ldots b_m + b_m\}\}.$$

As  $a_m$  and  $b_m$  are the largest two entries in either A and B their sum must equal  $(2m)^2 - 1$ . Hence we have that

$$\{-A \cup A\} + a_m + \{-B \cup B\} + b_m = \{\pm 1, \pm 3, \dots, \pm ((2m)^2 - 1)\} + a_m + b_m$$
$$= \{\pm 1, \pm 3, \dots, \pm ((2m)^2 - 1)\} + (2m)^2 - 1$$
$$= \{0, 2, 4, \dots, 2((2m)^2 - 1)\}.$$

By Lemma 1.4, either the set A contains all even integers and the set B all odd integers or vice-versa. It follows that we can create the two sets of integers A' and B', by setting

$$A' = \frac{1}{2} \left( \{ -A \cup A \} + a_m \right), \quad B' = \frac{1}{2} \left( \{ -B \cup B \} + b_m \right)$$

we therefore have that  $\{A', B'\}$  form a 2m + 2m sum system with

$$A' + B' = \{0, 1, 2, \dots, 2((2m)^2 - 1)\}.$$

Similarly for an inclusive m + m sum-and-distance system  $\{A, B\}$  we have

$$A = \{a_1, \dots, a_m\}, B = \{b_1, \dots, b_m\}$$

with

$$A + B \cup |A - B| \cup A \cup B = \{1, 2, \dots, 2m^2 + 2m\}.$$

In step one we now include the element  $\{0\}$  to obtain

$$\{\{-A \cup \{0\} \cup A\}, \{-B \cup \{0\} \cup B\}\} = \{\{-a_m, \dots, -a_1, 0, a_1, \dots, a_m\}$$
$$\{-b_m, \dots, -b_1, 0, b_1, \dots, b_m\}\},\$$

so that

$$\{-A \cup \{0\} \cup A\} + \{-B \cup \{0\} \cup B\} = \{\pm a_j \pm b_k, \ \pm a_j, \ \pm b_k, \ 0 \ | a_j \in A, \ b_k \in B\}$$
$$= \{0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \dots, \pm (2m^2 + 2m)\}.$$

**Step two** remains unchanged with  $a_m$  and  $b_m$  added to the sets  $\{-A \cup \{0\} \cup A\}$ and  $\{-B \cup \{0\} \cup B\}$  respectively such that

$$\{\{-A, \{0\}, A\} + a_m, \{-B, \{0\}, B\} + b_m\} = \{\{-a_m + a_m, \dots, -a_1 + a_m, a_m, a_1 + a_m, \dots, a_m + a_m\}$$

$$\{-b_m + b_m, \dots, -b_1 + b_m, b_m, b_1 + b_m, \dots, b_m + b_m\}\}$$

Here  $a_m + b_m = 2m^2 + 2m$ , so that  $\{-A \cup \{0\} \cup A\} + a_m + \{-B \cup \{0\} \cup B\} + b_m$ 

$$= \{0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \dots, \pm (2m^2 + 2m)\} + a_m + b_m$$

$$= \{0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \dots, \pm (2m^2 + 2m)\} + 2m^2 + 2m = \{0, 1, 2, \dots, 2(2m^2 + 2m)\}.$$

Setting

$$A' = \{-A \cup \{0\} \cup A\} + a_m, \quad B' = \{-B \cup \{0\} \cup B\}$$

we see that  $\{A', B'\}$  is a (2m+1) + (2m+1) sum system.

Hence with each m + m sum-and-distance system  $\{A, B\}$ , there is a corresponding 2m + 2m sum system  $\{A', B'\}$ , such that  $A^*B = A' + B'$ , for each m + m inclusive sum-and-distance system  $\{A, B\}$ , there is a corresponding (2m + 1) + (2m + 1) sum system  $\{A', B'\}$ , such that  $A \cup B \cup A^*B = A' + B'$ .

**Example.** Consider the 3+3 sum-and-distance system  $\{\{1,7,9\}, \{2,22,26\}\}$ . Applying the linear map f described in the proof of Theorem 1.5 we have

$$\{\{1,7,9\},\{2,22,26\}\} \longrightarrow \{\{-9,-7,-1,1,7,9\},\{-26,-22,-2,2,22,26\}\},\$$

and

$$\{\{-9, -7, -1, 1, 7, 9\}, \{-26, -22, -2, 2, 22, 26\}\}, \\ \longrightarrow \{\{0, 2, 8, 10, 16, 18\}, \{0, 4, 24, 28, 48, 52\}\}$$

with the final step being

$$\{\{0, 2, 8, 10, 16, 18\}, \{0, 4, 24, 28, 48, 52\}\} \longrightarrow \{\{0, 1, 4, 5, 8, 9\}, \{0, 2, 12, 14, 24, 26\}\}, \{0, 2, 12, 14, 24, 26\}\}$$

which is a 6 + 6 sum system.

Similarly, considering the 3+3 inclusive sum-and-distance system and applying the above mapping described in the proof of the lemma we have

$$\{\{1,2,3\},\{7,14,21\}\} \longrightarrow \{\{-3,-2,-1,0,1,2,3\},\{-21,-14,-7,0,7,14,21\}\},$$

and

$$\{\{-3, -2, -1, 0, 1, 2, 3\}, \{-21, -14, -7, 0, 7, 14, 21\}\} \longrightarrow \{\{0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6\}, \{0, 7, 14, 21, 28, 35, 42\}\},\$$

which is the canonical 7 + 7 sum system.

#### Motivation

Much work concerning sum systems has been undertaken, including identifying arithmetic progressions found within the set produced by all possible sums of the two sets. One such result proven by Bourgain in [12], says that if the sets C and D have size  $\gamma N$  and  $\delta$  respectively then for N sufficiently large, there exists a fixed constant c > 0 such that C + D contains an arithmetic progression of length at least

$$exp(c(\delta\gamma log N)^{1/3} - log log N).$$

Other work concerning repeating sum systems,  $A + A := \{a_1 + a_2 \mid a_i \in A\}$ has been extensively studied, along with repeating difference systems,  $A - A := \{a_1 - a_2 \mid a_i \in A\}$  in papers [43],[51] and [45] in which the cardinalities of both sets were compared. Further in a 2005 paper by Solymosi, [53], repeating sum systems and product systems,  $A, A = \{a_1.a_2 \mid a_i \in A\}$  are considered independently and their cardinalities compared.

However the important concept of constructing a sum system, or indeed a sum-anddistance system with a specified resulting sum set, or sum-and-distance set appears to have been overlooked in the literature, thus partially motivating these results. Moreover the foundations of our work were unknowingly laid by Ollerenshaw and Brée [10], who studied and enumerated all  $n \times n$  reversible square matrices of even order n = 4k, but were not aware of the block representation which we develop in this thesis that establishes a direct link to sum-and-distance systems. In fact our enumeration argument of all m + m sum-and-distance systems, involves the *j*th non-trivial divisor function  $c_j(n)$ , which counts the total number of proper ordered factorisations of the integer  $n = p_1^{a_1} \dots p_t^{a_t}$  into *j* parts. We show that the total number of n + n principal reversible square matrices (for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ), and so sum-and-distance systems,  $N_n$ , is given by

$$N_n = \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} \left( c_j(n)^2 + c_{j+1}(n)c_j(n) \right).$$

Such sums have been of interest in a different guise where one obtains asymptotic bounds, as discussed in a recent talk (1 September 2017) by the eminent number theorist Professor Christopher Hooley. Hooley disclosed that one of his PhD problems (set by his PhD supervisor Mr A. E. Ingham) was to obtain asymptotics for the sum

$$\sum_{n \le x} d_2(n) d_3(n+a), \qquad a \ne 0,$$

where  $d_j(n)$  is the *j*th divisor function, which counts the number of essentially different ways of writing *n* as the ordered product of *j* positive integer factors  $\geq 1$ . Hooley solved this problem, which led to him being awarded a Corpus Christi Prize Fellowship. However the next divisor function problem set by Ingham was to obtain asymptotics for the sum

$$\sum_{n \le x} d_3(n) d_3(n+a), \qquad a \ne 0,$$

which at the time of writing is still unsolved.

According to Professor M. N. Huxley, although there have been many attempts to bound sums of products of divisor functions, this appears to be the first instance of such a sum occurring naturally in a mathematical counting argument, and as such is of considerable interest.

#### 1.4 Overview of Main Results and Thesis Structure

Having now introduced the sum-and-distance systems of both varieties we briefly outline the content, structure and main results contained in this thesis. In Chapter 2 we formally introduce the divisor functions  $d_j(n)$  and  $c_j(n)$  and some new and existing properties concerning them. In Chapter 3 we introduce reversible square matrices and their conjugated block representation. The block representation then enables to establish (Chapter 4) a bijection between the set of all m + m sumand-distance systems and the set of all 2m + 2m principal reversible squares, and between the set of all m + m inclusive sum-and-distance systems and the set of all (2m + 1) + (2m + 1) principal reversible squares; those whose top row begins with  $1, 2, \ldots$ , and whose individual row and column sequences are all increasing, respectively left to right and top to bottom. In Chapter 5, by reworking the block enumeration argument of K. Ollerenshaw and D. Brée in (see [10]) terms of the divisor functions  $d_j(n)$  and  $c_j(n)$ , we enumerate the total number of m+m sum-anddistance systems,  $N_{2m}$  for non-inclusive systems, and  $N_{2m+1}$  for inclusive systems, as described in Corollary 5.6.

Building on our understanding of the divisor path enumeration of Chapter 5 and the bijection between sum-and-distance systems and reversible squares of Chapter 4, we deduce in Chapter 6, an algorithmic approach to constructing all inclusive and non-inclusive sum-and-distance systems. The fact that the construction is both exhaustive and non-repetitive is establishing by a geometric lattice point argument in  $\mathbb{Z}^n$ . Furthermore it is shown that when  $n = q^r$ , with r maximal, then the number of parasymmetric m + m sum-and-distance systems (those whose two ordered sets are linearly dependent) is given by  $d_2(r)$ , the standard divisor function.

With the enumeration and construction of all m + m sum-and-distance systems established, we then revisit the Most Perfect Squares of Ollerenshaw and Brée and derive a conjugated block representation for all such squares (Chapter 7). From this block representation, in Chapter 8 we deduce a new proof for the bijection (first discovered by Ollerenshaw) between the number of most-perfect squares and the number of principal reversible squares. Moreover we go on to establish that there exists superalgebras of matrices related to these matrix symmetries and give an overview of these algebraic structures. Finally in Chapter 9 we consider the type A and B matrices studied by Brunnock, Lettington and Schmidt [14], and establish two-sided eigenvector matrices for rank 1 + 1 constructions, from which we obtain quadratic forms.

Having outlined the thesis structure and topics we now give an overview of the main results obtained in each research direction.

**Divisor Functions.** The *j*th divisor function, denoted by  $d_j(n)$ , counts the number of essentially different ways of writing n as the ordered product of j positive integer factors  $\geq 1$ , so that  $d_1(n) = 1$  for all positive integers n. Similarly the *j*th nontrivial divisor function, denoted by  $c_j(n)$ , counts the number of essentially different ways of writing n as the ordered product of j positive integer factors with each factor  $\geq 2$ . Hence  $c_j(n)$  counts the total number of 'proper ordered factorisations' of n.

It is known that the Dirichlet series of these *j*th divisor function,  $d_j(n)$ ,  $c_j(n)$ , are respectively given by

$$\zeta(s)^j = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_j(n)}{n^s}, \qquad (\zeta(s) - 1)^j = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_j(n)}{n^s},$$

where  $\zeta(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^s}$  is the Riemann zeta function. However the second arithmetic function  $c_j(n)$  is not multiplicative and is far less well studied than its multiplicative cousin  $d_j(n)$ . In Chapter 2 we consider these two arithmetic functions in more detail, establishing relationships between  $c_j(n)$  and  $d_j(n)$ .

With  $c_j^{(0)}(n) = c_j(n)$ , set to be the non-trivial divisor function  $c_j(n)$ , we define the mixed divisor function  $c_j^{(r)}(n)$  such that

$$c_j^{(r)}(n) = \sum_{m|n} c_j^{(r-1)}(m),$$

and in Lemma 2.16 establish the corresponding Dirichlet series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_j^{(r)}(n)}{n^s} = \zeta(s)^r \, (\zeta(s) - 1)^j \, .$$

Let *n* have the prime factorisation  $n = p_1^{a_1} \dots p_t^{a_t}$ . Then with the divisor functions as defined above, we go on to show in Lemma 2.14 that

$$c_{j}^{(r)}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^{r} {\binom{r}{i}} c_{j+i}^{(0)}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-i} {\binom{j}{i}} d_{i+r}(n)$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-i} {\binom{j}{i}} \prod_{k=1}^{t} {\binom{a_{k}+i+r-1}{i+r-1}}.$$

**Reversible Square Matrices.** In Chapter 3 we consider the sets of  $n \times n$  reversible square matrices,  $R = (r_{ij})_{n \times n}$ , defined to be the  $n \times n$  matrices which satisfy for all i, j, i', j', the three symmetry conditions

- (1) (reverse row similarity)  $r_{i,j} + r_{i,n+1-j} = r_{i,j'} + r_{i,n+1-j'}$ ,
- (2) (reverse column similarity)  $r_{i,j} + r_{n+1-i,j} = r_{i',j} + r_{n+1-i',j}$ ,
- (3) (equal cross sums property)  $r_{i,j} + r_{i',j'} = r_{i,j'} + r_{i',j}$ .

Building upon the work of K. Ollerenshaw and D. Brée, we extend their results to all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , rather than just the doubly-even case n = 4k considered by them. We go on to show in Theorem 4.3 that with each principal reversible square matrix one can associate a unique *sum-and-distance system*, inclusive for odd-sided reversible squares and non-inclusive for even sided reversible squares. We thus obtain in Theorem 5.6 the explicit formula (not given in [10]) which says that the total number of principal reversible squares  $N_n$  is given by

$$N_n = \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} \left( c_j(n)^2 + c_{j+1}(n)c_j(n) \right) = \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} c_j^{(0)}(n)c_j^{(1)}(n).$$

**Block Representations.** To enable us to establish a bijection between the set of n + n principal reversible squares and the set of  $\lfloor n/2 \rfloor + \lfloor n/2 \rfloor$  sum-and-distance systems of the corresponding variety, we derive a rank 1 + 1 block representation for all reversible square matrices, which is evident after conjugation with a unitary matrix operator (see Section 3.1). Let  $E_n$  be the  $n \times n$  matrix with all entries equal to 1,  $\hat{0}_n$  be the  $n \times n$  matrix with all entries equal to 1,  $\hat{0}_n$  be the  $n \times n$  matrix with all entries equal to 0 and  $1_n$  the  $n \times 1$  column vector with all entries equal to 1. Then in Theorem 3.13 we show that  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is a reversible square if and only if it has the block representation,

even n = 2k

$$M = X_n \left( \begin{array}{cc} wE_k & 1_k a^T \\ b1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{array} \right) X_n$$

with  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $w \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

odd n = 2k + 1

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}wE_k & w1_k & \sqrt{2}1_k d^T \\ w1_k^T & w & d^T \\ \sqrt{2}b1_k^T & b & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

with  $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $w \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Sum-and-distance Systems, Binomial Enumeration and Prime Numbers. Utilising our block representation for reversible square matrices, we establish in Corollary 4.4 a bijection between the set of  $n \times n$  principal reversible squares and the set of  $\lfloor n/2 \rfloor + \lfloor n/2 \rfloor$  sum-and-distance systems of the corresponding variety. Thus in our enumeration argument for all m + m sum-and-distance systems, we deduce that the total number of traditional principal reversible squares  $N_n$ , of size n, is equal to the number of m + m non-inclusive sum-and-distance systems if n = 2m is even, and the number of m + m inclusive sum-and-distance systems if n = 2m + 1 is odd.

Let *n* have the prime factorisation  $n = p_1^{a_1} \dots p_t^{a_t}$ , so that *n* has *t* distinct prime factors and  $\Omega(n) = a_1 \dots + a_t$  prime factors in total. From Corollary 5.6 we have that the total number of  $\lfloor n/2 \rfloor + \lfloor n/2 \rfloor$  sum-and-distance systems, non-inclusive

when n is even and inclusive when n is odd, is given by

$$N_n = \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} \left( c_j(n)^2 + c_{j+1}(n) c_j(n) \right),$$

and using the explicit binomial forms for  $c_j^{(r)}(n)$  given in Chapter 2 we can write this as

$$N_n = \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} \left( \sum_{i=1}^j (-1)^{j-i} \binom{j}{i} \prod_{k=1}^t \binom{a_k+i-1}{i-1} \right) \left( \sum_{i=0}^j (-1)^{j-i} \binom{j}{i} \prod_{k=1}^t \binom{a_k+i}{i} \right).$$

Theorem 5.8 then gives us the primality test that  $n \ge 2$  is a prime number if and only if  $N_n = 1$ , so that when n = 2, the only 1 + 1 sum-and-distance system is  $\{\{1\}, \{2\}\},$ and when n = 2m + 1, the only m + m inclusive sum-and-distance system is again the canonical system given by

$$A = \{1, 2, 3, \dots m\}, \qquad B = \{n, 2n, 3n, \dots mn\} = nA$$

Hence with each prime number we can associate a unique sum-and-distance system.

**Construction of all Sum-and-distance Systems.** The construction algorithm for the sum-and-distance systems cannot be so easily stated as it requires a substantial amount of theory and notation which is given explicitly in Chapter 6. However a construction algorithm for all sum-and-distance systems is obtained with the main results stated in Theorems 6.4 and 6.6.

# **2** The *j*th Divisor Functions $d_i(n)$ and $c_i(n)$

The *j*th divisor function, denoted by  $d_j(n)$ , counts the number of different ways of writing n as the ordered product of j positive integer factors  $\geq 1$ , so that  $2 \times 3$  and  $3 \times 2$  are counted as different factorisations of the number 6. Hence  $d_1(n) = 1$  for all positive integers n, and traditionally the most studied of all the divisor functions  $d_2(n)$ , is denoted simply by d(n).

**Remark.** As  $d_2(n)$  counts the number of ordered pairs of divisors whose product is n, so that each pair with distinct factors is counted twice, it also counts the number of divisors of n.

Similarly the *j*th non-trivial divisor function, denoted by  $c_j(n)$ , counts the number of different ways of writing n as the ordered product of j positive integer factors with each factor  $\geq 2$ . Hence  $c_j(n)$  counts the total number of 'proper ordered factorisations' of n.

**Example.** When j = 2 and n = 12 we have

$$d_2(12) = |\{1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 12\}| = |\{(1 \times 12), (2 \times 6), (3 \times 4), (4 \times 3), (6 \times 2), (12 \times 1)\}| = 6,$$
$$c_2(12) = |\{(2 \times 6), (3 \times 4), (4 \times 3), (6 \times 2)\}| = 4.$$

#### **2.1** A Brief History of $d_2(n)$

The divisor functions belong to the class of arithmetic functions; those functions f which map the positive integers into the complex plane so that  $f : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{C}$ . By far the most famous of the divisor functions is  $d_2(n)$ , which arises in some classical number theoretic problems such as Dirichlet's Divisor Problem and the Gauss Circle problem. These problems have attracted the attention of some of the greatest number theorists of modern times including Littlewood [42], Hardy [26], Heath-Brown [28] and Huxley [34] [35].

In contrast there appears to have been much less study undertaken of the *j*th divisor function  $d_j(n)$ , and in the literature it is even harder to find reference to the *j*th non-trivial divisor function  $c_j(n)$ . In [55], Titchmarsh considered the problem of bounding the sum of the *k*th divisor functions for all positive integers up to *x*, denoted by  $D_k(x)$ , so that

$$D_k(x) = \sum_{n \le x} d_k(n).$$

He obtained the asymptotic formula

$$D_k(x) = xP_k(\log x) + \Delta_k(x)$$

where

$$\Delta_k(x) = \mathcal{O}(x^{1-1/k} \log^{k-2} x) \quad (k = 2, 3, ...)$$

and  $P_k$  is a polynomial of degree k-1.

Our motivation for studying these general divisor functions in more detail originates in the enumeration and construction problem concerning the number of *sum-anddistance systems* introduced in Chapter 1. However before proceeding in our study of these combinatorial objects and their number theoretic properties we first give a brief overview of the classical results concerning  $d_2(n)$ .

**Definition** (of the sum of number of divisors function). Let x be a positive integer then we define D(x) to be the sum of the number of divisors for all positive integers  $n \le x$ , so that

$$D(x) = \sum_{n \le x} d_2(n).$$

Around 200 years ago, Dirichlet gave the estimation for D(x)

$$D(x) = x \log x + (2\gamma - 1)x + \mathcal{O}(\sqrt{x}),$$

with  $\gamma$  the Euler-Mascheroni constant given by

$$\gamma = \lim_{x \to \infty} \left( -\log x + \sum_{k=1}^{x} \frac{1}{k} \right) = 0.57721...,$$

and where the usual 'big  $\mathcal{O}$ ' notation is employed (see for example [57]).

Replacing the upper bound exponent of 1/2 in the error term with  $\theta$ , so that

$$D(x) = x \log x + (2\gamma - 1)x + \mathcal{O}(x^{\theta}),$$

it was shown by Hardy and Landau in 1916 [26] that  $\theta$  has the lower bound  $\theta \geq \frac{1}{4}$  [26].

During the last century the challenge of improving this upper bound of 1/2 has attracted some of the greatest mathematicians such as Littlewood and Walfisz 1925 [42], van der Corput 1928 [15], Vinogradov 1935 [56], Iwaniec and Mozzochi 1988 [36], Huxley 2003 [34] and most recently  $\theta = \frac{517}{1648} = 0.31371...$  by Bourgain and Watt 2017 [13].

Closely related to Dirichlet's divisor problem is Gauss's circle problem, whose exponent differs by only a factor of 2. Gauss's circle problem is to count the number of lattice points, denoted by N(r), inside the circle of radius r, centre the origin.



Gauss showed that

$$N(r) = \pi r^2 + E(r),$$

with

$$|E(r)| \le 2\sqrt{2\pi}r.$$

Subsequently it was shown that

$$|E(r)| \le Cr^{\theta'},$$

where  $\theta' = 2\theta$ , being twice that of the exponent  $\theta$  found in Dirichlet's divisor problem [34].

**Remark.** Although we are primarily concerned with understanding the properties of the non-trivial divisor function  $c_j(n)$ , which occurs in our enumeration arguments, as this function is not multiplicative, it is helpful for us to understand  $c_j(n)$  in terms of the multiplicative function  $d_j(n)$ .

#### **2.2** Properties of $d_i(n)$

We begin by stating some well known results for the divisor function  $d_2(n)$ . **LEMMA 2.1.** Let p be any prime number and n any positive integer, then

$$d_2(p^n) = n+1.$$

**LEMMA 2.2.** Let k and  $s_i$  be a positive integers, for i = 1, ..., k with the  $p_i$  distinct prime numbers. Then

$$d_2(p_1^{s_1}p_2^{s_2}\dots p_k^{s_k}) = (s_1+1)(s_2+1)\dots(s_k+1) = \prod_{i=1}^k (s_i+1).$$

For proofs of Lemmas 2.1 and 2.2 we refer the reader to [58] and [59] (pp.239) respectively.

The *jth* divisor function satisfies a sum-over-divisors recurrence relation, is multiplicative and can be expressed in terms of binomial coefficients, as described in the following lemmas.

**LEMMA 2.3.** Let  $j, n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then the *j*th divisor function satisfies the sum-overdivisors recurrence relation

$$d_j(n) = \sum_{m|n} d_{j-1}(m).$$

*Proof.* For a proof of this result we refer the reader to pages 334-335 of [8]. **LEMMA 2.4.** The *j*th divisor function  $d_j(n)$ , is a multiplicative arithmetic function, so that for n a positive integer with n having prime factorisation  $n = p_1^{s_1} p_2^{s_2} \dots p_k^{s_k}$ , we have that

$$d_j(n) = d_j(p_1^{s_1} \dots p_k^{s_k}) = d_j(p_1^{s_1}) d_j(p_2^{s_2}) \dots d_j(p_k^{s_k}).$$

*Proof.* For a proof of this result we refer the reader to [37].

**LEMMA 2.5** (Binomial coefficient representation lemma). Let p be a prime number and s a positive integers. Then the *j*th divisor function of  $p^s$ ,  $d_j(p^s)$ , can be written as

$$d_j(p^s) = \frac{1}{(j-1)!} \prod_{l=1}^{j-1} (s+l),$$

or equivalently as the binomial coefficient

$$d_j(p^s) = \binom{s+j-1}{j-1}.$$

**COROLLARY 2.6.** Let n, j and k be positive integers with n having prime factorisation  $n = p_1^{s_1} p_2^{s_2} \dots p_k^{s_k}$ . Then the *j*th divisor function of  $n, d_j(n)$  can be written as

$$d_j(n) = d_j(p_1^{s_1} p_2^{s_2} \dots p_k^{s_k}) = \prod_{i=1}^k \frac{1}{(j-1)!} \prod_{l=1}^{j-1} (s_i+l) = \left(\frac{1}{(j-1)!}\right)^k \prod_{i=1}^k \prod_{l=1}^{j-1} (s_i+l),$$

which has the equivalent binomial coefficient representation

$$d_j(n) = \prod_{i=1}^k \binom{s_i + j - 1}{j - 1}.$$

*Proof.* For a proof of Lemma 2.5 we refer the reader to page 3 of [18], with the equivalence of the two forms then following by algebraic manipulation.

The Corollary then follows immediately by Lemma 2.4.

**Remark.** It is straightforward to demonstrate by counter-example that the *j*th divisor function is not completely multiplicative. For example, when n = 20 we have

$$d_2(20) = 6$$
, and  $d_2(10)d_2(2) = 4 \times 2 = 8$ ,

which demonstrates that

$$d_2(20) \neq d_2(10)d_2(2).$$

**Definition** (of the Riemann zeta function). For  $s \in \mathbb{C}$ , with  $\Re(s) > 1$ , we employ the standard notation and denote by  $\zeta(s)$  the *Riemann zeta function*, so that

$$\zeta(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^s}.$$

**Definition.** Let  $a_n$ ,  $n \in \{1, 2...\}$ , be an infinite sequence (possibly periodic) of

complex numbers. Then the *Dirichlet series* corresponding to  $a_n$  is defined to be

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_n}{n^s},$$

with s a complex variable.

**LEMMA 2.7** (First Dirichlet series lemma). For positive integer  $j \ge 1$ , and  $s \in \mathbb{C}$ , a complex variable, with  $\Re(s) > 1$ , the divisor function  $d_j(n)$  has the Dirichlet series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_j(n)}{n^s} = \zeta(s)^j.$$

**COROLLARY 2.8.** For  $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $s \in \mathbb{C}$  we have

$$\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_i(n)}{n^s}\right) \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_j(n)}{n^s}\right) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_{j+i}(n)}{n^s}$$

*Proof.* For this result we refer the reader to page 4 of Titchmarsh's book [55]. To see the Corollary, by the statement of the Lemma we have

$$\left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_i(n)}{n^s}\right) \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_j(n)}{n^s}\right) = \zeta(s)^i \zeta(s)^j = \zeta(s)^{i+j} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_{i+j}(n)}{n^s},$$
  
ed.

as required.

**Remark.** As  $d_j(1) = 1$  for all  $j \in \{1, 2, 3, ...\}$ , a common extension for the case j = 0 is

$$d_0(n) = \begin{cases} 1, & n = 1, \\ 0, & n > 1, \end{cases}$$

which yields

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_0(n)}{n^s} = \frac{d_0(1)}{1^s} + \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{d_0(n)}{n^s} = \zeta(s)^0 = 1,$$

thus extending the statements of Lemma 2.7 and Corollary to the case of j = 0.

There are variations of the Dirichlet series associated with  $d_j(n)$ , such as

$$\frac{\zeta(s)^3}{\zeta(2s)} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_2(n^2)}{n^s} \text{ and } \frac{(\zeta(s))^4}{\zeta(2s)} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{(d_2(n))^2}{n^s}$$

(see [55] pp.5-7).

### **2.3** Properties of $c_j(n)$

As previously defined, we denote by  $c_j(n)$ , the number of ordered non-trivial factorisations  $n = m_1 m_2, \dots, m_j$ , where each  $m_i \ge 2$ . We begin with an divisor sum recurrence for  $c_j(n)$  analogous to that given for  $d_j(n)$  in Lemma 2.3.

**LEMMA 2.9.** Let  $j, n \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $j \geq 2$ , then the *j*th non-trivial divisor function

satisfies the recurrence relation

$$c_j(n) = \sum_{\substack{m|n \\ m < n}} c_{j-1}(m) = \sum_{\substack{m|n \\ m \notin \{1,n\}}} c_{j-1}(m).$$

*Proof.* Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $n = m_1 m_2 \dots m_j$  be any ordered non-trivial factorisation into j factors. Then  $m_j$  can be any non-trivial divisor of n, so  $m = \frac{n}{m_j} = m_1 \dots m_{j-1}$  is any divisor of n, and  $m_1 \dots m_{j-1}$  is any non-trivial ordered factorisation of m.

If m = n, then this gives  $m_j = 1$ , which is impossible as each of the  $m_i$  are nontrivial factors, so  $m \neq n$ , and for m < n, there are  $\sum_{m|n} c_{j-1}(m)$  distinct *j*-factor ordered non-trivial factorisations of n, and hence the first sum. To see the second sum we note that as the factor 1 is never counted we have  $c_j(1) = 0$  for any  $j \ge 1$ , and hence the second sum.

**Remark.** Given that 2 is smallest prime, it follows that the smallest number with j non-trivial factors is  $n = 2^j$ . Hence if  $n < 2^j$  then  $c_j(n) = 0$ .

**LEMMA 2.10** (Second Dirichlet series lemma). For  $s \in \mathbb{C}$ , a complex variable, with  $\Re(s) > 1$ , the non-trivial jth divisor function has the Dirichlet series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_j(n)}{n^s} = (\zeta(s) - 1)^j \,.$$

*Proof.* For this result we refer the reader to page 7 of Titchmarsh's book [55].  $\Box$ 

When studying this function, the added complication that arises is that unlike  $d_j(n)$ , it is *not* a multiplicative arithmetic function. Hence in order to understand the less symmetric multiplicative properties of  $c_j(n)$ , it makes sense to try and express it in terms of its multiplicative cousin  $d_j(n)$ .

When j = 2 the non-trivial divisors for any n > 1 are all the divisor pairs not including 1 and n, and hence the number of non-trivial divisors is equal to the number of divisors minus 2, so that

$$c_2(n) = d_2(n) - 2 = d_2(n) - 2d_1(n) = d_2(n) - 2d_1(n) + d_0(n),$$
(2.1)

as  $d_0(n) = 0$ , for n > 1. However when considering the combinatorial definition of  $c_2(n)$  with n = 1, we have  $c_2(1) = 0$ , so that the above becomes

$$c_2(1) = 0 = d_2(1) - 2 + 1 = d_2(1) - 2d_1(1) + d_0(1)$$

which is only true if we assume that  $d_0(1) = 1$ . Under this assumption we can

therefore write

$$c_2(n) = d_2(n) - 2d_1(n) + d_0(n), \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Now taking j = 3, we have that  $c_3(n)$  counts the number of ways of writing n as the product of three non-trivial divisors, and using Lemma 2.9 in conjunction with (2.1), and that for  $n \ge 1$ ,  $d_1(n) = 1$ , we have

$$c_{3}(n) = \sum_{\substack{m|n \\ m \notin \{1,n\}}} c_{2}(m) = \sum_{\substack{m|n \\ m \notin \{1,n\}}} (d_{2}(m) - 2)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{m|n \\ m \mid n}} (d_{2}(m) - 2) - (d_{2}(n) - 2) - (d_{2}(1) - 2)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{m|n \\ m \mid n}} (d_{2}(m) - 2d_{1}(m)) - (d_{2}(n) - 2d_{1}(n)) - (d_{1}(n) - 2d_{1}(n))$$
$$= d_{3}(n) - 3d_{2}(n) + 3d_{1}(n) - d_{0}(n),$$

where we have again assumed that  $d_0(n) = 0$ , unless n = 1 when  $d_0(1) = 1$ .

The emerging binomial pattern is summarised in the following lemma. **LEMMA 2.11.** For integers  $n \ge 1$ ,  $j \ge 0$ , the jth non-trivial divisor function  $c_j(n)$ , can be written in terms of the divisor function  $d_j(n)$  such that

$$c_j(n) = \sum_{i=0}^j (-1)^i \begin{pmatrix} j \\ i \end{pmatrix} d_{j-i}(n),$$

with the convention that  $c_0(n) = d_0(n) = \begin{cases} 1, & n = 1, \\ 0, & n > 1. \end{cases}$ 

*Proof.* For suitable  $s \in \mathbb{C}$ , by Lemma 2.10 the Dirichlet series for  $c_j(n)$  is given by

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_j(n)}{n^s} = (\zeta(s) - 1)^j = \sum_{i=0}^j (-1)^i \binom{j}{i} \zeta^{j-i}(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^s} \sum_{i=0}^j (-1)^i \binom{j}{i} d_{j-i}(n),$$

and by the uniqueness of Dirichlet series, [31], equating terms we obtain

$$c_j(n) = \sum_{i=0}^j (-1)^i \begin{pmatrix} j \\ i \end{pmatrix} d_{j-i}(n).$$

From the definitions of  $c_j(n)$  and  $d_j(n)$ , for n = 1 and any  $j \ge 1$  we have  $c_j(1) = 0$ ,  $d_j(1) = 1$ . In consideration of the above sum with  $d_0(n)$  as defined above, this gives

$$c_j(1) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^i \binom{j}{i} d_{j-i}(1) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^i \binom{j}{i} = 0,$$

 $c_0(1) = d_0(1) = 1$ , and for  $n \ge 2$ ,  $c_0(n) = d_0(n) = 0$ , as required.

Therefore the formula is consistent for all integers  $n \ge 1$ ,  $j \ge 0$ , and hence the result.

LEMMA 2.12. Let p be a prime number and a a positive integer. Then

$$c_j(p^a) = \binom{a-1}{j-1}.$$

Proof. By Lemmas 2.5 and 2.11 we can write

$$c_{j}(p^{a}) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{i} {j \choose i} d_{j-i}(p^{a}) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{i} {j \choose i} {a+j-i-1 \choose j-i-1}$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{i} {j \choose i} {a+j-i-1 \choose a}.$$

We now apply the binomial coefficient identity (see H. W. Gould p28, (3.49) [21])

$$\sum_{\alpha=0}^{\beta} (-1)^{\alpha} \binom{\beta}{\alpha} \binom{\gamma-\alpha}{\delta} = \binom{\gamma-\beta}{\delta-\beta},$$

with  $\alpha = i, \ \beta = j, \ \gamma = a + j - 1$  and  $\delta = a$ , to obtain

$$\sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{i} \begin{pmatrix} j \\ i \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a+j-i-1 \\ a \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a-1 \\ a-j \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a-1 \\ j-1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

**LEMMA 2.13.** For integers  $n \ge 1$ ,  $j \ge 0$ , the jth divisor function  $d_j(n)$ , can be written in terms of the non-trivial divisor function  $c_j(n)$  such that

$$d_j(n) = \sum_{i=0}^j \binom{j}{i} c_{j-i}(n),$$

with the convention that  $c_0(n) = d_0(n) = \begin{cases} 1, & n = 1, \\ 0, & n > 1. \end{cases}$ 

*Proof.* For  $n \ge 2, j \ge 1$ . we have that

$$\sum_{i=0}^{j} \binom{j}{i} c_{j-i}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^{j-1} \binom{j}{i} c_{j-i}(n),$$

as  $c_0(n) = 0$ .

Now the Dirichlet series for  $d_j(n)$  is given by

$$\sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{d_j(n)}{n^s} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{d_j(n)}{n^s} - 1 = \zeta(s)^j - 1,$$

and considering the Dirichlets series of  $\sum_{i=0}^{j-1} {j \choose i} c_{j-i}(n)$ , we have

$$\sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^s} \sum_{i=0}^{j-1} \binom{j}{i} c_{j-i}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^{j-1} \binom{j}{i} \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^s} c_{j-i}(n)$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{j-1} \binom{j}{i} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n^s} c_{j-i}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^{j-1} \binom{j}{i} (\zeta(s) - 1)^{j-i}$$

$$=\sum_{i=0}^{j} \binom{j}{i} (\zeta(s)-1)^{j-i} - 1 = (1+(\zeta(s)-1))^{j} - 1 = \zeta(s)^{j} - 1 = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \frac{d_{j}(n)}{n^{s}}$$

by the uniqueness of Dirichlet series [5](pp.127).

When n = j = 1 we find that  $d_1(1) = 1$  and  $c_1(1) + c_0(1) = 0 + 1 = 1$ , so that the sum agrees, and when j = 0, the sum gives us  $d_0(n) = c_0(n)$ , as required. Hence the result holds for all integers  $n \ge 1$  and  $j \ge 0$ .

# **2.4** The Arithmetic Function $c_j^{(r)}(n)$

In analogy of the recurrence relation satisfied by the *j*th divisor function, we define the following sum-over-divisors recurrence for the *j*th mixed divisor function  $c_j^{(r)}(n)$ .

**Definition** (of the mixed divisor function). Let n, j and r be any positive integers. Then we define the *mixed divisor function*  $c_j^{(r)}(n)$  such that

$$c_j^{(0)}(n) = c_j(n), \quad c_j^{(r)}(n) = \sum_{m|n} c_j^{(r-1)}(m).$$

**LEMMA 2.14.** Let n, j and r be positive integers. Then the mixed divisor function  $c_j^{(r)}$  can be written in terms of the divisor function  $d_j(n)$  such that

$$c_{j}^{(r)}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-i} {j \choose i} d_{i+r}(n).$$

*Proof.* When r = 0, then by Lemma 2.11 we have

$$\sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-i} \binom{j}{i} d_{i+0}(n) = c_j(n) = c_j^{(0)}(n),$$

where we have used  $d_0(n) = c_0(n) = 0$  if  $n \ge 2$  and  $d_0(1) = c_0(1) = 1$ . Inductively now suppose that for  $t \in \mathbb{N}$  we have that

$$c_{j}^{(t)}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-i} {j \choose i} d_{i+t}(n)$$

holds. Then

$$c_{j}^{(t+1)}(n) = \sum_{m|n} c_{j}^{(t)}(m) = \sum_{m|n} \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-i} {j \choose i} d_{i+t}(m)$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-i} {j \choose i} \sum_{m|n} d_{i+t}(m) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-i} {j \choose i} d_{i+t+1}(n)$$

by Lemma 2.3, and so the formula holds for all positive integers r.

Remark. Due to the symmetries of the Binomial coefficients we can also write

$$c_{j}^{(r)}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{j-i} {j \choose i} d_{i+r}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{i} {j \choose i} d_{r+j-i}(n).$$

# **2.5** The Dirichlet Series of $c_j^{(r)}(n)$

We first note the well known result concerning the Dirichlet convolution **LEMMA 2.15.** The multiplication of Dirichlet series is compatible with Dirichlet convolution in the sense if  $g(m) = \sum_{d|m} f(d)$ , then for  $F(s) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{f(m)}{m^s}$  and  $G(s) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{g(m)}{m^s}$ , we have

$$G(s) = \zeta(s)F(s).$$

*Proof.* For a proof of this result we refer the reader to [55](pp.4-5). **LEMMA 2.16.** The mixed divisor function  $c_j^{(r)}(n)$  has the Dirichlet series

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_j^{(r)}(n)}{n^s} = \zeta(s)^r (\zeta(s) - 1)^j.$$

*Proof.* Consider the case r = 0. Then by Lemma 2.10 we have

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_j^{(0)}(n)}{n^s} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_j(n)}{n^s} = (\zeta(s) - 1)^j = \zeta(s)^0 (\zeta(s) - 1)^j.$$

Now inductively suppose that for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  we have that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_j^{(k)}(n)}{n^s} = \zeta(s)^k (\zeta(s) - 1)^j$$

holds. Then  $c_j^{(r+1)}(n) = \sum_{m|n} c_j^{(r)}(m)$ , and repeatedly using Lemma 2.15, we have that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_j^{(k+1)}(n)}{n^s} = \zeta(s)\zeta(s)^k(\zeta(s)-1)^j = \zeta(s)^{k+1}(\zeta(s)-1)^j,$$

as required.

**LEMMA 2.17.** Let n, j and r be positive integers. Then the mixed divisor function,  $c_j^{(r)}(n)$  can be written in terms of the non-trivial divisor function such that

$$c_{j}^{(r)}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^{r} {r \choose i} c_{j+i}(n).$$

*Proof.* Given that

$$c_j^{(0)}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^0 {\binom{0}{i}} c_{j+i}(n) = c_j(n),$$

the identity holds for r = 0. Now inductively assume true for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , so that

$$c_j^{(k)}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^k \binom{k}{i} c_{j+i}(n).$$

Considering the sum over all divisors of n then yields

$$\begin{aligned} c_j^{(r+1)}(n) &= \sum_{m|n} c_j^{(r)}(n) = \sum_{m|n} \sum_{i=0}^k \binom{k}{i} c_{j+i}(m) = \sum_{i=0}^k \binom{k}{i} \sum_{m|n} c_{j+i}(m) \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^k \binom{k}{i} \binom{k}{i} \binom{c_{j+i}(n) + \sum_{m|n} c_{j+i}(m)}{m \neq n} = \sum_{i=0}^k \binom{k}{i} (c_{j+i}(n) + c_{j+i+1}(n)) \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^k \binom{k}{i} c_{j+i}(n) + \sum_{i=0}^k \binom{k}{i} c_{j+i+1}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^k \binom{k}{i} c_{j+i}(n) + \sum_{i=1}^{k+1} \binom{k}{i-1} c_{j+i}(n) \\ &= c_j(n) + \sum_{i=1}^{k+1} \left( \binom{k}{i} + \binom{k}{i-1} \right) c_{j+i}(n) = c_j(n) + \sum_{i=1}^{k+1} \binom{k+1}{i} c_{j+i}(n) \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^{k+1} \binom{k+1}{i} c_{j+i}(n), \end{aligned}$$

as required.

**LEMMA 2.18.** Let p be a prime number and a, r and j positive integers. Then we have

$$c_j^{(r)}(p^a) = \binom{a+r-1}{j+r-1}.$$

**COROLLARY 2.19.** We have that  $c_j^{(r)}(p^a)$  is equal to the number of compositions of a + r elements into j + r parts, so that  $c_j^{(r)}(p^a)$  is equal to the number of ways of writing the integer a + r as an ordered sum of j + r positive integers.

Proof. By Lemmas 2.12, 2.17 we have that

$$c_j^{(r)}(p^a) = \sum_{i=0}^r \binom{r}{i} c_{j+i}(p^a) = \sum_{i=0}^r \binom{r}{i} \binom{a-1}{j+i-1}.$$

We now apply the binomial coefficient identity (see H. W. Gould p25, (3.20) [21])

$$\sum_{\alpha=0}^{\beta} \binom{\beta}{\alpha} \binom{\gamma}{\alpha+\delta} = \binom{\beta+\gamma}{\beta+\delta},$$

with  $\alpha = i$ ,  $\beta = r$ ,  $\gamma = a - 1$  and  $\delta = j - 1$ , to obtain

$$c_j^{(r)}(p^a) = \sum_{i=0}^r \binom{r}{i} \binom{a-1}{j+i-1} = \binom{a+r-1}{j+r-1},$$

as required.

To see Corollary 2.19, it is known (see R. P. Stanley p14-15 [54]) that the number of compositions of the positive integer n into k parts is given by the binomial coefficient  $\binom{n-1}{k-1}$ , and the result then follows.

## **3** Reversible Square Matrices

In this chapter we employ and extend results obtained by the noted mathematician, politician and educationalist Dame Kathleen Ollerenshaw (1912-2014) [46, 47, 48], whose research areas ranged from convex bodies and lattice theory to 'most-perfect magic squares'. Recently (2017), in recognition of Ollerenshaw's contribution to mathematics, Manchester University created the Dame Kathleen Ollerenshaw Research Fellowships for outstanding early career researchers.

In 1998 Ollerenshaw (at the age of 86) and Brée published the book *Most-Perfect Pandiagonal Magic Squares* [10]. In this book they enumerate a class of  $n \times n$ matrices known as reversible square matrices of doubly-even order, so that n = 4kfor some  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . By establishing a bijection between the set of all  $n \times n$  reversible square matrices and the set of all  $n \times n$  most-perfect pandiagonal magic square matrices (defined below) they extend this enumeration to both sets of matrices. The results contained in their book motivated and laid the foundations for much of this research.

In the following two chapters we rework the nested block construction established by Ollerenshaw and Brée, with the important distinction that we extend these results to all  $n \times n$  reversible square matrices with  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , not just those of the form n = 4k. We also employ the more powerful block representation theory for these classes of matrices, which we establish in Section 3.1. From the block structures we go on to show that the set of all  $n \times n$  traditional reversible square matrices can be partitioned into equivalence classes, for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . As per the method of Ollerenshaw and Brée we deduce that each equivalence class can be represented by a principal reversible square, those constructed using the integers 1 to  $n^2$ , and whose top row begins with 1 and 2, and whose individual row and column sequences are all increasing, respectively left to right and top to bottom.

From this we deduce that the entries of the first row and column of a principal reversible squares form a sum system (a point not mentioned by Ollerenshaw) and in Chapter 4 establish a bijection between the set of all  $n \times n$  principal reversible square matrices, and the set of all m + m sum-and-distance systems, non-inclusive when n = 2m is even and inclusive when n = 2m + 1 is odd. In order to proceed we first need some definitions.

**Definition** (of vector and matrix notation). Throughout the remainder of this thesis we will employ the following notational conventions.

- 1. A vector  $v \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , is defined to be an  $n \times 1$  column vector, so that the corresponding row vector is denoted by  $v^T$ .
- 2. The two vectors  $0_n$  and  $1_n$  are defined to be the  $n \times 1$  column vectors with every entry equal to 0 or 1, respectively.
- 3. The set of all vectors that are orthogonal to a given vector v is denoted by

- $\{v\}^{\perp}$ , so that for  $u \in \{v\}^{\perp}$  we have  $u^T v = v^T u = 0$ .
- 4. The product of a column vector with a row vector is defined in the usual fashion such that

$$vu^{T} = v_{i,1} \otimes u_{1,j} = \begin{pmatrix} v_{1} \\ v_{2} \\ \vdots \\ v_{m} \end{pmatrix} \otimes (u_{1}, u_{2}, \dots, u_{m}) = \begin{pmatrix} v_{1}u_{1} & v_{1}u_{2} & \dots & v_{1}u_{m} \\ v_{2}u_{1} & v_{2}u_{2} & \dots & v_{2}u_{m} \\ \vdots & & & \\ v_{m}u_{1} & v_{m}u_{2} & & v_{m}u_{m} \end{pmatrix}$$

which is also known as the *outer product of two vectors*, or as a special case of the *tensor product*.

- 5. Denote by  $\delta_{ij}$ , the Kronecker symbol, returning 1 if i = j, and 0 otherwise.
- 6. For  $M = (m_{i,j})$ , an  $n_1 \times n_2$  matrix, the row index *i* is taken over  $\mathbb{Z}_{n_1} = \mathbb{Z}/n_1\mathbb{Z}_{n_1}$ , the ring of integers modulo  $n_1$ , using the residue classes  $\bar{1}, \bar{2}, \ldots, \bar{n}_1$ , and similarly the column index *j* is taken over  $\mathbb{Z}_{n_2} = \mathbb{Z}/n_2\mathbb{Z}_{n_2}$ , the ring of integers modulo  $n_2$ , using the residue classes  $\bar{1}, \bar{2}, \ldots, \bar{n}_2$ .
- 7. Denote by  $I_n$ , the  $n \times n$  identity matrix with all diagonal entries equal to 1 and 0 elsewhere, so that  $I_n = (\delta_{ij})_{i,j=1}^n$ .
- 8. Denote by  $J_n$ , the  $n \times n$  matrix with all antidiagonal entries equal to 1 and 0 elsewhere, so that  $J_n = (\delta_{i,n+1-j})_{i,j=1}^n \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ .
- 9. Denote by  $E_n$ , the  $n \times n$  matrix with all entries equal to 1, so that  $E_n = (1)_{i,j=1}^n \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ .
- 10. Denote by  $\hat{0}_n$ , the  $n \times n$  null matrix with all entries equal to 0, so that  $\hat{0}_n = (0)_{i,j=1}^n$ .
- 11. We define the  $n \times n$  matrix  $X_n$  such that

$$X_n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left( \begin{array}{cc} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{array} \right)$$

when n = 2k is even, and

$$X_{n} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_{k} & 0_{k} & J_{k} \\ 0_{k}^{T} & \sqrt{2} & 0_{k}^{T} \\ J_{k} & 0_{k} & -I_{k} \end{pmatrix}$$

when n = 2k + 1 is odd.

**Remark.** It follows that  $X_n$  is an orthogonal symmetric involution (cf. [30] pp. 165–166) as  $X_n^2 = I_n$ , and  $X_n^T = X_n$ .

**Definition** (of matrix weight w). Let  $M = (m_{i,j})$ , be an  $n_1 \times n_2$  matrix with real entries. We define the weight w of M, to be the average over the  $n_1n_2$  entries of

M, so that

$$w = \frac{1}{n_1 n_2} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i \le n_1 \\ 1 \le j \le n_2}} m_{i,j}.$$

If w = 0 then we say that M is a *weightless matrix*, or equivalently that M has weight zero.

**LEMMA 3.1.** Let  $M = (m_{i,j})$ , be an  $n \times n$  matrix with weight w. Then the matrix  $M^0 = M - wE_n$  has weight zero.

*Proof.* By definition  $M - wE_n$  has weight  $w_0$  given by

$$w_{0} = \frac{1}{n^{2}} \sum_{1 \le i,j \le n} (m_{i,j} - w) = \frac{1}{n^{2}} \left( \sum_{1 \le i,j \le n} m_{i,j} \right) - \frac{1}{n^{2}} \left( \sum_{1 \le i,j \le n} w \right)$$
  
=  $w - \frac{n^{2}w}{n^{2}} = w - w = 0$ ,  
red.

as required.

**Definition** (of a traditional matrix). Let  $M = (m_{i,j})$ , be an  $n_1 \times n_2$  matrix. Then we say that M is a *traditional matrix* if its  $n_1n_2$  entries are the  $n_1n_2$  consecutive integers  $1, 2, \ldots n_1n_2$ , in some order.

Additionally (by Lemma 3.1), as the matrix  $M^0 = M - wE_n$  has weight w = 0, when M is traditional we say that  $M^0$  is a weightless traditional matrix.

**LEMMA 3.2** (Traditional matrix lemma). Let  $M = (m_{i,j})$ , be an  $n_1 \times n_2$  traditional matrix, so that M contains the  $n_1n_2$  consecutive integers  $1, 2, \ldots n_1n_2$ . Then M has weight

$$w = \frac{n_1 n_2 + 1}{2},$$

and the weightless traditional matrix  $M^0 = M - wE_n$ , contains the  $n_1n_2$  numbers

$$\frac{1-n_1n_2}{2}, \ \frac{3-n_1n_2}{2}, \dots, \frac{n_1n_2-3}{2}, \ \frac{n_1n_2-1}{2}.$$

**COROLLARY 3.3.** If  $n_1 = n_2 = n$  say, so that M is a traditional square matrix, then  $w = \frac{n^2+1}{2}$ , and when n = 2k+1 is odd,  $M^0$  contains the  $n^2$  consecutive integers

$$-2k^2 - 2k, 1 - 2k^2 + 2k, \dots, -1, 0, 1, \dots, 2k^2 + 2k - 1, 2k^2 + 2k,$$

and when n = 2k is even,  $M^0$  contains the  $n^2$  consecutive odd half-integers

$$\frac{1-4k^2}{2}, \frac{3-4k^2}{2}, \dots, \frac{-1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}, \dots, \frac{4k^2-3}{2}, \frac{4k^2-1}{2}.$$

*Proof.* From the definition of matrix weight we have that

$$w = \frac{1}{n_1 n_2} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i \le n_1 \\ 1 \le j \le n_2}} m_{i,j} = \frac{1}{n_1 n_2} \sum_{k=1}^{n_1 n_2} k,$$
as M is traditional and so contains the set of integers  $1, 2, \ldots, n_1 n_2$ .

Applying the standard summation formula for the first  $n_1n_2$  positive integers then yields

$$w = \frac{1}{n_1 n_2} \frac{(n_1 n_2)(n_1 n_2 + 1)}{2} = \frac{n_1 n_2 + 1}{2},$$

and subtracting this weight w from each element of the set of  $n^2$  consecutive integers  $1, 2, \ldots, n^2$ , we obtain the final display of the statement of Lemma 3.2.

To see Corollary 3.3, setting  $n_1 = n_2 = n$ , in the above weight formula gives us  $w = \frac{n^2+1}{2}$ , and considering the two cases n = 2k is even, and n = 2k + 1 is odd, in the  $n^2$  numbers

$$\frac{1-n^2}{2}, \frac{3-n^2}{2}, \dots, \frac{n^2-3}{2}, \frac{n^2-1}{2},$$

we deduce the result.

**Definition** (of most-perfect square matrices). Let n = 2k be a positive even integer and  $w \in \mathbb{R}$  a constant. Then a square matrix  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is defined to be a *most-perfect square* matrix if it satisfies the *type* M, *type* P and *type* S symmetry properties, defined below.

1. The matrix M is said to be type M if it satisfies the most-perfect property, where the entries of all  $2 \times 2$  sub-arrays within the square matrix sum to 4w, so that

$$m_{i,j} + m_{i,j+1} + m_{i+1,j} + m_{i+1,j+1} = 4w,$$

for all  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ , and the alternating sum property

$$\sum_{i,j\in\mathbb{Z}_n} (-1)^{i+j} m_{i,j} = 0.$$

2. The matrix M is said to be type P if it satisfies the strong pandiagonal property, where the pairs of entries  $\frac{1}{2}n = k$  distance along any diagonal (including broken diagonals) sum to 2w, so that

$$m_{i,j} + m_{i+\frac{1}{2}n, j+\frac{1}{2}n} = 2w, \qquad i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n.$$

3. The matrix M is said to be type S if it satisfies the constant sum property, where the sum of the elements of each row, or column sum to nw, so that

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_n} m_{i,j} = \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_n} m_{j,i} = nw, \qquad i\in\mathbb{Z}_n.$$

**LEMMA 3.4.** Let  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  be an  $n \times n$  square matrix that satisfies at least one of the three symmetry conditions (M), (P), (S). Then M has weight w.

*Proof.* Each one of the three symmetry conditions are independently sufficient to imply the weight condition and hence M has weight w.

Property (M), does not at face value presuppose even matrix dimension n in the way that property (P) does, requiring that  $2 \mid n$ . However if n is odd then only the null matrix  $\hat{0}_n$  has this property as detailed in Lemma 3.5, below.

**LEMMA 3.5.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  be odd and  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  a matrix with property (M). Then  $M = \hat{0}_n$ .

*Proof.* By the  $2 \times 2$  array sum property, we have for each  $i \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ 

$$m_{i,1} + m_{i+1,1} = 4w - m_{i,2} - m_{i+1,2} = m_{i,3} + m_{i+1,3} = 4w - m_{i,4} - m_{i+1,4}$$
$$= \dots = m_{i,n} + m_{i+1,n} = 4w - m_{i,1} - m_{i+1,1},$$

so  $m_{i,j} + m_{i+1,j} = 2w$  for all  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ . Hence, for each  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ ,

$$m_{1,j} = 2w - m_{2,j} = m_{3,j} = \dots = m_{n,j} = 2w - m_{1,j},$$

which implies  $m_{i,j} = w$   $(i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n)$ . But then the alternating sum property requires w = 0.

For readers familiar with Ollerenshaw and Brée's definition of *most-perfect squares*, the type (M) alternating property might come as a surprise as it is not mentioned in their book [10]. However whilst examining these symmetries from a deeper algebraic perspective, it was found that the alternating property was required in the definition of type M matrices, as it allowed for a type N complimentary matrix, considered later on in Chapter 8.

At a more general level, it can be deduced that if a matrix M is type P, and satisfies the most-perfect sub-array sum condition, then it also satisfies the alternating condition as detailed in Lemma 3.6, below.

**LEMMA 3.6.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  be even and  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  a matrix with property (P) and the most-perfect sub-array property, so that  $m_{i,j} + m_{i,j+1} + m_{i+1,j} + m_{i+1,j+1} = 4w$ , for all  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ . Then M also satisfies the alternating sum condition

 $\sum_{i,j\in\mathbb{Z}_n} (-1)^{i+j} m_{i,j} = 0.$ 

*Proof.* As n = 2k is even, starting in the top left-hand corner, the matrix M can be partitioned in a disjoint union of  $k^2$ ,  $2 \times 2$  sub-arrays. Using the pandiagonal condition, each  $2 \times 2$  sub-array can be paired with its pandiagonal  $2 \times 2$  sub-array partner; When k is even we get  $k^2/2$  of these paired sub-arrays, and when k is odd we  $(k^2 - 1)/2$  of these paired sub-arrays and a lone central sub-array.

Applying the signs of the alternating sum  $(-1)^{i+j}$  to the elements of these paired sub-arrays, we find that pandiagonal pairs of entries have the same sign, two pairs positive and two pairs negative. Hence the sum of the signed entries of each pandiagonal pair of sub-arrays equals 2w + 2w - 2w - 2w = 0. In the case that k is odd, the central  $2 \times 2$  sub-array sum equals 2w - 2w = 0. Therefore, in either case, the sum over all the  $2 \times 2$  sub-arrays equates to 0, and hence M also satisfies the alternating sum condition, so is fully type M.

**Example.** Below we give an example of an  $8 \times 8$  traditional most-perfect square.

1	16	17	32	53	60	37	44
63	50	47	34	11	6	27	22
3	14	19	30	55	58	39	42
61	52	45	36	9	8	25	24
12	5	28	21	64	49	48	33
54	59	38	43	2	15	18	31
10	7	26	23	62	51	46	35
56	57	40	41	4	13	20	29

Here  $w = \frac{65}{2}$ , so that the rows, columns and diagonals sum to 260; all two by two entries sum to 130, and the two entries  $\frac{1}{2}n$  distance along the diagonal sum to 65. **Definition** (of reversible matrices). A reversible matrix satisfies the type R and type V symmetry properties; a weightless reversible matrix satisfies the type R and type  $\hat{V}$  symmetry properties defined below.

1. A matrix  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1 \times n_2}$  is said to be *type* R if it has row and column reverse similarity, so that

$$m_{i,j} + m_{i,(n+1-j)} = m_{i,j'} + m_{i,(n+1-j')}$$
  $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{n_1}$   $j, j' \in \mathbb{Z}_{n_2}$ 

and

$$m_{i,j} + m_{(n+1-i),j} = m_{i',j} + m_{n+1-i',j} \quad i, i' \in \mathbb{Z}_{n_1} \quad j \in \mathbb{Z}_{n_2}.$$

2. A matrix  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1 \times n_2}$  is said to be *type* V if its rectangular subarrays have equal cross sums at their corners, so that

$$m_{i,j} + m_{i',j'} = m_{i,j'} + m_{i',j}$$
  $i, i' \in \mathbb{Z}_{n_1}$   $j, j' \in \mathbb{Z}_{n_2}$ .

3. A matrix  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1 \times n_2}$  is said to be *type*  $\hat{V}$  if it is weightless type V, so that it has the additional property that

$$\sum_{i\in\mathbb{Z}_{n_1},\ j\in\mathbb{Z}_{n_2}}m_{i,j}=0$$

**Remark.** If a matrix is type R, then the pairwise sum of entries that are diametrically opposite each other in the specified row or column is constant within that row or column.

It also follows from the Corollary to Lemma 3.2 that a traditional reversible square matrix has weight  $w = \frac{n^2+1}{2}$ .

**Example.** Below we give an example of an  $8 \times 8$  traditional reversible square

M =	1	2	5	6	33	34	37	38
	3	4	7	8	35	36	39	40
	9	10	13	14	41	42	45	46
	11	12	15	16	43	44	47	48
	17	18	21	22	49	50	53	54
	19	20	23	24	51	52	55	56
	25	26	29	30	57	58	61	62
	27	28	31	32	59	60	63	64

so that the square satisfies the three conditions required. For example

1. in the third row of entries, 9, 10, 13, 14, 41, 42, 45, 46 the reverse similarity holds, as

$$9 + 46 = 10 + 45 = 13 + 42 = 14 + 41 = 55;$$

2. in the 7th column of entries, 37, 39, 45, 47, 53, 55, 61, 63 the reverse similarity holds, as

$$37 + 63 = 39 + 61 = 45 + 55 = 47 + 53 = 100,$$

3. and in the array with corner entries  $r_{23} = 7, r_{27} = 39, r_{63} = 23, r_{67} = 55$  the cross sums are equal as

$$r_{23} + r_{67} = 7 + 55 = 62 = 23 + 39 = r_{27} + r_{63}.$$

Further examples of reversible square matrices are given in the appendices.

**Definition** (of associated matrices). A matrix  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1 \times n_2}$  is said to be *associated*, or *type* A, if satisfied the associated symmetry property, which requires that

$$m_{i,j} + m_{(n+1-i),(n+1-j)} = 2w \quad \forall i \in \mathbb{Z}_{n_1}, \text{ and } \forall j \in \mathbb{Z}_{n_2}.$$

**LEMMA 3.7.** An  $n_1 \times n_2$  associated matrix M has weight w.

*Proof.* The sum of all the entries in M can be taken pairwise using the associated sum property of 2w, which also implies that if M has a central cell (both  $n_1, n_2$  being odd), then this must have the entry w. Hence the average entry of M is w, which by definition is the weight of M.

**Remark.** It will be shown later in this chapter that every reversible square matrix is also an associated square matrix.

**Definition.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We define the following matrix symmetry type spaces.

$$S_n = \{ M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n} \mid M \text{ has property } (S) \},\$$

 $\mathbf{R}_n = \{ M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n} \mid M \text{ has property (R)} \},\$ 

 $\mathbf{V}_n = \{ M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n} \mid M \text{ has property (V)} \},\$ 

 $\hat{\mathbf{V}}_n = \{ M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n} \mid M \text{ has property } (\hat{\mathbf{V}}) \},\$ 

 $\mathbf{A}_n = \{ M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n} \mid M \text{ has property (A)} \},\$ 

For even n, we also define the symmetry type spaces

$$\mathbf{M}_n = \{ M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n} \mid M \text{ has property (M)} \},\$$

 $\mathbf{P}_n = \{ M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n} \mid M \text{ has property (P)} \}.$ 

Composite symmetry types are captured in the following intersections of the above spaces,

$$\mathrm{RV}_n = \mathrm{R}_n \cap \mathrm{V}_n$$
, and  $\mathrm{R}\hat{\mathrm{V}}_n = \mathrm{R}_n \cap \hat{\mathrm{V}}_n$ ,

so that  $\mathrm{RV}_n$  is the space of  $n \times n$  reversible square matrices and  $\mathrm{R}\hat{\mathrm{V}}_n \subset \mathrm{RV}_n$  is the space of  $n \times n$  weightless reversible square matrices. For even n we have

$$MPS_n = M_n \cap P_n \cap S_n,$$

so that  $MPS_n$  is the space of  $n \times n$  most-perfect square matrices.

# 3.1 The Type R, Type V and Type $\hat{V}$ Block Representations

In this section we derive explicit block representation formulae for these matrix types after conjugation with our orthogonal symmetric involution matrix  $X_n$ . We begin with a lemma.

**LEMMA 3.8.** Let  $M = (m_{ij})$ ,  $M' = (m'_{ij})$  be two  $n \times n$  matrices, and  $J_n$ ,  $I_n$  and  $E_n$  defined as at the beginning of this chapter. Then we have

- 1.  $M' = J_n M \Leftrightarrow m'_{i,j} = m_{(n+1-i),j}, \forall (i,j) \in \mathbb{Z}_n \times \mathbb{Z}_n.$
- 2.  $M' = MJ_n \Leftrightarrow m'_{i,j} = m_{i,(n+1-j)}, \forall (i,j) \in \mathbb{Z}_n \times \mathbb{Z}_n.$
- 3.  $M' = J_n M J_n \Leftrightarrow m'_{i,j} = m_{(n+1-i),(n+1-j)}, \forall (i,j) \in \mathbb{Z}_n \times \mathbb{Z}_n.$
- 4.  $J_n J_n = I_n$  and hence  $J_n^T = J_n = J_n^{-1}$ .
- 5. Let M be an  $n \times n$  matrix. Then when n = 2k is even we can write M in the conjugated block representation form

$$M = X_n \left( \begin{array}{cc} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{array} \right) X_n,$$

with  $V, W, Y, Z, k \times k$  matrices, and when n = 2k + 1 is odd we can write M in the conjugated block representation form

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & v & V^T \\ y^T & \alpha & z^T \\ W & x & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

with  $V, W, Y, Z, k \times k$  matrices,  $v, x, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^k$  vectors and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  a real number.

6. The weight matrix  $E_n$  satisfies

$$E_n = X_n \left( \begin{array}{cc} 2E_k & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & \hat{0}_k \end{array} \right) X_n,$$

when n = 2k is even, and

$$E_{n} = X_{n} \begin{pmatrix} 2E_{k} & \sqrt{2} \, 1_{k} & \hat{0}_{k} \\ \sqrt{2} \, 1_{k}^{T} & 1 & 0_{k}^{T} \\ \hat{0}_{k} & 0_{k} & \hat{0}_{k} \end{pmatrix} X_{n},$$

when n = 2k + 1 is odd.

7. Let M be an  $n \times n$  matrix, so that by the preceding result (5), we can write  $M = X_n N X_n$  for some matrix  $N \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ . Let M have weight w (as by definition, all matrices have a weight). Then M can also be written in the form  $M = X_n N^0 X_n + w E_n = M^0 + w E_n$ , where  $M^0 = X_n N^0 X_n$  has weight zero.

*Proof.* The first four relations can be seen by noting that multiplication on the left by  $J_n$  reflects the entries of M across the central row and multiplication on the right by  $J_n$  reflects the entries of M across the central column. Hence  $J_n J_n = I_n$ and conjugation with  $J_n$  rotates the entries of M around its centre.

To see the fifth relation we observe that for a given  $n \times n$  matrix M we can define the matrix N such that  $X_n M X_n = N$ , which after conjugation yields  $M = X_n N X_n$ . As the even and odd block and vector representations of N allow for all possible entries in the matrix N, we have that for any matrix M we can find N with  $M = X_n N X_n$ .

Relation 6 follows by multiplying out the conjugated block matrix expressions for  $E_n$ , and to see the seventh relation we take  $M^0 = X_n N X_n - w E_n$ , using the conjugated block expressions for  $E_n$  given in the fifth identity. It then follows from the construction that  $M^0$  has weight zero and that  $N^0 = X_n M^0 X_n$ , as required.  $\Box$ 

**LEMMA 3.9.** Let  $M = (m_{ij}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $M \in R_n$  if and only if

$$(M + MJ_n)u = 0_n \quad and \quad (M^T + M^TJ_n)u = 0_n$$

for all  $u \in \{1_n\}^{\perp}$ .

These are equivalent to

$$(M^T + J_n M^T) \mathbb{R}^n \subset \mathbb{R} \mathbb{1}_n \quad and \quad (M + J_n M) \mathbb{R}^n \subset \mathbb{R} \mathbb{1}_n.$$

Proof. If  $(M+MJ_n)u = 0_n$  for all  $u \in \{1_n\}^{\perp}$  then  $M+MJ_n = (m_{i,j}+m_{i,n+1-j})_{i,j\in\mathbb{Z}_n}$  has constant row sum as the sum of the entries of u will be 0.

Also  $(M + J_n M)\mathbb{R}^n \subset \mathbb{R} \mathbb{1}_n$  implies that  $M + J_n M = (m_{i,j} + m_{n+1-i,j})_{i,j\in\mathbb{Z}_n}$  has constant column sums, and these two statements are equivalent to M being type R. The other equivalent equations follow by considering  $M^T$ .

Conversely, if M is type R then  $M + MJ_n$  and  $M + J_nM$  have constant row sum and constant column sum respectively. Hence  $(M + MJ_n)u = 0_n$  and  $(M^T + M^TJ_n) = 0_n$ , as required.

**THEOREM 3.10.** A matrix  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is an element of  $\mathbb{R}_n$  with weight w if and only it has the block representation

$$M = X_n \left( \begin{array}{cc} wE_k & 1_k z^T \\ x1_k^T & Z \end{array} \right) X_n$$

when n = 2k is even, with  $Z \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ ,  $x, z \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $w \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

and

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}wE_k & w1_k & \sqrt{2}1_k z^T \\ w1_k^T & \frac{w}{\sqrt{2}} & z^T \\ \sqrt{2}x1_k^T & x & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

when n = 2k + 1 is odd.

*Proof.* Even case n = 2k. Let M be an  $n \times n$  type R matrix, so that by (5) of Lemma 3.8 we can find  $V, W, Y, Z, k \times k$  matrices, such that

$$M = X_n \left( \begin{array}{cc} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{array} \right) X_n.$$

Then by Lemma 3.9 we can write

$$(M+J_nM)\mathbb{R}^n \subset \mathbb{R}1_n,$$

so that

$$(M+J_nM)\mathbb{R}^n = \left(X_n \left(\begin{array}{cc} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{array}\right) X_n + J_nX_n \left(\begin{array}{cc} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{array}\right) X_n\right)\mathbb{R}^n$$
$$= X_n \left(\left(\begin{array}{cc} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{array}\right) + X_nJ_nX_n \left(\begin{array}{cc} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{array}\right)\right) X_n\mathbb{R}^n \subset \mathbb{R}\mathbf{1}_n.$$

Now

$$X_n J_n X_n = \begin{pmatrix} I_k & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix},$$

so that

$$X_n \left( \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} I_k & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} \right) X_n \mathbb{R}^n \subset \mathbb{R} \mathbb{1}_n,$$

$$= \left( \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ V & V^T \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} I_k & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ V & V^T \end{pmatrix} \right) X_n \mathbb{R}^n \subset \mathbb{R} \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{R}^n$$

$$X_n\left(\left(\begin{array}{cc}1&v\\W&Z\end{array}\right)+\left(\begin{array}{cc}I_k&0_k\\\hat{0}_k&-I_k\end{array}\right)\left(\begin{array}{cc}1&v\\W&Z\end{array}\right)\right)X_n\mathbb{R}^n\subset\mathbb{R}X_nX_n1_n,$$

and using  $X_n 1_n = \sqrt{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1_k \\ 0_k \end{pmatrix}$  we obtain

$$X_n\left(\left(\begin{array}{cc}Y & V^T\\W & Z\end{array}\right) + \left(\begin{array}{cc}I_k & \hat{0}_k\\\hat{0}_k & -I_k\end{array}\right)\left(\begin{array}{cc}Y & V^T\\W & Z\end{array}\right)\right)X_n\mathbb{R}^n \subset \mathbb{R}X_n\left(\begin{array}{cc}1_k\\0_k\end{array}\right).$$

Moreover, as  $X_n \mathbb{R}^n$  is a bijection of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  we can also write

$$X_n \left( \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} I_k & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} \right) \mathbb{R}^n$$
$$\subset \mathbb{R}X_n \begin{pmatrix} 1_k \\ 0_k \end{pmatrix}.$$

Hence

$$2\begin{pmatrix} Y & V^{T} \\ \hat{0}_{k} & \hat{0}_{k} \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{R}^{n} = \left( \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^{T} \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} I_{k} & \hat{0}_{k} \\ \hat{0}_{k} & -I_{k} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^{T} \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} \right) \mathbb{R}^{n}$$
$$\subset \mathbb{R} \begin{pmatrix} 1_{k} \\ 0_{k} \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$2\begin{pmatrix} Y^T & W^T \\ \hat{0}_k & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{R}^n = \left( \begin{pmatrix} Y^T & W^T \\ V & Z^T \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} I_k & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Y^T & W^T \\ V & Z^T \end{pmatrix} \right) \mathbb{R}^n$$
$$\subset \mathbb{R} \begin{pmatrix} I_k \\ 0_k \end{pmatrix}.$$

These two expressions are equivalent to the blocks  $Y, Y^T, V^T$  and  $W^T$  having columns which are multiples of  $1_n$ , which implies that Y is a multiple of the matrix  $E_k$ .

Conversely, if Y is a multiple of  $E_k$ ,  $V^T$  and  $W^T$  have constant columns and  $Z \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  we can see that the square will have reverse row and column similarity when multiplied on the left and right by the  $X_n$  block, as required.

**Odd** n = 2k + 1. Let M be an  $n \times$  type R matrix. Then by relation (5) of Lemma

3.8 we can find  $V, W, Y, Z \ k \times k$  matrices,  $v, x, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^k$  vectors, and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , a real number such that

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & v & V^T \\ y^T & \alpha & z^T \\ W & x & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n \quad \text{where we note that} \quad X_n \mathbf{1}_n = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}\mathbf{1}_k \\ \mathbf{1} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then in a similar fashion to the even case, we can write

$$2\begin{pmatrix} Y & v & V^T \\ y^T & \alpha & z^T \\ \hat{0}_k & 0_k & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{R}^n \subset \mathbb{R}\begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}1_k \\ 1 \\ 0_k \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$2\begin{pmatrix} Y^T & y & W^T \\ v^T & \alpha & x^T \\ \hat{0}_k & 0_k & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} \mathbb{R}^n \subset \mathbb{R}\begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}\mathbf{1}_k \\ \mathbf{1} \\ 0_k \end{pmatrix}.$$

Again we find that these expressions are equivalent to  $Y = \sqrt{2}w \mathbf{1}_k \mathbf{1}_k^T$  for some  $w \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $v = y = w \mathbf{1}_k$  and  $\alpha = \frac{w}{\sqrt{2}}$ . Furthermore  $V^T = \sqrt{2} \mathbf{1}_k z^T$  and  $W^T = \sqrt{2} \mathbf{1}_k x^T$ . Conversely, we can see from the block representation that

$$X_n \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}wE_k & w1_k & \sqrt{2}1_k z^T \\ w1_k^T & \frac{a}{\sqrt{2}} & z^T \\ \sqrt{2}x1_k^T & x & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

satisfies the type R condition, and hence we have established the equivalence of the block representations.

With the equivalence of the block representations established we now need only show that M has weight w.

Let us assume that  $M = X_n N X_n$  has weight t, for some  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , so that by definition the average of the sum of the entries of M is equal to t. Then by (7) of Lemma 3.8, we can write  $M^0 = M - tE_n = X_n N^0 X_n$ , where  $N^0$  has weight zero.

By (6) of Lemma 3.8 we have a block representation for  $tE_n$  and so for  $N^0$ . Expanding out this block representation after conjugation with  $X_n$  we find that the elements of the vectors x and z cancel out in each row and column sum, leaving only the w and t terms. Summing over all rows, and so over all the entries of  $M^0 = X_n N^0 X_n$ , and equating to the zero weight, we find that w - t = 0, so w = t and so M has weight w as required.

**LEMMA 3.11.** A matrix  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is type V if and only if

$$u^T M v = 0$$
 (for all  $u, v \in \{1_n\}^{\perp}$ ).

A matrix  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is a type  $\hat{V}$  if and only if

$$u^T M v = 0$$
 (for all  $u, v \in \{1_n\}^{\perp}$ )

and 
$$1_n^T M 1_n = 0.$$

Proof. Assuming that

$$u^T M v = 0$$
 (for all  $u, v \in \{1_n\}^{\perp}$ ),

we define  $v_j$  to be the vector with a 1 in the *j*th position, -1 in the (j + 1)th position and 0 otherwise. Then any  $u \in \{1_n\}^{\perp}$  can be written as a linear combination of  $v_j$ , and hence the set of all such  $v_j$  forms a basis for  $\{1_n\}^{\perp}$ . For example if  $x = (-2, -2, 0, 4)^T$ , then it can be written as

$$x = \begin{pmatrix} -2\\ -2\\ 0\\ 4 \end{pmatrix} = 2 \begin{pmatrix} -1\\ 1\\ 0\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} - 4 \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 1\\ -1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix} - 4 \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ 0\\ 1\\ -1\\ -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

In a similar fashion we define the vectors  $u_{ij}$  with a 1 in the *i*th position, a -1 in the *j*th position and 0 elsewhere, so that  $u_{ij} \in \{1_n\}^{\perp}$ , and w.l.o.g. if j > i then  $u_{ij} = v_i + v_{i+1} + \ldots + v_{j-1}$ , a linear combination of the  $v_j$ . Then for any  $i, j, k, l \in \mathbb{Z}_n$  we have that

$$0 = u_{ik}^T M u_{jl} = \{0, \dots, \underbrace{1}_{ith}, \dots, \underbrace{-1}_{kth}, \dots, 0\} \begin{pmatrix} m_{1,1} & \dots & m_{1,n} \\ m_{2,1} & \ddots & m_{2,n} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ m_{n,1} & \dots & m_{n,n} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \vdots \\ 1 & (jth) \\ \vdots \\ -1 & (lth) \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

 $= m_{ij} + m_{kl} - m_{il} - m_{kj}.$ 

which is the required type V property

$$m_{ij} + m_{kl} = m_{il} + m_{kj},$$

and hence M is type V.

Conversely, since the type V property implies that for all  $i, j, k, l \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ ,

$$0 = m_{i,j} + m_{k,l} - m_{i,l} - m_{k,l},$$

reversing the above argument yields

$$0 = m_{i,j} + m_{i+1,j+1} - m_{i,j+1} - m_{i+1,j} = v_i^T M v_j = (a_i v_i^T) M(b_j v_j)$$

for all  $a_i, b_j \in \mathbb{R}, i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ . Hence

$$0 = (a_1v_1^T)M(b_1v_1) + (a_2v_2^T)M(b_1v_1) + \dots + (a_iv_1^T)M(b_jv_j) + \dots + (a_nv_n^T)M(b_nv_n)$$
  
=  $(a_1v_1^T + a_2v_2^T + \dots + a_nv_n^T)M(b_1v_1 + b_2v_2 + \dots + b_nv_n),$ 

with  $(a_1v_1 + a_2v_2 + ... + a_nv_n)$  and  $(b_1v_1 + b_2v_2 + ... b_nv_n)$  arbitrary vectors in  $\{1_n\}^{\perp}$ .

To see the second property we observe that  $1_n^T M 1_n = \sum_{i,j=1}^n m_{i,j} = 0$  and so M is type  $\hat{V}$ , as required.

**THEOREM 3.12.** A matrix  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is type V if and only if it has the block representation

when n = 2k is even

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & 1_k a^T \\ b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n,$$

where  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^k$ ,  $Y \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ , and with Y type V,

and when n = 2k + 1 is odd

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}(a\mathbf{1}_k^T + \mathbf{1}_k c^T) - 2\alpha E_k & a & \sqrt{2}\mathbf{1}_k d^T \\ c^T & \alpha & d^T \\ \sqrt{2}b\mathbf{1}_k^T & b & \hat{\mathbf{0}}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n,$$

with  $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ .

A matrix  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is of type  $\hat{V}$  if and only it has the block representation when n = 2k is even

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & 1_k a^T \\ b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n,$$

where  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^k$ ,  $Y \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ , and with Y type  $\hat{V}$ ,

and when n = 2k + 1 is odd

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}(a1_k^T + 1_k c^T) - \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{2k-1}(1_k^T(a+c))E_k & a & \sqrt{2}1_k d^T \\ c^T & \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2k-1}1_k^T(a+c) & d^T \\ \sqrt{2}b1_k^T & b & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n,$$

with  $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{R}^k$ .

*Proof.* Even case n = 2k. Let M be type  $\hat{V}$ , so that by (5) of Lemma 3.8 we can write

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n,$$

where  $Y, V, W, Z \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ . Then by Lemma 3.11 we have

$$0 = u^T X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n v,$$

for all  $u, v \in \{1_n\}^{\perp}$ .

Now define  $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_n)^T = (\hat{u}_1, \hat{u}_2)$  and  $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)^T = (\hat{v}, \hat{v}_2)$  such that  $\hat{u}_1 = (u_1, u_2, \ldots, u_k)^T$ ,  $\hat{v}_1 = (v_1, v_2, \ldots, v_k)^T$ ,  $\hat{u}_2 = (u_{k+1}, \ldots, u_n)^T$  and  $\hat{v}_2 = (v_{k+1}, \ldots, v_n)^T$ . Then

$$0 = \begin{pmatrix} \hat{u}_1 \\ \hat{u}_2 \end{pmatrix}^T X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{v}_1 \\ \hat{v}_2 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{u}_1 + \hat{u}_2 J_k \\ \hat{u}_1 J_k - \hat{u}_2 \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{v}_1 + J_k \hat{v}_2 \\ J_k \hat{v}_1 - \hat{v}_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} \xi_1 \\ \eta_1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \xi_2 \\ \eta_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $\xi_1 = \hat{u}_1 + \hat{u}_2 J_k$ ,  $\eta_1 = \hat{u}_1 J_k - \hat{u}_2$ ,  $\xi_2 = \hat{v}_1 + J_k \hat{v}_2$  and  $\eta_2 = J_k \hat{v}_1 - \hat{v}_2$ .

Given that  $u_1 + u_2 + \ldots + u_n = 0$  and  $v_1 + v_2 + \ldots + v_n = 0$ , and that the entries in  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  also sum to zero, we deduce that  $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \{1_k\}^{\perp}$  and  $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in \mathbb{R}^k$ .

Multiplying out the final matrix display we obtain

$$0 = \begin{pmatrix} \xi_1 \\ \eta_1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \xi_2 \\ \eta_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \xi_1^T Y \xi_2 + \xi_1^T V^T \eta_2 + \eta_1^T W \xi_2 + \eta_1 Z \eta_2$$

Setting  $\xi_1 = \xi_2 = 0_k$  yields

$$0 = \underbrace{0_k^T Y 0_k}_{=0} + \underbrace{0_k^T V^T \eta_2}_{=0} + \underbrace{\eta_1 W 0_k}_{=0} + \eta_1 Z \eta_2,$$

which implies that  $Z = \hat{0}_k$ .

Setting either or both of  $\eta_1$  and  $\eta_2$  to be the zero vector  $0_k$ , we obtain the three equalities

$$0 = \xi_1^T Y \xi_2 + \xi_1^T V^T \eta_2, \quad 0 = \xi_1^T Y \xi_2 + \eta_1^T W \xi_2 \text{ and } 0 = \xi_1^T Y \xi_2.$$

Given that  $0 = \xi_1^T V^T \eta_2$  and  $0 = \eta_1^T W \xi_2$ , as  $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \{1_k\}^{\perp}$  it follows that

$$0_k = V\xi_1$$
 and  $0_k = W\xi_2$ .

Let  $V_j^T$  and  $W_i^T$  be the row vectors of the matrices V and W respectively for  $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ , so that  $V_j^T \xi_1 = W_i^T \xi_2 = 0$  for all i, j. Then  $V_j \in \{\xi_1\}^{\perp}$  and  $W_i \in \{\xi_2\}^{\perp}$ , and as  $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \{1_k\}^{\perp}$  then  $V_j \in \{1_k\}^{\perp^{\perp}} = \alpha 1_k$  and  $W_i \in \{1_k\}^{\perp^{\perp}} = \beta 1_k$  with  $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Hence  $0 = \xi_1^T Y \xi_2$ , with  $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \{1_k\}^{\perp}$  so that Y is type V by Lemma 3.11 and concluding we have the given type V block representation.

In consideration of the second condition of Lemma 3.11 for a type  $\hat{V}$  matrix, which says that  $0 = 1_n^T M 1_n$ , we have that

$$0 = \mathbf{1}_n^T X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n \mathbf{1}_n = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1}_k + \mathbf{1}_k J_k \\ \mathbf{1}_k J_k - \mathbf{1}_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1}_k + J_k \mathbf{1}_k \\ J_k \mathbf{1}_k - \mathbf{1}_k \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= 2 \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1}_k \\ \mathbf{0}_k \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{1}_k \\ \mathbf{0}_k \end{pmatrix} = \mathbf{1}_k^T Y \mathbf{1}_k$$

and hence Y is type  $\hat{\mathbf{V}}$ , as required.

Conversely, expanding out the block representation

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & \mathbf{1}_k a^T \\ b^T \mathbf{1}_k & \hat{\mathbf{0}}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

with  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^k, Y \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$  and type  $\hat{V}$  we obtain,

$$M = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} Y + J_k b 1_k^T + 1_k a^T J_k & Y J_k + J_k b 1_k^T J_k \\ J_k Y - b 1_k^T + J_k 1_k a^T J_k & J_k Y J_k - b 1_k^T J_k - J_k 1_k a^T \end{pmatrix}$$

and so by Lemma 3.11, under the assumption  $0 = 1_n^T M 1_n$ , we have that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{1}_{n}^{T}M\mathbf{1}_{n} &= \underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}Y\mathbf{1}_{k}}_{=0} + \underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}J_{k}Y\mathbf{1}_{k}}_{=0} + \underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}YJ_{k}\mathbf{1}_{k}}_{=0} + \underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}J_{k}(b\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T})\mathbf{1}_{k}}_{=0} + \underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}J_{k}(b\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T})\mathbf{1}_{k}}_{=0} - \underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}}_{=0} \underbrace{\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}J_{k}\mathbf{1}_{k}}_{=0} \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}J_{k}(b\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T})\mathbf{1}_{k} - \mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}b\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}\mathbf{1}_{k} + \mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}J_{k}b\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}J_{k}\mathbf{1}_{k} - \mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}b\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}J_{k}\mathbf{1}_{k} \\ &+ \mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}\mathbf{1}_{k}a^{T}J_{k}\mathbf{1}_{k} + \mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}J_{k}\mathbf{1}_{k}a^{T}J_{k}\mathbf{1}_{k} - \mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}\mathbf{1}_{k}a^{T}\mathbf{1}_{k} - \mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}J_{k}\mathbf{1}_{k}a^{T}J_{k}\mathbf{1}_{k} \\ &= 0, \end{split}$$

due to symmetries in the constant rows and columns of  $b1_k^T$  and  $1_k a^T$  respectively.

Similarly for any vectors  $u, v \in \{1_n\}^{\perp}$ , where  $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \{1_k\}^{\perp}$ , and  $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in \mathbb{R}^k$ , we have

$$u^{T}X_{n}\begin{pmatrix} Y & 1_{k}a^{T} \\ b^{T}1_{k} & \hat{0}_{k} \end{pmatrix}X_{n}v = \begin{pmatrix} \xi_{1} \\ \eta_{1} \end{pmatrix}^{T}\begin{pmatrix} Y & 1_{k}a^{T} \\ b^{T}1_{k} & \hat{0}_{k} \end{pmatrix}\begin{pmatrix} \xi_{2} \\ \eta_{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \xi_{1}^{T}Y\xi_{2} + \xi_{1}^{T}1_{k}a^{T}\eta_{2} + \eta_{1}^{T}b1_{k}^{T}\xi_{2} + \eta_{1}^{T}\hat{0}_{k}\eta_{2}.$$

The sum of the entries of  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  is 0, and hence we have

$$\underbrace{\xi_1^T Y \xi_2}_{=0} + \xi_1^T \mathbf{1}_k a^T \eta_2 + \eta_1^T b \mathbf{1}_k^T \xi_2 \underbrace{\xi_1^T \mathbf{1}_k a^T}_{=0} \eta_2 + \eta_1^T \underbrace{b \mathbf{1}_k^T \xi_2}_{=0} = 0,$$

and it follows that the block representation structure ensures the type  $\hat{V}_n$  symmetry.

**Odd case** n = 2k + 1. We proceed as in the even case with the assumption that  $M \in \hat{V}_n$ . Setting  $N = X_n M X_n$ , and by (5) of Lemma 3.8 noting that any odd-sided square matrix N can be written in the form

$$N = \begin{pmatrix} Y & v & V^T \\ y^T & \alpha & z^T \\ W & x & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n \quad \text{we can write} \quad M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & v & V^T \\ y^T & \alpha & z^T \\ W & x & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n,$$

for some  $V, W, Y, Z \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ ,  $x, y, v, z \in \mathbb{R}^k$ , and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ .

By Lemma 3.11 we have

$$0 = u^T X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & v & V^T \\ y^T & \alpha & z^T \\ W & x & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n v,$$

for all  $u, v \in \{1_n\}^{\perp}$ .

Now

$$u^{T}X_{n} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\hat{u}_{1}, u_{k+1}, \hat{u}_{2}) \begin{pmatrix} I_{k} & 0_{k} & J_{k} \\ 0_{k}^{T} & \sqrt{2} & 0_{k}^{T} \\ J_{k} & 0_{k} & -I_{k} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \xi_{1} \\ \sqrt{2}u_{k+1} \\ \eta_{1} \end{pmatrix}^{T} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \xi_{1} \\ -\sqrt{2}\mathbf{1}_{k}^{T}\xi_{1} \\ \eta_{1} \end{pmatrix}^{T}$$

where  $\hat{u}_1 = (u_1, u_2, \dots, u_k)^T$  and  $\hat{u}_2 = (u_{k+2}, u_{k+3}, \dots, u_n)^T$ , and again by Lemma 3.11,  $\sum_{i=1}^k (\hat{u}_{1i} + \hat{u}_{2i}) + u_{k+1} = 0$  so  $u_{k+1} = -\sum_{i=1}^k (\hat{u}_{1i} + \hat{u}_{2i}) = -1_k^T \xi_1$ , and similarly

$$X_n v = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & 0_k & J_k \\ 0_k^T & \sqrt{2} & 0_k^T \\ J_k & 0_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{V}_1 \\ v_{k+1} \\ \hat{V}_2 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \xi_2 \\ -\sqrt{2} I_k^T \xi_2 \\ \eta_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Hence we can write,

$$0 = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \xi_1 \\ -\sqrt{2} 1_k^T \xi_1 \\ \eta_1 \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} Y & v & V^T \\ y^T & \alpha & z^T \\ W & x & Z \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \xi_2 \\ -\sqrt{2} 1_k^T \xi_2 \\ \eta_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \xi_1^T Y \xi_2 - \sqrt{2} (\xi_1^T v) (1_k^T \xi_2) + \xi_1 V^T \eta_2 - \sqrt{2} (\xi_1^T 1_k) (y^t \xi_2) + 2 (\xi_1^T 1_k) (1_k^T \xi_2) \alpha$$
$$- \sqrt{2} (\xi_1^T 1_k) (z^T \eta_2) + \eta_1^T W \xi_2 - \sqrt{2} (\eta_1^T x) (1_k^T \xi_2) + \eta_1^T Z \eta_2.$$

Setting  $\xi_1 = \xi_2 = 0_k \in \mathbb{R}^k$ , yields

$$0 = \underbrace{\xi_1^T Y \xi_2}_{=0} - \underbrace{\sqrt{2}(\xi_1^T v)(1_k^T \xi_2)}_{=0} + \underbrace{\xi_1 V^T \eta_2}_{=0} - \underbrace{\sqrt{2}(\xi_1^T 1_k)(y^t \xi_2)}_{=0} + \underbrace{2(\xi_1^T 1_k)(1_k^T \xi_2)\alpha}_{=0} - \underbrace{\sqrt{2}(\xi_1^T 1_k)(z^T \eta_2)}_{=0} + \underbrace{\eta_1^T W \xi_2}_{=0} - \underbrace{\sqrt{2}(\eta_1^T x)(1_k^T \xi_2)}_{=0} + \eta_1^T Z \eta_2 - \underbrace{\eta_1^T Z \eta_2}_{=0} + \underbrace{\eta$$

from which we deduce that  $Z = \hat{0}_k$ . Taking  $\xi_1 = \xi_2 = 0_k \in \mathbb{R}^k$  gives us

$$0 = \eta_1^T W \xi_2 - \sqrt{2} (\xi_1^T x) (1_k^T \xi_2),$$

so that

$$W = \sqrt{2}x1_k^T,$$

and

$$0 = \xi_1^T V^T \eta_2 - \sqrt{2} (\xi_1^T \mathbf{1}_k) (z^T \eta_2),$$

so that

$$V^T = \sqrt{2} \mathbf{1}_k z^T,$$

thus establishing W and V. It follows that

$$0 = \xi_1^T Y \xi_2 - \sqrt{2} (\xi_1^T v) (1_k^T \xi_2) + \underbrace{\xi_1 V^T}_{=0_k} \eta_2 - \sqrt{2} (\xi_1^T 1_k) (y^T \xi_2) + 2 (\xi_1^T 1_k) (1_k^T \xi_2) \alpha$$
  
-  $\sqrt{2} \underbrace{\xi_1^T V^T}_{=0_k} \eta_2 + \eta_1^T \underbrace{W \xi_2}_{=0_k} - \sqrt{2} \eta_1^T \underbrace{W \xi_2}_{=0_k} = \xi_1^T Y \xi_2 - \sqrt{2} (\xi_1^T v) (1_k^T \xi_2) - \sqrt{2} (\xi_1^T 1_k) (y^T \xi_2)$   
=  $\xi_1^T \left( Y - \sqrt{2} (v 1_k^T) - \sqrt{2} (1_k y^T) + 2\alpha 1_k 1_k^T \right) \xi_2,$ 

and so

$$\hat{0}_{k} = Y - \sqrt{2}(v1_{k}^{T}) - \sqrt{2}(1_{k}y^{t}) + 2\alpha E_{k}$$
$$Y = \sqrt{2}(v1_{k}^{T} + 1_{k}y^{T}) - 2\alpha E_{k}.$$

From the second condition in 3.11, we also have

$$0 = \mathbf{1}_n^T M \mathbf{1}_n = \mathbf{1}_n^T X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & v & V^T \\ y^T & \alpha & z^T \\ W & x & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n \mathbf{1}_n.$$

Using the representations for  $1_n^T X_n$  and  $X_n 1_n$ ,

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & 0_k & J_k \\ 0_k^T & \sqrt{2} & 0_k^T \\ J_k & 0_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2} 1_k \\ \sqrt{2} \\ 0_k \end{pmatrix}^T,$$
$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & 0_k & J_k \\ 0_k^T & \sqrt{2} & 0_k^T \\ J_k & 0_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1_k \\ 1 \\ 1_k \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2} 1_k \\ \sqrt{2} \\ 0_k \end{pmatrix}$$

we can write

$$0 = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}1_k \\ \sqrt{2} \\ 0_k \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} Y & v & V^T \\ y^T & \alpha & z^T \\ W & x & Z \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}1_k \\ \sqrt{2} \\ 0_k \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= 21_k^T Y 1_k + \sqrt{2}1_k^T v + \sqrt{2}y^T 1_k + \alpha.$$

Substituting for  $Y = \sqrt{2}(v1_k^T + 1_k y^T) - 2\alpha E_k$ , then gives us

$$0 = 21_k^T \left( \sqrt{2} (v 1_k^T + 1_k y^T) - 2\alpha E_k \right) 1_k + \sqrt{2} 1_k^T v + \sqrt{2} y^T 1_k + \alpha$$
  
=  $2\sqrt{2} 1_k^T (v 1_k^T) 1_k + 2\sqrt{2} 1_k^T (1_k y^T) 1_k - 4\alpha 1_k^T E_k 1_k + \sqrt{2} 1_k^T v + \sqrt{2} y^T 1_k + \alpha$ 

so that

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(41_k^T E_k 1_k - 1) &= 2\sqrt{2}1_k^T (v 1_k^T) 1_k + 2\sqrt{2}1_k^T (1_k y^T) 1_k + \sqrt{2}1_k^T v + \sqrt{2}y^T 1_k \\ \alpha(4k^2 - 1) &= 2\sqrt{2}1_k^T v k + 2\sqrt{2}k y^T 1_k + \sqrt{2}1_k^T v + \sqrt{2}y^T 1_k \\ &= (2\sqrt{2}k + \sqrt{2})1_k^T v + (2\sqrt{2}k + \sqrt{2})y^T 1_k = \sqrt{2}(2k+1)\left(1_k^T v + y^T 1_k\right) \end{aligned}$$

which implies that

$$\alpha \frac{4k^2 - 1}{2k + 1} = \sqrt{2}(\mathbf{1}_k^T v + y^T \mathbf{1}_k),$$

and hence

$$\alpha = \frac{\sqrt{2}}{2k - 1} (1_k^T v + y^T 1_k).$$

The converse argument then follows similarly to the even case.

Combining the previous theorems for type R and type V matrix block representa-

tions we obtain the following block representation theorem for a reversible square matrix M, so that M has the composite symmetry  $M \in \mathbf{R}_n \cap \mathbf{V}_n = \mathbf{R}\mathbf{V}_n$ .

**THEOREM 3.13.** Let  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then M is a reversible square matrix with  $M \in \mathrm{RV}_n$ , if and only if M has the block representation

when n = 2k is even

$$M = X_n \left( \begin{array}{cc} wE_k & 1_k a^T \\ b1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{array} \right) X_n$$

with  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^k$ ,  $w \in \mathbb{R}$ ,

and when n = 2k + 1 is odd

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}wE_k & w1_k & \sqrt{2}1_k d^T \\ w1_k^T & w & d^T \\ \sqrt{2}b1_k^T & b & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

with  $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $w \in \mathbb{R}$ .

*Proof.* For even n = 2k, considering the block representation of types R and V simultaneously yields

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} wE_k & 1y^T \\ x1_k^T & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & 1_k a^T \\ b1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} wE_k & 1_k a^T \\ b1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

and similarly for odd n = 2k + 1 we have

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}wE_k & w1_k & \sqrt{2}1_k z^T \\ w1_k^T & \frac{a}{\sqrt{2}} & z^T \\ \sqrt{2}x1_k^T & x & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}(a1_k^T + 1_k c^T) - 2\alpha E_k & a & \sqrt{2}1_k d^T \\ c^T & \alpha & d^T \\ \sqrt{2}b1_k^T & b & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n$$
$$= X_n \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}wE_k & w1_k & \sqrt{2}1_k d^T \\ w1_k^T & w & d^T \\ \sqrt{2}b1_k^T & b & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n.$$

In Lemma 3.14 we use the block representation for reversible square matrices, to demonstrate that every reversible square matrix is also type A, so an associated square matrix (defined earlier in this chapter).

**LEMMA 3.14.** Let  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  be an  $n \times n$  reversible square matrix with weight w, so that  $M \in \text{RV}_n$ , is both type  $R_n$  and type  $V_n$ . Then M is also an associated square matrix with weight w, so that  $M \in A_n$  is type A, with  $m_{i,j} + m_{n+1-i,n+1-j} = 2w$ , for all  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ , and so  $\text{RV}_n \subset A_n$ . *Proof.* For n = 2k is even we expand out the conjugated block representation of Theorem 3.13 to obtain

$$M = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1_k a^T J_k + J_k b 1_k^t & -1_k a^T + J_k b 1_k \\ 1_k a^T J_k - b 1_k^T & -1_k a^T - b 1_k^T \end{pmatrix} + w E_n$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left( \begin{pmatrix} J_k b 1_k^T & J_k b 1_k \\ -b 1_k & -b 1_k^T \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 1_k a^T J_k & -1_k a^T \\ 1_k a^T J_k & -1_k a^T \end{pmatrix} \right) + w E_n$$

Written in this form it can be seen that the elements of the vectors a, b in all associated sums cancel, so that  $m_{i,j} + m_{n+1-i,n+1-j} = 2w$ .

Similarly with an odd sided reversible square we have

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 1_k a^T J_k + J_k b 1_k^T & J_k b & -1_k a^T + J_k b 1_K^T \\ a^T J_k & 0 & -a^T \\ 1_k a^T J_k - b 1_k^T & -b & -1_k a^T - b 1_k^T \end{pmatrix} + w E_n,$$

and again we find that the elements of the vectors a, b in all associated sums cancel, so that  $m_{i,j} + m_{n+1-i,n+1-j} = 2w$ . Hence  $RV_n \subset A_n$ , as required.

**Example.** A traditional reversible square matrix of order 4 with weight  $w = \frac{17}{2}$  and associated sum 2w = 17.

1	2	5	6
3	4	7	8
9	10	13	14
11	12	15	16

## 3.2 Legitimate Transforms and Reversible Square Equivalence Classes

We begin by defining the seven legitimate transforms for a reversible square  $R = (r_{ij})$ , as considered in [10] (see §2.4 pp 25-28) by Ollerenshaw and Brée.

**Definition** (of Legitimate Transforms). Listed below are the seven legitimate transforms.

(i) Reflection across the horizontal central axis:

$$r'_{ij} = r_{(n+1-i)j}$$
 for all  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ ;

(ii) Reflection across the vertical central axis:

$$r'_{ij} = r_{i(n+1-j)}$$
 for all  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ ;

(iii) Reflection across either principal diagonal axis:

$$r'_{ij} = r_{ji} \quad i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n \text{ or}$$
  
 $r'_{ij} = r_{(n+1-i)(n+1-j)} \text{ for all } i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n;$ 

(iv) Swapping associated pairs of rows across the horizontal central axis:

$$\begin{aligned} r'_{i'j} &= r_{(n+1-i')j}, \\ r'_{(n+1-i')j} &= r_{i'j} \text{ for all } j \in \mathbb{Z}_n \text{ and fixed } i' \in \mathbb{Z}_n, \\ r'_{ij} &= r_{ij} \text{ for } i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n, \text{ and } i \notin \{i', n+1-i'\}, \end{aligned}$$

(v) Swapping associated pairs of columns across the vertical central axis:

$$\begin{aligned} r'_{ij'} &= r_{i(n+1-j')}, \\ r'_{i(n+1-j')} &= r_{ij'} \text{ for all } i \in \mathbb{Z}_n \text{ and fixed } j' \in \mathbb{Z}_n, \\ r'_{ij} &= r_{ij} \text{ for } i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n, \text{ and } j \notin \{j', n+1-j'\}, \end{aligned}$$

(vi) Simultaneously swapping rows i', i'' in one half of the matrix and swapping the associated two rows in the other half:

$$\begin{aligned} r'_{i'j} &= r_{i''j}, \\ r'_{i''j} &= r_{i'j}, \\ r'_{(n+1-i')j} &= r_{(n+1-i'')j}, \\ r'_{(n+1-i'')j} &= r_{(n+1-i')j} \text{ for all } i', i'', j \in \mathbb{Z}_n, \\ r'_{ij} &= r_{ij} \text{ for } i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n \text{ and } i \notin \{i', i'', n+1-i', n+1-i''\}. \end{aligned}$$

(vii) Simultaneously swapping columns j', j'' in one half of the matrix and swapping the associated two columns in the other half:

$$\begin{aligned} r'_{ij'} &= r_{ij''}, \\ r'_{ij''} &= r_{ij'}, \\ r'_{i(n+1-j')} &= r_{i(n+1-j'')}, \\ r'_{i(n+1-j'')} &= r_{i(n+1-j')} \text{ for all } j', j'', i \in \mathbb{Z}_n, \\ r'_{ij} &= r_{ij} \text{ for } i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n \text{ and } j \notin \{j', j'', n+1-j', n+1-j''\}. \end{aligned}$$

**Definition** (of reversible square equivalence classes). Let  $R = (r_{ij})$  and  $R' = (r'_{ij})$  be two  $n \times n$  reversible square matrices. Then we say that R and R' are equivalent if and only if there exists a finite combination of legitimate transforms which

transform R to R'. If R and R' are equivalent then we write  $R \sim R'$ , and say that the two reversible squares lie in the same *equivalence class*.

The first three transforms lead to a reversible square  $R' = (r'_{ij})$  that is considered to be the same reversible square (the dihedral symmetries), whereas the latter four transforms map the reversible square  $R = (r_{ij})$  to an *essentially different* reversible square  $R' = (r'_{ij})$  within the same equivalence class.

A reversible square equivalence class is defined to be the set of all  $n \times n$  reversible squares that can be transformed into one another by any combination of legitimate transforms.

**LEMMA 3.15.** The definition of two  $n \times n$  reversible square matrices being equivalent if they are connected by a sequence of legitimate transforms, is in fact a true equivalence relation, satisfying the transitive, symmetric and reflexive properties required.

*Proof.* Let  $\sim$  mean that two  $n \times n$  reversible squares are in the same equivalence class, so that there exists a sequence of legitimate transforms which takes one to the other. Then this relation is

- reflexive as the identity transform can be obtained by a sequence of legitimate transform, and so  $M \sim M$ ,
- symmetric as the sequence of legitimate transforms which take M to N has an inverse legitimate transform which takes N to M, and so  $M \sim N \Leftrightarrow N \sim M$ ,
- transitive, for if  $L \sim M$  and  $M \sim N$ , then one can get from L to N via a sequence of legitimate transforms and hence L and N are not essentially different and  $L \sim N$ .

Hence equivalence, as defined here, is in fact a true equivalence relation.

In [10] Ollerenshaw and Brée's approach to counting all essentially different  $n \times n$ reversible square matrices was to calculate the number of equivalence classes  $N_n$ multiplied by the size of each equivalence class  $M_n$ . A key point in their argument was that each equivalence class had the same number of  $M_n$  elements, and being represented by a principal element, called a *principal reversible square*, which we now define.

**Definition** (of Principal Reversible Squares). An  $n \times n$  square matrix  $M = (m_{i,j})$ , is said to be a *principal reversible square matrix* if and only if each of the row entries read from left to right, and column entries read from top to bottom form increasing integer sequences; the top left matrix entries satisfy  $m_{1,1} = 1$  and  $m_{1,2} = 2$ and all three conditions for a traditional reversible square matrix hold, where as previously defined the term *traditional* implies that the entries consist of the integers  $1, 2, 3, \ldots, n^2$ . **LEMMA 3.16.** Each equivalence class of  $n \times n$  traditional reversible square matrices is represented by a unique  $n \times n$  principal reversible square, so that distinct principal reversible squares lie in distinct equivalence classes.

*Proof.* We sketch the proof given by Ollerenshaw and Brée in [10] (see § 2.4 pp 29-32).

Firstly we see that the numbers 1 and 2 must lie in the same row or column, otherwise there is no other pair of integers that can satisfy the equal cross-sum property, with sum 0 + 1 = 1. Next we note that every traditional reversible square can be manipulated via the row and column swaps (i) and (ii), and the transpositions (iii), so that the first row begins 1, 2, and that each row sequence (read left to right) and column sequence (read top to bottom) is an increasing sequence of integers. Hence the legitimate transforms enable every traditional reversible square to be transformed into a principal reversible square.

Next we need to show that there does not exist a combination of legitimate transforms that will transform one principal reversible square to another principal reversible square. As all row and column entries of a principal reversible square are in ascending order, it follows that applying any legitimate transform breaks this condition within one of the rows or columns. Hence each equivalence class of  $n \times n$ traditional reversible squares is represented by a unique  $n \times n$  principal reversible square, as required.

The fundamental link between sum-systems and principal reversible squares is established in the following lemma.

**LEMMA 3.17.** Given a principal reversible square  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  then the first row and column of the matrix  $M - E_n$  form a sum-system.

*Proof.* The third symmetry requirement for a square matrix to be a reversible square says that the cross sum of the corners of any subarray within the square is equal, so that

$$m_{ij} + m_{i'j'} = m_{ij'} + m_{i'j}.$$

As the first entry of  $M - E_n$  is 0 then we have

$$(m_{11} - 1) + (m_{ij} - 1) = (m_{1j} - 1) + (m_{i1} - 1)$$
$$m_{ij} - 1 = m_{1j} - 1 + m_{i1} - 1$$
$$m_{ij} + 1 = m_{1j} + m_{ij},$$

and as M is traditional, it follows that  $M - E_n$  contain the integers 0 to  $n^2 - 1$ . Therefore the first row and column of M must form an n + n sum-system, as required.

#### 3.3 The Equivalence Class Cardinality

**THEOREM 3.18.** Each reversible square equivalence class has cardinality  $M_n$ , where

$$M_n = 2^{n-2} \left( \left\lfloor \frac{1}{2}n \right\rfloor! \right)^2.$$

*Proof.* We need to count the number of equivalent reversible squares that arise from all possible combinations of legitimate transforms applied to an original  $n \times n$  traditional reversible square matrix. We give the proof for even n. The proof for odd n then follows with the insertion of the floor function brackets.

Let M be our  $n \times n$  principal reversible square with

$$M = (a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{\frac{n}{2}}, b_{\frac{n}{2}}, \dots, b_2, b_1),$$

so that  $a_i$  and  $b_i$  are the column vectors of M.

The number of equivalent reversible squares corresponds to the number of column and row swaps one can carry out. The structure of a reversible square is that column  $b_i$  must be in the mirrored position across the vertical axis from  $a_i$  for all *i*. The legitimate transforms tell us that we can:

- 1. Swap any number of  $a_i$ 's with  $b_i$ 's.
- 2. Swap any  $a_i$  and  $a_j$  provided we swap  $b_i$  and  $b_j$  for all  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_k$  (n = 2k).

Hence considering the left hand half of M whose columns are  $(a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_{\frac{n}{2}})$ , we have  $\frac{n}{2}$ ! choices for the columns. With the columns chosen we now count the number of swaps across the vertical axis which is given by the sum over zero column swaps, one column swap, two column swaps up to  $\frac{n}{2}$  column swaps. This equates to

$$\binom{\frac{n}{2}}{0} + \binom{\frac{n}{2}}{1} + \binom{\frac{n}{2}}{2} + \dots + \binom{\frac{n}{2}}{\frac{n}{2}} = \sum_{i=0}^{\frac{n}{2}} \binom{\frac{n}{2}}{i} = 2^{\frac{n}{2}}.$$

Multiplying these together then gives  $(\frac{n}{2})!2^{\frac{n}{2}}$  equivalent but different  $n \times n$  reversible square matrices, and squaring this number then includes all possible row transforms.

Finally we note that in terms of excluding the dihedral symmetries, although the legitimate transforms do not allow for rotations of the original matrix, they do afford reflections across the horizontal, vertical and diagonal axes. Hence we divide through by 4, to deduce that each reversible square equivalence class has cardinality  $M_n$  with

$$M_n = 2^{n-2} \left( \left\lfloor \frac{1}{2}n \right\rfloor! \right)^2.$$

Here the floor function incorporates the odd sided argument in which the middle row and column is fixed.  $\hfill \Box$ 

An alternative proof can be obtained via the block representation of a legitimate transform given in Lemma 4.2.

**Example.** For n = 4, there are three principal reversible squares, and so equivalence classes, each with 16 elements. We give all 16 elements for the simplest principal reversible square below.

1	2	3	4	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	5	6	7	8
5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	1	2	3	4	13	14	15	16
9	10	11	12	5	6	7	8	13	14	15	16	1	2	3	4
13	14	15	16	13	14	15	16	9	10	11	12	9	10	11	12

1	3	2	4	1	3	2	4	5	7	6	8	5	7	6	8
5	7	6	8	9	11	10	12	1	3	2	4	13	15	14	16
9	11	10	12	5	7	6	8	13	15	14	16	1	3	2	4
13	15	14	16	13	15	14	16	9	11	10	12	9	11	10	12
2	1	4	3	2	1	4	3	6	5	8	7	6	5	8	7
6	5	8	7	10	9	12	11	2	1	4	3	14	13	16	15
10	9	12	11	6	5	8	7	14	13	16	15	2	1	4	3
14	13	16	15	14	13	16	15	10	9	12	11	10	9	12	11
2	4	1	3	2	4	1	3	6	8	5	7	6	8	5	7
6	8	5	7	10	12	9	11	2	4	1	3	2	4	1	3
10	12	9	11	6	8	5	7	14	16	13	15	14	16	13	15
14	16	13	15	14	16	13	15	10	12	9	11	10	12	9	11

# 4 Sum-and-Distance to Reversible Square Bijection

In this chapter we establish that the number of principal reversible squares of size n is equal to the number of m + m inclusive sum-and-distance systems if n = 2m + 1 is odd and equal to the number of m + m non inclusive sum-and-distance systems if n = 2m.

To begin we recall our definitions for two specific types of m + m sum-and-distance systems. Note: we change the notation of the entries from  $a_i$  to  $\hat{a}_i$  and  $b_i$  to  $\hat{b}_i$  to distinguish between the entries of the vectors a, b in the block representation of a reversible square.

**Definition** (of m + m sum-and-distance systems). For natural number m, let

$$A = \{\hat{a}_1, \dots, \hat{a}_m\}, \text{ and } B = \{\hat{b}_1, \dots, \hat{b}_m\},\$$

be two sets of positive integers of m distinct elements, ordered in terms of increasing value, with  $A \cap B = \phi$ .

Then we say that the set pair A and B form a m + m (non-inclusive) sum-anddistance system, if and only if the corresponding sum-and-distance set,  $A^*B$ , defined by

$$A^*B = (A+B) \cup |A-B| = \{\hat{a}_j + \hat{b}_k, |\hat{a}_j - \hat{b}_k| : j,k \in \{1,\dots,m\}\}$$

contains the odd integers  $1, 3, 5, \ldots, 4m^2 - 1$ .

Similarly we say that A and B form an *inclusive* m+m sum-and-distance system if and only if the union of the corresponding sum-and-distance set,  $A^*B$ , with A and B, given by  $A^*B \cup A \cup B = A \cup B \cup (A+B) \cup |A-B|$ 

$$A^*B = \{ \hat{a}_j, \hat{b}_k, \hat{a}_j + \hat{b}_k, |\hat{a}_j - \hat{b}_k| : j, k \in \{1, \dots, m\} \},\$$

contains the consecutive integers  $1, 2, 3, \ldots 2m^2 + 2m$ .

#### 4.1 Traditional Reversible Squares and Sum-and-Distance Systems

**THEOREM 4.1.** A square matrix  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , is a traditional reversible square if and only if the set of absolute values in the vectors  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^k$  in the block representation in Theorem 3.13 comprise a sum-and-distance system, non-inclusive if n = 2k is even, and inclusive if n = 2k + 1 is odd.

*Proof.* Let M be a traditional  $n \times n$  reversible square with side length n = 2k, so that M contains the integers 1 to  $n^2$ . Subtracting the weight multiplied by  $E_n$ to obtain the weightless reversible square  $M^0 = M - \frac{n^2+1}{2}E_n$ , we have that  $M^0$  contains the set of

$$\{1, 2, \dots, n^2\} - \frac{(n^2 + 1)}{2} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ -(n^2 - 1), -(n^2 - 3), \dots, -1, 1, \dots, (n^2 - 1) \right\}.$$

From the block representation of a weightless reversible square we have that

$$M^{0} = X_{n} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k} & 1_{k}a^{T} \\ b1_{k}^{T} & \hat{0}_{k} \end{pmatrix} X_{n} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} J_{k}b1_{k} + 1_{k}a^{T}J_{k} & J_{k}b1_{k}J_{k} - 1_{k}a^{T}J \\ -b1_{k} + J_{k}1_{k}a^{T}J_{k} & -b1_{k}J_{k} - J_{k}1_{k}a^{T} \end{pmatrix},$$

for some  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^k$  such that  $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_k)^T$ ,  $b = (b_1, \ldots, b_k)^T$ , then comparing set entries yields

$$\frac{1}{2} \left\{ -(n^2 - 1), -(n^2 - 3), \dots, -1, 1, \dots, n^2 - 3, n^2 - 1 \right\}$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2} \left\{ b_j + a_i, b_j - a_i, -b_j + a_i, -b_j - a_i \mid i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_k \right\}.$ 

We can then write

$$\{1, 3, \dots, n^2 - 1\} = \{|a_i| + |b_j|, ||a_i| - |b_j|| \mid i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_k\}$$

so that the set of absolute values of the entries of a and b form a non-inclusive sum-and-distance system.

Conversely, let  $A = \{\hat{a}_1, \dots, \hat{a}_k\}, B = \{\hat{b}_1, \dots, \hat{b}_k\}$  form a non-inclusive sum-anddistance system, and define the k-length vectors a and b to contain every entry of Aand B respectively in any permutation and with either positive or negative choice of sign. Then the block representation of the matrix

$$M^{0} = X_{n} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k} & 1_{k}a^{T} \\ b1_{k}^{T} & \hat{0}_{k} \end{pmatrix} X_{n} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} J_{k}b1_{k} + 1_{k}a^{T}J_{k} & J_{k}b1_{k}J_{k} - 1_{k}a^{T}J \\ -b1_{k} + J_{k}1_{k}a^{T}J_{k} & -b1_{k}J_{k} - J_{k}1_{k}a^{T} \end{pmatrix}$$

has the set of entries

$$\frac{1}{2} \left\{ \hat{b}_j + \hat{a}_i, \hat{b}_j - \hat{a}_i, -\hat{b}_j + \hat{a}_i, -\hat{b}_j - \hat{a}_i \mid \hat{a}_i \in A, \ \hat{b}_j \in B \right\}$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{2} \left\{ -(n^2 - 1), -(n^2 - 3), \dots, -1, 1, \dots, n^2 - 3, n^2 - 1 \right\}$ 

in some order and hence  $M = M^0 + \frac{n^2+1}{2}E_n$  is an  $n \times n$  traditional reversible square.

For odd n = 2k + 1, proceeding as before we remove the weight and expand the block representation to obtain

$$M^{0} = X_{n} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k} & 0_{k} & 2(1_{k}a^{T}) \\ 0_{k}^{T} & 0 & \sqrt{2}a^{T} \\ 2b1_{k}^{T} & \sqrt{2}b & \hat{0}_{k} \end{pmatrix} X_{n} = \begin{pmatrix} 1_{k}a^{T}J_{k} + J_{k}b1_{k}^{T} & J_{k}b & -1_{k}a^{T} + J_{k}b1_{k}^{T} \\ a^{T}j_{k} & 0 & -a^{T} \\ 1_{k}a^{T}j_{k} - b1_{k}^{T} & -b & -1_{k}a^{T} - b1_{k}^{T} \end{pmatrix},$$

for  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^k$  such that  $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_k)^T$ ,  $b = (b_1, \ldots, b_k)^T$ , from which we deduce that the four corner  $k \times k$  blocks contain all entries  $\pm a_i \pm b_j$  for  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_k$ , with the additional 4k entries  $\pm a_i$  and  $\pm b_j$  along the central row and column with the 0 element in the central cell. It follows that values in vectors a and b must satisfy the following,

$$\{|a_i|+|b_j|, ||a_i|-|b_j||, |a_i|, |b_j|| \ i,j\in\mathbb{Z}_k\} = \left\{1,2\ldots,\frac{n^2-1}{2}\right\},\$$

if M is a reversible square. Therefore the set of absolute values of the entries of a and b form an inclusive sum-and-distance system.

Conversely, let  $A = \{\hat{a}_1, \dots, \hat{a}_k\}$ ,  $B = \{\hat{b}_1, \dots, \hat{b}_k\}$  form an inclusive sum-anddistance system, then define k-length vectors a and b to contain every entry of A and B respectively in any permutation and can be either positive or negative. Let  $M^0$  be the resulting weightless reversible square matrix and by the expanding its block representation from above, it follows that  $M = M^0 + \frac{n^2+1}{2}E_n$  is an  $n \times n$ traditional reversible square, as it contains the integers

$$\{1,2,\ldots n^2\},\$$

and exhibits the three symmetry properties required.

**LEMMA 4.2.** Let  $M^0 \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  be a traditional weightless reversible square with block representation vectors a and b. Then applying any combination of the seven legitimate transforms defined previously to the matrix  $M^0$  results in new block representation vectors c and d, whose absolute values are the same as the absolute values of a and b, i.e. the ordered sets formed from the absolute values of the two vectors are invariant under the legitimate transform actions.

It follows that the sum-and-distance system formed from the absolute values of the block representation vectors is invariant under the action of the seven legitimate transforms.

*Proof.* We now describe the seven legitimate transforms in terms of matrix algebra, for both the even and the odd order cases, from which it is apparent that the legitimate transforms do not change the absolute values within the block representation vectors.

(i) Reflection across the horizontal central axis.

$$J_n X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k a^T \\ b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & -J_k \\ J_k & I_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k a^T \\ b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k a^T \\ -b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

and

$$J_n X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 0_k & 2(1_k a^T) \\ 0_k^T & 0 & \sqrt{2} a^T \\ 2b1_k^T & \sqrt{2}b & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & 0_k & -J_k \\ 0_k^T & \sqrt{2} & 0_k^T \\ J_k & 0_k & I_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 0_k & 2(1_k a^T) \\ 0_k^T & 0 & \sqrt{2} a^T \\ 2b1_k^T & \sqrt{2}b & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n$$
$$= X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 0_k & 2(1_k a^T) \\ 0_k^T & 0 & \sqrt{2} a^T \\ -2b1_k^T & \sqrt{2}b & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n.$$

(ii) Reflection across the vertical central axis.

$$X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k a^T \\ b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n J_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k a^T \\ b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ -J_k & I_k \end{pmatrix} = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & -1_k a^T \\ b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n,$$

and

$$\begin{split} X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 0_k & 2(1_k a^T) \\ 0_k^T & 0 & \sqrt{2} a^T \\ 2b1_k^T & \sqrt{2}b & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n J_n &= X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 0_k & 2(1_k a^T) \\ 0_k^T & 0 & \sqrt{2} a^T \\ 2b1_k^T & \sqrt{2}b & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & 0_k & J_k \\ 0_k^T & \sqrt{2} & 0_k^T \\ -J_k & 0_k & I_k \end{pmatrix} \\ &= X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 0_k & -2(1_k a^T) \\ 0_k^T & 0 & -\sqrt{2} a^T \\ 2b1_k^T & \sqrt{2}b & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n. \end{split}$$

(iii) Transposition.

$$\left(X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k a^T \\ b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n\right)^T = X_n^T \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k a^T \\ b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix}^T X_n^T = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k b^T \\ a 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n,$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$ 

$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k} & 0_{k} & 2(1_{k}a^{T}) \\ 0_{k}^{T} & 0 & \sqrt{2}a^{T} \\ 2b1_{k}^{T} & \sqrt{2}b & \hat{0}_{k} \end{pmatrix}^{T} = X_{n}^{T} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k} & 0_{k} & 2(1_{k}a^{T}) \\ 0_{k}^{T} & 0 & \sqrt{2}a^{T} \\ 2b1_{k}^{T} & \sqrt{2}b & \hat{0}_{k} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}^{T} X_{n}^{T}$$
$$= X_{n} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k} & 0_{k} & 2(1_{k}b^{T}) \\ 0_{k}^{T} & 0 & \sqrt{2}b^{T} \\ 2a1_{k}^{T} & \sqrt{2}a & \hat{0}_{k} \end{pmatrix} X_{n}.$$

In consideration of the remaining four legitimate transforms we use the block rep-

resentation expansions

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k a^T \\ b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = \frac{1}{2} \left( \begin{pmatrix} J_k b 1_k^T & J_k b 1_k^T \\ -b 1_k^T & -b 1_k^T \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 1_k a^T J_k & -1_k a^T \\ 1_k a^T J_k & 1_k a^T \end{pmatrix} \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left( \begin{pmatrix} b_k & \dots & b_k & b_k & \dots & b_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ b_1 & \dots & b_1 & b_1 & \dots & b_1 \\ -b_1 & \dots & -b_1 & -b_1 & \dots & -b_1 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -b_k & \dots & -b_k & -b_k & \dots & -b_k \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} a_k & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \end{pmatrix} \right),$$

and

$$M = X_{n} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k} & 0_{k} & 2I_{k}a^{T} \\ 0_{k}^{T} & 0 & \sqrt{2}a^{T} \\ 2b1_{k}^{T} & \sqrt{2}b & \hat{0}_{k} \end{pmatrix} X_{n} = \begin{pmatrix} J_{k}b1_{k}^{T} & J_{k}b & b1_{k}^{T}J_{k} \\ 0_{k}^{T} & 0 & 0_{k}^{T} \\ -b1_{k}^{T} & -b & -b1_{k}^{T} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} I_{k}a^{T}J_{k} & 0_{k} & -J_{k}I_{k}a^{T} \\ a^{T}J_{k} & 0 & -a^{T} \\ J_{k}I_{k}a^{T}J_{k} & 0_{k} & -J_{k}I_{k}a^{T} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} b_{k} & \dots & b_{k} & b_{k} & b_{k} & \dots & b_{k} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ b_{1} & \dots & b_{1} & b_{1} & b_{1} & \dots & b_{1} \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -b_{1} & \dots & -b_{1} & -b_{1} & -b_{1} & \dots & -b_{1} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -b_{k} & \dots & -b_{k} & -b_{k} & -b_{k} & \dots & -b_{k} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} a_{k} & \dots & a_{1} & 0 & -a_{1} & \dots & -a_{k} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{k} & \dots & a_{1} & 0 & -a_{1} & \dots & -a_{k} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{k} & \dots & a_{1} & 0 & -a_{1} & \dots & -a_{k} \end{pmatrix}.$$

(iv) Swapping associated pairs of rows s and n+1-s across the horizontal central axis.

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k a^T \\ b(s) 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left( \begin{pmatrix} b_k & \cdots & b_k & b_k & \cdots & b_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -b_{k+1-s} & \cdots & -b_{k+1-s} & -b_{k+1-s} & \cdots & -b_{k+1-s} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ b_1 & \cdots & b_1 & b_1 & \cdots & b_1 \\ -b_1 & \cdots & -b_1 & -b_1 & \cdots & -b_1 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ b_{k+1-s} & \cdots & b_{k+1-s} & b_{k+1-s} & \cdots & b_{k+1-s} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -b_k & \cdots & -b_k & -b_k & \cdots & -b_k \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} a_k & \cdots & a_1 & -a_1 & \cdots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \cdots & a_1 & -a_1 & \cdots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \cdots & a_1 & -a_1 & \cdots & -a_k \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $b(s) = (b_1, \dots, -b_{k+1-s}, \dots, b_k)^T = \hat{I}(k+1-s)b$ , and

$$\hat{I}(s)_{i,j} = \begin{cases} 0 & i \neq j, \\ 1 & i = j, \ i \neq s, \ j \neq s, \\ -1 & i = j = s, \end{cases}$$

and

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 0_k & 21_k a^T \\ 0_k^T & 0 & \sqrt{2}a^T \\ 2b(s)1_k^T & \sqrt{2}b(s) & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = \begin{pmatrix} a_k & \dots & a_1 & 0 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & a_1 & 0 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \\ a_k & \dots & a_1 & 0 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & a_1 & 0 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{pmatrix} b_k & \dots & b_k & b_k & b_k & \dots & b_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -b_{k+1-s} & \dots & -b_{k+1-s} & -b_{k+1-s} & -b_{k+1-s} & \dots & -b_{k+1-s} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ b_1 & \dots & b_1 & b_1 & b_1 & \dots & b_1 \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -b_1 & \dots & -b_1 & -b_1 & -b_1 & \dots & -b_1 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ b_{k+1-s} & \dots & b_{k+1-s} & b_{k+1-s} & b_{k+1-s} & \dots & b_{k+1-s} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -b_k & \dots & -b_k & -b_k & -b_k & \dots & -b_k \end{pmatrix}$$

where  $b(s) = (b_1, \dots, -b_{k+1-s}, \dots, b_k)^T = \hat{I}(k+1-s)b.$ 

(v) Swapping associated pairs of columns across the vertical central axis.

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k a(s)^T \\ b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = \frac{1}{2} \left( \begin{pmatrix} b_k & \dots & b_k & b_k & \dots & b_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ b_1 & \dots & b_1 & b_1 & \dots & b_1 \\ -b_1 & \dots & -b_1 & -b_1 & \dots & -b_1 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -b_k & \dots & -b_k & -b_k & \dots & -b_k \end{pmatrix} \right)$$

$$+ \begin{pmatrix} a_k & \dots & -a_{k+1-s} & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & a_{k+1-s} & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & -a_{k+1-s} & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & a_{k+1-s} & \dots & -a_k \\ a_k & \dots & -a_{k+1-s} & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & a_{k+1-s} & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & -a_{k+1-s} & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & a_{k+1-s} & \dots & -a_k \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix},$$

where  $a(s) = \hat{I}(k+1-s)(a_1, \dots, -a_{k+1-s}, \dots, a_n)^T$ ,

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$ 

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 0_k & 21_k a(s)^T \\ 0_k^T & 0 & \sqrt{2}a(s)^T \\ 2b1_k^T & \sqrt{2}b & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = \begin{pmatrix} b_k & \dots & b_k & b_k & b_k & \dots & b_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ b_1 & \dots & b_1 & b_1 & b_1 & \dots & b_1 \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ -b_1 & \dots & -b_1 & -b_1 & -b_1 & \dots & -b_1 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -b_k & \dots & -b_k & -b_k & -b_k & \dots & -b_k \end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{pmatrix} a_k & \dots & -a_{k+1-s} & \dots & a_1 & 0 & -a_1 & \dots & a_{k+1-s} & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & -a_{k+1-s} & \dots & a_1 & 0 & -a_1 & \dots & a_{k+1-s} & \dots & -a_k \\ a_k & \dots & -a_{k+1-s} & \dots & a_1 & 0 & -a_1 & \dots & a_{k+1-s} & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & -a_{k+1-s} & \dots & a_1 & 0 & -a_1 & \dots & a_{k+1-s} & \dots & -a_k \end{pmatrix}$$

where  $a(s) = (a_1, \dots, -a_{k+1-s}, \dots, a_n)^T = \hat{I}(n+1-s).$ 

(vi) Simultaneously swapping two rows in one half of the matrix and swapping the associated two rows s and t in the other half:

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k a^T \\ \tilde{b}(s,t) 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = \begin{pmatrix} a_k & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \\ a_k & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}$$

$$+\frac{1}{2} \left( \begin{pmatrix} b_k & \dots & b_k & b_k & \dots & b_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots \\ b_{k+1-t} & \dots & b_{k+1-t} & b_{k+1-t} & \dots & b_{k+1-t} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ b_{k+1-s} & \dots & b_{k+1-s} & b_{k+1-s} & \dots & b_{k+1-s} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ b_1 & \dots & b_1 & b_1 & \dots & b_1 \\ -b_1 & \dots & -b_1 & -b_1 & \dots & -b_1 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -b_{k+1-s} & \dots & -b_{k+1-s} & -b_{k+1-s} & \dots & -b_{k+1-s} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -b_{k+1-t} & \dots & -b_{k+1-t} & -b_{k+1-t} & \dots & -b_{k+1-t} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -b_k & \dots & -b_k & -b_k & \dots & -b_k \end{pmatrix}$$

where t > s and

$$\tilde{b}(s,t) = (b_1, \dots, b_{k-t}, b_{k+1-s}, b_{k+2-t}, \dots, b_{k-s}, b_{k+1-t}, b_{k+2-s}, \dots, b_k)^T = \tilde{I}(s,t)b,$$
  
with  $\tilde{I}(s,t) = \begin{cases} 0 & i \neq j, \ i = j = s, \ i = j = t \\ 1 & i = j, \ i = t \ j = s, \ i = s \ j = t, \end{cases}$ 

and

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 0_k & 2(1_k a^T) \\ 0_k^T & 0 & \sqrt{2}a^T \\ 2\tilde{b}(s,t)1_k^T & \sqrt{2}\tilde{b}(s,t) & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = \begin{pmatrix} a_k & \dots & a_1 & 0 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & a_1 & 0 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \\ a_k & \dots & a_1 & 0 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & a_1 & 0 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_k \end{pmatrix}$$

	$\begin{pmatrix} b_k \end{pmatrix}$		$b_k$	$b_k$	$b_k$		$b_k$	
	÷	·	•	•	:			
	$b_{k+1-t}$		$b_{k+1-t}$	$b_{k+1-t}$	$b_{k+1-t}$		$b_{k+1-t}$	
	:	· · ·	•	•	•	·	:	
	$b_{k+1-s}$		$b_{k+1-s}$	$b_{k+1-s}$	$b_{k+1-s}$		$b_{k+1-s}$	
	÷	·	•	•	÷		.· <sup>.</sup>	
	$b_1$		$b_1$	$b_1$	$b_1$		$b_1$	
+	0		0	0	0		0	,
	$-b_1$		$-b_1$	$-b_1$	$-b_1$		$-b_1$	
	:	<sup>.</sup>	:	:	·	÷		
	$-b_{k+1-s}$		$-b_{k+1-s}$	$-b_{k+1-s}$	$-b_{k+1-s}$		$-b_{k+1-s}$	
	÷	·	•	•	:	· · ·		
	$-b_{k+1-t}$		$-b_{k+1-t}$	$-b_{k+1-t}$	$-b_{k+1-t}$		$-b_{k+1-t}$	
		. · ·	•	•		·	:	
	$\begin{pmatrix} -b_k \end{pmatrix}$		$-b_k$	$-b_k$	$-b_k$		$-b_k$	

where t > s and  $\tilde{b}(s,t) = (b_1, \dots, b_{k-t}, b_{k+1-s}, b_{k+2-t}, \dots, b_{k-s}, b_{k+1-t}, b_{k+2-s}, \dots, b_k)^T = \tilde{I}(s,t)b.$ 

(vii) Simultaneously swapping two columns in one half of the matrix and swapping the associated two columns s and t in the other half:

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k \tilde{a}(s,t)^T \\ b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} b_k & \dots & b_k & b_k & \dots & b_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ b_1 & \dots & b_1 & b_1 & \dots & b_1 \\ -b_1 & \dots & -b_1 & -b_1 & \dots & -b_1 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -b_k & \dots & -b_k & -b_k & \dots & -b_k \end{pmatrix}$$

$$+ \begin{pmatrix} a_k & \dots & a_{k+1-t} & \dots & a_{k+1-s} & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_{k+1-s} & \dots & -a_{k+1-t} & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & a_{k+1-t} & \dots & a_{k+1-s} & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_{k+1-s} & \dots & -a_{k+1-t} & \dots & -a_k \\ a_k & \dots & a_{k+1-t} & \dots & a_{k+1-s} & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_{k+1-s} & \dots & -a_{k+1-t} & \dots & -a_k \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_k & \dots & a_{k+1-t} & \dots & a_{k+1-s} & \dots & a_1 & -a_1 & \dots & -a_{k+1-s} & \dots & -a_{k+1-t} & \dots & -a_k \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix},$$

where t > s and  $\tilde{a}(s,t) = (a_1, ..., a_{k+1-t}, ..., a_{k+1-s}, ..., a_k)^T = \tilde{I}(s,t)a$ ,

#### 4.2 Enumeration of Equivalent Vectors

With the new method of expressing legitimate transforms in terms of their block representation established, we now give an alternative proof for the number of equivalent  $n \times n$  reversible square matrices  $M_n$  in each equivalence class.

*Proof.* (second proof of Theorem 3.18)

Let  $a = \{a_1, \ldots, a_{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}\}^T$  and  $b = \{b_1, \ldots, b_{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}\}^T$  be our block representation vectors, and

$$a' = \{\pm a_1, \dots, \pm a_{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}\}^T$$
 and  $b' = \{\pm b_1, \dots \pm b_{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}\}^T$ .

Then the choice of sign, along with the extra two possibilities for the placement of the vectors on either the central row or column when n is odd give us a total of  $2^n$  possibilities, for both odd and even n. Removing the four dihedral transforms, which we class as the same square, and whose block representation is given by

$$\left\{X_n\begin{pmatrix}\hat{0}_k & W\\ V & \hat{0}_k\end{pmatrix}X_n, X_n\begin{pmatrix}\hat{0}_k & -W\\ V & \hat{0}_k\end{pmatrix}X_n, X_n\begin{pmatrix}\hat{0}_k & W\\ -V & \hat{0}_k\end{pmatrix}X_n, X_n\begin{pmatrix}\hat{0}_k & -W\\ -V & \hat{0}_k\end{pmatrix}X_n\right\},$$

where if n is even  $V, W \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  and if n is odd  $V \in \mathbb{R}^{k+1 \times k}$  and  $W \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k+1}$  when not counted reduces to  $2^{n-2}$  choices.

The placing of the entries in the two vectors then give a further  $\left(\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor \right)^2$  possibilities, which in total gives us  $2^{n-2} \left(\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor \right)^2$  equivalent matrices, as required.

and

**THEOREM 4.3.** The number of  $n \times n$  reversible square equivalence classes  $N_n$ , is equal to the number of k + k inclusive sum-and-distance systems if n = 2k + 1 is odd, and equal to the number of k + k non-inclusive sum-and-distance systems if n = 2k is even.

**COROLLARY 4.4.** With each principal reversible square matrix we can associate a unique  $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$  sum-and-distance system of the corresponding type, depending upon the parity of n.

*Proof.* By Lemma 4.2 two  $n \times n$  equivalent reversible square matrices have the same absolute values of the block representation vectors, and by Theorem 4.1, the set pair formed from the block representation vectors form a sum-and-distance system. Hence the number of  $n \times n$  reversible square equivalence classes  $N_n$  is equal to the number of  $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$  non-inclusive sum-and-distance systems if n is even and  $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$  inclusive sum-and-distance systems if n is odd.

By Lemma 3.16, distinct  $n \times n$  principal reversible squares lie in distinct equivalence classes, and so the set of all  $n \times n$  principal reversible squares can be used to represent all the  $n \times n$  reversible square equivalence classes, and hence the Corollary.

# 5 Principal Reversible Squares: their Construction and Enumeration

The first known recorded occurrence of a reversible square matrix was in 1897 and is attributed to Eamon McClintock [44]. McClintock established the important result that there exists a 1 - 1 correspondence between reversible squares (then called McClintock squares) and most-perfect squares (defined at the beginning of Chapter 4). He managed to construct a subset of all  $n \times n$  traditional reversible squares, and it was not until the work of Ollerenshaw and Brée just over one hundred years later in 1998 [10], that a general construction method was established for the set of all such squares. This then led to the enumeration of all  $n \times n$  reversible squares of doubly-even order (n = 4k) and so of all  $n \times n$  most-perfect square matrices of doubly-even order.

Ollerenshaw and Brée approached this construction problem by initially refining the definition of the symmetry properties required and coined the term *reversible* squares. They employed a lengthy and ingenious nested block structure argument (see Chapter 4 of [10]), from which they applied combinatorial methods to enumerate all  $n \times n$  principal reversible squares. In what follows we outline their approach to understanding the block structure, which we restate in terms of divisor paths. The divisor path approach lends itself to more number theoretical methods which we employ in Chapter 6 to embed the full enumeration argument with the theory of divisor functions. For the interested reader we advise that this thesis be read in conjunction with Ollerenshaw's and Brée's book.

To help progress their arguments they employed a number of concepts which we now define below.

**Definition** (of similar sequences). Two sequences  $a_1, a_2, \ldots a_n$  and  $b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_n$  are said to be *similar sequences* when the differences between sequence terms in corresponding positions in both sequences is constant, i.e  $a_i - b_i = a_j - b_j \forall i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ . **Definition** (of similar blocks). An  $n \times m$  block is defined to be an  $n \times m$  matrix containing a sequence of nm entries  $a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_{nm}$ . Two  $n \times m$  blocks are said to be *similar blocks* when the entries in all corresponding rows and columns in both blocks are similar sequences.

**Definition** (of reverse similarity). Two sequences  $a_1, a_2 \dots a_n$  and  $b_1, b_2 \dots b_n$  are said to be in *reverse similarity*, if when the second sequence is reversed, pairs of entries in the same position sum to the same constant, i.e.  $a_i + b_{n+1-i} = c \forall i \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ .

An equivalent definition to that given at the beginning of Chapter 4 for an  $n \times n$  reversible square can now be stated.

**LEMMA 5.1.** An  $n \times n$  reversible square  $M = (m_{ij})$  has the following symmetry properties.

(i) The row sequences are similar, so that

$$m_{ij} - m_{ij'} = m_{i'j} - m_{i'j'}, \quad i, i'j, j' \in \mathbb{Z}_n.$$

(ii) The column sequences are similar, so that

$$m_{ij} - m_{i'j} = m_{ij'} - m_{i'j'}, \quad i, i', j, j' \in \mathbb{Z}_n.$$

(iii) Pairs of entries which are diametrically opposite sum to 2w (if M is traditional then  $w = \frac{1}{2}(n^2 + 1)$ ).

*Proof.* Properties (i), and (ii) follow directly from the equal cross sums condition for a reversible square,  $m_{ij} + m_{i'j'} = m_{ij'} + m_{i'j}$ ,  $i, i', j, j' \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ . Property (iii), is simply the associated property (A) previously established in Lemma 3.14 for reversible square matrices.

## 5.1 Smallest Corner Blocks and Divisor Paths

**Definition** (of smallest corner blocks). In a square matrix M containing consecutive integer entries, reading left to right along the first row, we define the smallest corner block (SCB) to have width  $j_1$  equal to the first break in the sequence of consecutive integers, and depth  $i_1$  equal to the number of rows down to which reading left to right and top to bottom in this  $i_1 \times j_1$  block, that the sequence of consecutive integers continues. If  $j_1 = n$ , then the whole square M is taken to be the SCB.

**Remark.** For a principal reversible square matrix we must have  $j_1 \ge 2$  otherwise (as demonstrated in the proof of Lemma 3.16), the first two entries in the first row cannot be 1, 2, so that the SCB block has width as least two.

**Definition** (of divisor paths). Let  $n, i_u, j_v \in \mathbb{N}$  for  $u, v \in \mathbb{Z}_{\alpha}$ . We say that the ordered pairing of tuples

$$\{(i_1, i_2, \dots, i_{\alpha-1}, i_{\alpha}), (j_1, j_2, \dots, j_{\alpha-1}, j_{\alpha})\}$$

form a divisor path set of length  $\alpha$  for n, if they satisfy the divisibility chains

$$i_1 | i_2 | \dots | i_{\alpha-1} | i_{\alpha} = n, \quad 1 < i_1 < i_2 < \dots < i_{\alpha-1} < i_{\alpha} = n,$$

and

 $j_1 | j_2 | \dots | j_{\alpha-1} | j_\alpha | n$ ,  $1 < j_1 < j_2 < \dots < j_{\alpha-1} < j_\alpha \le n$ .

**Remark.** In their book, Ollerenshaw and Brée defined these divisor paths as  $(\alpha - 1)$ -progressive paths.

The divisor path approach gives us a new way of defining the nested block construction that uniquely determines each principal reversible square, and we now use this
understanding to recursively define a block structure using the divisor path sets. In the following definition we use an existing block to recursively define a new nested block, which preserves block similarity,

**Recursive nested block construction.** Given the divisor path set for n of length  $\alpha$ 

$$\{(i_1, i_2, \dots, i_{\alpha-1}, i_{\alpha}), (j_1, j_2, \dots, j_{\alpha-1}, j_{\alpha})\}$$

so that

$$i_1 |i_2| \dots |i_{\alpha-1}| i_{\alpha} = n, \ 1 < i_1 < i_2 < \dots < i_{\alpha-1} < i_{\alpha} = n,$$

and

$$j_1 | j_2 | \dots | j_{\alpha-1} | j_\alpha | n$$
,  $1 < j_1 < j_2 < \dots < j_{\alpha-1} < j_\alpha \le n$ ,

we define recursively the sequence of nested block structured matrices  $R_1, R_2, \ldots, R_{\alpha}$ such that

$$R_1 = (k_1 + j_1(k_2 - 1) \mid 1 \le k_1 \le j_1, 1 \le k_2 \le i_1) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & \dots & j_1 \\ j_1 + 1 & j_1 + 2 & \dots & 2j_1 \\ \vdots & \ddots & & \vdots \\ j_1 + i_1 & \dots & & i_1j_1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and thereafter by

$$R_m = \left( R_{m-1} + (i_{m-1}j_{m-1})((k_1 - 1) + \left( (k_2 - 1)\left(\frac{j_m}{j_{m-1}}\right) \right) \right)$$
$$| 1 \le k_1 \le \frac{j_m}{j_{m-1}}, \ 1 \le k_2 \le \frac{i_m}{i_{m-1}} \right)$$

$$= \begin{pmatrix} R_{m-1} & R_{m-1} + (i_{m-1}j_{m-1}) & \dots & R_{m-1} + (i_{m-1}j_{m-1})(\frac{j_m}{j_{m-1}} - 1) \\ & & \ddots & \\ \vdots & \ddots & & \vdots \\ & & \ddots & & \vdots \\ & & & & R_{m-1} + (i_{m-1}j_{m-1})(\frac{j_m}{j_{m-1}} - 1 + \frac{j_m}{j_{m-1}} - 1) \end{pmatrix},$$

where if  $j_{\alpha} \neq n$ , then in the final step we tile the  $n \times n$  matrix using the  $n \times j_{\alpha}$  largest corner block  $n/j_{\alpha}$  times to obtain  $R_{\alpha+1}$ .

**LEMMA 5.2.** The above divisor path set construction produces a principal reversible square.

*Proof.* The construction ensures that the first block  $R_1$  is a principal reversible rectangular matrix and from the recurrence, also that the recurrence sequence of matrices  $R_2, \ldots, R_{\alpha}$  are principal reversible rectangular matrices.

It follows that the resulting square matrix,  $R_{\alpha}$  when  $j_{\alpha} = n$  and  $R_{\alpha+1}$  when  $j_{\alpha} < n$ ,

is a principal reversible square as it has 1,2, as the first two elements of the first row, has increasing entries from left to right and top to bottom and satisfies reverse row and column similarity and the equal cross sum property, as required.  $\Box$ 

**THEOREM 5.3** (Nested block theorem). Let  $\Omega(n)$  the number of prime factors of n including repeats, and let  $\{(i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_{\alpha-1}, i_{\alpha} = n), (j_1, j_2, \ldots, j_{\alpha-1}, j_{\alpha})\}$  be a given divisor path set for n. Then by Lemma 5.2, the recursive nested block construction defines an  $n \times n$  principal reversible square, and conversely every principal reversible square R, arises from exactly one divisor path set, so that every principal reversible square can be uniquely represented by the form

$$R(\{(i_1, i_2, \dots, i_{\alpha-1}, n), (j_1, j_2, \dots, j_{\alpha-1}, j_{\alpha})\}), \quad \alpha \le \Omega(n).$$

Here in the  $n \times n$  square, the  $i_1 \times j_1$  similar blocks are nested in  $i_2 \times j_2$  similar blocks which are nested in  $i_3 \times j_3$  similar blocks, and so on, until we obtain  $i_{\alpha-1} \times j_{\alpha-1}$ similar blocks nested inside  $n \times j_{\alpha}$  blocks. As a final step these  $n \times j_{\alpha}$  similar blocks make up the complete  $n \times n$  block. For any fixed level of nested block, the sequence of blocks from either left to right or top to bottom form an increasing sequence of similar blocks (as defined previously).

*Proof.* The proof that the nested block structure is uniquely defined by the divisor path set and vice versa, comprises the whole of Chapter 3 in [10]. However the fundamental idea underpinning this proof is that the row and column similarity, along with the increasing row and column sequence property of all principal reversible squares, implies that the first row defines the blocks along the first row and column, which then completely determines the nesting structure as one moves from the smallest corner block to the largest corner block in M.

**Example.** When n = 12, consider the principal reversible square M defined by the (length 2) divisor path set  $R(\{(2, 12), (2, 4)\})$ , so that  $i_1 = 2$ ,  $j_1 = 2$ ,  $i_2 = n = 12$  and  $j_2 = 4$ . Then

ĺ	1	2	5	6	49	50	53	54	97	98	101	102
	3	4	7	8	51	52	55	56	99	100	103	104
	9	10	13	14	57	58	61	62	105	106	109	110
	11	12	15	16	59	60	63	64	107	108	111	112
	17	18	21	22	65	66	69	70	113	114	117	118
M -	19	20	23	24	67	68	71	72	115	116	119	120
<i>IVI</i> —	25	26	29	30	73	74	77	78	121	122	125	126
	27	28	31	32	75	76	79	80	123	124	127	128
	33	34	37	38	81	82	85	86	129	130	133	134
	35	36	39	40	83	84	87	88	131	132	135	136
	41	42	45	46	89	90	93	94	137	138	141	142
	43	44	47	48	91	92	95	96	139	140	143	144

where  $\mid$  represents a gap larger then 1 in a row or column. It can be seen that the three  $12 \times 4$  blocks are all similar, where the  $2 \times 2$  blocks are nested in the  $12 \times 4$  blocks which are nested in the  $12 \times 12$  square.

### 5.2 The Number of Principal Reversible Squares $N_n$

Prior to her work with Brée, Ollerenshaw had succeeded in counting all principal reversible squares of the form  $n = 2^r p^s$  using a complicated combinatorial method in which she considered the number of paths in an r by s factor table (see Chapter 5 of [10]). After a considerable amount of simplification Ollerenshaw obtained the concise formula for the number of  $n \times n$  principal reversible squares  $N_n$ , with  $n \equiv 0$ (mod 4), given by

$$N_n = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 2s \\ s \end{pmatrix} \sum_{i=0}^{\min[r,s]} \begin{pmatrix} s \\ i \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} r+s \\ r-i \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 2r+s-i \\ r+s \end{pmatrix}.$$

Subsequently Ollerenshaw and Brée obtained a formula for the total number of principal reversible squares for any doubly-even n (so  $n \equiv 0 \pmod{4}$ ) with prime factorisation  $n = p_0^{\beta_0} p_1^{\beta_1} \dots p_r^{\beta_r}$ , so that  $\Omega(n) = \beta_0 + \beta_1 + \dots + \beta_r$ , where  $p_0 = 2$  and  $\beta_0 \geq 2$ . Extending the methods applied to the  $n = 2^r p^s$ , case they established the more general formula for  $N_n$  given by

$$N_n = \sum_{v=0}^{\infty} W_v(n) \{ W_v(n) + W_{v+1}(n) \},\$$

where

$$W_{v}(n) = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=0}^{v} (-1)^{v+i} \begin{pmatrix} v+1\\ i+1 \end{pmatrix} \prod_{j=0}^{r} \begin{pmatrix} \beta_{j}+i\\ i \end{pmatrix}, & \text{if } 0 \le v \le \Omega(n) \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

In the remainder of this chapter we approach the enumeration problem from a different perspective, utilising the divisor path notation, and demonstrate that a general formula for  $N_n$ , valid for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , can be stated in terms of the divisor functions introduced in Chapter 2. Hence we extend the enumeration argument to all  $n \times n$  principal reversible square matrices, and by Theorem 4.3, to all  $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$  sum-and-distance systems of either type, depending on the parity of n.

As detailed in Theorem 5.3, the sequence of progressive factors uniquely determine a principal reversible square, and similarly given a principal reversible square we can deduce the unique sequence of progressive factors, whose permutations we now consider in more detail.

**Definition** (of progressive factors). The principal reversible square uniquely de-

termined by

$$R(\{(i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_{\alpha-1}, n), (j_1, j_2, \ldots, j_{\alpha})\}),$$

is said to have a *length*  $\alpha$  *divisor path* or equivalently in the notation of [10],  $\alpha - 1$  progressive factors.

**LEMMA 5.4.** Let  $a_j(n)$  and  $b_j(n)$  respectively denote the number of possible left tuples and right tuples of divisor paths sets for n of length j (so (j-1)-progressive factors). Then the total number of divisor path sets is given by  $N_n$ , with

$$N_n = \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} a_j(n) b_j(n),$$

where  $\Omega(n)$  is the total number of prime factors of n, including repeats.

*Proof.* By Theorem 5.3, for a given integer  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , there is a one-to-one correspondence between distinct divisor path sets and principal reversible square matrices. It follows that the number of distinct divisor path sets is equal to the number of  $n \times n$  distinct reversible square matrices. The left and right tuple divisor paths are defined only when they are of equal sizes, then the total number of possibilities is given by the sum of the products of the possibilities for the different divisor path lengths,  $a_j(n)b_j(n)$ , and hence the result.

We now approach the problem of counting the number of distinct divisor paths by considering the left and right hand tuple possibilities which correspond to the gaps greater than one in the first row and column. We illustrate the row and column breaks for divisor paths of length one, two, three and four when n = 60.

For  $R(\{(60), (j_1)\})$ , i.e. 0 progressive factors or divisor path length 1, we can have that  $i_1 = n = 60$ , is fixed, and that  $j_1$  is any non-trivial divisor of 60, which we can write as

$$b_1(60) = \sum_{e|60, e \neq 1} 1 = \sum_{e|60, e \neq 1} c_1(e) = c_1(60) + c_2(60) = 1 + 10 = 11,$$

by Lemma 2.9.

In total then, a divisor path of length 1 gives us  $a_1(60)b_1(60) = c_1(60) \times (c_1(60) + c_2(60)) = 1 \times 11 = 11$  choices.

For  $R(\{(i_1, 60), (j_1, j_2)\})$ , i.e. one progressive factor or divisor path length 2, we require that  $1 < i_1 | i_2 = 60$ ,  $i_1 < i_2 = 60$  and  $1 < j_1 | j_2 | 60$ ,  $1 < j_1 < j_2 \le 60$ . Hence, for  $a_2(60)$ , we have to consider all the possible divisor paths of length 2 for  $i_2 = n = 60$ , which is given by  $c_2(60) = 10$ . Similarly for  $b_2(60)$ , we have to consider all the possible divisor paths of length 2 for  $j_2 \le 60$ , which is given by

$$b_2(60) = \sum_{e|60, e \neq 1} c_2(e) = c_2(60) + c_3(60) = 10 + 21 = 31,$$

by Lemma 2.9.

Hence, in total, a divisor path of length 2 gives us  $a_2(60)b_2(60) = c_2(60) \times (c_2(60) + c_3(60)) = 10 \times 31 = 310$  choices.

The table below then details the 10 divisor paths of length 1 in the first row, and the 21 divisor paths of length 2 in rows two to eleven.

$ j_2 n$	$i_1   i_2  $ 60 with $i_1 \notin \{1, i_2\}$	Number of choices for $\{i_1, i_2\}$
60	$30, 20, 15, \dots, 4, 3, 2$	$c_2(60) = 10$
30	15, 10, 6, 5, 3, 2	$c_2(30) = 6$
20	10, 5, 4, 2	$c_2(20) = 4$
15	5,3	$c_2(15) = 2$
12	6,4,3,2	$c_2(12) = 4$
10	5, 2	$c_2(10) = 2$
6	3, 2	$c_2(6) = 2$
5	_	$c_2(5) = 0$
4	2	$c_2(4) = 1$
3	_	$c_2(3) = 0$
2	_	$c_2(2) = 0$
Total	_	$c_2(60) + c_3(60) = 10 + 21 = 31$

Using a similar argument (by Lemma 2.9), the divisor paths for n = 60 of length 3 are then given by

$$a_3(60)b_3(60) = c_3(60)\sum_{\substack{e|60\\e\neq 1}} c_3(e) = c_3(60) + c_4(60) = 21(21+12) = 693,$$

and for the divisor paths for n = 60 of length we have

$$a_4(60)b_4(60) = c_4(60) \sum_{\substack{e \mid 60\\ e \neq 1}} c_4(e) = c_4(60)(c_4(60) + c_5(60)) = 12(12+0) = 144,$$

divisor paths.

We do not need to consider divisor paths greater than 4, as  $n = 60 = 2^2.3.5$  only has 4 prime factors, so that no divisor paths of length 4 or greater exist.

Putting this altogether we have that

$$N_{60} = \sum_{j=1}^{4} a_j(60)b_j(60) = \sum_{j=1}^{4} c_j(60)\left(c_j(60) + c_{j+1}(60)\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{4} c_j(60)c_j^{(1)}(60) = 1158,$$

so that there are 1158 distinct principal reversible squares of order 60.

We now formulate the above argument in generality for  $N_n$ . **THEOREM 5.5.** With  $a_j(n)$  and  $b_j(n)$  defined respectively to be the total number of left tuples and right tuples of divisor path sets for n of length j (so (j-1) progressive factors), we have that

$$a_j(n) = c_j(n),$$
 and  $b_j(n) = a_j(n) + a_{j+1}(n) = c_j(n) + c_{j+1}(n),$ 

and

$$a_{j}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{i} \begin{pmatrix} j \\ i \end{pmatrix} d_{j-i}(n), \quad and \quad b_{j}(n) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} (-1)^{i} \begin{pmatrix} j \\ i \end{pmatrix} d_{j-i+1}(n).$$

**COROLLARY 5.6.** The number of  $n \times n$  principal reversible squares, and so the number of  $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$  non-inclusive sum-and distance systems if n = 2k is even and  $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor + \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$  inclusive sum-and distance systems if n = 2k + 1 is odd, is given by

$$N_n = \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} c_j(n) \left( c_j(n) + c_{j+1}(n) \right) = \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} c_j^{(0)}(n) c_j^{(1)}(n).$$

**COROLLARY 5.7.** The number of  $n \times n$  traditional reversible square matrices is given by

$$M_n N_n = 2^{n-2} \left( \left\lfloor \frac{1}{2}n \right\rfloor! \right)^2 \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} c_j(n) \left( c_j(n) + c_{j+1}(n) \right)$$
$$= 2^{n-2} \left( \left\lfloor \frac{1}{2}n \right\rfloor! \right)^2 \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} c_j^{(0)}(n) c_j^{(1)}(n).$$

*Proof.* (of Theorem 5.5) Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and let

$$\{(i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_{\alpha-1}, n), (j_1, j_2, \ldots, j_{\alpha-1}, j_{\alpha})\}$$

be a divisor path set of length  $\alpha$  for n, so that they satisfy the divisibility chains

$$i_1 |i_2| \dots |i_{\alpha-1}| i_{\alpha} = n, \ 1 < i_1 < i_2 < \dots < i_{\alpha-1} < i_{\alpha} = n,$$

and

$$j_1 | j_2 | \dots | j_{\alpha-1} | j_\alpha | n$$
,  $1 < j_1 < j_2 < \dots < j_{\alpha-1} < j_\alpha \le n$ .

For  $R(\{(n), (j_1)\})$ , i.e. 0 progressive factors or divisor path length 1, we can have that  $i_1 = n$ , is fixed, and that  $j_1$  is any non-trivial divisor of n, which we can write as

$$b_1(n) = \sum_{e|n, e \neq 1} 1 = \sum_{e|n, e \neq 1} c_1(e) = c_1(n) + c_2(n),$$

by Lemma 2.9.

In total then, a divisor path of length 1 gives us  $a_1(n)b_1(n) = c_1(n) \times (c_1(n) + c_2(n))$ choices.

For  $R(\{(i_1, n), (j_1, j_2)\})$ , i.e. one progressive factor or divisor path length 2, we

require that  $1 < i_1 | i_2 = n$ ,  $i_1 < i_2 = n$  and  $1 < j_1 | j_2 | n$ ,  $1 < j_1 < j_2 \le n$ . Hence, for  $a_2(n)$ , we have to consider all the possible divisor paths of length 2 for  $i_2 = n$ , which is given by  $c_2(n)$ . Similarly for  $b_2(n)$ , we have to consider all the possible divisor paths of length 2 for  $j_2 \le n$ , which is given by

$$b_2(n) = \sum_{e|n, e \neq 1} c_2(e) = c_2(n) + c_3(n),$$

by Lemma 2.9.

Hence, in total, a divisor path for n of length 2 gives us  $a_2(n)b_2(n) = c_2(n) \times (c_2(n) + c_3(n))$  choices.

Using a similar argument (by Lemma 2.9), in the general case it then follows that the total number of divisor paths of length j are given by

$$a_j(n)b_j(n) = c_j(n)\sum_{\substack{e|n\\e\neq 1}} c_j(e) = c_j(n)(c_j(n) + c_{j+1}(n)) = c_j(n)c_j^{(1)}(n),$$

by Lemma 2.17.

Therefore we have that  $a_j(n) = c_j(n)$ , and  $b_j(n) = c_j(n) + c_{j+1}(n) = a_j(n) + a_{j+1}(n)$ , where we do not need to consider divisor paths with  $j > \Omega(n)$ , as then  $c_j(n) = 0$ , so that  $a_j(n) = b_j(n) = 0$ .

By Lemma 2.9, it follows that

$$a_j(n) = c_j(n) = \sum_{i=0}^j (-1)^i \binom{j}{i} d_{j-i}(n),$$

and for  $b_i(n)$  we use the relation

$$b_j(n) = c_j(n) + c_{j+1}(n) = \sum_{e|n} c_j(e) = \sum_{e|n} a_j(e) = \sum_{e|n} \sum_{i=0}^j (-1)^i \binom{j}{i} d_{j-i}(e),$$

using the above expression for  $a_j(e)$  in terms of  $d_j(e)$ . Hence we have

$$b_j(n) = \sum_{i=0}^j (-1)^i \binom{j}{i} \sum_{e|n} d_{j-i}(e) = \sum_{i=0}^j (-1)^i \binom{j}{i} d_{j-i+1}(e),$$

by Lemma 2.3, as required.

To see Corollary 5.6 Summing the product  $a_j(n)b_j(n)$  over all possible divisor path lengths we find that the total number of principal reversible square matrices  $N_n$  of order n (and so sum-and-distance systems of the corresponding type) is given by

$$N_n = \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} a_j(n) b_j(n) = \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} c_j(n) \left( c_j(n) + c_{j+1}(n) \right) = \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} c_j(n) c_j^{(1)}(n),$$

and the result follows.

To see Corollary 5.7, by Theorem 3.18 the cardinality of each (traditional) reversible square equivalence class  $M_n$ , is given by

$$M_n = 2^{n-2} \left( \left\lfloor \frac{1}{2}n \right\rfloor! \right)^2,$$

and by Theorem 4.3 the total number of equivalence classes is given by  $N_n$ . Hence the total number of traditional  $n \times n$  reversible square matrices is given by  $M_n N_n$ , which can be written as

$$M_n N_n = 2^{n-2} \left( \left\lfloor \frac{1}{2}n \right\rfloor! \right)^2 \sum_{j=1}^{\Omega(n)} c_j(n) c_j^{(1)}(n),$$

as required.

**THEOREM 5.8.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $n \geq 2$ . Then n is a prime number if and only if  $N_n = 1$ , so that when n = 2, the only 1 + 1 sum-and-distance system is  $\{\{1\}, \{2\}\}\}$ , and when n = 2m + 1, the only m + m inclusive sum-and-distance system is again the canonical system given by

$$A = \{1, 2, 3, \dots m\}, \qquad B = \{n, 2n, 3n, \dots mn\} = nA.$$

Hence there is a unique m + m inclusive sum-and-distance system if 2m + 1 is a prime number.

*Proof.* If n is a prime number, then  $\Omega(n) = 1$ , and the sum in Corollary 5.6 becomes

$$=\sum_{j=1}^{1} c_j(n) \left( c_j(n) + c_{j+1}(n) \right) = c_1(n) \left( c_1(n) + c_2(n) \right) = 1(1+0) = 1,$$

as  $c_2(n) = 0$  when n is a prime number. Hence when n is a prime number  $N_n = 1$ , and there is only one sum-and-distance system. By Lemmas 1.2 and 1.3, this must be the canonical sum-and-distance system.

Conversely, as  $\Omega(n) \ge 1$  for  $n \ge 2$ , if  $N_n = 1$ , then taking into account that the sum is over non-negative terms we have

$$N_n = c_1(n) (c_1(n) + c_2(n)) + \text{ terms with } j \ge 2 \ge 1(1 + c_2(n)).$$

Hence for  $N_n = 1$  we require that  $c_j(n) = 0$  for  $j \ge 2$ , which only happens when n is a prime number.

By Corollary 5.6 it follows that  $N_n = 1$ ,  $\Leftrightarrow$  the only m + m sum-and-distance system is the canonical sum-and-distance system given by

$$A = \{1, 2, 3, \dots m\}, \qquad B = \{n, 2n, 3n, \dots mn\} = nA,$$

so that with each prime number we can associate a unique sum-and-distance system.

**LEMMA 5.9** (alternative proof that  $b_j(n) = a_j(n) + a_{j+1}(n)$ ). Let  $a_j(n)$  and  $b_j(n)$  respectively be the total number of left tuples and right tuples of divisor path sets for n of length j (so (j-1) progressive factors). Then we have

$$b_j(n) = a_j(n) + a_{j+1}(n)$$

*Proof.* Let  $A_j$  and  $B_j$  be defined as the Dirichlet series for the arithmetic functions  $a_j$  and  $b_j$ . Assuming the relation (given in the proof of Theorem 5.5)

$$b_j(n) = \sum_{e|n} a_j(e)$$

and  $c_j(n) = a_j(n)$ , by Dirichlet's convolution of Lemma 2.15 we have that

$$B_{j}(s) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{b_{j}(n)}{n^{s}} = \zeta(s)A_{j}(s) = \zeta(s)(\zeta(s) - 1)^{j}$$
$$= (\zeta(s) - 1)(\zeta(s) - 1)^{j} + (\zeta(s) - 1)^{j}$$
$$= (\zeta(s) - 1)^{j+1} + (\zeta(s) - 1)^{j}$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_{j+1}(n)}{n^{s}} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_{j}(n)}{n^{s}} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{c_{j+1}(n) + c_{j}(n)}{n^{s}}$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{a_{j}(n) + a_{j+1}(n)}{n^{s}}.$$

By the uniqueness of Dirichlet series it follows that  $a_j(n) = b_j(n) + b_{j+1}(n)$ .  $\Box$ 

# 6 Sum-and-Distance Systems Construction Algorithm

By Theorem 5.3 there is a one-to-one correspondence between the divisor path sets for n and the  $n \times n$  principal reversible square matrices, where the recursive definition of Lemma 5.2 allows us to uniquely construct a principal reversible square from a given divisor path set for n.

In this Chapter we give a construction for all sum-and-distance systems by identifying the first row and column of each principal reversible square in terms of its divisor path block structure, and so by Theorem 1.5, the sum system corresponding to the principal reversible square. We then reverse the stepwise algorithm given Theorem 1.5 to obtain the corresponding sum-and-distance system. A lattice point argument is then used to demonstrate that the construction yields all sum-and-distance systems.

We begin by recalling that an even sided reversible square can be written as,

$$M = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1_{k}a^{T}J_{k} + J_{k}b1_{k}^{T} & -1_{k}a^{T} + J_{k}b1_{k} \\ 1_{k}a^{T}J_{k} - b1_{k}^{T} & -1_{k}a^{T} - b1_{k}^{T} \end{pmatrix} + wE_{n}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} J_{k}b1_{k}^{T} & J_{k}b1_{k} \\ -b1_{k} & -b1_{k}^{T} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 1_{k}a^{T}J_{k} & -1_{k}a^{T} \\ 1_{k}a^{T}J_{k} & -1_{k}a^{T} \end{pmatrix} + wE_{n}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} b_{k} & \dots & b_{k} & b_{k} & \dots & b_{k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ b_{1} & \dots & b_{1} & b_{1} & \dots & b_{1} \\ -b_{1} & \dots & -b_{1} & -b_{1} & \dots & b_{1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ -b_{k} & \dots & -b_{k} & -b_{k} & \dots & -b_{k} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} a_{k} & \dots & a_{1} & -a_{1} & \dots & -a_{k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ a_{k} & \dots & a_{1} & -a_{1} & \dots & -a_{k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ a_{k} & \dots & a_{1} & -a_{1} & \dots & -a_{k} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} + wE_{n}$$

It follows that the first row of the square has the tuple

$$\left(\frac{1}{2}(b_k+a_k)+w,\frac{1}{2}(b_k+a_{k-1})+w,\ldots,\frac{1}{2}(b_k+a_1)+w,\frac{1}{2}(b_k-a_1)+w,\ldots,\frac{1}{2}(b_k-a_{k-1})+w,\frac{1}{2}(b_k-a_k)+w\right),$$

and the first column has the tuple

$$\left(\frac{1}{2}(b_k+a_k)+w,\ldots,\frac{1}{2}(b_1+a_k)+w,\frac{1}{2}(-b_1+a_k)+w,\ldots,\frac{1}{2}(-b_k+a_k)+w\right).$$

By subtracting  $w + b_k/2$  and  $w + a_k/2$  respectively from the first row and column of M, we obtain the sets  $a = \{a_1, \ldots, a_k\}$  and  $b = \{b_1, \ldots, b_k\}$ . Similarly with an odd sided reversible square we have

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 1_k a^T J_k + J_k b 1_k^T & J_k b & -1_k a^T + J_k b 1_K^T \\ a^T J_k & 0 & -a^T \\ 1_k a^T J_k - b 1_k^T & -b & -1_k a^T - b 1_k^T \end{pmatrix} + w E_n.$$

Then the first row has the tuple,

$$(a^{T}J_{k} + b_{k}, b_{k}, -a^{T} + b_{k}) + w$$
  
=  $(b_{k} + a_{k} + w, \dots, b_{k} + a_{1} + w, b_{k} + w, b_{k} - a_{1} + w, \dots, b_{k} - a_{k} + w)$ 

and the first column has the tuple,

$$(1_k a^T J_k + J_k b 1_k^T, a^T J_k, 1_k a^T J_k) = (b_k + a_k + w, \dots, b_1 + a_k + w, a_k + w, -b_1 + a_k + w, \dots, -b_k + a_k + w).$$

Hence by Lemma 1.5 and Lemma 3.17 we have identified the sum system comprised from the entries of the first row and column of a principal reversible square. Now the weight is found to be  $w = \frac{1}{2}(a_k + b_k)$  and by Theorem 4.1 the set of absolute values of a and b form the corresponding sum-and-distance system.

In the following definition we use the fact that the dimensions of the constituent blocks that comprise an  $n \times n$  principal reversible square, can be ascertained from the corresponding divisor path set for n.

**Definition.** Let n and  $\alpha$  be positive integers and

$$\{\hat{i},\hat{j}\} = \{(i_1,i_2,\ldots,i_\alpha=n), (j_1,j_2,\ldots,j_\alpha)\}$$

be a *divisor path set* for n of length  $\alpha$ , so that

$$i_1 |i_2| \dots |i_{\alpha}, \quad 1 < i_1 < i_2 \dots < i_{\alpha} = n,$$
  
 $j_1 |j_2 \dots |j_{\alpha}|n, \quad 1 < j_1 < j_2 < \dots < j_{\alpha} \le n.$ 

Then we define a co-ordinate set that allows us to determine in which block each entry in the first row or column lies using the ordered set of lattice points  $L_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{N}^{\alpha+1}$ and  $M_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{N}^{\alpha}$  such that

$$L_{\alpha} = \left( (k_0, k_1, \dots, k_{\alpha}) \mid 1 \le k_0 \le j_1, \dots, 1 \le k_{\alpha-1} \le \frac{j_{\alpha}}{j_{\alpha-1}}, 1 \le k_{\alpha} \le \frac{n}{j_{\alpha}} \right)$$
$$= \left( (k_0, k_1, \dots, k_{\alpha}) \mid 1 \le k_0 \le j_1, 1 \le k_n \le \frac{j_{n+1}}{j_n}, 1 \le n \le \alpha - 1, \ 1 \le k_{\alpha} \le \frac{n}{j_{\alpha}} \right),$$
$$M_{\alpha} = \left( (m_0, m_1, \dots, m_{\alpha-1}) \mid 1 \le m_0 \le i_1, \ 1 \le m_1 \le \frac{i_2}{i_1}, \dots, 1 \le m_{\alpha-1} \le \frac{i_{\alpha}}{i_{\alpha-1}} = \frac{n}{i_{\alpha-1}} \right)$$

$$= \left( (m_0, m_1, \dots, m_{\alpha-1}) | \ 1 \le m_0 \le i_1, \ 1 \le m_t \le \frac{i_{t+1}}{i_t}, \ 1 \le t \le \alpha - 1 \right).$$

With the above notation established we can now more concisely describe the sum system corresponding to the first row and column entries of a principal reversible square via its divisor path set as detailed in the following lemmas.

**LEMMA 6.1.** Let  $R = (r_{i,j})$  be an  $n \times n$  (traditional) principal reversible square, whose first row is denoted by r. Then r can be written as the ordered tuple

$$r = (k_0 + (k_1 - 1)(i_1 j_1) + (k_2 - 1)(i_2 j_2) + \dots + (k_\alpha - 1)(i_\alpha j_\alpha) \mid k \in L_\alpha)$$
$$= \left(k_0 + \sum_{n=1}^{\alpha} (k_n - 1)(i_n j_n) \mid 1 \le k_0 \le j_1, \ 1 \le k_1 \le \frac{j_2}{j_1}, \dots, 1 \le k_{\alpha-1} \le \frac{j_\alpha}{j_{\alpha-1}}, \ 1 \le k_\alpha \le \frac{n}{j_\alpha}\right).$$

*Proof.* From the recursive definition of a principal reversible square R described in Chapter 5, we have that

$$R = \left(k_0 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + (k_1 - 1)(i_1j_1) + (m_1 - 1)\frac{j_2}{j_1}(i_1j_1) + \dots + (k_\alpha - 1)(i_\alpha j_\alpha) + \underbrace{(m_\alpha - 1)}_{=0} \left(\frac{n}{j_\alpha}\right)(i_\alpha j_\alpha) \mid 1 \le k_0 \le j_1, \ 1 \le m_0 \le i_1, \ 1 \le j_1 \le \frac{j_2}{j_1}, \ 1 \le m_1 \le \frac{i_2}{i_1}, \\ \dots, 1 \le k_\alpha \le \frac{j_{\alpha+1}}{j_\alpha} = \frac{n}{j_\alpha}, \ 1 \le m_\alpha \le \frac{i_{\alpha+1}}{i_\alpha} = \frac{n}{n}\right)$$
$$= \left(k_0 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{v=1}^{\alpha} \left((k_v - 1)(i_v j_v) + (m_v - 1)\left(\frac{j_{v+1}}{j_v}(i_v j_v)\right)\right)\right) \mid 1 \le k_0 \le j_1, \ 1 \le m_0 \le i_1, \ 1 \le k_t \le \frac{j_{t+1}}{j_t}, \ 1 \le m_t \le \frac{i_{t+1}}{i_t}, \ 1 \le t \le \alpha\right)$$

where  $k = (k_0, k_1, \ldots, k_{\alpha})$ ,  $m = (m_0, m_1, \ldots, m_{\alpha})$  represent the column and row coordinates respectively. Setting the lattice co-ordinates of  $M_{\alpha}$  to be  $m = (m_0, m_1, \ldots, m_{\alpha}) =$  $(1, 1, \ldots, 1)$  then ensures the form required for the first row r of a principal reversible square is given by

$$r = \left(k_1 + \sum_{v=1}^{\alpha} \left((1-1)(i_v j_v)\left(\frac{j_{v+1}}{j_v}\right) + (k_v - 1)(i_v j_v)\right) \mid 1 \le k_0 \le i_1, \ 1 \le k_t \le \frac{j_{t+1}}{j_t}, \ 1 \le t \le \alpha\right)$$
$$= \left(k_1 + \sum_{v=1}^{\alpha} (k_v - 1)(i_v j_v) \mid 1 \le k_0 \le i_1, \ 1 \le k_t \le \frac{j_{t+1}}{j_t}, \ 1 \le t \le \alpha\right).$$

**LEMMA 6.2.** Let  $R = (r_{i,j})$  be an  $n \times n$  (traditional) principal reversible square, whose first column is denoted by c. Then c can be written as the ordered tuple

$$c = \left( 1 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{k=1}^{\alpha - 1} (m_k - 1)\frac{j_{k+1}}{j_k} (i_k j_k) \mid m \in M_\alpha \right)$$

$$= \left(1 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + (m_1 - 1)\frac{j_2}{j_1}(i_1j_1) + (m_2 - 1)\frac{j_3}{j_2}(i_2j_2) + \dots + (m_{\alpha - 1} - 1)\left(\frac{j_\alpha}{j_{\alpha - 1}}\right)(i_{\alpha - 1}j_{\alpha - 1}) \mid 1 \le m_0 \le i_1, \ 1 \le m_1 \le \frac{i_2}{i_1}, \dots, 1 \le m_\alpha \le \frac{i_\alpha}{i_{\alpha - 1}} = 1\right).$$

*Proof.* From the recursive definition of a principal reversible square R described in Chapter 5, we have that

$$R = \left(k_0 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + (k_1 - 1)(i_1j_1) + (m_1 - 1)\left(\frac{j_2}{j_1}\right)(i_1j_1) + \dots + (k_\alpha - 1)(i_\alpha j_\alpha) + (m_\alpha - 1)\left(\frac{n}{j_\alpha}\right)(i_\alpha j_\alpha) + 1 \le k_0 \le j_1, \ 1 \le m_0 \le i_1, \ 1 \le j_1 \le \frac{j_2}{j_1}, \ 1 \le m_1 \le \frac{i_2}{i_1}, \\ \dots, 1 \le k_\alpha \le \frac{j_{\alpha+1}}{j_\alpha} = \frac{n}{j_\alpha}, \ 1 \le m_\alpha \le \frac{i_{\alpha+1}}{i_\alpha} = \frac{n}{n} = 1\right)$$
$$= \left(k_0 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{v=1}^{\alpha} \left((k_v - 1)(i_v j_v) + (m_v - 1)\left(\frac{j_{v+1}}{j_v}\right)(i_v j_v)\right) + 1 \le k_0 \le j_1, \ 1 \le m_0 \le i_1, \ 1 \le k_t \le \frac{j_{t+1}}{j_t}, \ 1 \le m_t \le \frac{i_{t+1}}{i_t}, \ 1 \le t \le \alpha\right)$$

where  $k = (k_0, k_1, \ldots, k_{\alpha})$ ,  $m = (m_0, m_1, \ldots, m_{\alpha})$  represent the column and row coordinates respectively. By fixing the lattice co-ordinates of  $L_{\alpha}$  to be  $k = (k_0, k_1, \ldots, k_{\alpha}) =$  $(1, 1, \ldots, 1)$  this gives the form for the first column of a principal reversible square, such that

$$c = \left(1 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{v=1}^{\alpha} \left(\underbrace{(1 - 1)}_{=0}(i_v j_v) + (m_v - 1)\left(\frac{j_{v+1}}{j_v}\right)(i_v j_v)\right)\right)$$
  
$$| 1 \le m_0 \le i_1, \ 1 \le m_t \le \frac{i_{t+1}}{i_t}, \ 1 \le t \le \alpha\right)$$
  
$$= \left(1 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{v=1}^{\alpha} \left((m_v - 1)\left(\frac{j_{v+1}}{j_v}\right)(i_v j_v)\right)\right)$$
  
$$| 1 \le m_0 \le i_1, \ 1 \le m_t \le \frac{i_{t+1}}{i_t}, \ 1 \le t \le \alpha\right).$$

**Definition** (of lexicographical ordering). The *lexicographical ordering* defines an order on a cartesian product of ordered sets, which is a total ordering when all these sets are themselves totally ordered. Formally, we define the operator  $\leq$  such that  $(a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_n) \leq (b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_n)$  if and only if  $a_1 < b_1$  or  $a_1 = b_1$  and  $a_2 < b_2$  or  $a_1 = b_1$  and  $a_2 = b_2$  and  $a_3 < b_3$  or  $a_1 = b_1$ ,  $a_2 = b_2$ ,  $a_3 = b_3$  and  $a_4 < b_4$  and so until  $a_1 = b_1$ ,  $\ldots$ ,  $a_{n-1} < b_{n-1}$ ,  $a_n < b_n$ .

**Remark.** The ordered lattice point sets  $L_{\alpha}$  and  $M_{\alpha}$  can be thought of being "reverse" lexicographically ordered.

**Example.** Consider the divisor path set  $\{\hat{i}, \hat{j}\} = \{(3, 9, 36), (6, 12, 36)\}$ , then the

corresponding ordered lattice set  $L_3$  is given by

$$\begin{split} L_3 &= \{(k_0,k_1,k_2,k_3) | 1 \leq k_0 \leq 3, \ 1 \leq k_1 \leq \frac{9}{3}, \ 1 \leq k_2 \leq \frac{36}{9}, \ 1 \leq k_3 \leq \frac{36}{36} = 1\} \\ &= \{(k_0,k_1,k_2,k_3) | 1 \leq k_0 \leq 3, \ 1 \leq k_1 \leq 3, \ 1 \leq k_2 \leq 4, \ 1 \leq k_3 \leq 1\} \\ &= \{(1,1,1,1),(2,1,1,1),(3,1,1,1),(1,2,1,1),(2,2,1,1),(3,2,1,1),(1,3,1,1),(2,2,2,1),(3,3,2,1),(1,3,2,1),(2,1,2,1),(3,1,2,1),(1,2,2,1),(2,2,2,1),(3,2,2,1),(1,3,2,1),(2,3,2,1),(3,3,2,1),(1,1,3,1),(2,1,3,1),(2,1,3,1),(1,2,3,1),(2,2,3,1),(3,2,3,1),(1,3,3,1),(1,1,4,1),(2,1,4,1),(3,1,4,1),(1,2,4,1),(2,2,4,1),(3,2,4,1),(1,3,4,1),(2,3,4,1),(3,3,4,1)\}. \end{split}$$

Hence the lexicographical ordering of the reversed ordered lattice set is

$$\tilde{L}_3 = \{(k_3, k_2, k_1, k_0) | 1 \le k_0 \le 3, \ 1 \le k_1 \le 3, \ 1 \le k_2 \le 4, \ 1 \le k_3 \le 1\}$$

corresponding to

$$\{(1,1,1,1),(1,1,1,2),(1,1,1,3),(1,1,2,1),(1,1,2,2),(1,1,2,3) \\ (1,1,3,1),(1,1,3,2),(1,1,3,3),(1,2,1,1),(1,2,1,2),(1,2,1,3) \\ (1,2,2,1),(1,2,2,2),(1,2,2,3),(1,2,3,1),(1,2,3,2),(1,2,3,3) \\ (1,3,1,1),(1,3,1,2),(1,3,1,3),(1,3,2,1),(1,3,2,2),(1,3,2,3) \\ (1,3,3,1),(1,3,3,2),(1,3,3,3),(1,4,1,1),(1,4,1,2),(1,4,1,3) \\ (1,4,2,1),(1,4,2,2),(1,4,2,3),(1,4,3,1),(1,4,3,2),(1,4,3,3) \};$$

and treating the entries as numbers gives us

 $(1111, 1112, 1113, 1121, 1122, 1123, 1131, 1132, 1133, 1211, 1212, 1213, \\1221, 1222, 1223, 1231, 1232, 1233, 1311, 1312, 1313, 13121, 1322, 1323 \\1331, 1332, 1333, 1411, 1412, 1413, 1421, 1422, 1423, 1431, 1432, 1433)$  so that we have the inequality chain

 $1111 < 1112 < 1113 < 1121 < 1122 < 1123 < \ldots < 1431 < 1432 < 1433.$ 

For the lattice set  $M_3$  we have

$$M_3 = \{ (m_0, m_1, m_2) \mid 1 \le m_0 \le 6, \ 1 \le m_1 \le \frac{12}{2} = 2, \ 1 \le m_2 \le \frac{36}{12} = 3 \}$$

$$= \{(1,1,1), (2,1,1), (3,1,1), (4,1,1), (5,1,1), (6,1,1), (1,2,1), (2,2,1), (3,2,1), (4,2,1), (5,2,1), (6,2,1), (1,1,2), (2,1,2), (3,1,2), (4,1,2), (5,1,2), (6,1,2), (1,2,2), (2,2,2), (3,2,2), (4,2,2), (5,2,2), (6,2,2), (1,1,3), (2,1,3), (3,1,3), (4,1,3), (5,1,3), (6,1,3), (1,2,3), (2,2,3), (3,2,3), (4,2,3), (5,2,3), (6,2,3)\}.$$

so that the reversed ordering gives the set of lattice points

$$\{ (m_2, m_1, m_0) | 1 \le m_2 \le 3, 1 \le m_1 \le 2, 1 \le m_0 \le 6 \}$$
  
=  $\{(1, 1, 1), (1, 1, 2), (1, 1, 3), (1, 1, 4), (1, 1, 5), (1, 1, 6), (1, 2, 1), (1, 2, 2), (1, 2, 3), (1, 2, 4), (1, 2, 5), (1, 2, 6), (2, 1, 1), (2, 1, 2), (2, 1, 3), (2, 1, 4), (2, 1, 5), (2, 1, 6), (2, 2, 1), (2, 2, 2), (2, 2, 3), (2, 2, 4), (2, 2, 5), (2, 2, 6), (3, 1, 1), (3, 1, 2), (3, 1, 3), (3, 1, 4), (3, 1, 5), (3, 1, 6), (3, 2, 1), (3, 2, 2), (3, 2, 3), (3, 2, 4), (3, 2, 5), (3, 2, 6)\},$ 

which give the lexicographical sequence of ascending numbers

$$\left\{\sum_{u=0}^{2} m_u 10^u \mid m \in M_3\right\} = \{111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 121, 121, 123, 124, 125, 126, 211, 212, 213, 214, 215, 216, 221, 222, 223, 224, 225, 226, 311, 312, 313, 314, 315, 316, 321, 322, 323, 324, 325, 326\}$$

#### 6.1 Construction of (non-inclusive) Sum-and-Distance systems

From the block representations given at the beginning of this chapter it is evident that in an even sided principal reversible square the corresponding non-inclusive sum-and-distance system can be identified from the first half of the first row r' and column c' by the sets

$$r' = \left\{\frac{1}{2}(a^T J_k + b_k) + w\right\}, \quad c' = \left\{\frac{1}{2}(a_k + J_k b) + w\right\},$$

so that subtracting  $\frac{1}{2}b_k + w$  from r' and  $\frac{1}{2}a_k + w$  from c' yields the sets a and b. In a traditional square, the weight is calculated for any n to be  $w = \frac{n^2 - 1}{2}$ , which fixes  $a_k + b_k$ . In general the first and last entries of the first row and column in the principal reversible square are obtained by substituting the first and last entries of the lattice sets  $L_{\alpha}$  and  $M_{\alpha}$ ;  $(1, 1, \ldots, 1)$ ,  $(j_1, \frac{j_2}{j_1}, \ldots, \frac{n}{j_{\alpha}})$ ,  $(1, 1, \ldots, 1)$ ,  $(i_1, i_2, \ldots, \frac{i_{\alpha}}{i_{\alpha-1}} = \frac{n}{i_{\alpha-1}})$ in the equations found in Lemmas 6.1 and 6.2, such that

$$r_1 = 1, \ r_n = j_1 + \sum_{k=1}^{\alpha} \left(\frac{j_k}{j_{k-1}} - 1\right) (i_{k-1}j_{k-1}) + \left(\frac{n}{j_{\alpha-1}} - 1\right) (i_{\alpha}j_{\alpha}) \ \text{and}$$

$$c_1 = 1, \quad c_n = (i_1 j_1) - (j_1 - 1) + \sum_{k=1}^{\alpha - 1} \left(\frac{i_{k+1}}{i_k}\right) (i_k j_k) \frac{j_{k+1}}{j_k},$$

where  $i_0 = j_0 = 1$ . Here  $r_i$  is the *i*th entry in the first row and  $c_j$  is the *j*th entry in the first column.

**Definition.** Let  $L'_{\alpha}$  and  $M'_{\alpha}$  be the ordered set of lattice points corresponding to the first half of the first row and column, so that when substituted into the equations in Lemmas 6.1 and 6.2 respectively, they give

$$r' = \left\{ \frac{1}{2}(b_k + a) + w \right\} = \left\{ k_0 + \sum_{m=1}^{\alpha} (k_m - 1)(i_m j_m) \mid k \in L'_{\alpha} \right\},$$
$$c' = \left\{ \frac{1}{2}(a_k + b) + w \right\} = \left\{ 1 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} (m_u - 1)(i_u j_u) \mid m \in M'_{\alpha} \} \right\}.$$

**LEMMA 6.3.** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , so that n = 2k is even. Given an  $\alpha$  length divisor path set for n (where  $j_0 = i_0 = 1$ ,  $i_\alpha = j_{\alpha+1} = n$ ), we have

$$\{\hat{i},\hat{j}\} = \{(i_1,i_2,\ldots,i_\alpha=n), (j_1,j_2,\ldots,j_\alpha)\},\$$

for some  $s \leq t \leq \alpha$  and  $v \leq h \leq \alpha - 1$ , where

$$rac{j_{t+1}}{j_t}$$
 and  $rac{i_{h+1}}{i_h}$ 

are all odd, while

$$\frac{j_s}{s-1}$$
 and  $\frac{i_v}{v-1}$ 

are even. The corresponding half lattice sets  $L'_{\alpha}$  and  $M'_{\alpha}$  are then given by

$$L'_{\alpha} = \left\{ k \in L_{\alpha} \mid \sum_{i=0}^{\alpha} k_i \ 10^{\mu i} \le \left( \sum_{i=0}^{s-2} \frac{j_{i+1}}{j_i} \ 10^{\mu i} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{j_s}{j_{s-1}} 10^{\mu(s-1)} + \sum_{t=s}^{\alpha} \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{j_{t+1}}{j_t} + 1 \right) 10^{\mu t} \right) \right\},$$

$$M'_{\alpha} = \left\{ m \in M'_{\alpha} \mid \sum_{i=0}^{\alpha-1} m_i 10^{\eta i} \le \sum_{h=0}^{\nu-2} \frac{i_{h+1}}{i_h} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{i_{\nu}}{i_{\nu-1}} 10^{\eta(\nu-1)} + \sum_{h=\nu}^{\alpha-1} \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{i_{h+1}}{i_h} + 1 \right) 10^{\eta h} \right\},$$

for any  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  such that  $\mu, \eta \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $k_i < 10^{\mu}$  and  $m_i < 10^{\eta}$  for all  $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\alpha}$ .

Proof. The lattice points

$$(k_0, k_1, \dots, k_{\alpha}) = \left(j_1, \frac{j_2}{j_1}, \dots, \frac{1}{2}\frac{j_s}{j_{s-1}}, \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{j_{s+1}}{j_s} + 1\right), \dots, \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{n}{j_{\alpha}} + 1\right)\right)$$
$$(m_0, m_1, \dots, m_{\alpha}) = \left(i_1, \frac{i_2}{i_1}, \dots, \frac{1}{2}\frac{i_v}{i_{v-1}}, \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{i_{v+1}}{i_v} + 1\right), \dots, \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{n}{i_{\alpha-1}} + 1\right)\right)$$

correspond to the matrix entries directly to the left of the mid point of the first

row r and similarly for the first column c, as the number of final blocks in the reversible square construction could be an odd number. Hence we need to work through the dimensional blocks until there is an even number of block in both rows and columns.

**THEOREM 6.4.** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , so that n = 2k is even. Given an  $\alpha$  length divisor path set for n

$$\{\hat{i},\hat{j}\} = \{(i_1,i_2,\ldots,i_\alpha = n), (j_1,j_2,\ldots,j_\alpha)\},\$$

then its corresponding sum-and-distance system is given by

$$\{A, B\} = \{\{|a_j| \mid j \in \mathbb{Z}_{n/2}\}, \{|b_j| \mid j \in \mathbb{Z}_{n/2}\}\}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{2}a &= \left\{k_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{\alpha} (k_i - 1)(i_1 j_1) \mid k \in L'_{\alpha}\right\} - \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + j_1 + \sum_{i=1}^{\alpha} \left(\frac{j_{i+1}}{j_i} - 1\right)(i_1 j_1)\right), \\ \frac{1}{2}b &= \left\{1 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} (m_u - 1)\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}(i_u j_u) \mid m \in M'_{\alpha}\right\} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left(2 + (i_1 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} \left(\frac{i_{u+1}}{i_u} - 1\right)\left(\frac{i_{u+1}}{i_u}\right)(i_u j_u)\right).\end{aligned}$$

*Proof.* In the expanded block representation of a reversible square, the first row contains one set from a sum-and-distance system,

$$\left\{\frac{1}{2}(b_k + a) + w, \frac{1}{2}(b_k - a) + w\right\}.$$

By Lemma 6.1 the first row is given by

$$r = \left\{\frac{1}{2}(b_k + a) + w, \frac{1}{2}(b_k - a) + w\right\} = \left\{k_0 + \sum_{m=1}^{\alpha} (k_m - 1)(i_m j_m) \mid k \in L_{\alpha}\right\},\$$

and with  $L'_\alpha$  defined as above, the half-row is determined by

$$r' = \left\{\frac{1}{2}(b_k + a) + w\right\} = \left\{k_0 + \sum_{m=1}^{\alpha} (k_m - 1)(i_m j_m) \mid k \in L'_{\alpha}\right\}.$$

By Theorem 4.1  $A = \{|a_1|, |a_2|, \dots, |a_k|\}$  and  $B = \{|b_1|, |b_2|, \dots, |b_k|\}$  form a sumand-distance system, so we need only determine vectors a and b.

We can determine  $\frac{1}{2}a$  by finding  $\frac{1}{2}(b_k - 2w)$  and subtracting it from r'

$$r' - \frac{1}{2}(b_k + 2w) = \frac{1}{2}(b_k + a) + w - \frac{1}{2}(b_k + 2w) = \frac{1}{2}a.$$

Considering the first and last entries of our first row r, we have

$$r_{1} = \frac{1}{2}(b_{k} + a_{k}) + w = k_{0} + \sum_{m=1}^{\alpha} (k_{m} - 1)(i_{m}j_{m}) = 1, \text{ at } k = (1, 1, \dots, 1),$$
$$r_{n} = \frac{1}{2}(b_{k} - a_{k}) + w = k_{0} + \sum_{m=1}^{\alpha} (k_{m} - 1)(i_{m}j_{m})$$
$$= j_{1} + \sum_{m=1}^{\alpha} \left(\frac{j_{m+1}}{j_{m}}\right), \text{ at } k = (j_{1}, \frac{j_{2}}{j_{1}}, \dots, \frac{j_{\alpha}}{\alpha - 1}, \frac{n}{j_{\alpha}}),$$

so that

$$\frac{1}{2}(r_1 + r_n) = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{1}{2}(b_k + a_1) + w + \frac{1}{2}(b_k - a_1) + w \right) = \frac{1}{2}(b_k + 2w)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 + j_1 + \sum_{i=1}^{\alpha} \left( \frac{j_{i+1}}{j_i} - 1 \right)(i_1 j_1) \right).$$

In conclusion we therefore have

$$\frac{1}{2}a = r' - \frac{1}{2}(b_k + 2w) = r' - \frac{1}{2}\left(1 + j_1 + \sum_{i=1}^{\alpha} \left(\frac{j_{i+1}}{j_i} - 1\right)(i_1 j_1)\right).$$

Similarly the first half of the first column of a principal reversible square gives the second part of the sum-and-distance system. Consider the first column, we know from the block representation that it has the form

$$\left\{\frac{1}{2}(a_k+b)+w, \ \frac{1}{2}(a_k-b)+w\right\},\,$$

which can be written as

$$c = \left\{ \frac{1}{2}(a_k + b) + w, \ \frac{1}{2}(a_k - b) + w \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ 1 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} (m_u - 1) \left(\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}\right)(i_u j_u) \mid m \in M_\alpha \right\},$$

so that the first half of the first column by definition can be written explicitly as

$$c' = \left\{\frac{1}{2}(a_k + b) + w\right\} = \left\{1 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} (m_u - 1)\left(\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}\right)(i_u j_u) \mid m \in M'_\alpha\right\},\$$

and subtracting  $\frac{1}{2}a_k + w$ , gives us b.

Considering the first and last entries of the first column c of our matrix, we have  $\frac{1}{2}a_k + w = \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{2}(a_k + b_k) + w + \frac{1}{2}(a_k - b_k) + w\right) = \frac{1}{2}(c_1 + c_n)$ , so that

$$c_1 = 1$$
 at  $m = (1, 1, \dots, 1)$ 

and

$$c_n = 1 + (i_1 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} \left(\frac{i_{u+1}}{i_u} - 1\right) \left(\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}\right) (i_u j_u),$$
$$a_k + 2w = 2 + (i_1 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} \left(\frac{i_{u+1}}{i_u} - 1\right) \left(\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}\right) (i_u j_u)$$

In conclusion we therefore have

$$\frac{1}{2}b = c' - \frac{1}{2}(a_k + 2w) = c' - \frac{1}{2}\left(2 + (i_1 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1}\left(\frac{i_{u+1}}{i_u} - 1\right)\left(\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}\right)(i_u j_u)\right).$$

**Example.** We give the example when n = 36, for the divisor path

$$\{\hat{i},\hat{j}\} = \{(3,9,18,36), (2,6,12,36)\},\$$

which determines the corresponding ordered lattice set

$$\begin{split} L_{\alpha} &= L_4(\hat{i}, \hat{j}) = \{(k_0, k_1, k_2, k_3, k_4)\} = \{(1, 1, 1, 1, 1), (2, 1, 1, 1, 1), (1, 2, 1, 1, 1), (2, 2, 1, 1, 1), (1, 3, 1, 1, 1), (2, 3, 1, 1, 1), (1, 1, 2, 1, 1), (2, 1, 2, 1, 1), (1, 2, 2, 1, 1), (2, 2, 2, 1, 1), (1, 3, 2, 1, 1), (2, 3, 2, 1, 1), (1, 1, 1, 2, 1), (2, 1, 1, 2, 1), (1, 2, 1, 2, 1), (2, 2, 2, 2, 1), (1, 3, 1, 2, 1), (2, 3, 1, 2, 1), (1, 1, 2, 2, 1), (2, 1, 2, 2, 1), (1, 2, 2, 2, 1), (2, 2, 2, 2, 1), (1, 3, 2, 2, 1), (2, 3, 2, 2, 1), (1, 1, 1, 3, 1), (2, 1, 1, 3, 1), (1, 2, 1, 3, 1), (2, 2, 2, 3, 1), (1, 3, 2, 2, 3, 1), (1, 3, 2, 3, 1), (1, 3, 2, 3, 1), (1, 3, 2, 3, 1), (1, 3, 2, 3, 1), (1, 3, 2, 3, 1), (1, 3, 2, 3, 1), (2, 3, 2, 3, 3, 1), (2, 3, 2, 3, 3, 3), (2, 3, 2, 3, 3, 3), (2, 3, 2, 3, 3, 3), (2, 3, 2, 3, 3), (2, 3, 3, 3), (2, 3, 3, 3$$

The reversed lexicographical ordered set is then given by

$$\left\{\sum_{i=0}^{4} 10^{i} k_{i} \mid k \in L_{4}\right\} = \{11111, 11112, 11121, 11122, 11131, 11132, 11132, 11131, 11132, 11131, 11132, 11132, 11131, 11132, 11132, 11131, 11131, 11131, 11131, 11131, 11131, 11131, 11131, 11131, 11131, 11131, 11132, 11131, 11111, 1111, 1111, 1111, 1111, 1111, 11112, 111$$

 $11211, 11212, 11221, 11222, 11231, 11232, 12111, 12112, 12121, 12122, 12131, 12132, \\12211, 12212, 12221, 12222, 12231, 12232, 13111, 13112, 13121, 13122, 13131, 13132, \\$ 

 $13211, 13212, 13221, 13222, 13231, 13232\}.$ 

When  $4 \le t \le 4$ , s = 4 we have that  $\frac{j_{t+1}}{j_t}$  is odd and  $\frac{j_4}{j_3}$  even, and using the above theory underpinning our construction, it therefore follows that the first half set of ordered lattice points is given by

$$j_1 = 2, \ \frac{j_2}{j_1} = 3, \ \frac{j_3}{j_2} = 2, \ \frac{j_4}{j_3} = 3, \ \frac{n}{j_4} = 1$$

$$\begin{cases} k \in L_4 \mid \sum_{i=0}^4 10^i \ k_i \leq \left(\sum_{i=0}^1 10^i \left(\frac{j_{i+1}}{j_i}\right) + 10^2 \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{j_4}{j_3}\right) + \sum_{i=4}^4 10^i \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{j_{i+1}}{j_i} + 1\right)\right) \right) \\ = \left\{ k \in L_4 \mid \sum_{i=0}^4 10^i k_i \leq 2 + 10 * 3 + 10^2 * 1 + 10^3 * 2 + 10^4 * 1 \right\} \\ = \left\{ k \in L_4 \mid \sum_{i=0}^4 10^i k_i \leq 12132 \right\} \\ = \left\{ k \in L_4 \mid \sum_{i=0}^4 10^i k_i \in \{11111, 1112, 11121, 11122, 11131, 11132, 11211, 11212, 11221, 11222, 11231, 11232, 12111, 12112, 12121, 12122, 12131, 12132 \} \right\} \\ = \left\{ (1, 1, 1, 1, 1), (2, 1, 1, 1, 1), (1, 2, 1, 1, 1)(2, 2, 1, 1, 1), (1, 3, 1, 1, 1), (2, 3, 1, 1, 1), (1, 1, 2, 1, 1), (2, 1, 2, 1, 1), (1, 2, 1, 2, 1), (2, 2, 1, 2, 1), (1, 3, 1, 2, 1), (2, 3, 1, 2, 1) \right\} \end{cases}$$

The coordinate entry to the left of the middle of the first row will be the 18th entry which can be seen to be 12132. Hence the first half set of ordered lattice points have now been determined.

Now substituting in these  $k_i$  values into Lemma 6.1 we determine that

$$r = \{k_0 + (k_1 - 1)(i_1 \times j_1) + (k_2 - 1)(i_2 \times j_2) + \dots + (k_\alpha - 1)(i_\alpha \times j_\alpha) | k \in L'_\alpha\}$$
  
=  $\{k_0 + 6(k_1 - 1) + 53(k_2 - 1) + 216(k_3 - 1) + \underbrace{36^2(k_4 - 1)}_{=0}\} | k \in L'_4\}$   
=  $\{1 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0, 2 + 0 + 0 + 0, 1 + (1)(4) + 0 + 0 + 0, 2 + (1)(4), \dots\}$   
=  $\{1, 2, 7, 8, 13, 14, 55, 56, 61, 62, 67, 68, 217, 218, 223, 224, 229, 230\} = \frac{1}{2}(a + b_k) + w$ 

Similarly, to find  $b_k$  we add the first and last values of the first row, found by substituting the first and last coordinates k = (1, 1, 1, 1, 1), k = (2, 3, 2, 3, 1) into r, giving

$$b_k + 2w = \frac{1}{2}(b_k + a_1) + w + \frac{1}{2}(b_k - a_1) + w = 1 + 500 = 501.$$

Lastly we subtract half of this new expression to obtain  $\frac{1}{2}a$ ,

$$\frac{1}{2}(a+b_k) + w - \frac{1}{2}(b_k+2w) = \frac{1}{2}a$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2}\{41, 43, 53, 55, 65, 67, 365, 367, 377, 379, 389, 391, 473, 475, 485, 487, 497, 499\}$$

Hence the first part of the sum-and-distance system associated with the reversible square (given below) and divisor path set  $\{(2, 6, 12, 36), (2, 6, 12, 36)\}$  is twice the above form and taking the absolute values of each entry, we finally have the required

$$A = \{ |a_i| \mid i \in \mathbb{Z}_k \} = \{ 41, 43, 53, 55, 65, 67, 365, 367, 377, \\ 379, 389, 391, 473, 475, 485, 487, 497, 499 \}.$$

Similarly for the second set b which comprises the non-inclusive sum-and-distance system for the given divisor path set (described above) we obtain the set of lattice points

$$M_{\alpha} = M_4(\hat{i}, \hat{j}) = \{ (m_0, m_1, \dots, m_{\alpha-1}) \mid 1 \le m_0 \le i_1 = 3, \ 1 \le m_1 \le \frac{i_2}{i_1} = \frac{9}{3} = 3, \\ 1 \le m_2 \le \frac{i_3}{i_2} = \frac{18}{9} = 2, \ 1 \le m_3 \le \frac{n}{i_3} = \frac{36}{18} = 2 \}$$

$$=\{(1,1,1,1),(2,1,1,1),(3,1,1,1),(1,2,1,1),(2,2,1,1),(3,2,1,1),(1,3,1,1),(2,3,1,1),(3,3,1,1),(1,1,2,1),(2,1,2,1),(3,1,2,1),(1,2,2,1),(2,2,2,1),(3,2,2,1),(1,3,2,1),(2,3,2,1),(3,3,2,1),(1,1,1,2),(2,1,1,2),(3,1,1,2),(1,2,1,2),(2,2,1,2),(3,2,1,2),(1,3,1,2),(1,3,2,2),(2,1,2,2),(3,1,2,2),(1,2,2,2),(2,3,2,2),(3,3,2,2)\},$$

which has the lexicographical ordering

$$\left\{\sum_{i=0}^{3} 10^{i} m_{i} \mid m \in M_{4}\right\} = \{1111, 1112, 1113, 1121, 1122, 1123, 1131, 1132, 1133 \\ 1211, 1212, 1213, 1221, 1222, 1223, 1231, 1232, 1233 \\ 2111, 2112, 2113, 2121, 2122, 2123, 2131, 2132, 2133, \\ 2211, 2212, 2213, 2221, 2222, 2223, 2231, 2232, 2233\}.$$

Therefore the half lattice point set which corresponds to the first column of the reversible square is given by

$$M'_{4} = \left\{ m \in M_{4} \mid \sum_{i=0}^{3} 10^{i} m_{i} \le 1233 \right\}$$
  
= {(1,1,1,1), (2,1,1,1), (3,1,1,1), (1,2,1,1), (2,2,1,1), (3,2,1,1)  
(1,3,1,1), (2,3,1,1), (3,3,1,1), (1,1,2,1), (2,1,2,1), (3,1,2,1)  
(1,2,2,1), (2,2,2,1), (3,2,2,1), (1,3,2,1), (2,3,2,1), (3,3,2,1)},

set

and substituting into the first column equation we obtain

$$-\frac{1}{2}(b-\frac{1}{2}a_k-w)$$

 $= \{500, 504, 508, 536, 540, 544, 572, 576, 580, 716, 720, 724, 752, 756, 760, 788, 792, 796\}.$ 

Hence the second part of the sum-and-distance system associated with the reversible square (given below) and divisor path set  $\{(2, 6, 12, 36), (2, 6, 12, 36)\}$  is twice the above form, and taking the absolute value of each entry gives

$$B = \{ |b_i| \mid i \in \mathbb{Z}_k \} = \{ 500, 504, 508, 536, 540, 544, 572, 576, 580, 716, 720, 724, 752, 756, 760, 788, 792, 796 \}.$$

By the theory it follows that all the sums and distances of the entries in A and B give the odd positive integers  $1, 3, 5, \ldots 4k^2 - 1$ . We give the corresponding  $36 \times 36$  principal reversible square matrix in the appendix.

**Remark.** It may be that a simpler method exists to determine an expression for the middle lattice point, but this would be a point for further work.

## 6.2 Construction of Inclusive Sum-and-Distance Systems

The method for constructing a non-inclusive sum-and-distance system can be expanded and simplified to construct an inclusive sum-and-distance system corresponding to an odd sided principal reversible square matrix. Again we use the fact that the first row of a weightless principal square can be written as

$$\{a^T J_k + b_k, b_k, -a^T + b_k\},\$$

and we can generalise the first  $1_k a^T J_k + b_k$  because  $b_k$  can be found from the  $\{\hat{i}, \hat{j}\}$  divisor path set and subtracted from all entries, giving

$$\{a^T J_k, 0, -a^T\}.$$

Hence by taking the first half of the first row we will obtain the a part of the sum-and-distance set, and similarly for the first column we obtain the entries

$$\{J_kb + a_k , a_k , -J_kb + a_k\},\$$

and by subtracting the middle value  $a_k$  we obtain

$$\{J_k b, 0, -J_k b\}$$

It follows that by taking the first half of the first column we will then obtain the b part of the sum-and-distance set.

Our approach again uses the two lattice sets  $L'_{\alpha}$  and  $M'_{\alpha}$ , from which we can obtain

the explicit forms for the first row and column (respectively r' and c') of the odd sided reversible square given by

$$r' = \{(b_k + a) + w\} = \left\{k_0 + \sum_{m=1}^{\alpha} (k_m - 1)(i_m j_m) \mid k \in L'_{\alpha}\right\},\$$

$$c' = \{(a_k + b) + w\} = \left\{1 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} (m_u - 1) \left(\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}\right) (i_u j_u) \mid m \in M'_{\alpha}\}\right\}.$$

**LEMMA 6.5.** Given an  $\alpha$  length divisor path set for n (with  $j_0 = i_0 = 1$ ,  $j_{\alpha+1} = i_{\alpha} = n$ )

 $\{\hat{i},\hat{j}\} = \{(i_1,i_2,\ldots,i_\alpha=n), (j_1,j_2,\ldots,j_\alpha)\},\$ 

the first half of lattice points for  $L_{\alpha}$  and  $M_{\alpha}$  are given by

$$L'_{\alpha} = \left\{ k \in L_{\alpha} \mid \sum_{u=0}^{\alpha} k_u 10^{u\mu} < \sum_{u=0}^{\alpha} \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} + 1 \right) 10^{u\mu} \right\},$$
$$M'_{\alpha} = \left\{ m \in M_{\alpha} \mid \sum_{u=0}^{\alpha-1} m_u 10^{u\eta} < \sum_{u=0}^{\alpha-1} \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{i_{u+1}}{i_u} + 1 \right) 10^{u\eta} \right\},$$

for any  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  such that  $\mu, \eta \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $k_i < 10^{\mu}$  and  $m_i < 10^{\eta}$  for all  $i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\alpha}$ 

*Proof.* Corresponding to the sets  $L'_{\alpha}$  and  $M'_{\alpha}$  we have (as in the non-inclusive case) the reversed ordered lexicographical interpretation for the lattice points, which when substituted into Lemmas 6.1 and 6.2, the explicit expressions for the first row and column are obtained, where the middle lattice points for the first row and column are given by

$$k = \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \left( j_1 + 1 \right), \ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{j_2}{j_1} + 1 \right), \ \dots, \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{n}{j_{\alpha}} + 1 \right) \right\}$$

and

$$m = \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \left( i_1 + 1 \right), \ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{i_2}{i_1} + 1 \right), \ \dots, \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{i_{\alpha} = n}{i_{\alpha-1}} + 1 \right) \right\}.$$

Hence, all lattice points whose reversed lexicographic ordering is smaller than the reversed lexicographic mid-point will give the first half of the row and column required.  $\hfill \Box$ 

**THEOREM 6.6.** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , so that n = 2k + 1 is odd. Given any  $\alpha$  length divisor path set

$$\{\hat{i},\hat{j}\} = \{(i_1,i_2,\ldots,i_\alpha=n), (j_1,j_2,\ldots,j_\alpha)\},\$$

then its associated inclusive sum-and-distance system is given by

$$\{A,B\} = \left\{ \{|a_j| \mid j \in \mathbb{Z}_{\frac{n-1}{2}}\}, \{|b_j| \mid k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\frac{n-1}{2}}\} \right\},\$$

with

$$a = \left\{ k_0 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (k_i - 1)(i_u j_u) \mid k \in L'_{\alpha} \right\} - \left( \frac{1}{2} (j_1 + 1) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} - 1 \right) (i_u j_u) \right)$$
$$b = \left\{ 1 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} (m_u - 1) \left( \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} \right) (i_u j_u) \mid m \in M'_{\alpha} \right\}$$
$$- \left( 1 + \frac{1}{2} (i_1 - 1) j_1 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{i_{u+1}}{i_u} - 1 \right) (i_u j_u) \left( \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} \right) \right).$$

*Proof.* We know from the block representation expansion that the first row is given by

$$r = \{b_k + a + w, b_k + w, b_k - a + w\}$$
$$= \left\{k_0 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (k_m - 1)(i_m j_m) \mid k \in L_{\alpha}\right\}$$

Then from the definition the first half of r gives

$$r' = \{b_k + a + w\} = \left\{k_0 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (k_u - 1)(i_u j_u) \mid k \in L'_{\alpha}\right\}.$$

To obtain the *a* vector we again find and subtract  $b_k + w$ , so that

$$r' - b_k - w = \{a\} = \left\{k_0 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (k_u - 1)(i_u j_u) \mid k \in L'_{\alpha}\right\} - b_k - w$$

The value in the centre of the first row is  $b_k + w$ , which we can determine by substituting the mid lattice point

$$\hat{k} = (\hat{k}_0, \hat{k}_1, \dots, \hat{k}_\alpha) = \left\{ \frac{1}{2} (j_1 + 1), \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{j_2}{j_1} + 1 \right), \dots, \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{n}{j_\alpha} + 1 \right) \right\}$$

into the form for the first row and obtain

$$b_k + w = \frac{1}{2}(j_1 + 1) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}(i_u j_u).$$

So finally we have that

$$a = r' - b_k - w = \left\{ k_0 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (k_u - 1)(i_u j_u) \mid k \in L'_{\alpha} \right\} - \left( \frac{1}{2} (j_1 + 1) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} - 1 \right) (i_u j_u) \right)$$

and by Theorem 4.1  $A = \{|a_j| \mid j \in \mathbb{Z}_k\}$  gives one part of an inclusive sum-anddistance system.

Similarly, the first column of a weightless reversible square is given by

$$c = \{a_k + b + w, a_k + b, a_k - b + w\}^T$$

$$= \left\{ 1 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} (m_u - 1) \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} (i_u j_u) \mid m \in M'_{\alpha} \right\}.$$

As before we determine and subtract  $a_k + w$  from the above expression, where similarly  $a_k + w$  can be found using the mid lattice point and then substituting it into our expression for the first column c. The mid point is given by

$$\hat{m} = (\hat{m}_0, \hat{m}_1, \dots, \hat{m}_{\alpha-1}) = \left(\frac{1}{2}(i_1+1), \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{i_2}{i_1}+1\right), \dots, \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{i_\alpha}{i_{\alpha-1}}+1\right)\right)$$

and remembering that  $i_{\alpha} = n$ ), we have

$$a_k + w = 1 + \frac{1}{2}(i_1 + 1) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} \frac{1}{2} \frac{i_{u+1}}{i_u} \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}$$

It follows that

$$b = c' - a_k - w = \left\{ 1 + (m_0 - 1)j_1 + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} (m_u - 1) \left(\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}\right) (i_u j_u) \mid m \in M'_{\alpha} \right\}$$
$$- \left( 1 + \frac{1}{2} (i_1 - 1) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{i_{u+1}}{i_u} - 1\right) (i_u j_u) \left(\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}\right) \right),$$

and by Theorem 4.1  $B = \{|b_j| \mid j \in \mathbb{Z}_k\}$  gives the remaining part of the inclusive sum-and-distance system.

L		
L		
н		

#### 6.3 Geometric Interpretation

Another way we can determine uniquely a sum-and-distance system from a principal reversible square divisor path is to obtain the sets  $L'_{\alpha}$  and  $M'_{\alpha}$ , from sets of lattice points bounded by certain hyperplanes.

**Remark.** As before, we let the set of lattice points,  $L'_{\alpha}$  represent the first half of entries in  $L_{\alpha}$  that when substituted in yields  $k_0 + (k_1 - 1)(i_1j_1) + \dots + (k_{\alpha} - 1)(i_{\alpha}j_{\alpha})$  from which we obtain the first half of the first row in the principal reversible square. So the sum-and-distance part a can be recovered as

$$a = \{k_0 + (k_1 - 1)(i_1 j_1) + \dots + (k_\alpha - 1)(i_\alpha j_\alpha) - b_k - w | k \in L'_\alpha, \}$$

where w is the weight of the reversible square.

**Definition.** Let  $\alpha$  be a positive integer with  $\hat{k}$  and  $\hat{m}$  the mid lattice points which when substituted into the forms of the first row and column give the middle entry,

$$\hat{k} = (\hat{k}_0, \hat{k}_1, \dots, \hat{k}_\alpha) = \left(\frac{1}{2}(j_1+1), \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{j_2}{j_1}+1\right), \dots, \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{n}{j_\alpha}+1\right)\right)$$

$$\hat{m} = (\hat{m}_0, \hat{m}_1, \dots, \hat{m}_{\alpha-1}) = \left(\frac{1}{2}(i_1+1), \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{i_2}{i_1}+1\right), \dots, \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{i_\alpha=n}{i_{\alpha-1}}+1\right)\right)$$

**LEMMA 6.7.** For a divisor path system  $\{\hat{i}, \hat{j}\} = \{(i_1, \ldots, i_\alpha), (j_1, \ldots, j_\alpha)\}$  we define the following sets

$$S_0 = \left\{ (k_0, k_1, \dots, k_\alpha) \mid 1 \le k_0 \le 2\hat{k}_0 - 1, \dots, 1 \le k_{\alpha-1} \le 2\hat{k}_{\alpha-1} - 1, 1 \le k_\alpha \le \hat{k}_\alpha - 1 \right\},$$
  
for  $0 < t < \alpha$ 

$$S_t = \{ (k_0, \dots, k_\alpha) \mid 1 \le k_0 \le 2\hat{k}_0 - 1, \dots, 1 \le k_{\alpha - t - 1} \le 2\hat{k}_{\alpha - t - 1} - 1, \ 1 \le k_{\alpha - t} \le \hat{k}_{\alpha - t} - 1$$

$$k_{\alpha-t+1} = \hat{k}_{\alpha-t+1}, \ \dots, \ k_{\alpha} = \hat{k}_{\alpha} \}$$

and

$$S_{\alpha} = \{ (k_0, k_1, \dots, k_{\alpha}) \mid 1 \le k_0 \le \hat{k}_0 - 1, \ k_1 = \hat{k}_1, \dots, \ k_{\alpha} = \hat{k}_{\alpha} \}.$$

Then

$$L'_{\alpha} = \bigcup_{u=0}^{\alpha} S_u$$

Proof. Firstly,  $S_0$  gives the first  $\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{n}{j_{\alpha}}-1\right) = \hat{k}_{\alpha}-1$ ,  $j_{\alpha}$  length sequence in the first row of the reversible square excluding the centre  $j_{\alpha}$  length sequence.  $S_1$  with fixed  $k_{\alpha} = \hat{k}_{\alpha}$  co-ordinate is then found in the centre  $j_{\alpha}$  length sequence, and this then gives the first  $\hat{k}_{\alpha-1}-1$ ,  $j_{\alpha-1}$  length sequence within the first row of the reversible square. Hence as the index of S increase we move towards the centre most point in the first row of the reversible square. The set of points  $S_t$  is then found in the centre  $j_{\alpha}, j_{\alpha-1}, \ldots, j_{\alpha-t-1}$  length sequences and this gives the  $\hat{k}_{\alpha-t}-1$ ,  $j_{\alpha-t}$  length strings.

Continuing with this method we finally arrive in the centre most  $j_1$  length sequence in which the first  $\hat{k}_0 - 1$  entries are given. It follows that the union of the previous sets will give all the points before this set, and hence the union over all of these sets will give the points that explicitly determine the first half of the first row of our reversible square.

**LEMMA 6.8.** The points of  $L'_{\alpha}$  can be described by all the points under a hyperplane in the full lattice, with corresponding normal vector defined by

$$c_{i} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } i = 0, \\ 2^{i-1} & \text{if } i > 0, \end{cases} \quad and \quad v_{i} = \frac{c_{i}}{\prod_{j=i}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_{j}}$$

where the points under the plane have a one-to-one correspondence to

$$L'_{\alpha} = \{ (k_0, k_1, \dots, k_{\alpha}) | (k - \hat{k}) \cdot v < 0, \ k \in L_{\alpha} \}.$$

*Proof.* Firstly we will show that any  $k \in \bigcup_{t=0}^{\alpha} S_t$  will give  $(k - \hat{k}) \cdot v < 0$ . Let  $k \in S_0$ ,

then

$$k \in \left\{ (k_0, k_1, \dots, k_\alpha) \mid 1 \le k_0 \le j_1 = 2\hat{k}_1 - 1, \ 1 \le k_1 \le \frac{j_2}{j_1} = 2\hat{k}_1 - 1, \dots \right\}, \ 1 \le k_{\alpha-1} \le \frac{j_\alpha}{j_{\alpha-1}} = 2\hat{k}_{\alpha-1} - 1, \ 1 \le k_\alpha \le \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{n}{j_\alpha} - 1\right) = \hat{k}_\alpha - 1 \right\}.$$

For  $0 < u \leq \alpha - 1$  we have

$$\frac{2^{u-1}(k_u - \hat{k}_u)}{\prod_{j=u}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} \le \frac{2^{u-1}(2\hat{k}_u - 1 - \hat{k}_u)}{\prod_{j=u}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} = \frac{2^{u-1}(\hat{k}_u - 1)}{\prod_{j=u}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} = \frac{\hat{k}_u - 1}{\hat{k}_u} \frac{2^{u-1}}{\prod_{j=u+1}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} < 2^{u+1},$$

for u = 0 that

$$\frac{(k_0 - \hat{k}_0)}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha - 1} \hat{k}_j} \le \frac{2\hat{k}_0 - 1 - \hat{k}_0}{\hat{k}_0 \prod_{j=1}^{\alpha - 1} \hat{k}_j} = \frac{\hat{k}_0 - 1}{\hat{k}_0} \frac{1}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha - 1} \hat{k}_j} < \frac{1}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha - 1} \hat{k}_j} \le 1$$

and for  $u = \alpha$  we have

$$2^{\alpha-1}(k_{\alpha} - \hat{k}_{\alpha}) \le 2^{\alpha-1}(\hat{k}_{\alpha} - 1 - \hat{k}_{\alpha}) = -2^{\alpha-1}.$$

Combining these results in  $(k - \hat{k}) \cdot v$  gives us the inequality

$$(k-\hat{k}).v = \frac{k_0 - \hat{k}_0}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{(k_1 - \hat{k}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{2(k_2 - \hat{k}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \dots + \frac{2^{\alpha-2}(k_{\alpha-1} - \hat{k}_{\alpha-1})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-1}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + 2^{\alpha-1}(k_\alpha - \hat{k}_\alpha)$$

$$< 1 + 1 + 2 + \ldots + 2^{\alpha - 2} - 2^{\alpha - 1} = 1 + \sum_{i=0}^{\alpha - 2} 2^{i} - 2^{\alpha - 1} = 1 + 2^{\alpha - 1} - 1 - 2^{\alpha - 1} = 0.$$

Similarly for  $1 \le t \le \alpha - 1$ , then for any

$$k \in \left\{ (k_0, k_1, \dots, k_\alpha) \mid 1 \le k_0 \le 2\hat{k}_0 - 1, \dots, \ 1 \le k_{\alpha - t - 1} \le 2\hat{k}_{\alpha - t - 1}, \ 1 \le k_{\alpha - t} \le \hat{k}_{\alpha - t} - 1, \\ k_{\alpha - t + 1} = \hat{k}_{\alpha - t + 1}, \dots, k_\alpha = \hat{k}_\alpha \right\}$$

we have that

$$\begin{split} (k-\hat{k}).v &= \frac{k_0 - \hat{k}_0}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{(k_1 - \hat{k}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{2(k_2 - \hat{k}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \dots + \frac{2^{t-\alpha-2}(k_{\alpha-t-1} - \hat{k}_{\alpha-t-1})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} \\ &+ \frac{2^{t-\alpha-1}(k_{\alpha-t} - \hat{k}_{\alpha-t})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \dots + \frac{2^{\alpha-2}(k_{\alpha-1} - \hat{k}_{\alpha-1})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-1}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + 2^{\alpha-1}(k_{\alpha} - \hat{k}_{\alpha}) \\ &= \frac{k_0 - \hat{k}_0}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{(k_1 - \hat{k}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{2(k_2 - \hat{k}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \dots + \frac{2^{t-\alpha-2}(k_{\alpha-t-1} - \hat{k}_{\alpha-t-1})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{2^{t-\alpha-1}(k_{\alpha-t} - \hat{k}_{\alpha-t})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} \\ &= \frac{1}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} \left( \frac{k_0 - \hat{k}_0}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-t-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{(k_1 - \hat{k}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-t-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{2(k_2 - \hat{k}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-t-1} \hat{k}_j} + \dots + \frac{2^{t-\alpha-2}(k_{\alpha-t-1} - \hat{k}_{\alpha-t-1})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-t-1} \frac{k_{\alpha-t-1}}{k_j}} \right) \\ &+ 2^{t-\alpha-1}(k_{\alpha-t} - \hat{k}_{\alpha-t}) \Big) \end{split}$$

$$< 1 + 1 + 2 + \ldots + 2^{\alpha - t - 2} - 2^{\alpha - t - 1} = 1 + \sum_{i=0}^{\alpha - t - 2} 2^{i} - 2^{\alpha - t - 1} = 0.$$

Lastly for

$$k \in \left\{ (k_0, k_1, \dots, k_\alpha) \mid 1 \le k_0 \le \hat{k}_0 - 1, \ k_1 = \hat{k}_1 \dots, \ k_\alpha = \hat{k}_\alpha \right\}$$
$$(k - \hat{k}) \cdot v = \frac{k_0 - \hat{k}_0}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha - 1} \hat{k}_j} < -1.$$

Therefore for any  $k \in L'_{\alpha}$  we have  $(k - \hat{k}).v < 0$ .

We now show that points not in  $L'_{\alpha}$  but in  $L_{\alpha}$  give  $(k - \hat{k}) \cdot v \ge 0$ . First, consider the points not in  $S_{\alpha}$ , the set of which we denote by

$$S'_{\alpha} = \left\{ (k_0, \dots, k_{\alpha}) \mid \hat{k}_0 + 1 \le k_0 \le 2\hat{k}_0 - 1, \ k_1 = \hat{k}_1, \dots, k_{\alpha} = \hat{k}_{\alpha} \right\}.$$

For any points in this set we have that

$$(k - \hat{k}).v = \frac{k_0 - \hat{k}_0}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha - 1} \hat{k}_j} > \frac{1}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha - 1} \hat{k}_j} > 0.$$

Corresponding to the set  $S_t$  for  $0 \le t \le \alpha - 1$  we define the *complimentary set* such that

$$S'_{t} = \left\{ k \mid 1 \le k_{0} \le 2\hat{k}_{0} - 1, \ \dots, 1 \le k_{\alpha - t - 1} \le 2\hat{k}_{\alpha - t - 1} - 1, \ \hat{k}_{\alpha - t} + 1 \le k_{\alpha - t} \le 2\hat{k}_{\alpha - t} - 1, \\ k_{\alpha - t + 1} = \hat{k}_{\alpha - t + 1}, \dots, k_{\alpha} = \hat{k}_{\alpha} \right\},$$

which yields the inequality chain

$$\begin{split} (k-\hat{k}).v &= \frac{k_0 - \hat{k}_0}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{(k_1 - \hat{k}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{2(k_2 - \hat{k}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \dots + \frac{2^{t-\alpha-2}(k_{\alpha-t-1} - \hat{k}_{\alpha-t-1})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{2^{t-\alpha-1}(k_{\alpha-t} - \hat{k}_{\alpha-t})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} \\ &\geq \frac{1 - \hat{k}_0}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{(1 - \hat{k}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{2(1 - \hat{k}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \dots + \frac{2^{t-\alpha-2}(1 - \hat{k}_{\alpha-t-1})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{2^{t-\alpha-1}(1)}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t}^{\alpha-1} \hat{k}_j} \\ &= \frac{1}{\prod_{j=u-t}^{\alpha-t-1}} \left( \frac{1 - \hat{k}_0}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-t-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{(1 - \hat{k}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-t-1} \hat{k}_j} + \frac{2(1 - \hat{k}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-t-1} \hat{k}_j} + \dots + \frac{2^{t-\alpha-2}(1 - \hat{k}_{\alpha-t-1})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-t-1} \hat{k}_j} + 2^{t-\alpha-1} \right) \\ &> \frac{1}{\prod_{j=u-t}^{\alpha-t-1}} (1 + 1 + 2 + \dots + 2^{\alpha-t-2} - 2^{\alpha-t-1}) = 0. \end{split}$$

Finally, for  $k = \hat{k}$ , we obtain  $(k - \hat{k}).v = 0.v = 0$ , for any  $k \in L'_{\alpha}$  and putting this all together we have  $(k - \hat{k}).v < 0$  and for all  $k \in L_{\alpha}/L'_{\alpha}$  we have  $(k - \hat{k}).v \ge 0$ , as required.

**LEMMA 6.9.** Given an  $\alpha$  length divisor path set for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\{\hat{i},\hat{j}\} = \{ (i_1,\ldots,i_\alpha = n), (j_1,\ldots,j_\alpha) \}$$

then the first half of the lattice points can be described as

$$M'_{\alpha} = \bigcup_{u=0}^{\alpha-1} T_u$$

where

$$T_0 = \left\{ (m_0, m_1, \dots, m_{\alpha-1}) \mid 1 \le m_0 \le i_1, \ 1 \le m_1 \le \frac{i_2}{i_1}, \ \dots, 1 \le m_{\alpha-1} \le \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{n}{i_{\alpha-1}} - 1 \right) \right\},$$
  
and for  $1 \le u \le \alpha - 2$ ,

$$T_u = \left\{ (m_0, m_1, \dots, m_{\alpha-1}) \mid 1 \le m_0 \le i_1, \ 1 \le m_1 \le \frac{i_2}{i_1}, \dots \\ \dots, 1 \le m_{\alpha-1-u} \le \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{i_{\alpha-u}}{i_{\alpha-1-u}} - 1 \right), m_{\alpha-u} = \hat{m}_{\alpha-u}, \dots, m_{\alpha-1} = \hat{m}_{\alpha-1} \right\}$$

and

$$T_{\alpha-1} = \left\{ (m_0, m_1, \dots, m_{\alpha-1}) \mid 1 \le m_0 \le \frac{1}{2} (i_1 - 1), \ m_1 = \hat{m}_1, \dots, m_{\alpha-1} = \hat{m}_{\alpha-1} \right\}.$$

*Proof.*  $T_0$  gives the first  $\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{n}{i_{\alpha-1}}-1\right)$ ,  $i_{\alpha-1}$  length sets of lattice points which does not include the middle  $i_{\alpha-1}$  length set. Further,  $T_1$  gives the first  $\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{i_{\alpha-1}}{\alpha-2}\right)$ ,  $i_{\alpha-2}$ length set of lattice points within the middle  $i_{\alpha-1}$  set. This holds for all  $u, T_u$  gives the first  $\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{i_{\alpha-u}}{i_{\alpha-u-1}}-1\right)$ ,  $i_{\alpha-u-1}$  length sets of lattice points in the middle  $i_{\alpha-u}$  set. Lastly,  $T_{\alpha}$  gives the middle  $\frac{1}{2}(i_1-1)$  values in the middle  $i_1$  length set of lattice points. So to conclude, when we take the union of all of these points we obtain all the points in the first half of the column.

**LEMMA 6.10.** The set of lattice points  $M'_{\alpha}$  can be described by all the points under a hyperplane in the full  $\alpha$  lattice, with corresponding normal vector defined by

$$d_i = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } i = 0, \\ 2^{i-1} & \text{if } i > 0, \end{cases} \quad and \quad u_i = \frac{d_i}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-1} \hat{m}_j}$$

then

$$M'_{\alpha} = \{ (m_0, m_1, \dots, m_{\alpha-1}) \mid (m - \hat{m}) . u < 0, \ m \in M_{\alpha} \}.$$

*Proof.* Firstly we will show that any  $m \in \bigcup_{u=0}^{\alpha-1} T_u$  will give  $(m - \hat{m}) \cdot u < 0$ , so let us consider any

$$m \in \{ (m_0, \dots, m_{\alpha-1}) \mid 1 \le m_0 \le 2\hat{m}_0 - 1, \dots, 1 \le m_{\alpha-2} \le 2\hat{m}_{\alpha-1} \le \hat{m}_\alpha - 1 \}$$

So for  $0 < u \leq \alpha - 2$ 

$$\frac{2^{u-1}(m_u - \hat{m}_u)}{\prod_{j=u}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} \le \frac{2^{u-1}(2\hat{m}_u - 1 - \hat{m}_u)}{\prod_{j=u}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} = \frac{(\hat{m}_u - 1)}{\hat{m}_u} \frac{2^{u-1}}{\prod_{j=u+1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} < 2^{u-1},$$

for u = 0

$$\frac{m+0-\hat{m}_0}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-2}\hat{m}_j} \le \frac{2\hat{m}_0-1-\hat{m}_0}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-2}\hat{m}_j} = \frac{(m_0-\hat{m}_0)}{\hat{m}_0} \frac{1}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-2}\hat{m}_j} < \frac{1}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-2}\hat{m}_j} \le 1,$$

and for  $u = \alpha - 1$ 

$$2^{\alpha-2}(m_{\alpha-1} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-1}) \le 2^{\alpha-2}(\hat{m}_{\alpha-1} - 1 - \hat{m}_{\alpha-1}) = 2^{\alpha-2}.$$

The we have the inequality

$$(m - \hat{m}).u = \frac{(m_0 - \hat{m}_0)}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha - 2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{(m_1 - \hat{m}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha - 2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{2(m_2 - \hat{m}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha - 2} \hat{m}_j} + \dots + \frac{2^{\alpha - 3}(m_{\alpha - 2} - \hat{m}_{\alpha - 2})}{\prod_{j=\alpha - 2}^{\alpha - 2} \hat{m}_j}$$
$$< 1 + 1 + 2 + \dots + 2^{\alpha - 2} - 2^{\alpha - 2} = 0.$$

Now consider  $1 \le t \le \alpha - 2$  such that

$$m \in \{ (m_0, \dots, m_{\alpha-1}) \mid 1 \le m_0 \le 2\hat{m}_0 - 1, \dots, 1 \le m_{\alpha-t-2} \le 2\hat{m}_{\alpha-t-2} - 1, \\ 1 \le m_{\alpha-t-1} \le \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-1} - 1, \ m_{\alpha-t} = \hat{m}_{\alpha-t}, \ \dots, m_{\alpha-1} = \hat{m}_{\alpha-1} \}$$

$$(m-\hat{m}).u = \frac{(m_0 - \hat{m}_0)}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{(m_1 - \hat{m}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{2(m_2 - \hat{m}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \dots + \frac{2^{\alpha-t-3}(m_{\alpha-t-2} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-2})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-2}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{2^{\alpha-t-2}(m_{\alpha-t-1} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-1})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \dots + 2^{\alpha-2}(m_{\alpha-1} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-1})$$

$$= \frac{(m_0 - \hat{m}_0)}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{(m_1 - \hat{m}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{2(m_2 - \hat{m}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \dots \frac{2^{\alpha-t-3}(m_{\alpha-t-2} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-2})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-2}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{2^{\alpha-t-2}(m_{\alpha-t-1} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-1})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} \left( \frac{(m_0 - \hat{m}_0)}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-t-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{(m_1 - \hat{m}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-t-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{2(m_2 - \hat{m}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-t-2} \hat{m}_j} + \dots \frac{2^{\alpha-t-3}(m_{\alpha-t-2} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-2})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-2}^{\alpha-t-2} \hat{m}_j} + 2^{\alpha-t-2}(m_{\alpha-t-1} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-1}) \right)$$

$$< \frac{1}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} \left( 1 + 1 + 2 + \dots + 2^{\alpha-t-3} - 2^{\alpha-t-2} \right) = 0.$$

Similarly, for

$$m \in \{(m_0, \dots, m_{\alpha-1}) \mid 1 \le m_0 \le \hat{m}_0 - 1, \ m_1 = \hat{m}_1, \ \dots, \ m_{\alpha-1} = \hat{m}_{\alpha-1}\}$$

we have that

$$(m - \hat{m}).u = \frac{\hat{m}_0 - 1 - \hat{m}_0}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha - 2} \hat{m}_j} < 0.$$

We again consider the complimentary set of points not in  $\bigcup_{u=0}^{\alpha-1} T_u$  and deduce that for all those points  $(m - \hat{m}) \cdot u \ge 0$ . We begin with the points not in the set  $T_{\alpha-1}$ denoted by

$$m \in T'_{\alpha-1} = \{ (m_0, \dots, m_{\alpha-1}) \mid \hat{m}_0 + 1 \le m_0 \le 2\hat{m}_0 - 1, m_1 = \hat{m}_1, \dots, m_{\alpha-1} = \hat{m}_{\alpha-1} \},\$$

from which we deduce that

$$(m - \hat{m}).u = \frac{(m_0 - \hat{m}_0)}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha - 2} \hat{m}_j} \ge \frac{\hat{m}_0 + 1 - \hat{m}_0}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha - 2} \hat{m}_j} = \frac{1}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha - 2} \hat{m}_j} > 0.$$

For the set  $T_u$  for  $0 \le u \le \alpha - 2$  we denote its complimentary set by

$$T'_{u} = \{ (m_{0}, \dots, m_{\alpha-1}) \mid 1 \le m_{0} \le 2\hat{m}_{0} - 1, \dots, 1 \le m_{\alpha-u-2} \le 2\hat{m}_{\alpha-u-2} - 1, \\ \hat{m}_{\alpha-u-1} + 1 \le m_{\alpha-u-1} \le 2\hat{m}_{\alpha-u-1} - 1, \ m_{\alpha-u} = \hat{m}_{\alpha-u}, \dots, m_{\alpha-1} = \hat{m}_{\alpha-1} \}$$

We then calculate

$$\begin{split} (m-\hat{m}).u &= \frac{(m_0 - \hat{m}_0)}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{(m_1 - \hat{m}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{2(m_2 - \hat{m}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \dots \frac{2^{\alpha-t-3}(m_{\alpha-t-2} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-2})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-2}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} \\ &+ \frac{2^{\alpha-t-2}(m_{\alpha-t-1} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-1})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{2^{\alpha-t-1}(m_{\alpha-t} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \dots + 2^{\alpha-2}(m_{\alpha-1} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-1}) \\ &= \frac{(m_0 - \hat{m}_0)}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{(m_1 - \hat{m}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{2(m_2 - \hat{m}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \dots \frac{2^{\alpha-t-3}(m_{\alpha-t-2} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-2})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-2}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} \\ &+ \frac{2^{\alpha-t-2}(m_{\alpha-t-1} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-1})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} \end{split}$$

$$= \frac{(m_0 - \hat{m}_0)}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{(m_1 - \hat{m}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{2(m_2 - \hat{m}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \dots \frac{2^{\alpha-t-3}(m_{\alpha-t-2} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-2})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-2}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{2^{\alpha-t-2}(m_{\alpha-t-1} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-1})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \frac{1}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} \left( \frac{(m_0 - \hat{m}_0)}{\prod_{j=0}^{\alpha-t-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{(m_1 - \hat{m}_1)}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-t-2} \hat{m}_j} + \frac{2(m_2 - \hat{m}_2)}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-t-2} \hat{m}_j} + \dots \frac{2^{\alpha-t-3}(m_{\alpha-t-2} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-2})}{\prod_{j=\alpha-t-2}^{\alpha-t-2} \hat{m}_j} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{\prod_{j=\alpha-u-1}^{\alpha-t-2} \hat{m}_j} \left( \underbrace{\frac{(1 - \hat{m}_0)}{\hat{m}_0} \frac{1}{\prod_{j=1}^{\alpha-u-2} \hat{m}_j}}_{>-1} + \underbrace{\frac{(1 - \hat{m}_1)}{\hat{m}_1} \frac{1}{\prod_{j=2}^{\alpha-u-2}}}_{>-1} + \underbrace{\frac{(1 - \hat{m}_2)}{\hat{m}_2} \frac{2}{\prod_{j=3}^{\alpha-u-2} \hat{m}_j}}_{>-2} \right) \\ &\dots + \underbrace{2^{\alpha-u-3} \frac{1 - \hat{m}_{\alpha-u-2}}{\hat{m}_{\alpha-u-2}}}_{>-2^{\alpha-u-3}} + \underbrace{2^{\alpha-t-2}(m_{\alpha-t-1} - \hat{m}_{\alpha-t-1})}_{\geq 2^{\alpha-t-2}} \right) \\ &< \frac{1}{\prod_{j=\alpha-u-1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} \left( -1 - 1 - 2 - \dots - 2^{\alpha-t-3} + 2^{\alpha-t-2} \right) = \frac{1}{\prod_{j=\alpha-u-1}^{\alpha-2} \hat{m}_j} (0) = 0 \end{split}$$

Finally, for  $m = \hat{m}$  we have  $(m - \hat{m}).u = (0).u = 0$ , therefore for any  $m \in M_{\alpha}/M'_{\alpha}$  we have that  $(m - \hat{m}).u \ge 0$ , as required.

**Definition.** A parasymmetric inclusive or non-inclusive sum-and-distance system is defined to be one that satisfies,

$$\{a,b\} = \{a,\lambda a\},\$$

for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{Z}$  and |a| = |b|.

**THEOREM 6.11.** Let  $n = q^{\gamma}$  be odd, where  $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then any parasymmetric sum-and-distance system is given by Lemma 6.6 with the corresponding divisor path set

$$\{\hat{i},\hat{j}\} = \{(q^w, q^{2w}, \dots, q^{vw}), (q^w, q^{2w}, \dots, q^{vw})\}$$

such that  $w|\gamma$ ,  $vw = \gamma$  and  $\lambda = j_1 = i_1$ .

*Proof.* To show that a sum-and-distance is parasymmetric if and only if its divisor path has the following structure

$$\{\hat{i},\hat{j}\} = \{(q^w, q^{2w}, \dots, q^{vw}), (q^w, q^{2w}, \dots, q^{vw})\}$$

we must show that if  $\lambda a = b$  then it will indeed have the above structure. Given

that within the first row and column the parts b and a can be found, i.e.

$$\lambda \tilde{a} = \lambda (r - b_k - w) = \lambda \{Ja, 0, -a\} = c - a_k - w = \{Jb, 0, -b\} = \lambda \tilde{b}$$

we have that when the corresponding lattice points are substituted into the explicit formula for the first row and column, the same values will be obtained.

For the midpoints  $k = (\hat{k}_0, \hat{k}_1, \dots, \hat{k}_\alpha)$  and  $m = (\hat{m}_0, \hat{m}_1, \dots, \hat{m}_{\alpha-1})$  we know from the preceding results that both the values will be equal to 0, and similarly for the point to the immediate left of the midpoint, which will have lattice co-ordinates

$$k = (\hat{k}_0 - 1, \hat{k}_1, \dots, \hat{k}_{\alpha}), \text{ and } m = (\hat{m}_0 - 1, \hat{m}_1, \dots, \hat{m}_{\alpha-1})$$

which when substituted in to the equations for the first row and column give

$$\lambda \left( (k_0 - 1) - \frac{1}{2} (j_1 - 1) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (i_u j_u) \left( (k_u - 1) - \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} - 1 \right) \right) \right)$$
$$= \left( j_1((m_0 - 1) - \frac{1}{2} (i_1 - 1)) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha - 1} (i_u j_u) \left( \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} \right) \left( (m_u - 1) - \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{i_{u+1}}{i_u} - 1 \right) \right) \right)$$

Rearranging and simplifying we obtain,

$$\begin{split} \lambda \left( (k_0 - \hat{k}) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (i_u j_u) \left( k_u - \hat{k}_u \right) \right) &= \left( j_1 (m_0 - \hat{m}_0) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha-1} (i_u j_u) \left( \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} \right) (m_u - \hat{m}_u) \right) \\ \lambda \left( (\hat{k} - 1 - \hat{k}) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (i_u j_u) \left( \hat{k}_u - \hat{k}_u \right) \right) &= \left( j_1 (\hat{m}_0 - 1 - \hat{m}_0) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha-1} (i_u j_u) \left( \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} \right) (\hat{m}_u - \hat{m}_u) \right) \\ \lambda \left( (\hat{k} - 1 - \hat{k}) \right) &= (j_1 (\hat{m}_0 - 1 - \hat{m}_0)) \\ \lambda = j_1. \end{split}$$

Hence we have the equality

$$j_1\tilde{a} = j_1(k_0 - \hat{k}_0) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} j_1(i_u j_u)(k_u - \hat{k}_u) = j_1(m_0 - \hat{m}) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha-1} \frac{j_{u+1}}{u}(i_u j_u)(m_u - \hat{m}_u) = \tilde{b}.$$

For the base case we will show that  $i_1 = j_1$  and  $\frac{j_2}{j_1} = j_1$ , so w.l.o.g. let us assume that  $i_1 > j_1$  so that  $i_1 \ge j_1 + 2$ . We can then say that the middle  $j_1$  sequence in the first row is smaller then the middle  $i_1$  sequence in the first column. It follows that the  $\hat{k}_0 th$  entry from the middle of the  $i_1$  sequence is at the same positioned entry in  $j_1\tilde{a} = \tilde{b}$  as the last entry of the first  $j_1$  sequence to the left of the middle  $j_1$  sequence, due to  $i_1 > j_1$ . Hence the lattice co-ordinates

$$k = (j_1, \hat{k}_1 - 1, \hat{k}_2, \dots, \hat{k}_{\alpha}), \text{ and } m = (\hat{m}_0 - \hat{k}_0, \hat{m}_1, \dots, \hat{m}_{\alpha-1})$$

give the same entry, and

$$j_1 \tilde{a} = j_1 (j_1 - \hat{k}_0) + j_1 (i_1 j_1) (\hat{k}_1 - 1 - \hat{k}_1) + \sum_{u=2}^{\alpha} j_1 (i_u j_u) (\hat{k}_u - \hat{k}_u)$$
  
=  $j_1 (\hat{m}_0 - \hat{k}_0 - \hat{m}_0) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha-1} \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} (i_u j_u) (\hat{m}_u - \hat{m}_u) = \tilde{b}.$ 

Hence

$$j_1(j_1 - \hat{k}_0) - j_1(i_1j_1) = -j_1\hat{k}_0,$$

and therefore

$$i_1 = 1,$$

which is impossible as by definition  $i_1 \neq 1$  so that  $i_1 \geq 3$ .

Similarly, say  $j_1 > i_1$ , then  $j_1 \ge i_1 + 2$  the middle  $j_1$  sequence in  $j_1\tilde{a}$  is longer than the middle  $i_1$  sequence in  $\tilde{b}$ , so the  $\hat{m}_1$  entry from the middle point will be in the middle  $j_1$  sequence. Now the same positioned entry is the last entry in the next  $i_1$ length sequence to the left of the middle  $i_1$  length sequence in  $\tilde{b}$ , and so the lattice co-ordinates

$$k = (\hat{k}_0 - \hat{m}_0, \ \hat{k}_1, \dots, \hat{k}_{\alpha}), \text{ and } m = (i_1, \ \hat{m}_1 - 1, \ \hat{m}_2, \ \dots, \ \hat{m}_{\alpha-1})$$

give the same entry

$$j_1 \tilde{a} = j_1 (\hat{k}_0 - \hat{m}_0 - \hat{k}_0) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} j_1 (i_u j_u) (\hat{k}_u - \hat{k}_u)$$
$$= j_1 (i_1 - \hat{m}_0) + \frac{j_2}{j_1} (i_1 j_1) (\hat{m}_1 - 1 - \hat{m}_1) + \sum_{u=2}^{\alpha - 1} = \tilde{b},$$

which rearranging gives,

$$-j_1\hat{m}_0 = j_1i_1j_1\hat{m}_0 - \frac{j_2}{j_1}(i_1j_1)$$
$$j_1 = j_2.$$

However, by definition  $j_2 > j_1$  so from this contradiction we conclude that  $i_1 = j_1$ .

As  $i_1 = j_1$  the entries at

$$k = (\hat{k}_0, \ \hat{k}_1 - 1, \ \hat{k}_2, \ \dots, \ \hat{k}_{\alpha})$$
 and  $m = (\hat{m}_0, \ \hat{m}_1 - 1, \ \dots, \ \hat{m}_{\alpha-1})$ 

in  $j_1\tilde{a} = \tilde{b}$  are equal regardless of the size of  $i_2$  or  $j_2$  as both are at least 3. We then

have the equality

$$j_1(\hat{k}_0 - \hat{k}_0) + j_1(i_1j_1)(\hat{k}_1 - 1 - \hat{k}_1) + \sum_{u=2}^{\alpha} j_1(i_uj_u)(\hat{k}_u - \hat{k}_u)$$
$$= j_1(\hat{m}_0 - \hat{m}_0) + \frac{j_2}{j_1}(i_1j_1)(\hat{m}_1 - 1 - \hat{m}_1) + \sum_{u=2}\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}(\hat{m}_u - \hat{m}_u)$$

which by rearranging gives

$$-j_1(i_1j_1) = -\frac{j_2}{j_1}(i_1j_1)$$
$$j_1 = \frac{j_2}{j_1}.$$

Inductively assuming that for all  $u \leq w$ ,  $1 \leq w \leq \alpha$  that  $i_u = j_u$  and  $\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}$  then we need only show that  $j_{w+1} = i_{w+1}$  and  $\frac{j_{w+2}}{j_{w+1}} = j_1$ .

If  $i_{w+1} > j_{w+1}$ , then  $i_{w+1} \ge j_{w+2}$ , and similarly for the argument when  $i_1 > j_1$ , from which we deduce that the two lattice co-ordinates

$$k = (j_1, \frac{j_2}{j_1}, \dots, \frac{j_w}{j_{w-1}}, \frac{j_{w+1}}{j_w}, \hat{k}_{w+1} - 1, \hat{k}_{w+2}, \dots, \hat{k}_{\alpha}), \text{ and}$$
$$m = (i_1, \frac{i_2}{i_1}, \dots, \frac{i_w}{i_{w+1}}, \hat{m}_w - \hat{k}_w, \hat{m}_{w+1}, w + 2, \dots, \hat{m}_{\alpha-1})$$

give the same entries in  $j_1 \tilde{a} = \tilde{b}$ , with the resulting equality

$$j_{1}(j_{1}-\hat{k}_{0}) + \sum_{u=1}^{w-1} j_{1}(i_{u}j_{u}) \left(\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_{u}} - \hat{k}_{u}\right) + j_{1}(i_{w}j_{w}) \left(\frac{j_{w+1}}{j_{w}} - \hat{k}_{w}\right) + j_{1}(i_{w+1}j_{w+1})(\hat{k}_{w+1}-1-\hat{k}_{w+1}) + \sum_{u=w+2}^{\alpha} j_{1}(i_{u}j_{u})(\hat{k}_{u} - \hat{k}_{u}) = 0$$

$$= j_{1}(i_{1} - \hat{m}_{1}) + \sum_{u=1}^{w+1} \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_{u}}(i_{u}j_{u}) \left(\frac{i_{u+1}}{i_{u}} - \hat{m}_{u}\right) + \frac{j_{w+1}}{j_{w}}(i_{w}j_{w})(\hat{m}_{w} - \hat{k}_{w} - \hat{m}_{w}) + \sum_{u=w+2}^{\alpha-1} \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_{u}}(i_{u}j_{u})(\hat{m}_{u} - \hat{m}_{u}).$$

So as  $i_u = j_u$  and  $\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}$  for  $u \le w$  then

$$j_1(j_1 - \hat{k}_0) + \sum_{u=1}^{w-1} j_1(i_u j_u) \left(\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} - \hat{k}_u\right) = j_1(i_1 - \hat{m}_1) + \sum_{u=1}^{w+1} \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u}(i_u j_u) \left(\frac{i_{u+1}}{i_u} - \hat{m}_u\right)$$

and so

$$j_1(i_w j_w) \left(\frac{j_{w+1}}{j_w} - \hat{k}_w\right) - j_1(i_{w+1} j_{w+1}) = -\frac{j_{w+1}}{j_w}(i_w j_w)\hat{k}_w.$$

From our assumption  $i_w = j_w$  and  $\frac{j_{w+1}}{j_w} = j_1$  we thus obtain

$$j_1^2 j_w^2 - j_1 j_w^2 \hat{k}_w - j_1 (i_{w+1} j_{w+1}) = -j_1 j_w^2 \hat{k}_w,$$

and rearranging we have

$$j_{1}j_{w}^{2} = j_{1}i_{w+1}j_{w+1}$$
$$\frac{j_{w+1}}{j_{w}}j_{w}^{2} = i_{w+1}j_{w+1}$$
$$i_{w} = j_{w} = i_{w+1}$$

which is impossible as  $i_w < i_{w+1}$ .

Similarly for  $j_{w+1} > i_{w+1}$  we have that  $j_{w+1} \ge i_{w+1} + 2$  from which we deduce that for the lattice co-ordinates

$$k = (j_1, \frac{j_2}{j_1}, \dots, \frac{j_w}{j_{w-1}}, \hat{k}_w - \hat{m}_w, \hat{k}_{w+1}, \dots, \hat{k}_{\alpha-1}, \hat{k}_\alpha) \text{ and}$$
$$m = (i_1, \frac{i_2}{i_1}, \dots, \frac{i_w}{i_{w-1}}, \frac{i_{w+1}}{i_w}, \hat{m}_k - 1, \hat{m}_{w+2}, \dots, \hat{m}_{\alpha-1})$$

which gives the equality

$$j_{1}(j_{1} - \hat{k}_{0}) + \sum_{u=1}^{w-1} j_{1}(i_{u}j_{u}) \left(\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_{u}} - \hat{k}_{u}\right) + j_{1}(i_{w}j_{w})(\hat{k}_{w} - \hat{m}_{w} - \hat{k}_{w})$$

$$+ \underbrace{\sum_{u=w+1}^{\alpha} j_{1}(i_{u}j_{u})(\hat{k}_{u} - \hat{k}_{u})}_{=0}$$

$$= j_{1}(i_{1} - \hat{m}_{0}) + \sum_{u=1}^{w-1} \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_{u}} \left(\frac{i_{u+1}}{i_{u}} - \hat{m}_{u}\right) + \frac{j_{w+1}}{j_{w}}(i_{w}j_{w}) \left(\frac{i_{w+1}}{i_{w}} - \hat{m}_{w}\right)$$

$$+ \underbrace{\frac{j_{w+2}}{j_{w+1}}(i_{w+1}j_{w+1})(\hat{m}_{w+1} - 1 - \hat{m}_{w+1})}_{=0} + \underbrace{\sum_{u=w+2}^{\alpha-1} \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_{u}}(i_{u}j_{u})(\hat{m}_{u} - \hat{m}_{u})}_{=0}.$$

With  $i_w = j_w$  and  $\frac{j_{w+1}}{j_w}$  this becomes

$$j_1^2 j_w^2 - j_1 j_w^2 \hat{k}_w - j_1 (i_{w+1} j_{w+1}) = -j_1 j_w^2 \hat{k}_w$$
which rearranges to

$$j_{1}^{2} j_{w}^{2} = j_{1} i_{w+1} j_{w+1}$$
$$\frac{j_{w+1}}{j_{w}} j_{w}^{2} = i_{w+1} j_{w+1}$$
$$i_{w} = j_{w} = i_{w+1},$$

which again is impossible as  $j_{w+1} < j_{w+2}$ . Therefore to conclude we must have  $i_{w+1} = j_{w+1}$ .

As a final step we need to show that  $\frac{j_{w+2}}{j_{w+1}} = j_1$ , similarly to when we deduced that  $\frac{j_2}{j_1} = j_1$ . Now as  $i_u = j_u$  for all  $u \le w+1$  then we have that the lattice co-ordinates

$$k = (\hat{k}_0, \ \hat{k}_1, \ \dots, \hat{k}_w, \ \hat{k}_{w+1} - 1, \ \hat{k}_{w+2}, \dots, \hat{k}_\alpha)$$
$$m = (\hat{m}_0, \ \hat{m}_1, \ \dots, \hat{m}_w, \ \hat{m}_{w+1} - 1, \ \hat{m}_{w+2}, \dots, \hat{m}_{\alpha-1})$$

)

give the same entry in  $j_1 \tilde{a} = \tilde{b}$ , which when substituted and simplified gives

$$-j_1(i_{w+1}j_{w+1}) = -\frac{j_{w+2}}{j_{w+1}}(i_{w+1}j_{w+1})$$
$$j_1 = \frac{j_{w+2}}{j_{w+1}}.$$

Therefore for all  $1 \le u \le \alpha - 1$  (where it can be deduced that  $j_{\alpha} = i_{\alpha} = n$  as the sum for  $\tilde{b}$  can be extended to include  $i_{\alpha} = n$ ) we have that

$$i_u = j_u$$
 and  $\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} = j_1$ .

To conclude if  $\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} = j_1$  for all u then  $j_2 = j_1^2$ ,  $j_3 = j_1^3$ , ...,  $j_u = j_1^u$ , and eventually  $j_1^{\alpha} = n$ , so that  $j_1 = \lambda$ .

Conversely, say  $\{\hat{i}, \hat{j}\} = \{(q^w, q^{2w}, \dots, q^{vw} = n)(q^w, q^{2w}, \dots, q^{vw} = n)\}$ . Then for any  $0 \leq u \leq \alpha - 1$ , we have  $\frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} = q^w = j_1$ . Also the lattice sets for the first row and column are equal so that  $M_\alpha = L_\alpha = \{(m_0, m_1, \dots, m_{\alpha-1}, 1) = (k_0, k_1, \dots, k_{\alpha-1}, 1)|1 \leq m_0, k_0 \leq q^w, 1 \leq m_1, k_1 \leq q^w, \dots, 1 \leq m_{\alpha-1}, k_{\alpha-1} \leq k_1 \leq q^w, \dots, 1 \leq k_1 \leq q^w$   $q^w, 1 \le k_\alpha \le 1$ . Hence we can write the equality

$$\begin{split} \lambda a &= \lambda \left( (k_0 - \hat{k}) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (i_u j_u) \left( k_u - \hat{k}_u \right) \right) = j_1 \left( (k_0 - \hat{k}) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (i_u j_u) \left( k_u - \hat{k}_u \right) \right) \\ &= q^w \left( (k_0 - \hat{k}) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (i_u j_u) \left( k_u - \hat{k}_u \right) \right) \\ &= \left( q^w (k_0 - \hat{k}) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (i_u j_u) q^w \left( k_u - \hat{k}_u \right) \right) \\ &= \left( q^w (k_0 - \hat{k}) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (i_u j_u) \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} \left( k_u - \hat{k}_u \right) \right) \\ &= \left( q^w (m_0 - \hat{m}) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (i_u j_u) \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} \left( m_u - \hat{m}_u \right) \right) \\ &= \left( j_1 (m_0 - \hat{m}) + \sum_{u=1}^{\alpha} (i_u j_u) \frac{j_{u+1}}{j_u} \left( m_u - \hat{m}_u \right) \right) = b, \end{split}$$

as required.

**Example.** Given from the divisor path set  $(\hat{i}, \hat{j}) = \{(6, 36), (6, 36)\} = \{(6, 6^2), (6, 6^2)\}$  we obtain the corresponding sum-and-distance system,

 $a = \{31, 33, 35, 37, 39, 41, 103, 105, 107, 109, 111, 113, 175, 177, 179, 181, 183, 185\},\$ 

 $b = \{186, 198, 210, 222, 234, 246, 618, 630, 642, 654, 666, 678, 1050, 1062, 1074, 1086, 1098, 1110\}$ so that here b = 6a.

# 7 Most-Perfect Squares and Reversible Squares

To date, there does not exist a simple method to directly construct and enumerate most-perfect squares for a given side length n. However as briefly stated in Chapter 3, there exists a deep connection between most-perfect and reversible squares and in their book [10], Ollerenshaw and Brée develop a bijective mapping between these two types of matrices, which will be described in this chapter.

However using our results in Chapters 3-5, for the enumeration and construction of reversible square matrices, in conjunction with such a bijective mapping, would similarly lead to the enumeration and construction of all most-perfect square matrices.

To this end we now derive a block-representation for all most-perfect square matrices, establishing a bijection with the block representation of reversible square matrices, and hence a new bijective mapping between reversible and most-perfect squares. When the most-perfect square is traditional, so containing the first  $n^2$  consecutive positive integers, we again establish a direct link with sum-and-distance systems.

To begin, let us describe Ollerenshaw and Brée's bijective mapping.

### 7.1 The Most Perfect to Reversible Transform

We recall from Chapter 3 the definition of an  $n \times n$  most-perfect square matrix  $M = (m_{i,j})$ , where n = 2k is even, which say a most-perfect square is a square matrix whose entries satisfy the three symmetry conditions (M), (P), (S), which respectively say that any  $2 \times 2$  array entries within the square sum to 4w and the alternating sum of all the entries of M is zero; any pair of entries  $\frac{1}{2}n$  distant along any diagonal sum to 2w, and that the sum of the entries in any row or column is nw, for some  $w \in \mathbb{R}$ .

By Lemma 3.4 any of these three conditions imply that M has weight w, and additionally if M is *traditional*, so that it contains the set of consecutive integers  $1, 2, \ldots, n$ , then by Corollary 3.3, M has weight  $w = \frac{n^2+1}{2}$ .

**Definition** (of transformation  $T_1$ ). Let n = 2k be even, and let  $R = (r_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  be an even sided reversible squre matrix. We set  $T_1$  to be the transformation of the matrix R, defined stepwise such that

1. First we define an intermediate matrix  $Z = (z)_{i,j}$  such that

$$z_{i,j} = \begin{cases} r_{i,j}, & \text{if } i,j \leq n; \\ r_{i,3k+1-j}, & \text{if } i \leq k, \ j > k; \\ r_{3k+1-i,j}, & \text{if } i > k, \ j \leq k; \\ r_{3k+1-i,3k+1-j}, & \text{if } i,j > k \end{cases}$$

This is essentially the block matrix transform,  $Z = \begin{pmatrix} R_1 & R_2 J_k \\ J_k R_4 & J_k R_3 J_k \end{pmatrix}$ ,

where  $R = \begin{pmatrix} R_1 & R_2 \\ R_3 & R_4 \end{pmatrix}$  and  $J_k$  the anti-diagonal identity matrix.

2. A transform is applied to the indices of the entries of the resulting square which correspond to the entries in the intermediate matrix, such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} i'-1\\j'-1 \end{pmatrix} = T\begin{pmatrix} i-1\\j-1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1&n\\n&n+1 \end{pmatrix}\begin{pmatrix} i-1\\j-1 \end{pmatrix}$$

So the entries  $m_{i,j}$  are in the position (i', j') described above and given by a new matrix  $Q = q_{i',j'} = z_{i,j}[10]$ .

An alternative description of the transform  $T_1$  is given by

- Reverse the right-hand half of each row.
- Reverse the bottom half of each column.
- Apply the indices transform

$$\begin{pmatrix} i'-1\\ j'-1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \frac{n}{2}\\ \frac{n}{2} & \frac{n}{2}+1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} i-1\\ j-1 \end{pmatrix},$$

where i', j' are the new indices of the transformed square.

**Remark.** We note that a traditional square in Ollerenshaw and Brée's book [10] is defined to contain the consecutive integers  $0, 1, \ldots, n^2 - 1$ .

**Example.** Consider a  $4 \times 4$  principal reversible square and let us reverse the right hand half of each row (i.e. swapping the end 2 columns) and then reverse the bottom half of each column (i.e. swapping the bottom 2 rows), to obtain.

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \\ 5 & 6 & 7 & 8 \\ 9 & 10 & 11 & 12 \\ 13 & 14 & 15 & 16 \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 4 & 3 \\ 5 & 6 & 8 & 7 \\ 9 & 10 & 12 & 11 \\ 13 & 14 & 16 & 15 \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 4 & 3 \\ 5 & 6 & 8 & 7 \\ 13 & 14 & 16 & 15 \\ 9 & 10 & 12 & 11 \end{pmatrix}$$

Lastly, applying the indices transform gives,

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 4 & 3 \\ 5 & 6 & 8 & 7 \\ 13 & 14 & 16 & 15 \\ 9 & 10 & 12 & 11 \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 15 & 4 & 14 \\ 8 & 10 & 5 & 11 \\ 13 & 3 & 16 & 2 \\ 12 & 6 & 9 & 7 \end{pmatrix}$$

which can be seen is a most-perfect square.

A detailed proof that this transform is a bijection is given in [10] (see Chapter 3

pp. 33-38) where they show that this transformation leads to a unique most-perfect square.

**LEMMA 7.1.** There exists no most-perfect magic squares of order  $n \equiv 1, 2, 3 \pmod{4}$ .

*Proof.* When  $n \equiv 1, 3 \pmod{4}$  the type P property (strongly pandiagonal) fails as  $2 \nmid n$ . When  $n \equiv 2 \pmod{4}$  we refer the reader to a proof given by C. Planck (see [49] pp.308-309, 1919).

### 7.2 The Most-Perfect Square Block Representation

We recall from Chapter 3 the definition of a most-perfect square matrix whose definition we now restate for clarity.

**Definition.** Let n = 2k be a positive even integer and  $w \in \mathbb{R}$  a constant. Then a square matrix  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is defined to be a *most-perfect square* matrix if it satisfies the *type* M, *type* P and *type* S symmetry properties, defined below.

1. The matrix M is said to be type M if it satisfies the most-perfect property, where the entries of all  $2 \times 2$  sub-arrays within the square matrix sum to 4w, so that

$$m_{i,j} + m_{i,j+1} + m_{i+1,j} + m_{i+1,j+1} = 4w,$$

for all  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ , and the alternating sum property

$$\sum_{i,j\in\mathbb{Z}_n} (-1)^{i+j} m_{i,j} = 0.$$

2. The matrix M is said to be type P if it satisfies the strong pandiagonal property, where the pairs of entries  $\frac{1}{2}n = k$  distance along any diagonal (including broken diagonals) sum to 2w, so that

$$m_{i,j} + m_{i+\frac{1}{2}n, j+\frac{1}{2}n} = 2w, \qquad i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n.$$

3. The matrix M is said to be type S if it satisfies the constant sum property, where the sum of the elements of each row, or column sum to nw, so that

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_n} m_{i,j} = \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_n} m_{j,i} = nw, \qquad i\in\mathbb{Z}_n.$$

By Lemma 3.4, we know that any one of the three symmetry conditions (M), (P), (S), imply that a given matrix has weight w, so that an  $n \times n$  most-perfect square matrix M has weight w, and by Lemma 3.1, that the matrix  $M - wE_n$  has weight zero.

Additionally from Lemma 3.6 we have that if a matrix is type (P) and also satisfies

the  $2 \times 2$  sub-array condition then this implies that the matrix also satisfies the alternating sum condition and so is type (M).

**Definition** (of the set of weightless type M squares  $M_n^0$ ). We define  $M_n^0$  to be the set of all weightless  $n \times n$  type M square matrices, so that for any  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in M_n^0$ , we have that M has weight w = 0, the alternating sum property, and all two-by-two sub-arrays sum to zero, so that

$$m_{i,j} + m_{i+1,j} + m_{i,j+1} + m_{i+1,j+1} = 0.$$

**Definition** (of the vector  $\S_n$ ). We define  $\S_n$  to be the column vector containing alternately signed ones, such that  $\S_n = (1, -1, 1, -1, 1..., \pm 1)^T \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , where the final entry is -1 if n is even and +1 if n is odd.

**LEMMA 7.2.** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , and n = 2k be even. Then the square matrix  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is weightless type M, and so  $M \in \mathrm{M}^0_n$  if and only if

$$u^T M v = 0 \quad (u, v \in \{\S_n\}^\perp),$$

and

$$\S_n^T M \S_n = 0$$

*Proof.* Given that n is even and  $u \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$  then

$$u_1-u_2+u_2\ldots-u_n=0,$$

so we have the following equality

$$u^{T}Mv = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{i}m_{i,1}, \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{i}m_{i,2}, \dots, \sum_{i=1}^{n} u_{i}m_{i,n}\right) \begin{pmatrix} v_{1} \\ \vdots \\ v_{n} \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{i,j}^{n} u_{i}v_{j}m_{i,j}.$$

Considering that as M is of type  $M^0$  it satisfies

$$m_{i,j} + m_{i+1,j} + m_{i+1,j+1} + m_{i,j+1} = 0$$

for all  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ . Taking the column vectors

$$U_i = (0, \dots, 1, 1, 0, \dots, 0)^T, \quad U_j = (0, \dots, \dots, 1, 1, 0, \dots, 0)^T$$

where  $U_i$  has a 1 in entries i and i+1 and  $U_j$  has a 1 in entries j and j+1 we see these are in  $\{\S_n\}^{\perp}$ .

Then we compute

$$U_i M V_j = (m_{i,j} + m_{i+1,k}) + (m_{i+1,j} + m_{i+1,j+1}) = 0.$$

Further, it can be shown that the set of vectors,  $U_i \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$  for all  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n-1\}$  form a basis for the set  $\{\S_n\}^{\perp}$ . So given any u and v in  $\{\S_n\}^{\perp}$  we have

$$u^{T}Mv = (\alpha_{1}U_{1} + \alpha_{2}U_{2} + \dots + \alpha_{n-1}U_{n-1})^{T}M(\beta_{1}U_{1} + \beta_{2}U_{2} + \dots + \beta_{n-1}U_{n-1})$$
$$\sum_{i,j}^{n-1}U_{i}^{T}MU_{j}^{T} = \sum_{i,j}^{n-1}\alpha_{i}\beta_{j}\underbrace{((m_{i,j} + m_{i+1,k}) + (m_{i+1,j} + m_{i+1,j+1}))}_{=0} = 0.$$

For the second condition,

$$\S_n^T M \S_n = (-1)^{i+j} m_{i,j} = 0$$

by definition.

Conversely, considering that  $U_i$  for  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n-1\}$  forms a basis for  $\{\S_n\}^{\perp}$  taking all combinations of i and j in  $\{1, 2, ..., n-1\}$  we obtain

$$0 = U_i M U_j = m_{i,j} + m_{i+1,j} + m_{i+1,j+1} + m_{i,j+1}$$

for all  $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ .

Similarly with

$$0 = \S_n^T M \S_n = \sum_{i,j \in \mathbb{Z}_n} (-1)^{i+j} m_{i,j}.$$

**THEOREM 7.3.** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , and n = 2k be even. Then  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , is a weightless type M matrix if and only if it has block representation

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & a \S_k^T \\ \S_k b^T & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n,$$

with  $Z \in M_K^0$  and  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^k$ .

*Proof.* Given that if M is type  $M^0$  by Lemma 7.2 we can write

$$0 = u^T X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n v$$

where  $u, v \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$  and  $Y, V, W, Z \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ .

Consider now  $u^T X_n$  and  $X_n v$ ,

$$u^T X_n = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{u}_1 \\ \tilde{u}_2 \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{u}_1^T + \tilde{u}_2^T J_k \\ \tilde{u}_1 J_k - \tilde{u}_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \xi_1 \\ \eta_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Similarly,

$$X_n v = \begin{pmatrix} \xi_2 \\ \eta_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

where  $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$  as  $\eta_1 = \tilde{u}_1 - J_k \tilde{u}_2$  and  $\eta_2 = J_k \tilde{u}_1 - \tilde{v}_2$ . Expanding the equation

$$0 = \begin{pmatrix} \xi_1 \\ \eta_1 \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \xi_2 \\ \eta_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

then gives

$$0 = \xi_1^T Y \xi_2 + \xi_1^T V^T \eta_2 + \eta_1^T W \xi_2 + \eta_1^T Z \eta_2.$$

Firstly, if  $\eta_1 = \eta_2 = 0_k \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$  then we have

$$0 = \xi_1^T Y \xi_2 + \xi_1^T \underbrace{V^T \eta_2}_{=0} + \underbrace{\eta_1^T W}_{=0} \xi_2 + \underbrace{\eta_1^T Z \eta_2}_{=0} = \xi_1^T Y \xi_2,$$

which shows  $Y = \hat{0}_k$  as  $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \mathbb{R}^k$ .

Next consider  $\eta_1 = \eta_2 = 0_k$  we obtain

$$0 = \underbrace{\xi_1^T V^T}_{=0} \eta_2 + \eta_1^T \underbrace{W\xi_2}_{=0} + \eta_1^T Z \eta_2$$
$$0 = \eta_1^T Z \eta_2,$$

which implies that Z satisfies the first condition of a type M.

Now separately considering  $\eta_1 = 0_k$  and  $\eta_2 = 0_k$  then we have the two equalities

$$0 = \xi_1^T V^T \eta_2 + \eta_1^T W \xi_2 + \eta_1^T Z \eta_2$$
  

$$0 = \xi_1^T V^T \eta_2$$
  

$$0 = \underbrace{\xi_1^T V^T}_{=0} \eta_2 + \eta_1^T W \xi_2 + \underbrace{\eta_1^T Z}_{=0} \eta_2$$
  

$$0 = \eta_1^T W \xi_2,$$

from which we deduce that

$$\eta_1^T W = 0_k$$
 and  $\eta_2^T V = 0_k$ ,

as  $\eta_1, \eta_2 \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$ . Labelling the columns of W and V as column vectors  $W_i$  and  $V_i$  respectively for  $i \in \{1, 2, \dots k\}$  then it must hold that  $\eta_1^T W_i = 0$  and  $\eta_2^T V_i = 0$  for all i. Hence  $V_i \{\eta_1\}^{\perp} \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp \perp} = \mathbb{R}\S_k$  and similarly for  $W_i \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp \perp} = \mathbb{R}\S_k$ . In

consideration of the second condition of Lemma 7.2 we have

$$0 = \S_n^T M \S_n = \begin{pmatrix} \S_k \\ \S_k \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \S_k \\ \S_k \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \S_k \underbrace{V^T \S_k}_{=0_k} + \underbrace{\S_k^T W}_{=0_k} \S_k + \S_k^T Z \S_k = \S_k^T Z \S_k$$

which demonstrates that the blocks satisfy all of the type M symmetry properties. Conversely, say  $Z \in M_k^0$ ,  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $u, v\{\S_k\}^{\perp}$  then by Lemma 7.2 we have

$$u^{T}X_{n}\begin{pmatrix}\hat{0}_{k} & a\S_{k}^{T}\\ \S_{k}b^{T} & Z\end{pmatrix}X_{n}v = \begin{pmatrix}\xi_{1}\\ \eta_{1}\end{pmatrix}^{T}\begin{pmatrix}\hat{0}_{k} & a\S_{k}^{T}\\ \S_{k}b^{T} & Z\end{pmatrix}\begin{pmatrix}\xi_{2}\\ \eta_{2}\end{pmatrix}$$
$$=\underbrace{\xi_{1}^{T}\S_{k}b^{T}}_{=0_{k}}\xi_{2} + \xi_{1}^{T}\underbrace{a\S_{k}\eta_{2}}_{=0_{k}} + \underbrace{\eta_{1}^{T}Z\eta_{2}}_{=0} = 0.$$

Lastly, consider

$$\begin{split} \S_n^T M \S_k &= \begin{pmatrix} \S_k \\ \S_k \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & a \S_k^T \\ \S_k b^T & Z \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \S_k \\ \S_k \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \S_k^T \S_k b^T \S_k + \S_k^T a \S_k^T \S_k + \S_k^T Z \S_k = 0 \end{split}$$

by Lemma 7.2 as required.

**Definition** (of the set of weightless type P squares  $P_n^0$ ). Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  be even. We define  $P_n^0$  to be the set of all weightless  $n \times n$  type P square matrices, so that for any  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in P_n^0$ , we have that M has weight w = 0 and

$$m_{i,j} + m_{i+\frac{1}{2}n,j+\frac{1}{2}n} = 0, \qquad i,j \in \mathbb{Z}_n.$$

**LEMMA 7.4.** A square matrix  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{2k \times 2k}$  is a weightless pandiagonal type P matrix if and only if

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ -B & -A \end{pmatrix}.$$

*Proof.* By the definition of a weightless pandiagonal square we have the condition,  $m_{i,j} + m_{i+k,j+k} = 0$  for  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_k$  therefore we must have  $m_{i,j} = -m_{i+k,j+k}$  and so we have the structure given. Conversely, given the structure above it satisfies the definition of a pandiagonal square.

**Definition** (of the set of weightless type S squares  $S_n^0$ ). Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We define  $S_n^0$  to be the set of all weightless  $n \times n$  type S square matrices, so that for any

г	
_	_

 $M = (m_{i,j}) \in S_n^0$ , we have that M has weight w = 0, and

$$\sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_n} m_{i,j} = \sum_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_n} m_{j,i} = 0, \qquad i\in\mathbb{Z}_n.$$

**Remark.** We recall from Lemma 3.1 that for  $M = (m_{i,j})$ , an  $n \times n$  matrix with weight w, we can write  $M = M_0 + wE_m$ , where  $M_0$  has weight zero.

**LEMMA 7.5.** Let  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ . Then the square matrix M is type S if and only if

$$1_n^T M u = 0 \text{ and } u^T M 1_n = 0 \ (u \in \{1_n\}^{\perp}).$$

*Proof.* Since  $0 = u^T M \mathbf{1}_n$  for all  $u \in \{\mathbf{1}_n\}^{\perp}$  then  $M \mathbf{1}_n \in \{\mathbf{1}_n\}^{\perp \perp} = \mathbb{R} \mathbf{1}_n$ . Similarly we have  $0 = \mathbf{1}_n^T M u = (u^T M^T \mathbf{1}_n)^T$  then  $M^T \mathbf{1}_n \in \{\mathbf{1}_n\}^{\perp \perp}$ 

So say  $M1_n = \lambda 1_n$  and  $M^T1_n = \lambda' 1_n$  for  $\lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbb{R}$  then we have

$$\lambda 1_n^T 1_n = 1_n^T (\lambda 1_n) = 1_n^T M 1_n = (1_n^T M) 1_n = (M^T 1_n)^T 1_n = (\lambda' 1_n)^T 1_n = \lambda' 1_n^T 1_n$$

and as  $1_n 1_n^T \neq 0$  as  $1_n \neq 0_n$  we have  $\lambda = \lambda'$ . So to conclude we have  $M1_n = M^T 1_n = \lambda 1_n$  where we can set  $\lambda = nw$ .

The converse then follows directly, as say  $M1_n = M^T 1_n = \lambda 1_n$ , then

$$u^T M \mathbf{1}_n = \lambda u^T \mathbf{1}_n = 0,$$
$$\mathbf{1}_n^T M u = \lambda \mathbf{1}_n^T u = 0$$

if  $u \in \{1_n\}^{\perp}$ .

**THEOREM 7.6.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ . Then M is type S if and only if it can be written as the following block representation,

even n = 2k:

$$M = X_n \left( \begin{array}{cc} Y + 2wE_k & V^T \\ W & Z \end{array} \right) X_n$$

with Y a semimagic square with weight 0, matrices V,W have row sum 0 and Z that can be any  $k \times k$  square matrix.

**odd** 2k + 1:

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y + 2wE_k & \sqrt{2}(w1_k - Y1_k) & V^T \\ \sqrt{2}(w1_k - Y^T1_k)^T & w + 21_k^T Y1_k & -\sqrt{2}(V1_k)^T \\ W & -\sqrt{2}W1_k & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

with arbitrary  $V, W, Y, Z \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$  and  $w \in \mathbb{R}$ .

*Proof.* Even case n = 2k: If  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is a type S square with weight w, then we can write

г	-	
L		

$$\begin{aligned} X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y + 2wE_k & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n &= X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n + X_n \begin{pmatrix} 2wE_n & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} X_n \\ &= X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n + wE_n, \end{aligned}$$

and as  $wE_n$  is type S square we need only show that  $X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n$  is a weightless type S square.

Considering the expansion,

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} Y + J_k W & V^T + J_k Z \\ J_k Y - W & J_k V^T - Z \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} Y + J_k W + V^T J_k + J_k Z J_k & Y J_k + J_k - V^T - J_k Z \\ J_k Y - W + J_k V^T J_k - Z J_k & J_k T J_k - W J_k - J_k V^T + Z \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} Y & Y J_k \\ J_k Y & J_k Y J_k \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} J_k W & J_j W J_k \\ -W & -W J_k \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} V^T J_k & -V^T \\ J_k V^T J_k & -J_k V^T \end{pmatrix} \\ &+ \begin{pmatrix} J_k Z J_k & -J_k Z \\ -Z J_k & Z \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}, \end{split}$$

as the sum of any type S square is also a type S square we need only demonstrate that each matrix is type S as the sum is also type S.

We will now use the properties of multiplying a block matrix by the antidiagonal identity matrix  $J_n$ .

If Y is a weightless type S square then  $\begin{pmatrix} Y & YJ_k \\ J_kY & J_kYJ_k \end{pmatrix}$  has row and column 0, therefore is type S. As  $J_kW$  & W and  $J_kWJ_k$  &  $WJ_k$  have the same column entries the sum of the columns in the matrix  $\begin{pmatrix} J_kW & J_kWJ_k \\ -W & -WJ_k \end{pmatrix}$ . The rows have sum zero as the matrix W has row sum zero, therefore the matrix is type S. Similarly,  $V^TJ_k$  &  $V^T$  and  $J_kV^TJ_k$  &  $J_kV^T$  have the same row entries therefore the matrix  $\begin{pmatrix} V^TJ_k & -V^T \\ J_kV^TJ_k & -J_kV^T \end{pmatrix}$  has row sum zero. The columns have sum zero as the matrix  $V^T$  has column sum zero, therefore the matrix is type S. Lastly,  $J_k Z J_k \& J_k Z$  and  $Z J_k \& Z$  have the same row entries and  $J_k Z J_k \& Z J_k$  and  $J_k Z \& Z$  have the same column entries. So the matrix  $\begin{pmatrix} J_k Z J_k & -J_k Z \\ -Z J_k & Z \end{pmatrix}$  has row and column zero and so is type S. Therefore the sum of the these four type S square is also type S.

Now if M is a type S square with weight w, it can be written as

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} A + 2wE_k & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} X_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} X_n + wE_n$$

by Lemma 3.8, the row and column sum of  $X_n \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix} X_n$  equals zero.

Expanding this block representation we have

$$M = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} A + J_k C + BJ_k + J_k DJ_k & AJ_k + J_k CJ_k - B - J_k D \\ J_k A - C + J_k BJ_k - J_k DJ_k & J_k A - CJ_k - J_k B + D \end{pmatrix},$$

and by assuming these properties we will prove A, B, C, D also have the given symmetry properties.

Considering the *column* sums, of the expanded matrix, we have

$$\left(\begin{array}{c}A+J_kC+BJ_k+J_kDJ_k\\J_kA-C+J_kBJ_k-J_kDJ_k\end{array}\right), \quad \left(\begin{array}{c}AJ_k+J_kCJ_k-B-J_kD\\J_kA-CJ_k-J_kB+D\end{array}\right).$$

As the entries in the variations of D ( $J_k D J_k$  and  $J_k D J_k$  or  $J_k D$  and D) have the same column entries with some permutation give sum 0, similarly the variations of C give column sum 0. Hence the column sum depends only on the matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} A+BJ_k & AJ_k-B\\ J_kA+J_kBJ_k & J_kAJ_k-J_kB \end{array}\right).$$

Considering now the row sums of the expanded matrix, we have

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}A+J_kC+BJ_k+J_kDJ_k&AJ_k+J_kCJ_k-B-J_kD\end{array}\right) \text{ and}$$
$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}J_kA-C+J_kBJ_k-J_kDJ_k&J_kA-CJ_k-J_kB+D\end{array}\right).$$

Similarly, due to symmetries in the variations in D and B, their row sums are 0. Hence we need only look at rows

$$\begin{pmatrix} A + J_k C & AJ_k + J_k CJ_k \end{pmatrix}$$
 and  $\begin{pmatrix} J_k A - C & J_k A - CJ_k \end{pmatrix}$ .

With these results we can now establish a contradiction in that if A were not semimagic and-or  $B^T$  and C did not have row sum 0 then the square would not have column and row sum 0 and so would not be a semimagic square. Say the row and column sum for A was non-zero then  $B^T$  and C would have non zero column sum. Similarly if  $B^T$  and or C have non-zero row sum then the row and or column sum will be non-zero, as required.

Odd case n = 2k + 1: We assume that M has the given block representation, by taking any row and column sum as in the even case

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y + 2wE_k & \sqrt{2}(w1_k - Y1_k) & V^T \\ \sqrt{2}(w1_k - Y^T1_k)^T & w + 21_k^T Y1_k & -\sqrt{2}(V1_k)^T \\ W & -\sqrt{2}W1_k & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n.$$

Expanding the block structure then gives us

$$= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} Y + 2wE_k + V^TJ_k + J_kW + J_k & 2(w1_k - Y1_k) - 2J_kW1_k & (Y + 2wE_k)J_k - V^T + J_kWJ_k - J_kZ \\ 2(w1_k - Y^T1_k)^T - 2(V1_k)^TJ_k & 2(w + 21_k^TY1_k) & 2(w1_k - Y^T1_k)^TJ_k + 2(V1_k)^T \\ J_kY + J_k2wE_k + J_kV^TJ_k - W - ZJ_k & 2J_k(w1_k - Y1_k) + 2W1_k & J_k(Y + 2wE_k)J_k - J_kV^T - WJ_k + Z \end{pmatrix},$$

and by taking any row and column sums we can show that they have the same sum nw, and therefore we have that M is a type S square matrix.

Now say we have an odd sided type S square  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  with weight w such that for some  $A, B, C, D \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ ,  $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $e \in \mathbb{R}$  this can be written as,

$$\begin{split} M &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & 0_k & J_k \\ 0_k^T & \sqrt{2} & 0_k^T \\ J_k & 0_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & a & B^T \\ c^T & e & b^T \\ C & d & D \end{pmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & 0_k & J_k \\ 0_k^T & \sqrt{2} & 0_k^T \\ J_k & 0_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} A + J_k C & I_k a + J_k d & B^T + J_k D \\ \sqrt{2}c^T & \sqrt{2}e & \sqrt{2}b^T \\ J_k A - C & J_k a - I_k d & J_k B^T - D \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & 0_k & J_k \\ 0_k^T & \sqrt{2} & 0_k^T \\ J_k & 0_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} A + J_k C + B^T J_k + J_k D J_k & \sqrt{2}I_k a + \sqrt{2}J_k b & AJ_k + J_k C J_k - B^T - J_k D \\ \sqrt{2}c^T I_k + \sqrt{2}b^T J_k & 2e & \sqrt{2}c^T J_k - \sqrt{2}b^T \\ J_k A - C + J_k B^T J_k - D J_k & \sqrt{2}J_k a - \sqrt{2}I_k d & J_k A J_k - C J_k - J_k B^T + D \\ & \ddots \end{pmatrix} \end{split}$$

As the square is type S then the sum of any row or column is nw, so if we consider all columns and rows separately we can deduce the correct conditions of the separate blocks.

The first three columns are given by the first  $n \times k$  block, the *n* length vector and the end  $n \times k$  block,

$$\begin{pmatrix} A + J_k C + B^T + J_k D J_k \\ \sqrt{2}c^T + \sqrt{2}b^T J_k \\ J_k A - C + J_k B^T J_k - D J_k \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}a + \sqrt{2}J_k d \\ 2e \\ \sqrt{2}J_k a - \sqrt{2}d \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} AJ_k + J_k C J_k - B^T - J_k D \\ \sqrt{2}c^T J_k - \sqrt{2}b^T \\ J_k A J_k - C J_k - J_k B^T + D \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then taking sum of the entries in any of these columns by Lemma 3.8 gives the equalities. For the  $n\times k$  blocks

$$2nw = \sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{i,j} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} (J_k C)_{i,j} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} (B^T J_k)_{i,j} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} (J_k D J_k)_{i,j} + \sqrt{2}c_j + \sqrt{2}(b^T J_k)_j$$
$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{k} (J_k A)_{i,j} - \sum_{i=1}^{k} C_{i,j} - \sum_{i=1}^{k} (D J_k)_{i,j} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} (J_k B^T J_k)_{i,j}$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{i,j} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} C_{k+1-i,j} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} B^T_{i,k+1-j} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} D_{k+1-i,k+1-j} + \sqrt{2}c_j + \sqrt{2}b^T_{k+1-j}$$
$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{k+1-i,j} - \sum_{i=1}^{k} C_{i,j} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} B^T_{k+1-i,k+1-j} - \sum_{i=1}^{k} D_{i,k+1-j}$$
$$= 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{i,j} + 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} B^T_{k+1-i,k+1-j} + \sqrt{2}c_j + \sqrt{2}b^T_{k+1-j}$$

where j denotes the fixed column and we have used the properties of the summed entries,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{i,j} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{k+1-i,j}$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} C_{k+1-i,j} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} C_{i,j}$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} B_{i,k+1-j}^{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} B_{k+1-i,k+1-j}^{T}$$
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} D_{k+1-i,k+1-j} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} D_{i,k+1-j}.$$

The middle column sum yields

$$2nw = \sqrt{2}\sum_{i=1}^{k} a_i + \sqrt{2}\sum_{i=1}^{k} d_{k+1-i} + 2e + \sqrt{2}\sum_{i=1}^{k} a_{k+1-i} - \sqrt{2}\sum_{i=1}^{k} d_i$$
$$= 2\sqrt{2}\sum_{i=1}^{k} a_i + 2e.$$

Similarly to the first  $n \times k$  column block, the last  $n \times k$  yields

$$2nw = 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{k+1-i,k+1-j} - 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} B_{i,j}^{T} + \sqrt{2}c_{k+1-j} - \sqrt{2}b_j.$$

Likewise to the column blocks, we consider the three row blocks individually

$$(A + J_k C + B^T J_k + J_k D J_k, \ \sqrt{2}a + \sqrt{2}J_k d, \ A + J_k C J_k - B^T - J_k D),$$
$$(\sqrt{2}c^T + \sqrt{2}b^T J_k, \ 2e, \ \sqrt{2}c^T J_k - \sqrt{2}b^T),$$

$$(J_kA - C + J_kB^TJ_k - DJ_k, \quad \sqrt{2}J_ka - \sqrt{2}d, \quad J_kAJ_k - CJ_k - J_kB^T + D),$$

By fixing any row we obtain the three equations

$$2nw = 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} A_{i,j} + 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} C_{k+1-i,k+1-j} + \sqrt{2}a_i + \sqrt{2}a_i + \sqrt{2}d_{k+1-i}$$
$$2nw = 2\sqrt{2}\sum_{j=1}^{k} c_i + 2e$$
$$2nw = 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} A_{k+1-i,k+1-j} - 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} C_{i,j} + \sqrt{2}a_{k+1-i} - \sqrt{2}d_i$$

We note that as none of the six equations contain any variation of the matrix D, it follows that D must be any arbitrary matrix in  $\mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ .

Continuing, the six equations allow us to deduce the correct conditions,

$$2nw = 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{i,j} + 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} B_{k+1-i,k+1-j}^{T} + \sqrt{2}c_j + \sqrt{2}b_{k+1-j}^{T}$$
(7.1)

$$2wn = 2\sqrt{2}\sum_{i=1}^{\kappa} a_i + 2e \tag{7.2}$$

$$2nw = 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{k+1-i,k+1-j} - 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} B_{i,j}^{T} + \sqrt{2}c_{k+1-j} - \sqrt{2}b_j$$
(7.3)

$$2nw = 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} A_{i,j} + 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} C_{k+1-i,k+1-j} + \sqrt{2}a_i + \sqrt{2}d_{k+1-i}$$
(7.4)

$$2nw = 2\sqrt{2}\sum_{i=1}^{k} c_i + 2e \tag{7.5}$$

$$2nw = 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} A_{k+1-i,k+1-j} - 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} C_{i,j} + \sqrt{2}a_{k+1-i} - \sqrt{2}d_i.$$
 (7.6)

We can equate (7.1) and (7.3) for the columns j and k+1-j respectively, to obtain

$$2\sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{i,j} + 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} B_{k+1-i,k+1-j}^{T} + \sqrt{2}c_j + \sqrt{2}b_{k+1-j}^{T}$$
$$= 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{k+1-i,k+1-j} - 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} B_{i,j}^{T} + \sqrt{2}c_{k+1-j} - \sqrt{2}b_j$$

and as  $\sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{i,j} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{k+1-i,j}$  and  $\sum_{i=1}^{k} B_{k+1-i,k+1-j}^{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} B_{i,k+1-j}^{T}$ ,

$$2\sum_{i=1}^{k} B_{k+1-i,k+1-j}^{T} + \sqrt{2}b_{k+1-j} = -2B_{k+1-i,k+1-j}^{T} - \sqrt{2}b_{k+1-j}$$
$$-\sqrt{2}\sum_{i=1}^{k} B_{k+1-i,k+1-j}^{T} = b_{k+1-j}$$
$$-\sqrt{2}\sum_{i=1}^{k} B_{i,j}^{T} = b_{j},$$

which for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_k$  we can write in the vector form

$$-\sqrt{2}(B1_k)^T = b^T.$$

Similarly, equating (4) and (6) for the rows i and k + 1 - i respectively we obtain

$$2\sum_{j=1}^{k} A_{i,j} + 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} C_{k+1-i,k+1-j} + \sqrt{2}a_i + \sqrt{2}d_{k+1-i}$$

$$= 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} A_{i,k+1-j} - 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} C_{k+1-i,k+1-j} + \sqrt{2}a_i - \sqrt{2}d_{k+1-i}$$
$$4\sum_{j=1}^{k} C_{k+1-i,k+1-j} = -2\sqrt{2}d_{k+1-i}$$
$$-\sqrt{2}\sum_{j=1}^{k} C_{i,j} = d_i$$

which for all  $i \in \mathbb{Z}_k$  we can write as a vector form

$$-\sqrt{2}(C1_k) = d.$$

Further, adding equations (4) and (6) for i and k + 1 - i respectively we obtain

$$4nw = 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} A_{i,j} + 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} C_{k+1-i,k+1-j} + \sqrt{2}d_{k+1-i} + \sqrt{2}a_i + 2\sum_{j=1}^{k} A_{i,k+1-j} - \sum_{j=1}^{k} C_{k+1-i,j} + \sqrt{2}a_i - \sqrt{2}d_{k+1-i}$$

which reduces to give

$$a_i = \sqrt{2} \left( nw - \sum_{j=1}^k A_{i,j} \right).$$

Similarly, adding equations (1) and (3) for i and k+1-i respectively and simplifying gives,

$$c_j = \sqrt{2} \left( nw - \sum_{i=1}^k A_{i,j} \right).$$

Finally, any  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$  can be written in the form

$$A = A_0 + 2wE_k$$

for some  $A_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ . Rewriting as

$$c_{j} = \sqrt{2} \left( nw - \sum_{i=1}^{k} A_{i,j} \right) = \sqrt{2} \left( nw - \left( \sum_{i=1}^{k} (A_{0})_{i,j} + \sum_{i=1}^{k} 2wE_{k} \right) \right)$$
$$= \sqrt{2} \left( nw - \sum_{i=1}^{k} (A_{0})_{i,j} - 2wk \right)$$
$$= \sqrt{2} \left( (2k+1)w - \sum_{i=1}^{k} (A_{0})_{i,j} - 2kw \right)$$
$$= \sqrt{2} \left( w - \sum_{i=1}^{k} (A_{0})_{i,j} \right),$$

this holds for all  $j \in \mathbb{Z}_k$  so it can be written as the vector form

$$c = \sqrt{2}(w1_k - (A_0)^T 1_k).$$

Similarly, for any i we have

$$a_{i} = \sqrt{2} \left( nw - \sum_{j=1}^{k} A_{i,j} \right)$$
  
=  $\sqrt{2} \left( nw - \sum_{j=1}^{k} (A_{0})_{i,j} - 2w \sum_{j=1}^{k} E_{i,j} \right)$   
=  $\sqrt{2} \left( nw - 2kw - \sum_{j=1}^{k} (A_{0})_{i,j} \right)$   
=  $\sqrt{2} \left( w - \sum_{j=1}^{k} (A_{0})_{i,j} \right).$ 

Then for all  $i \in \mathbb{Z}_k$  we again have the vector form

$$a = \sqrt{2}(w1_k - A^0 1_k).$$

Lastly, given that

$$2nw = 2\sqrt{2}\sum_{i=1}^{k}a_i + 2e$$

then for any  $i \in \mathbb{Z}_k$  we have

$$a_i = \sqrt{2} \left( nw - \sum_{j=1}^k A_{i,j} \right)$$

and so

$$e = nw - 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} \left( nw - \sum_{j=1}^{k} A_{i,j} \right)$$
  
=  $nw - 2\sum_{i=1}^{k} nw + 2\sum_{i,j} \left( A_{i,j}^{0} + 2wE_{i,j} \right)$   
=  $nw - 2knw + 2\sum_{i,j} A_{i,j}^{0} + 4wk^{2}$   
=  $w + 2\sum_{i,j} A_{i,j}^{0} = w + 21_{k}^{T} A^{0} 1_{k}.$ 

Hence we conclude that if M is an odd sided type S (semimagic) square then it has the block representation stated.

In the following theorem we consider the block representation of a weightless mostperfect square M of side length n = 2k

**THEOREM 7.7.** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , so that n = 2k is even,  $\S_k = (1, -1, 1, -1, \dots, \pm 1)^T$ , the column vector of length n defined earlier in this chapter, and  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ a weightless type M square, so that w = 0. Then M has the block representation

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & \gamma \S_k^T \\ \S_k \delta^T & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n,$$

where  $\gamma, \delta \in \mathbb{R}^n$  with  $J_k \gamma = (-1)^{k-1} \gamma$ ,  $J_k \delta = (-1)^{k-1} \delta$  and  $Z \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is both type M and type A, so that M satisfies the 2 × 2 array sum, alternating sum and the associated pair sum property  $(m_{i,j} + m_{n+1-i,+n+1-j} = 0)$  conditions.

*Proof.* A most-perfect square is of type M, P and S, so combining the block representation of Theorems 7.3 and 7.6 we find that

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & a \S_k^T \\ \S_k b^T & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

where  $a^T 1_k$ ,  $b^T 1_k$  (as  $a^T \S_k$  and  $b^T \S_k$  has row sum zero) and  $Z \in M_n^0$ . Using the type P block structure given in Lemma 7.4 we see that,

$$X_n \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ -B & -A \end{pmatrix} X_n = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} A + BJ_k - J_k B - J_k AJ_k & A - J_k B - J_k BJ_k + J_k A \\ J_k A + J_k BJ_k + B + AJ_k & J_k AJ_k - J_k B + BJ_k - A \end{pmatrix}.$$

Considering the bottom left and top right blocks we obtain the equalities,

$$J_k(J_kA \pm B \pm J_kBJ_k + AJ_k)J_k = AJ_k \pm J_kBJ_k \pm B + J_kA$$

and therefore  $\S_k a^T = J_k \S_k a^T J_k = \mp \S_k a^T J_k$  and  $\S_k b^T = J_k \S_k b^T J_k = \mp \S_k b^T J_k$ . Hence we deduce that  $a = \pm J_k a$  and  $b = \mp J_k b$ . Lastly, considering the bottom right block we have

$$J_k Z J_k = \frac{1}{2} J_k (J_k A J_k - J_k B + B J_k - A) J_k = \frac{1}{2} (A - B J_k + J_k B - J_k A J_k) = -Z.$$

Now if a matrix  $Z = (z_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$  satisfies  $J_k Z J_k + Z = \hat{0}_n$ , then this means that  $z_{i,j} + z_{n+1-i,+n+1-j} = 0$ ,  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_k$ , and it follows that  $Z \in A_n^0$  is type A with weight zero.

Conversely, let

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & a \S_k^T \\ \S_k b^T & Z \end{pmatrix}$$

where a, b, Z have the properties in the statement of the theorem. Then by Theorems 7.3 and 7.6  $M \in M_n \cap S_n$  and expanding this block representation gives

$$M = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} a\S_k^T J_k + J_k \S_k b^T + J_k Z J_k & -a\S_k^T + J_k \S_k b^T J_k - J_k Z \\ J_k a\S_k^T J_k - \S_k b^T - Z J_k & -J_k a\S_k^T - \S_k b^T J_k + Z \end{pmatrix}$$

which by Lemma 7.4 has the type P (pandiagonal) structure. Therefore we have that the matrix M is of type M, P and S, so  $M \in MPS_n$  and M is a most-perfect square matrix.

**THEOREM 7.8.** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , so that n = 2k is even. Then the square matrix  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is a weightless most-perfect square if and only if

$$M = \gamma \S_n^T + \S_n \delta^T$$

where

(i) for even 
$$k \quad \gamma = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\gamma} \\ -\tilde{\gamma} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \delta = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\delta} \\ -\tilde{\delta} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\gamma}, \tilde{\delta} \in \mathbb{R}^k$$
  
(ii) for odd  $k \quad \gamma = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\gamma} \\ \tilde{\gamma} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \delta = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\delta} \\ \tilde{\delta} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tilde{\gamma}, \tilde{\delta} \in \{1_k\}^\perp$ 

*Proof.* If M is a most-perfect square then  $M \in M_n^0 \cap P_n^0 \cap S_n^0$  and by Lemma 7.2  $\frac{1}{n}M\S_n \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$  (Let us set this as  $\gamma = \frac{1}{n}M\S_n$ ).

Let  $v \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$  then by Lemma 7.2  $u^T(Mv) = 0$  for  $u \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$  and  $Mv \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp\perp} = c\S_n$  for  $c \in \mathbb{R}$ . Here  $c \in \mathbb{R}$  can be represented by a linear form c = f(v) for  $v \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$  such that  $Mv = f(v)\S_n$ . Then by the Riesz Representation Theorem there is a vector  $\delta \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$  such that  $f(v) = \delta^T v$  so that  $Mv = \S_n \delta^T v$ .

Hence any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  can be written in the form  $x = \alpha \S_n + v$  for  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $v \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$ .

$$Mx = M(\alpha \S_n + v) = \alpha M \S_n + Mv = \alpha M \S_n + \S_n \delta^T v = \alpha n\gamma + \S_n \delta^T v$$

$$=\alpha n\gamma + \S_n \delta^T v + \underbrace{\alpha \S_n \delta^T \S_n}_{=0} + \underbrace{\gamma \S_n^T v}_{=0} = (\gamma \S_n^T + \S_n \delta^T)(\alpha \S_n + v) = (\gamma \S_n^T + \S_n \delta^T)x,$$

showing that M has the desired form.

Furthermore, let us write  $\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_1 \\ \gamma_2 \end{pmatrix}$  and  $\delta = \begin{pmatrix} \delta_1 \\ \delta_2 \end{pmatrix}$  with  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \delta_1, \delta_2 \in \mathbb{R}^k$ . Then we have

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_1 \\ \gamma_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \S_k \\ \pm \S_k \end{pmatrix}^T + \begin{pmatrix} \S_k \\ \pm \S_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \delta_1 \\ \delta_2 \end{pmatrix}^T = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_1 \S_k^T + \S_k \delta_1 & \pm \gamma_1 + \S_k \delta_2^T \\ \gamma_2 \S_k^T \pm \S_k \delta_1^T & \pm \gamma_2 \S_k^T \pm \S_k \delta_2^T \end{pmatrix}$$

Using the structure of a type P matrix given in Theorem 7.4, we have

$$(\gamma_1 \pm \gamma_2) \S_k^T + \S_k (\delta_1 \pm \delta_2)^T = \hat{\mathbf{0}}_k.$$

As  $\gamma = \frac{1}{n} M \S_n \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$  by Lemma 7.2 then

$$0 = \S_n^T \gamma = \begin{pmatrix} \S_k \\ \pm \S_k \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_1 \\ \gamma_2 \end{pmatrix} = \S_k^T (\gamma_1 \pm \gamma_2)$$

and it follows that

$$0_k = \S_n^T (\gamma_1 \pm \gamma_2) \S_k + \S_k^T \S_k (\delta_1 = \pm \delta_2) = 0_k + k(\delta_1 \pm \delta_2)$$

implying that  $\delta_1 \mp \delta_2$ . Similarly, applying these calculations to the vector  $\gamma$  we deduce that  $\gamma_1 = \mp \gamma_2$ .

By Lemmas 7.5 and 7.2 we have that  $\S_n^T \mathbb{1}_n = 0$ , and that  $\gamma, \delta \in \{\mathbb{1}_n\}^{\perp}$ , so for even k the conditions are satisfied. For odd k we require the further condition that  $\gamma_1, \delta_1 \in \{\mathbb{1}_k\}^{\perp}$  (are orthogonal to  $\mathbb{1}_k$ ). The converse then follows by Lemmas 7.2, 7.5 and 7.4.

**THEOREM 7.9.** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , so that n = 2k is even and  $\tilde{\gamma} = (\tilde{\gamma}_1, \tilde{\gamma}_2, \dots, \tilde{\gamma}_k)^T$ ,  $\tilde{\delta} = (\tilde{\delta}_1, \tilde{\delta}_2, \dots, \tilde{\delta}_k)^T$ , be two k-dimensional column vectors. Then the square matrix  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is a (weightless) traditional most-perfect square if and only if the sets of absolute values of the vectors  $\tilde{\gamma}, \ \tilde{\delta} \in \mathbb{R}^k$  in the representation

$$2M = \gamma \S_n^T + \S_n \delta^T,$$

with  $\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\gamma} \\ \mp \tilde{\gamma} \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $\delta = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\delta} \\ \mp \tilde{\delta} \end{pmatrix}$  (and if k is odd orthogonal to  $1_k$ ) form a sum-and-distance system, so that  $\{\tilde{\gamma}', \tilde{\delta}'\}$  is a sum-and-distance system with

$$\tilde{\gamma}' = \{ |\tilde{\gamma}_1|, |\tilde{\gamma}_2|, \dots, |\tilde{\gamma}_k| \}, \quad \tilde{\delta}' = \{ |\tilde{\delta}_1|, |\tilde{\delta}_2|, \dots, |\tilde{\delta}_k| \}.$$

*Proof.* We recall that a weightless traditional square has the set if entries

$$\frac{1}{2}\{-(n^2-1), -(n^2-3), \dots, -1, 1, \dots, n^2-3, n^2-1\}$$

Considering the structure of a most-perfect square. Then by Theorem 7.8 (for all n) we can write

$$2M = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\gamma} \\ \mp \tilde{\gamma} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \S_k \\ \pm \S_k \end{pmatrix}^T + \begin{pmatrix} \S_k \\ \pm \S_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\delta} \\ \mp \tilde{\delta} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\gamma} \S_k^T + \S_k \tilde{\delta}^T & \tilde{\gamma} \S_k \mp \S_k \tilde{\delta}^T \\ \mp \tilde{\gamma} \S_k^T \pm \S_k \tilde{\delta}^T & -\tilde{\gamma} \S_k^T - \S_k \tilde{\delta} \end{pmatrix}.$$

For even k, the set of all entries in these quadrants give

$$\{-(n^{2}-1), -(n^{2}-3) \dots, -1, 1, \dots, n^{2}-3, n^{2}-1\}$$

$$= \{(-1)^{j}\tilde{\gamma}_{i} + (-1)^{i}\tilde{\delta}, (-1)^{j+1}\tilde{\gamma}_{i} + (-1)^{i}\tilde{\delta}, (-1)^{j+1}\tilde{\gamma}_{i} + (-1)^{i+1}\tilde{\delta}, (-1)^{j}\tilde{\gamma}_{i} + (-1)^{i+1}\tilde{\delta} \mid i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_{k}\}$$

$$= \{\pm (-1)^{j}\tilde{\gamma}_{i} \pm (-1)^{i}\tilde{\delta}_{i} \mid i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_{k}\} = \{\pm \tilde{\gamma}_{i} \pm \tilde{\delta} \mid i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_{k}\}$$

which by definition implies that the sets of absolute values form a sum-and-distance system.

For odd k we have the representation

$$2M = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\gamma} \S_k^T + \S_k \tilde{\delta}^T & -\tilde{\gamma} \S_k + \S_k \tilde{\delta}^T \\ \tilde{\gamma} \S_k^T - \S_k \tilde{\delta}^T & -\tilde{\gamma} \S_k^T - \S_k \tilde{\delta} \end{pmatrix}$$

which similarly gives the same set as above and so again the sets of absolute values form a sum-and-distance system.

Conversely, it can be shown by a simple calculation,

$$\{(-1)^{j}\tilde{\gamma}_{i}+(-1)^{i}\tilde{\delta}, (-1)^{j+1}\tilde{\gamma}_{i}+(-1)^{i}\tilde{\delta}, (-1)^{j+1}\tilde{\gamma}_{i}+(-1)^{i+1}\tilde{\delta}, (-1)^{j}\tilde{\gamma}_{i}+(-1)^{i+1}\tilde{\delta} \mid i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_{k}\}$$
$$=\{-(n^{2}-1), -(n^{2}-3), \dots, -1, 1, n^{2}-3, \dots, n^{2}-1\}$$

and therefore the square matrix M is a weightless traditional most-perfect square, as required.

It follows from Theorems 4.1 and 7.9 that a sum-and-distance system can be found from the vectors used in the representations of each type of square. We will now use this connection to describe a new bijective mapping between the two sets of  $n \times n$ traditional most-perfect squares and  $n \times n$  traditional reversible squares.

**THEOREM 7.10.** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , so that n = 2k is even. Then there exists a (new) one-to-one mapping between the set of all  $n \times n$  traditional reversible square matrices and the set of all  $n \times n$  traditional most-perfect square matrices.

*Proof.* Let  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^k$  such that the sets of their absolute values form a sum-anddistance system, and let  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  be  $n \times n$  matrices constructed from the two vectors a, b, according to Theorems 4.1 and 7.9. Then  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  are respectively an  $n \times n$  (weightless) traditional reversible square matrix and an  $n \times n$  (weightless) most-perfect square matrix. Conversely, by Theorems 3.13 and 7.8, writing

$$M_1 = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 1_k a^T \\ b 1_k^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n, \quad 2M_2 = \tilde{a}^T \S_n + \S_n^T \tilde{b}$$

where  $\tilde{a} = \begin{pmatrix} a \\ \mp a \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $\tilde{b} = \begin{pmatrix} b \\ \mp b \end{pmatrix}$  and  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^k$ . It follows that any vectors a, b that give a traditional reversible square in its block representation  $M_1$  will also give a most-perfect square when substituted into the representation of  $M_2$ . Hence, each distinct pair of vectors uniquely define both an  $n \times n$  reversible square matrix and an  $n \times n$  most perfect square matrix. Hence there exists a bijection between the two sets of  $n \times n$  reversible and most perfect square matrices.

**Remark.** Combining our understanding of the construction of sum-and-distance systems (detailed in Chapter 6) with the legitimate transform vector changes (detailed in Chapter 4) means that we are now able to construct all  $n \times n$  traditional most-perfect squares for any given even side length n = 2k.

# 8 Algebras of Matrices with Symmetric Properties

In this section we consider our families of  $n \times n$  matrices, defined by their symmetry properties, in terms of  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -graded algebras (also known as *superalgebras*), which have a decomposition into an 'even' subalgebra and an 'odd' complementary part which is a bimodule over the 'even' subalgebra and squares into it.

We use the convention of calling a direct sum  $\Xi \oplus H$ , where  $\Xi$ , H are vector subspaces of  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , a  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -graded algebra if the first direct summand  $\Xi$  is the 'even' subalgebra and the second direct summand H is the 'odd' complement, i.e. if

 $\Xi\Xi\subset\Xi,\qquad \mathrm{H}\Xi\subset\mathrm{H},\qquad \Xi\mathrm{H}\subset\mathrm{H},\qquad \mathrm{H}\mathrm{H}\subset\Xi.$ 

The following statements follow immediately from this definition. **LEMMA 8.1.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

- (a) If  $\Xi \oplus H \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is a  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -graded algebra and  $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is a matrix algebra, then  $(\Xi \cap \Gamma) \oplus (H \cap \Gamma)$  is a  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -graded algebra.
- (b) If  $\Xi \oplus H, \Xi' \oplus H' \subset \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  are  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -graded algebras, then  $(\Xi \cap \Xi') \oplus (H \cap H')$  is a  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -graded algebra.

So far we have focused on the matrix symmetry type spaces  $(R_n, V_n, \hat{V}_n, M_n, P_n$ and  $S_n$ ), for the matrix symmetry types (R, V,  $\hat{V}$ , M, P and S).

To complement the  $M_n$  subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , in the following definition we introduce the matrix symmetry type N, and respective vector space  $N_n \subset \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ .

**Definition.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then we define a matrix  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  to be type N, if it has the consecutive row and column alternating sum property

$$\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_n} (-1)^i (m_{i,j} + m_{i,j+1}) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_n} (-1)^i (m_{j,i} + m_{j+1,i}) = 0 \quad (j \in \mathbb{Z}_n).$$

We denote by  $N_n$ , the space of all  $n \times n$  type N matrices, so that

$$N_n = \{ M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n} \mid M \text{ has property (N).} \}$$

**LEMMA 8.2.** Let n = 2k be even, then a square matrix  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is a type N if and only if it satisfies,

$$\S_n^T M u = u^T M \S_n = 0.$$

*Proof.* Let the vector  $v_k$  contain 1 in entries k and k + 1 and 0 elsewhere. The vectors  $v_k$  for  $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n - 1\}$  form a basis for the set of vectors  $u \in \{\S_n\}^{\perp}$ , so given any  $u = \alpha_1 v_1 + \alpha_2 v_2 + ... + \alpha_{n-1} v_{n-1}$  and we may write

$$0 = u^T M \S_n = (\alpha_1 v_1 + \alpha_2 v_2 + \ldots + \alpha_{n-1} v_{n-1})^T M \S_n$$
  
=  $\alpha_1 v_1^T M \S_n + \alpha_2 v_2^T M \S_n + \ldots + \alpha_{n-1} v_{n-1}^T M \S_n,$ 

where  $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{R}$  for all  $k \in \{1, 2, \dots, n-1\}$ . Now say that all  $\alpha_k = 0$  for all but  $j \in \{1, 2, \dots, n-1\}$  we then have

$$0 = \alpha_j v_j^T M \S_n = \alpha_j \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_n} (-1)^{i-1} (m_{j,i} + m_{j+1,i}) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_n} (-1)^i (m_{j,i} + m_{j+1,i}),$$

similarly for

$$0 = \alpha_j \S_n^T M v_j = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_n} (-1)^i (m_{i,j} + m_{i,j+1}).$$

Conversely, if M is type N then for all of the basis vectors  $v_j$  we have

$$v_j^T M \S_n = -\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_n} (-1)^i (m_{j,i} + m_{j+1,i}) = 0.$$

Similarly,

$$\S_n^T M v_j = -\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}_n} (m_{i,j} + m_{i,j+1}) = 0$$

as required.

	н
_	

As one of the central results of this chapter, we shall obtain the following symmetry superalgebras.

#### **THEOREM 8.3.** Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

(a) The following are  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -graded algebras,

 $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n} = S_n \oplus V_n$ , if n is even, then also  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n} = N_n \oplus M_n$ .

(b) The space of type R square matrices  $R_n$ , is a subalgebra of  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , so that  $R_n R_n \subset R_n \subset \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ .

To help us prove these results we first need to establish some algebraic results.

**LEMMA 8.4.** The conjugation between matrices and  $X_n$  is an algebra isomorphism and so has the following properties;

1.

$$X_n(\alpha M + N)X_n = \alpha X_n M X_n + X_n N X_n \quad (\alpha \in \mathbb{R}, \ M, N \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}),$$

2.

$$X_n(MN)X_n = X_nMX_nX_nNX_n \quad (M, N \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n})$$

3.

$$X_n(X_nM_nX_n)X_n = M_n.$$

Further, the transpose conjugation of  $X_n$  and M is the conjugation of the transpose of M,

$$(X_n M X_n)^T = X_n M^T X_n \quad (m \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}).$$

*Proof.* These properties follow directly from the properties of  $X_n$  such that,

$$X_n X_n = I_n$$
 and  $X_n = X_n^T$ .

		_	

**LEMMA 8.5.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n / \{0_n\}$ . Then  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  satisfies

$$y^T M u = u^T M y = 0 \quad (u \in \{y\}^{\perp})$$

(where  $\{y\}^{\perp}$  is the orthogonal set of vectors to y) if and only if there is some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ such that  $My = M^T y = \lambda y$ .

*Proof.* Since  $0 = u^T M y$  for all  $u \in \{y\}^{\perp}$  then  $M y \in \{y\}^{\perp \perp} = \mathbb{R} y$ . Similarly we have  $0 = y^T M u = (u^T M^T y)^T$  then  $M^T y \in \{y\}^{\perp \perp}$ 

So say  $My = \lambda y$  and  $M^T y = \lambda' y$  for  $\lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbb{R}$  then we have

$$\lambda y^T y = y^T (\lambda y) = y^T M y = (y^T M) y = (M^T y)^T y = (\lambda' y)^T y = \lambda' y^T y$$

and as  $yy^T \neq 0$  as  $y \neq 0_n$  we have  $\lambda = \lambda'$ . So to conclude we have  $My = M^T y = \lambda y$ .

The converse falls out directly, as say  $My = M^T y = \lambda y$ , then

$$u^T M y = \lambda u^T y = 0$$

and

$$y^T M u = \lambda y^T u = 0$$

if  $u \in \{y\}^{\perp}$ .

**Definition.** A matrix  $P \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$  is a *projector* matrix if and only if it is symmetrical and idempotent  $(P = PP^T = P^2)$ .

**Remark.** We use the following square projector matrix  $P = (y^T y)^{-1} y y^T$  for some  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$P^{2} = (y^{T}y)^{-1}yy^{T}(y^{T}y)^{-1}yy^{T} = (y^{T}y)^{-1}(y^{T}y)^{-1}yy^{T}yy^{T} = (y^{T}y)^{-1}(y^{T}y)^{-1}y(y^{T}y)y^{T} = P,$$

$$P^{T} = ((y^{T}y)^{-1}yy^{T})^{T} = (yy^{T})^{T}(y^{T}y)^{-1} = (y^{T}y)^{-1}yy^{T} = P$$

These square matrices can then be generalised by the following two defined sets which depend on a choice of vector  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

**Definition** (of  $W_{y,n}$ ). Let any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n / \{0_n\}$  and  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ . Then we denote by  $W_{y,n}$ , the set of all  $n \times n$  matrices M that satisfy

$$y^T M u = 0$$
 and  $u^T M y = 0$   $(u \in \{y\}^{\perp})$ .

**Definition** (of  $X_{y,n}$ ). Let any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n / \{0_n\}$  and  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ . Then we denote by  $X_{y,n}$ , the set of all  $n \times n$  matrices M that satisfy

$$y^T M y = 0$$
 and  $u^T M v = 0$   $(u, v \in \{y\}^{\perp}).$ 

**Example.** The set of all type  $S_n$  matrices can be defined as  $W_{1_n,n}$ , similarly the set of all type  $V_n$  matrices is denoted by  $X_{1_n,n}$ .

**THEOREM 8.6.** Let  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n / \{0_n\}$ , then the sets  $W_{y,n}$  and  $X_{y,n}$  span  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , so that,

$$W_{y,n} \oplus X_{y,n} = \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$$
.

*Proof.* Let  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ . We now show that M can be decomposed into the sum of two matrices, one from  $W_{y,n}$ , and the other from  $X_{y,n}$ . Consider the projector matrix  $P = (y^T y)^{-1} y y^T$ , and write

$$M = (PMP + (I - P)M(I - P)) + (PM(I - P) + (I - P)MP),$$

where we set

$$M_1 = PMP + (I - P)M(I - P)$$
 and  $M_2 = PM(I - P) + (I - P)MP$ .

Now let  $u \in \{y\}^{\perp}$ , so that

$$u^{T}M_{1}y = u^{T}PMPy + u^{T}(I-P)M(I-P)y$$
  
=  $\underbrace{(Pu)^{T}}_{=0_{n}^{T}}MPy + ((I-P)u)^{T}M\underbrace{(I-P)y}_{=0_{n}} = 0,$   
 $y^{T}M_{1}u = y^{T}PMPu + y^{T}(I-P)M(I-P)u$   
=  $(Py)^{T}M\underbrace{Pu}_{=0_{n}} + \underbrace{((I-P)y)^{T}}_{=0_{n}^{T}}M(I-P)u = 0$ 

so  $M_1 \in W_{y,n}$ .

Similarly,

$$y^T M_2 y = (Pu)^T M \underbrace{(I-P)y}_{=0_n} + \underbrace{((I-P)y)^T}_{=0_n^T} MPy,$$

$$u^{T} M_{2} v = \underbrace{(Pu)^{T}}_{=0_{n}^{T}} M(I-P)v + ((I-P)u)^{T} M \underbrace{Pv}_{=0_{n}} = 0$$

so  $M_2 \in X_{y,n}$ .

**THEOREM 8.7.** We have that  $W_{y,n} \oplus X_{y,n} = \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , form a superalgebra, with  $X_{y,n}$  the odd part, that squares into  $W_{y,n}$  the even subalgebra, so that

$$W_{y,n}W_{y,n} \subset W_{y,n}, \ X_{y,n}X_{y,n} \subset W_{y,n}, \ W_{y,n}X_{y,n} \subset X_{y,n}, \ W_{y,n}X_{y,n} \subset X_{y,n}.$$

*Proof.* Let P the projector matrix  $P = (y^T y)^{-1} y y^T$ . Then for  $W_1, W_2 \in W_{y,n}$  and  $u \in \{y\}^{\perp}$ 

$$y^{T}W_{1}W_{2}u = y^{T}W_{1}\underbrace{PW_{2}u}_{0_{n}} + \underbrace{y^{T}W_{1}(I_{n} - P)}_{0_{n}}W_{2}u = 0,$$
$$u^{T}W_{1}W_{2}y = \underbrace{u^{T}W_{1}P}_{=0_{n}}W_{2}y^{T} + u^{T}W_{1}\underbrace{(I_{n} - P)W_{2}y}_{0_{n}} = 0$$

so that  $W_1W_2 \in W_{y,n}$ . Similarly for  $X_1, X_2 \in X_{y,n}$  and  $u \in \{u\}^{\perp}$ . Hence

$$y^{T}X_{1}X_{2}u = y^{T}X_{1}\underbrace{PX_{2}u}_{=0_{n}} + \underbrace{y^{T}X_{1}(I_{n} - P)}_{0_{n}}X_{2}u = 0,$$
$$u^{T}X_{1}X_{2}y = \underbrace{u^{T}X_{1}P}_{0_{n}}X_{2}y + u^{T}X_{1}\underbrace{(I_{n} - P)X_{2}y}_{0_{n}} = 0,$$

and it follows that  $X_1X_2 \in W_{y,n}$ .

Now let  $W_1 \in W_{y,n}$ ,  $X_1 \in X_{y,n}$  and  $u, v \in \{y\}^{\perp}$  Then

$$y^{T}W_{1}X_{1}y = y^{T}W_{1}\underbrace{PX_{1}y}_{0_{n}} + \underbrace{y^{T}W_{1}(I_{n} - P)}_{0_{n}}X_{1}y = 0,$$
$$u^{T}W_{1}X_{1}v = u^{T}W_{1}\underbrace{PX_{1}v}_{=0_{n}} + u^{T}W_{1}\underbrace{(I_{n} - P)X_{1}v}_{=0_{n}} = 0$$

and it follows that  $W_1X_1 \in X_{y,n}$ .

Lastly, we take  $W_1 \in W_{y,n}$ ,  $X_1 \in X_{y,n}$  and  $u, v \in \{y\}^{\perp}$ ,

$$y^{T}X_{1}W_{1}y = \underbrace{y^{T}X_{1}P}_{0_{n}}W_{2}y + y^{T}X_{1}\underbrace{(I_{n} - P)W_{1}y}_{=0_{n}} = 0,$$
$$u^{T}X_{1}W_{1}v = u^{T}X_{1}\underbrace{PW_{1}v}_{0_{n}} + \underbrace{u^{T}X_{1}(I_{n} - P)}_{0_{n}}W_{1}v = 0$$

so that  $X_1W_1 \in X_{y,n}$ . Therefore,  $W_{y,n} \oplus X_{y,n} = \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , form a superalgebra, with  $X_{y,n}$  the odd part, and  $W_{y,n}$  the even subalgebra as required.  $\Box$ 

## 8.1 The Superlagebras $S_n \oplus V_n$ and $N_n \oplus M_n$

**THEOREM 8.8.** The two sets of all  $n \times n$  type S and type V matrices, respectively  $S_n$  and  $V_n$ , form a superalgebra such that

$$S_n \oplus V_n = W_{1_n,n} \oplus X_{1_n,n} = \mathbb{R}^{n \times n},$$

with

$$S_n S_n \subset S_n, \quad V_n V_n \subset S_n, \quad S_n V_n \subset V_n, \quad V_n S_n \subset V_n,$$

so that  $V_n$  is the odd part, which squares into  $S_n$ , the even subalgebra.

*Proof.* By Lemmas 3.11 and 7.5 the set of type S and type V matrices can respectively be written in the form  $W_{y,n}$  and  $X_{y,n}$ , with  $y = 1_n$ . By Theorem 8.7 it then follows that  $S_n \oplus V_n = W_{1_n,n} \oplus X_{1_n,n} = \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , form a superalgebra, with  $V_n$  the odd part, and  $S_n$  the even subalgebra, as required.

**THEOREM 8.9.** Let  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , so that n = 2k is even. Then the two sets of all  $n \times n$  type N and type M matrices, respectively  $N_n$  and  $M_n$ , form a superalgebra such that

$$N_n \oplus M_n = W_{\S_n, n} \oplus X_{\S_n, n} = \mathbb{R}^{n \times n},$$

with

 $N_n N_n \subset N_n, \quad M_n M_n \subset N_n, \quad M_n N_n \subset M_n, \quad N_n M_n \subset M_n,$ 

so that  $M_n$  is the odd part, which squares into  $N_n$ , the even subalgebra.

*Proof.* By Lemmas 7.2 and 8.2 the set of type N and type M matrices can respectively be written in the form  $W_{y,n}$  and  $X_{y,n}$ , with  $y = \S_n$ . By Theorem 8.7 it then follows that  $N_n \oplus M_n = W_{\S_n,n} \oplus X_{\S_n,n} = \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , form a superalgebra, with  $M_n$  the odd part, and  $N_n$  the even subalgebra, as required.

### 8.2 The Type R Matrix Algebra $R_n$

**THEOREM 8.10.** The set of all  $n \times n$  type R matrices  $R_n$  is a subalgebra of the matrix algebra  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , so that for  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have  $R_n \subset \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , and  $R_n R_n \subset R_n$ .

*Proof.* Let  $M_1, M_2 \in R_n$ , be two type R  $n \times n$  matrices. Then

$$M_1 M_2 = X_n N_1 X_n X_n N_2 X_n = X_n N_1 N_2 X_n,$$

so we need only show that  $N_1N_2$  has the same block representation found in Theorem 3.10.

For even n = 2k let  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \mathbb{R}, x_1, x_2, z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $Z_1, Z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ , so that

$$M_{1}M_{2} = X_{n} \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{1}E_{k} & 1_{k}z_{1}^{T} \\ x_{1}1_{k}^{T} & Z_{1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{2}E_{k} & 1_{k}z_{2}^{T} \\ x_{2}1_{k}^{T} & Z_{2} \end{pmatrix} X_{n}$$
$$= X_{n} \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{1}E_{k}\gamma_{2}E_{k} + 1_{k}z_{1}^{T}x_{2}1_{k}^{T} & \gamma_{1}E_{k}1_{k}z_{2}^{T} + 1_{k}z_{1}^{T}Z_{2} \\ x_{1}1_{k}^{T}\gamma_{2}E_{k} + Z_{1}x_{2}1_{k}^{T} & x_{1}1_{k}^{T}z_{2}^{T} + Z_{1}Z_{2} \end{pmatrix} X_{n}$$
$$= X_{n} \begin{pmatrix} (k\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2} + z_{1}^{T}x_{2})E_{k} & 1_{k}(k\gamma_{1}z_{2}^{T} + z_{1}^{T}Z_{2}) \\ (k\gamma_{2}x_{1} + Z_{1}x_{2})1_{k}^{T} & kx_{1}z_{2}^{T} + Z_{1}Z_{2} \end{pmatrix} X_{n}.$$

Similarly, for odd n = 2k + 1, we have

$$X_{n} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}\gamma_{1}E_{k} & \gamma_{1}1_{k} & \sqrt{2}1_{k}z_{1}^{T} \\ \gamma_{1}1_{k}^{T} & \frac{\gamma_{1}}{\sqrt{2}} & z_{1}^{T} \\ \sqrt{2}x_{1}1_{k}^{T} & x_{1} & Z_{1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{2}\gamma_{2}E_{k} & \gamma_{2}1_{k} & \sqrt{2}1_{k}z_{2}^{T} \\ \gamma_{2}1_{k}^{T} & \frac{\gamma_{2}}{\sqrt{2}} & z_{2}^{T} \\ \sqrt{2}x_{2}1_{k}^{T} & x_{2} & Z_{2} \end{pmatrix} X_{n}$$

$$= X_{n} \begin{pmatrix} (n\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2} + 2z_{1}^{T}x_{2})E_{k} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(n\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2} + 2z_{1}^{T}x_{2}) & 1_{k}(n\gamma_{1}z_{2}^{T} + \sqrt{2}z_{1}Z_{2}) \\ \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(n\gamma_{1}\gamma_{1} + 2z_{1}^{T}x_{2})1_{k}^{T} & \frac{1}{2}(n\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2} + 2z_{1}^{T}x_{2}) & n\gamma_{1}z_{2}^{T} + \sqrt{2}z_{1}Z_{2} \\ (n\gamma_{2}x_{1} + \sqrt{2}z_{1}x_{2})1_{k}^{T} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(n\gamma_{2}x_{1} + \sqrt{2}z_{1}x_{2}) & nx_{1}z_{2}^{T} + Z_{1}Z_{2} \end{pmatrix} X_{n}.$$

From the block representations of the space  $R_n$ , it then follows that  $R_n$  is a subalgebra of the matrix algebra  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ , as required.

# 9 Quadratic Forms from Type A Matrices

In this chapter we consider matrices with the type A symmetry property, deducing their block representation, eigenvalue characteristics and the construction of a two-sided eigenvector matrix, from which we establish a connection to quadratic forms.

## 9.1 The Type A Block Representation

We begin by restating the type A condition.

**Definition.** A matrix  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n_1 \times n_2}$  is said to be associated, or type A, if satisfied the associated symmetry condition

$$m_{i,j} + m_{(n+1-i),(n+1-j)} = 2w \quad \forall i \in \mathbb{Z}_{n_1}, \text{ and } \forall j \in \mathbb{Z}_{n_2},$$

so that by the definition of matrix weight (stated in Chapter 3), M has weight w.

By Lemma 3.1 it follows that if  $n_1 = n_2 = n$  say, so that M is a type A square matrix, then  $M - wE_n$  is a type A matrix with weight zero.

**Definition** (of weightless type A squares  $A_n^0$ ). Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We define  $A_n^0$  to be the set of all weightless  $n \times n$  type A square matrices, so that for any  $M = (m_{i,j}) \in A_n^0$ , we have that M has weight w = 0 and

$$m_{i,j} + m_{(n+1-i),(n+1-j)} = 0, \qquad i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n.$$

**LEMMA 9.1.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and let M be an  $n \times n$  weightless type A matrix  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ . Then M has the block representation

$$M = \left(\begin{array}{cc} R & S \\ -J_k S J_k & -J_k R J_k \end{array}\right)$$

when n = 2k is even, and

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} S & s & R \\ -rJ_k & 0 & r \\ -J_kRJ_k & -J_ks & -J_kSJ_k \end{pmatrix}$$

when n = 2k + 1 is odd, where  $S, R \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$  and  $s, r \in \mathbb{R}^k$ .

*Proof.* It follows from the type A property that any associated pair of cells must sum to 0, so that  $m_{i,j} + m_{n+1-i,n+1-j} = 0$  for any  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_n$ , so we can write  $m_{i,j} = -m_{n+1-i,n+1-j}$  and hence M has the block structure stated.  $\square$ **Remark.** It follows that if  $M \in A_n^0$  then  $J_n M J_n = -M$ . **THEOREM 9.2** (Weightless type A block representation). A matrix  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ is an element of  $A_n^0$  if an only if

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0} & D \\ C & \hat{0} \end{pmatrix} X_n,$$

where  $C, D \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$  and both the top left and bottom right  $\hat{0} = 0_{k \times k}$ , when n = 2k is even, and where  $C \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times (k+1)}$  and the top left  $\hat{0}$  has the same size,  $D \in \mathbb{R}^{(k+1) \times k}$ , when n = 2k + 1 is odd.

*Proof.* Let  $M \in A_n^0$ . Then by Lemma 9.1 we can write

$$M = \left(\begin{array}{cc} R & S \\ -J_k S J_k & -J_k R J_k \end{array}\right)$$

for some  $S, R \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$ . Multiplying the left and right hand side by  $X_n$  and expanding the block representation then yields

$$\begin{aligned} X_n M X_n &= X_n \begin{pmatrix} R & S \\ -J_k S J_k & -J_k R J_k \end{pmatrix} X_n \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} R & S \\ -J_k S J_k & -J_k R J_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} R - S J_k & S - R J_k \\ J_k + J_k R + J_k S J_k & J_k S + J_k R J_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & 2R J_k - 2S \\ 2J_k R + J_k S J_k & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0} & R J_k - S \\ J_k R + J_k S J_k & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix}, \end{aligned}$$

and setting  $D = RJ_k - S$ ,  $C = J_kR + J_kSJ_k$  we then have the desired block representation.

Conversely, let us take the block structure and expand

$$X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & D \\ C & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & D \\ C & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} J_k C & D \\ -C & J_k D \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} J_k C + DJ_k & J_k CJ_k - D \\ -C + J_k DJ_k & -CJ_k - J_k D \end{pmatrix}$$

Then we have

$$J_kC + DJ_k = -J_k(-CJ_k - J_kDJ_k)J_k$$
$$J_kCJ_k - D = -J_k(-C + J_kDJ_k)J_k$$

and by Lemma 9.1 the structure of this square is that of a weightless type A.

When n = 2k + 1 is odd, we begin with

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & v & B \\ -w^T J_k & 0 & w^T \\ -J_k B J_k & -J_k v & -J_k A J_k \end{pmatrix}$$

with  $A, B \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$  and  $w, v \in \mathbb{R}^k$ . Then multiplying the left and right hand side by  $X_n$  and expanding the block representation we have

$$\begin{aligned} X_n M X_n &= X_n \begin{pmatrix} A & v & B \\ -w^T J_k & 0 & w^T \\ -J_k B J_k & -J_k v & -J_k A J_k \end{pmatrix} X_n \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & 0_k & J_k \\ 0_k^T & \sqrt{2} & 0_k^T \\ J_k & 0_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & v & B \\ -w^T J_k & 0 & w^T \\ -J_k B J_k & -J_k v & -J_k A J_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & 0_k & J_k \\ 0_k^T & \sqrt{2} & 0_k^T \\ J_k & 0_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} A - B J_k & 0_k & B - A J_k \\ -\sqrt{2} w J_k & 0 & \sqrt{2} w^T \\ J_k A + J_k B J_k & 2J_k v & J_k B + J_k A J_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & 0_k & J_k \\ 0_k^T & \sqrt{2} & 0_k^T \\ J_k & 0_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \\ &= \begin{pmatrix} A - B J_k & 0_k & A J_k - B \\ \sqrt{2} w^T J_k & 0 & \sqrt{2} w^T \\ J_k A + J_k B J_k & J_k v & J_k A J_k + J_k B \end{pmatrix} \end{aligned}$$

where

$$A - BJ_k = J_k(J_kAJ_k + J_kB)J_k,$$
$$AJ_k - B = J_k(J_kA + J_kBJ_k)J_k,$$

which is of the desired form.

The converse follows similarly as in the even-dimensional case.

# 9.2 Eigenvalues of the square of a type $A \cap S$ Square

**THEOREM 9.3.** Let n = 2k,  $V, W \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$  and

$$M_0 = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & V^T \\ W & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

be a weightless associated magic square (i.e, type A and S) and for  $w \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ , let  $M_w := M_0 + wE_n$ . Then  $M_w^2$  has the same non-zero eigenvalues (including multiplicities) as  $M_0^2$ , with w-independent eigenvectors, and additional eigenvalue  $n^2w^2$ . Moreover,

$$rkM_w^2 = rkM_0^2 + I_n.$$

*Proof.* As  $M_0$  is weightless and semimagic we have  $M_0E_n = E_nM_0 = \hat{0}_n$ , then

$$M_w^2 = (M_0 + wE_n)^2 = M_0^2 + w(M_0E_n + E_nM_0) + w^2E_n^2$$
$$= M_0^2 + nw^2E_n.$$

Let us assume that we have a non-zero eigenvalue  $\lambda \neq 0$  of the block representation of  $M_0^2 = (X_n N_0 X_n)^2$ , (which as  $X_n$  is has the same eigenvalues as  $(X_n (X_n M_0 X_n) X_n)^2 = M_0^2$ ), so there is a vector

$$v = \begin{pmatrix} v_1 \\ v_2 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^n \setminus \{0_n\},$$

such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} V^T W & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & W V^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} v_1 \\ v_2 \end{pmatrix} = \lambda \begin{pmatrix} v_1 \\ v_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then  $V^T W v_1 = \lambda v_1$  so  $v_1 \in range(V^T)$  and so we can write  $\mathbf{1}_k^T v_1 = 0$  (i.e. we can say that  $v_1$  is some linear combination of the columns of  $V^T$ ). Following this,  $E_k v_1 = 0_k$ , and considering the block representation of  $M_w^2$  we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} V^T W + 4kw^2 E_k & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & WV^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} v_1 \\ v_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda v_1 + 0_k \\ \lambda v_2 \end{pmatrix} = \lambda \begin{pmatrix} v_1 \\ v_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

which shows that  $\lambda$  is also an eigenvalue of  $M_w^2$ . Moreover, using the fact that  $W1_k = 0_k$  we can see that

$$\begin{pmatrix} V^T W + 4kw^2 E_k & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & WV^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1_k \\ 0_k \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} V^T W 1_k + 4k^2 w^2 E_k 1_k \\ 0_k \end{pmatrix} = 4k^2 w^2 \begin{pmatrix} 1_k \\ 0_k \end{pmatrix},$$

so we have that  $4k^2w^2$  is an additional eigenvalue of  $M_w^2$ .

Conversely, if  $\lambda$  is an eigenvalue of  $M_w^2$ , so we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} V^T W + 4kw^2 E_k & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & WV^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} v_1 \\ v_2 \end{pmatrix} = \lambda \begin{pmatrix} v_1 \\ v_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Hence we can write  $v_1 = \alpha \mathbf{1}_k + z$  where  $z \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $z^T \mathbf{1}_k = 0$  (i.e. the entries sum to 0) and expanding and simplifying gives

$$\begin{aligned} (V^T W + 4kw^2 E_k)(\alpha 1_k + z) &= \alpha \underbrace{V^T W 1_k}_{0_k} + V^T W z + 4kw^2 \alpha E_k 1_k + \underbrace{4kw^2 E_k z}_{0_k} \end{aligned}$$
$$= V^T W z + 4k^2 w^2 \alpha 1_k = \lambda(\alpha 1_k + z). \end{aligned}$$

Now  $V^T W z$  is orthogonal to  $1_k$  as  $z^T 1_k = 0$  and we have

$$V^T W z = \lambda z, \quad \lambda \alpha = 4k^2 w^2 \alpha.$$

Concluding it follows that  $\lambda = 4k^2w^2$  unless  $\alpha = 0$  and  $\lambda$  is an eigenvalue of  $M_0^2$  unless  $z = w_2 = 1_k$ .

**Definition** (of a parasymmetric matrix). We call an associated magic square (type S and A) matrix M parasymmetric if its square  $M^2$  is symmetric. In terms of the block representation, parasymmetry can be characterised by the two blocks of M both having rank 1.

**LEMMA 9.4.** Let  $V, W \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$  be rank 1 matrices with row sum 0, and let M have the usual type A and S block representation so that

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & V^T \\ W & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n.$$

If  $M^2 \neq \hat{0}_n^2$ , then M is parasymmetric if and only if W is a multiple of V.

*Proof.* We can write  $V = uv^T$ ,  $W = xy^T$  with non-null vectors  $u, v, x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n \{0_k\}$  so that  $V^T = vu^T$  and  $W^T = yx^T$ . Now if  $V^T W$  is symmetric then

$$(u^T x)vy^T = V^T W = W^T V = (x^T u)yv^T,$$

so we either have  $u^T x = 0$  or  $vy^T = yv^T$ . Now by taking the latter case and multiplying by y on the right we obtain

$$(vy^T)y = (yv^T)y$$
  
 $v(yy^T) = y(v^Ty)$ 

and setting  $yy^T = \lambda_1$  and  $v^T y = \lambda_2$  with  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{R}$  we see that v and y are linearly dependent. Similarly if  $WV^T$  is symmetric, the either  $v^T y = 0$  or u and v are linearly dependent.

Now if  $ux^T = 0$  the we also have  $yv^T = 0$  as if not then u and x would be linearly dependent which they cannot be simultaneously as orthogonal ( $u^T x = 0$ ) and both u, v are non-zero vectors. Hence we obtain

$$M_0^2 = X_n \begin{pmatrix} V^T W & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & W V^T \end{pmatrix} X_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} (u^T x) v y^T & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & (y^T v) x u^T \end{pmatrix} X_n$$
$$= X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = \hat{0}_n.$$

So we can conclude that if u and x, and v and y are linearly dependent then

$$x = \lambda_1 u, \qquad y = \lambda_2 v$$

for  $\lambda_1 \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ . So we have  $V = vu^T$  and  $W = yx^T = \lambda_2 v(\lambda_1 u)^T = \lambda_1 \lambda_2 vu^T = \lambda V$ , as required.

The converse can be found to be true trivially by substitution,

$$(M_0^2)^T = \left( X_n \begin{pmatrix} \lambda V^T V & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0} & \lambda V V^T \end{pmatrix} X_n \right)^T$$
$$= X_n \begin{pmatrix} (\lambda V^T V)^T & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0} & (\lambda V V^T)^T \end{pmatrix} X_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \lambda V^T V & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0} & \lambda V V^T \end{pmatrix} X_n = M_0^2.$$

**THEOREM 9.5.** Let  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  be a weightless associated magic square (type S and A). Then when n = 2k is even we have

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & vu^T \\ xy^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

with rank 1 block components  $V = uv^T$ ,  $W = xy^T$ , and  $M^2$  has eigenvalues 0 and  $(u^Tx)(y^Tv) = Tr(V^TW)$ . We note that if V, W have integer entries, then the eigenvalues of  $M^2$  are integers.

*Proof.* For  $N \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  and as  $X_n$  is unitary the eigenvalues of  $M = X_n N X_n$  and N are always identical. Now consider the block representation of  $M_0^2$  such that

$$N = X_n M_0^2 X_n = \begin{pmatrix} V^T W & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & W V^T \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} (u^T x) v y^T & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & (y^T v) x u^T \end{pmatrix}$$

By the laws of determinants of block representation we have (see [6])

$$0 = \det(N - \lambda I_n) = \det\left(\begin{pmatrix} V^T W - \lambda I_k & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & W V^T - \lambda I_k \end{pmatrix}\right)$$
$$= \det(V^T W - \lambda I_k) \det(W V^T - \lambda I_k).$$

Hence the eigenvalues of N (and so  $M_0^2$ ) are the eigenvalues of both  $V^T W$  and  $WV^T$ .

Now when  $u^T x = y^T v = 0$  then  $V^T W = W V^T = \hat{0}_k$ , so the matrix only has the zero eigenvalue.
For  $u^T = 0$  and  $y^T v \neq 0$  we have the k multiplicities of the eigenvalue 0 from

$$V^T W = (u^T x) v y^T = \hat{0}_k$$

and as  $WV^T$  is non-zero and rank 1 it has at least k - 1 multiplicities of the 0 eigenvalues. Now the potential non-zero eigenvalue of  $WV^T$  can be found by considering the product

$$WV^T x = (y^T v) x u^T x = (y^T v) (u^T x) x.$$

Therefore  $(y^T v)(u^T x)$  is an eigenvalue with x its corresponding eigenvector. Similarly for  $u^T x \neq 0$  and  $y^T v = 0$  then the only non-zero eigenvalue is  $(y^T v)(u^T x)$  and has n-1 zero eigenvalues. Finally for  $u^T x \neq 0$  and  $y^T v \neq 0$  we have two potential non-zero eigenvalues and n-2 multiplicities of the zero eigenvalue.

### 9.3 Eigenvector Matrices of the Square of a Type $A \cap S$ Square

If  $(u^T x)(y^T v) \neq 0$  then it can be shown simply that the linear independent (right) eigenvectors of  $M^2$  are

$$\sqrt{2}X_n\begin{pmatrix}v\\0_k\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}v\\J_kv\end{pmatrix}, \quad -\sqrt{2}X_n\begin{pmatrix}0_k\\x\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}-J_kx\\x\end{pmatrix},$$

so that if x, v have integer entries then so do these eigenvectors. Note also that the left eigenvectors (i.e. eigenvectors for  $(M^2)^T$ ) for  $M^2$  are given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} y \\ J_n y \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} -J_k u \\ u \end{pmatrix}$$

where the right and left eigenvectors are orthogonal.

**Remark.** In the parasymmetric case y = v and  $x = \alpha u$  for  $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , the matrix  $M^2$  always has a non-zero eigenvalue  $\alpha(u^T u)(v^T v)$ .

In the following subsection we will show a construction method that yields a twosided eigenvector matrix for  $M^2$  where M is the rank 1+1 associated magic square defined above. A two-sided eigenvector matrix is one in which the columns are the right eigenvectors of  $M^2$  and the rows are the left eigenvectors of  $M^2$ . To begin let us consider two right eigenvectors of  $M^2$  which correspond to the nonzero eigenvalue  $\lambda = (u^T x)(y^T v)$ . Placing vectors side by side to form a  $2k \times 2$ matrix we have

$$P_1 = \begin{pmatrix} B_1 \\ A_1 \\ C_1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} v & -J_k x \\ J_k v & x \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$A_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} v_{k} & -x_{1} \\ v_{k} & x_{1} \end{pmatrix}, \quad B_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} v_{1} & -x_{k} \\ v_{2} & -x_{k-1} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ v_{k-1} & -x_{2} \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and } C_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} v_{k-1} & -x_{1} \\ v_{k-2} & -x_{2} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ v_{1} & x_{k} \end{pmatrix},$$

with  $A_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{2\times 2}$  and  $B_1, C_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{k-1\times 2}$ . Now defining  $\sigma = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$  we obtain the identity  $C_1 = J_{k-1}B_1\sigma$ , and with the assumption that  $v_k, x_1 \neq 0$  we have that the matrix  $A_1$  is non-singular. We note that the construction can be generalised to any non-singular  $A_1$  composed from two rows of  $P_1$  (as one can always find two linearly independent rows within  $P_1$  due to the columns being linearly independent). However, for simplicity we will base our construction method on the two central rows.

Let

$$\tilde{P}_1 = -P_1 A_1^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} -B_1 A_1^{-1} \\ -I_2 \\ -C_1 A_1^{-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

and similarly starting from the matrix of left eigenvectors from above, we define  $(D_{i})$ 

$$P_2 = \begin{pmatrix} B_2 \\ A_2 \\ C_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} y & -J_k u \\ J_n y & u \end{pmatrix}.$$

With the assumption that  $y_k, u_1 \neq 0$  so that  $A_2 = \begin{pmatrix} y_k & -u_1 \\ J_k y_k & u_1 \end{pmatrix}$  is non-singular, enables us to define

$$\tilde{P}_2 = -P_2 A_2^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} -B_2 A_2^{-1} \\ -I_2 \\ -C_2 A_2^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

From our construction it is clear that the columns of  $\tilde{P}_1$  and  $\tilde{P}_2$  will also be linearly independent eigenvectors for eigenvalue  $\lambda$  and matrices  $M^2$  and  $(M^2)^T$  respectively. For matrices  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  we obtain the symmetries,

$$J_2 A_j \sigma = A_j$$
 and  $\sigma A_j^{-1} J_2 = A_j^{-1}$  for  $j \in \{1, 2\}$ .

Hence it follows that

$$J_{2k}\tilde{P}_{j}J_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} -J_{k-1}C_{j}A_{j}^{-1} \\ -J_{2} \\ -J_{k-1}B_{j}A_{j}^{-1} \end{pmatrix} J_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} -B_{j}\sigma A_{j}^{-1}J_{2} \\ -I_{2} \\ -C_{j}\sigma A_{j}^{-1}J_{2} \end{pmatrix} = \tilde{P}_{j} \quad (j \in \{1,2\}),$$

and we deduce that swapping the columns of  $\tilde{P}_j$  equates to reversing the order of

the column elements.

**Definition.** Let  $A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_m$  be  $n \times a_i$  matrices for  $a_i, n \in \mathbb{N}, i \in \{1, 2, \ldots, m\}$ and  $a_1 + a_2 + \ldots + a_m = n$ . Then we say that

$$(A_1|A_2|\ldots|A_m|)$$

is an  $n \times n$  matrix constructed from the sub-matrices  $A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_m$ . LEMMA 9.6. The matrices  $\tilde{P}_1$  and  $\tilde{P}_2$  satisfy the identities

$$(\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} | \tilde{P}_1 | \hat{0}_{2k,k-1})M = -M,$$
$$(\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} | \tilde{P}_2 | \hat{0}_{2k,k-1})M^T = -M^T$$

where  $M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  is of type  $A \cap S$  and n = 2k is a positive integer.

*Proof.* We have

$$\begin{aligned} (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1})M &= -P_1(\hat{0}_{2,k-1} \mid A_1^{-1} \mid \hat{0}_{2,k-1})X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & vu^T \\ xy^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}P_1(\hat{0}_{2,k-1} \mid A_1^{-1}X_2 \mid \hat{0}_{2,k-1}) \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & vu^T \\ xy^T & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}P_1 \begin{pmatrix} A_1^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ -x_1 \end{pmatrix} y^T \mid A_1^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} v_k \\ v_k \end{pmatrix} u^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} v & 0_k \\ 0_k & -x \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0_k^T & u^T \\ -y^T & 0_k^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} I_k & J_k \\ J_k & -I_k \end{pmatrix} \\ &= -X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k,k} & vu^T \\ xy^T & \hat{0}_{k,k} \end{pmatrix} = M, \end{aligned}$$

as required. The identity  $(\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} | \tilde{P}_2 | \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) M^T = -M^T$  can be similarly obtained.

The following theorem gives a two-sided eigenvector matrix construction for  $M^2$ . **THEOREM 9.7.** Given the vectors  $u, v, x, y \in \mathbb{R}^k$  such that we have  $\lambda = (u^T x)(y^T v) \neq 0$  and  $u_1, v_k, x_1, y_k \neq 0$ . Let M be an  $2k \times 2k$  associated magic square, and let  $\tilde{P}_1$ and  $\tilde{P}_2$  be as defined above. Then the two-sided eigenvector matrix for  $M^2$  is given by

$$P = I_{2k} + (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) + \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \\ \tilde{P}_2 \\ \hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \end{pmatrix},$$

so that P satisfies the relations

$$M^2P = Pdiag(0_{k-1}, \lambda 1_2, 0_{k-1})$$
 and  $PM^2 = diag(0_{k-1}, \lambda 1_2, 0_{k-1})P$ .

Furthermore, the inverse matrix of P exists and is given by

$$P^{-1} = diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1}) - \frac{M^2}{\lambda}.$$

*Proof.* As the columns of  $\tilde{P}_1$  are eigenvectors of  $M^2$  and by Lemma 10.6, we can write

$$\begin{split} M^2 P &= M^2 \left( I_{2k} + (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) + \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \\ \tilde{P}_2 \\ \hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \end{pmatrix} \right) \\ &= M^2 + M^2 (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) + M \underbrace{ \left( M \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \\ \tilde{P}_2^T \\ \hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \end{pmatrix} \right) }_{=-M} \\ &= M^2 + \lambda (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) + M(-M) = \lambda (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}), \end{split}$$

and as  $(\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1})$  are right eigenvectors for  $M^2$ , similarly for  $PM^2 = \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \\ \tilde{P}_2^T \\ \hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \end{pmatrix} M^2$ .

On the other hand, the centre  $2 \times 2$  matrix is the negative identity matrix  $-I_2$ , so we have

$$P \operatorname{diag}(0_{k-1}, \lambda 1_2, 0_{k-1}) = \operatorname{diag}(0_{k-1}, \lambda 1_2, 0_{k-1}) \left( I_{2k} + (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) + \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \\ \tilde{P}_2^T \\ \hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \end{pmatrix} \right)$$

$$= diag(0_{k-1,\lambda 1_{2},0_{k-1}}) + (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_{1} \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) + \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \\ \tilde{P}_{2}^{T} \\ \hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \end{pmatrix} diag(0_{k-1},\lambda 1_{2},0_{k-1}) diag(0_{k-1},\lambda 1_{2},0_{k-1}) + \lambda(\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_{1} \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) - diag(0_{k-1},\lambda 1_{2},0_{k-1}) = \lambda(\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_{1} \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}).$$

Again the calculations are the same for  $PM^2$ , where  $diag(0_{k-1}|\lambda 1_2|0_{k-1})P = \langle \hat{0}_{k-1} \rangle = \langle \hat{0}_{k-1} \rangle = \langle \hat{0}_{k-1} \rangle \langle \hat{0$ 

$$\lambda \begin{pmatrix} 0_{k-1,2k} \\ \tilde{P}_2^T \\ \hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Lastly, consider the inverse expression,

$$P^{-1} = diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1}) - \frac{M^2}{\lambda}.$$

By multiplying the right hand side of this expression by  ${\cal P}$  we obtain

$$\begin{split} (diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1}) - \frac{M^2}{\lambda})P &= diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1})P - \frac{M^2}{\lambda}P \\ &= diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1})\left(I_{2k} + (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) + \begin{pmatrix}\hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \\ \tilde{P}_2^T \\ \hat{0}_{k-1,2k}\end{pmatrix}\right) \\ &- \left(I_{2k} + (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) + \begin{pmatrix}\hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \\ \tilde{P}_2^T \\ \hat{0}_{k-1,2k}\end{pmatrix}\right) diag(0_{k-1}, 1_2, 0_{k-1}) \\ &= diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1}) + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1})(\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) \\ &+ diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1}) \left(\begin{pmatrix}\hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \\ \tilde{P}_2^T \\ \hat{0}_{k-1,2k}\end{pmatrix}\right) - diag(0_{k-1}, 1_2, 0_{k-1}) \\ &- (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) diag(0_{k-1}, 1_2, 0_{k-1}) - \begin{pmatrix}\hat{0}_{k-1,2k} \\ \tilde{P}_2^T \\ \hat{0}_{k-1,2k}\end{pmatrix} diag(0_{k-1}, 1_2, 0_{k-1}) \end{split}$$

$$= diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1}) + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1})(\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) \\ + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1}) - diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1}) - (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1}) \\ + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) \\ + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) \\ + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) \\ + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) \\ + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) \\ + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) \\ + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) \\ + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) \\ + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - (\hat{0}_{k-1}, 1_{k-1}) - diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) \\ + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) \\ + diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) - diag(1_{k-1}, 0_k, 1_{k-1}) dia$$

$$= diag(1_{k-1}, 0_2, 1_{k-1}) + ((\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) + diag(0_{k-1}, 1_2, 0_{k-1}))$$
  
$$- diag(0_{k-1}, 1_2, 0_{k-1}) - (\hat{0}_{2k,k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{2k,k-1}) + diag(0_{k-1}, 1_2, 0_{k-1})$$
  
$$= diag(1_{2k}) = I_{2k}.$$

The opposite product follows similarly.

**Remark.** Considering the parasymmetric case where y = v and  $x = \alpha u$  for  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , then the above construction yields

$$P_1 = \begin{pmatrix} y & -J_n \alpha u \\ -J_n y & \alpha u \end{pmatrix} = P_2 \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha \end{pmatrix}.$$

Here 
$$\begin{pmatrix} -J_k u \\ u \end{pmatrix}$$
 will be an eigenvector of  $M^2$  as well as  $\begin{pmatrix} -J_k \alpha u \\ \alpha u \end{pmatrix}$ , so we take  $P_1 = P_2$ ,

which ensures that

$$P = I_{2k} + (\hat{0}_{k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_1 \mid \hat{0}_{k-1}) + (\hat{0}_{k-1} \mid \tilde{P}_2 \mid \hat{0}_{k-1})^T$$

is a symmetric matrix.

# 9.4 Quadratic Forms Constructed from the Square of a Type $A \cap S$ Matrix

We now show that there is a connection between the block representation vectors and certain types of quadratic forms. We start by observing the block representation of a type S and A (associated) square,

$$M = X_n \begin{pmatrix} 2wE_k & V^T \\ W & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n$$

which can be decomposed into 3 parts such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2wE_k & V^T \\ W & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} = 2w \begin{pmatrix} E_k & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & V^T \\ \hat{0}_k & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & \hat{0}_k \\ W & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= 2we + a + b,$$

with  $e = \begin{pmatrix} E_k & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $a = \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & V^T \\ \hat{0}_k & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix}$  and  $b = \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & \hat{0}_k \\ W & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix}$ . These individual blocks have the properties,

$$a^2 = b^2 = eb = ea = be = \hat{0}_n, ae = ne, ab = \begin{pmatrix} V^T W & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix}$$
 and  $ba = \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & WV^T \end{pmatrix}$ ,

which can be deduced from the rows of the block matrices V and W summing to 0.

This decomposition corresponds to the splitting of the square such that

$$X_n(2we + a + b)X_n = ewX_neX_n + X_naX_n + X_nbX_n$$
$$= wE_{2k} + \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} V^TJ_k & -V^T\\ J_kV^TJ_k & -J_kV^T \end{pmatrix} + \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} J_kW & J_kWJ_k\\ -W & -WJ_k \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= wE_{2k} + A + B,$$

with  $A = X_n a X_n = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} V^T J_k & -V^T \\ J_k V^T J_k & -J_k V^T \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $B = X_n b X_n = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} J_k W & J_k W J_k \\ -W & -W J_k \end{pmatrix}$ .

Now consider the square of M which gives the type B square,

$$M^{2} = X_{n} \begin{pmatrix} 2wE_{k} & V^{T} \\ W & \hat{0}_{k} \end{pmatrix} X_{n} X_{n} \begin{pmatrix} 2wE_{k} & V^{T} \\ W & \hat{0}_{k} \end{pmatrix} X_{n}$$

$$= X_n \begin{pmatrix} 2wE_k & V^T \\ W & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 2wE_k & V^T \\ W & \hat{0}_k \end{pmatrix} X_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} 4kw^2E_k + V^TW & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & WV^T \end{pmatrix} X_n.$$

For  $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^k$  we can associate with

$$\begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}^T X_n M^2 X_n \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} 4kw^2 E_k + V^T W & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & WV^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= 4kw^2 \xi^T E_k \xi + \xi^T V^T W \xi + \eta^T W V^T \eta$$

For a given  $\eta, \xi \in \mathbb{R}^k$  the weight term is independent of u and v.

Considering the weightless parasymmetric case, such that  $w = 0, y = v, x = \alpha u$  we find that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} V^T W & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & W V^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} \alpha(u^T u)vv^T & \hat{0}_k \\ \hat{0}_k & \alpha(v^T v)uu^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \alpha(u^T u)(v^T \xi)^2 + \alpha(v^T v)(u^T \eta)^2,$$

and setting

$$\begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix} = X_{2k}Y = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} Y_1 + J_k Y_2 \\ J_k Y_1 - Y_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

with  $Y = \begin{pmatrix} Y_1 \\ Y_2 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{2k}$ , we obtain the quadratic form  $\begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix}^T X_{2k} M^2 X_{2k} \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ \eta \end{pmatrix} = Y^T X_{2k} X_{2k} M^2 X_{2k} X_{2k} = Y^T M^2 Y$   $= \frac{\alpha}{2} (u^T u) \left( \begin{pmatrix} v \\ J_k v \end{pmatrix}^T Y \right)^2 + \frac{\alpha}{2} (v^T v) \left( \begin{pmatrix} J_k u \\ -u \end{pmatrix}^T Y \right)^2.$ 

Introducing the variables

$$z_1 = \begin{pmatrix} v \\ J_k v \end{pmatrix}^T Y \quad z_2 = \begin{pmatrix} J_k u \\ -u \end{pmatrix}^T Y$$

then yields the reduced quadratic form

$$q_1(z_1, z_2) = \frac{\alpha}{2}((u^T u)z_1^2 + (v^T v)z_2^2).$$

For any two vectors that make up the rank 1 + 1 block or type S and S (i.e. not necessarily parasymmetric) we can similarly obtain corresponding quadratic form from the decomposition of  $M^2$ , which we now describe. To begin with we consider any (right) eigenvector matrix  $P \in \mathbb{R}^{2k \times 2k}$  which contains the two non-zero eigenvector columns of  $M^2$  corresponding to the eigenvalue  $\lambda$ , with the other columns  $b_3, \ldots, b_{2k}$  being the eigenvectors with eigenvalue 0.

In the consideration of the transpose,

$$Y = P\gamma = \sum_{j=1}^{2k} \gamma_j b_j$$

(with  $\gamma_j$  is the *jth* entry of the vector  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{2k}$  ) we then obtain the quadratic form

$$q(\gamma) = Y^T M^2 Y = \lambda(\gamma_1 b_1 + \gamma_2 b_2) \left(\gamma_1 b_1 + \gamma_2 b_2 + \sum_{j=3}^{2k} \gamma_j b_j^T\right)$$
$$= \lambda \left(b_1^T b_1 \gamma_1^2 + 2b_1^T b_1 \gamma_1 \gamma_2 + b_2^T b_2 \gamma_2^2 + \sum_{j=3}^{2k} \left(b_j^T b_1 \gamma_j \gamma_1 + b_j^T b_2 \gamma_j \gamma_2\right)\right).$$

For the parasymmetric case where  $M^2$  is symmetric the quadratic form simplifies to the binary form

$$q_2(\gamma_1, \gamma_2) = Y^T M^2 Y = \lambda (b_1^T b_1 \gamma_1^2 + 2b_1^T b_2 \gamma_1 \gamma_2 + b_2^T b_2 \gamma_2^2)$$

as  $b_3, \ldots, b_{2k}$  are orthogonal to  $b_1, b_2$ .

Also, if  $b_1, b_2$  are mutually orthogonal (i.e. not transformed eigenvectors from the constructed matrix P from above) then we have the simplified form

$$q_3(\gamma_1, \gamma_2) = Y^T M^2 Y = \lambda (b_1^T b_1 \gamma_1^2 + b_2^T b_2 \gamma_2^2).$$

Examples of these quadratic form constructions are given in the Appendices.

# 10 Further Work

Having now completed the present work, it is apparent that the subject of sum systems and sum-and-distance systems has many possible extensions such as considering  $m_1 + \ldots + m_d$  sum-and-distance systems for a given integer n. Accompanying questions include whether there exist similar enumeration arguments and constructions for such larger systems. However at this present juncture we will reflect on the progress made in this thesis and leave these musings for another day.

# Appendix 1: Examples

Example. of representation Lemma 3.9

Let 
$$u = \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ -3 \\ -1 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix}$$
 and a type *R* square matrix  $M = \begin{pmatrix} 13 & 8 & 4 & -1 \\ 10 & 3 & 5 & -2 \\ 0 & 5 & -1 & 4 \\ -3 & 0 & 0 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$  then it holds that

$$(M+J_4M)u = \left( \begin{pmatrix} 13 & 8 & 4 & -1 \\ 10 & 3 & 5 & -2 \\ 0 & 5 & -1 & 4 \\ -3 & 0 & 0 & 3 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 4 & 8 & 13 \\ -2 & 5 & 3 & 10 \\ 4 & -1 & 5 & 0 \\ 3 & 0 & 0 & -3 \end{pmatrix} \right) \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ -3 \\ -1 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} 12 & 12 & 12 & 12 \\ 8 & 8 & 8 & 8 \\ 4 & 4 & 4 & 4 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ -3 \\ -1 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$(M^{T} + J_{4}M^{T})u = \left( \begin{pmatrix} 13 & 10 & 0 & -3 \\ 8 & 3 & 5 & 0 \\ 4 & 5 & -1 & 0 \\ -1 & -2 & 4 & 3 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} -3 & 0 & 10 & 13 \\ 0 & 5 & 3 & 8 \\ 0 & -1 & 5 & 4 \\ 3 & 4 & -2 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \right) u$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} 10 & 10 & 10 & 10 \\ 8 & 8 & 8 & 8 \\ 4 & 4 & 4 & 4 \\ 2 & 2 & 2 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ -3 \\ -1 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Example. of block representation Lemma 3.10

Let 
$$y = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix}$$
,  $x = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 3 \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $1_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$   $Z = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 7 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$  and  $w = 3$  then  
$$X_n \begin{pmatrix} wE_2 & y1_k^T \\ 1_k x^T & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 3 & 1 & 2 \\ 3 & 3 & 1 & 2 \\ 1 & 1 & -2 & 4 \\ 3 & 3 & 1 & 5 \end{pmatrix} X_n = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 13 & 8 & 4 & -1 \\ 10 & 3 & 5 & -2 \\ 0 & 5 & -1 & 4 \\ -3 & 0 & 0 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$$

is a type R square matrix.

Example. of representation Lemma 3.11

Let 
$$u = \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ -3 \\ -1 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix}$$
,  $v = \begin{pmatrix} 4 \\ -1 \\ -2 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix}$  and a type V square matrix  $M = \begin{pmatrix} 7 & 6 & 4 & 1 \\ 6 & 5 & 3 & 0 \\ 4 & 3 & 1 & -2 \\ 3 & 2 & 0 & -3 \end{pmatrix}$   
then

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2\\ -3\\ -1\\ 2 \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} 6 & 2 & 0 & 0\\ 5 & 1 & -1 & -1\\ 3 & -1 & -3 & -3\\ 2 & -2 & -4 & -4 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 4\\ -1\\ -2\\ -1 \end{pmatrix} = 0$$

and

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1\\1\\1\\1\\1 \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} 6 & 2 & 0 & 0\\ 5 & 1 & -1 & -1\\ 3 & -1 & -3 & -3\\ 2 & -2 & -4 & -4 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\1\\1\\1 \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$

**Example.** of block representation Lemma 3.12

Let 
$$a = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 3 \end{pmatrix}, b = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix}$$
 and type V matrix  $Y = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 3 \\ 2 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$  then  
$$X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & 1_2 a^T \\ b 1_2^T & \hat{0}_2 \end{pmatrix} X_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 3 & 1 & 3 \\ 2 & 3 & 1 & 3 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} X_n = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 7 & 6 & 4 & 1 \\ 6 & 5 & 3 & 0 \\ 4 & 3 & 1 & -2 \\ 3 & 2 & 0 & -3 \end{pmatrix}$$

is a type V matrix.

Example. of representation Lemma 3.11

$$Let \ u = \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ -3 \\ -1 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix}, \ v = \begin{pmatrix} 4 \\ -1 \\ -2 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix} and \ a \ type \ \hat{V} \ square \ matrix \ M = \begin{pmatrix} 6 & 2 & 0 & 0 \\ 5 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 3 & -1 & -3 & -3 \\ 2 & -2 & -4 & -4 \end{pmatrix}$$

then

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2\\ -3\\ -1\\ 2 \end{pmatrix}^{T} \begin{pmatrix} 7 & 6 & 4 & 1\\ 6 & 5 & 3 & 0\\ 4 & 3 & 1 & -2\\ 3 & 2 & 0 & -3 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 4\\ -1\\ -2\\ -1 \end{pmatrix} = 0$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 1 \end{pmatrix}^{T} \begin{pmatrix} 7 & 6 & 4 & 1\\ 6 & 5 & 2 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1\\1\\1\\1\\1 \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} 7 & 6 & 4 & 1\\ 6 & 5 & 3 & 0\\ 4 & 3 & 1 & -2\\ 3 & 2 & 0 & -3 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\1\\1\\1\\1 \end{pmatrix} = 0$$

**Example.** of block representation 3.12

Let  $a = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 3 \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $b = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix}$  and type  $\hat{V}$  matrix  $Y = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$  then

$$X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & 1_2 a^T \\ b & 1_2^T & \hat{0}_2 \end{pmatrix} X_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 & 1 & 3 \\ 1 & -1 & 1 & 3 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 2 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} X_n = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 6 & 2 & 0 & 0 \\ 5 & 1 & -1 & -1 \\ 3 & -1 & -3 & -3 \\ 2 & -2 & -4 & -4 \end{pmatrix}.$$

**Example.** of representation Lemma 7.2

Let 
$$u = \begin{pmatrix} 2\\1\\3\\4 \end{pmatrix}, v = \begin{pmatrix} -1\\0\\-1\\-2 \end{pmatrix}, \S_4 = \begin{pmatrix} -1\\1\\-1\\1 \end{pmatrix} and M = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & -1 & 5 & -1\\5 & -3 & -1 & -3\\1 & -3 & 7 & -3\\5 & -3 & -1 & -3 \end{pmatrix} then$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} 2\\1\\3\\4 \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} -1 & -1 & 5 & -1\\5 & -3 & -1 & -3\\1 & -3 & 7 & -3\\5 & -3 & -1 & -3 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -1\\0\\-1\\-2 \end{pmatrix} = 0$$
and

$$\begin{pmatrix} -1\\1\\-1\\1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & -1 & 5 & -1\\5 & -3 & -1 & -3\\1 & -3 & 7 & -3\\5 & -3 & -1 & -3 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -1\\1\\-1\\1 \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$

Example. of block representation Lemma 7.3

Let 
$$a = \begin{pmatrix} 2 \\ 3 \end{pmatrix}$$
,  $b = \begin{pmatrix} -1 \\ 2 \end{pmatrix}$  and weightless type  $\hat{M}$  matrix  $Z = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ -1 & -2 \end{pmatrix}$  then  
 $X_n \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_k & a \ \hat{S}_2^T \\ \hat{S}_k \ b^T & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -2 & 2 \\ 0 & 0 & -3 & 3 \\ 1 & -2 & 2 & 1 \\ -1 & 2 & -1 & -2 \end{pmatrix} X_n = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & -1 & 5 & -1 \\ 5 & -3 & -1 & -3 \\ 1 & -3 & 7 & -3 \\ 5 & -3 & -1 & -3 \end{pmatrix}$ 

Example. of representation Lemma 7.5

Let 
$$u = \begin{pmatrix} -2 \\ -1 \\ 3 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, v = \begin{pmatrix} -1 \\ 4 \\ -3 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, 1_4 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} and M = \begin{pmatrix} 6 & 2 & 0 & -8 \\ -1 & 3 & -3 & 1 \\ -7 & 3 & 1 & 3 \\ 2 & -8 & 2 & 4 \end{pmatrix}$$

then

$$\begin{pmatrix} -2\\ -1\\ 3\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} 6 & 2 & 0 & -8\\ -1 & 3 & -3 & 1\\ -7 & 3 & 1 & 3\\ 2 & -8 & 2 & 4 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} = 0$$

and

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1\\1\\1\\1\\1 \end{pmatrix}^T \begin{pmatrix} 6 & 2 & 0 & -8\\ -1 & 3 & -3 & 1\\ -7 & 3 & 1 & 3\\ 2 & -8 & 2 & 4 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -1\\4\\-3\\0 \end{pmatrix} = 0$$

**Example.** of block representation Lemma 7.6

Let 
$$Y = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
,  $V = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 2 \\ 3 & -3 \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $W = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ -2 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$  and  $Z = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 \\ 3 & 4 \end{pmatrix}$  then  
 $X_n \begin{pmatrix} Y & V^T \\ W & Z \end{pmatrix} X_n = X_n \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 & -2 & 3 \\ -1 & 1 & 2 & -3 \\ 1 & -1 & 1 & 2 \\ -2 & 2 & 3 & 4 \end{pmatrix} X_n = \begin{pmatrix} 6 & 2 & 0 & -8 \\ -1 & 3 & -3 & 1 \\ -7 & 3 & 1 & 3 \\ 2 & -8 & 2 & 4 \end{pmatrix}$ .

## Example. Quadratic Forms

Here we take the fundamental parasymmetric 2+2 sum-and-distance system  $\{u, 4u\}$ , so that

$$u = \{-1, 3\}, x = 4u = \{-4, 12\} and v = y = \{-1, 1\},$$

then

and

$$M = X_4 \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_2 & vu^T \\ xy^T & \hat{0}_2 \end{pmatrix} X_4 = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 15 & -13 & -11 & 9 \\ -7 & 5 & 3 & -1 \\ 1 & -1 & -5 & 7 \\ -9 & 11 & 13 & -15 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$X_4 M^2 X_4 = 4 \begin{pmatrix} 10 & -10 & 0 & 0 \\ -10 & 10 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 & -6 \\ 0 & 0 & -6 & 18 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We deduce that the reduced quadratic form is given by

$$q_1(z_1, z_2) = \frac{\alpha}{2} \left( (u^T u) z_1^2 + (v^T v) z_2^2 \right)$$
$$= \frac{4}{2} \left( (u^T u) z_1^2 + (v^T v) z_2^2 \right) = 2((1+9) z_1^2 + (1+1) z_2^2)$$
$$= 4(5 z_1^2 + z_2^2).$$

**Example.** Here we take the fundamental 4 + 4 parasymmetric sum-and-distance system  $\{u, 8u\}$ , so that

$$u = \{-1, 3, 5, -7\}, \quad x = 8u = \{-8, 24, 40, -56\} \quad and \quad v = y = \{-1, 1, 1, -1\}.$$

Then we have

$$M = X_8 \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_4 & vu^T \\ xy^T & \hat{0}_4 \end{pmatrix} X_8 = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 63 & -61 & -59 & 57 & 55 & -53 & -51 & 49 \\ -47 & 45 & 43 & -41 & -39 & 37 & 35 & -33 \\ -31 & 29 & 27 & -25 & -23 & 21 & 19 & -17 \\ 15 & -13 & -11 & 9 & 7 & -5 & -3 & 1 \\ -1 & 3 & 5 & -7 & -9 & 11 & 13 & -15 \\ 17 & -19 & -21 & 23 & 25 & -27 & -29 & 31 \\ 33 & -35 & -37 & 39 & 41 & -43 & -45 & 47 \\ -49 & 51 & 53 & -55 & -57 & 59 & 61 & -63 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$X_8 M^2 X_8 = \begin{pmatrix} 84 & -84 & -84 & 84 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -84 & 84 & 84 & -84 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -84 & 84 & 84 & -84 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 84 & -84 & -84 & 84 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 4 & -12 & -20 & 28 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -12 & 36 & 60 & -84 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -20 & 60 & 100 & -140 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 28 & -84 & -140 & 196 \end{pmatrix}.$$

In this instance we deduce that the reduced quadratic form is given by

$$q_1(z_1, z_2) = \frac{\alpha}{2} \left( (u^T u) z_1^2 + (v^T v) z_2^2 \right)$$
$$= 4((1+9+25+49) z_1^2 + 4z_2^2) = 4(84z_1^2 + 4z_2^2) = 16(21z_1^2 + z_2^2)$$

**Example.** Here we take the 4+4 parasymmetric sum-and-distance systems  $\{u, 2u\}$  with

$$u = \{11, -13, -19, 21\}, x = 2u = \{22, -26, -38, 42\} and v = y = \{-1, 1, 1, -1\}$$

and

$$M = X_8 \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_4 & vu^T \\ xy^T & \hat{0}_4 \end{pmatrix} X_8 = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -63 & 61 & 55 & -53 & -31 & 29 & 23 & -21 \\ 59 & -57 & -51 & 49 & 27 & -25 & -19 & 17 \\ 47 & -45 & -39 & 37 & 15 & -13 & -7 & 5 \\ -43 & 41 & 35 & -33 & -11 & 9 & 3 & -1 \\ 1 & -3 & -9 & 11 & 33 & -35 & -41 & 43 \\ -5 & 7 & 13 & -15 & -37 & 39 & 45 & -47 \\ -17 & 19 & 25 & -27 & -49 & 51 & 57 & -59 \\ 21 & -23 & -29 & 31 & 53 & -55 & -61 & 63 \end{pmatrix}$$

Then  $M^2$  has the block representation

$$M^{2} = 8X_{8} \begin{pmatrix} 273 & -273 & -273 & 273 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -273 & 273 & 273 & -273 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -273 & 273 & 273 & -273 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 273 & -273 & -273 & 273 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 121 & -143 & -209 & 231 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -143 & 169 & 247 & -273 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -209 & 247 & 361 & -399 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 231 & -273 & -399 & 411 \end{pmatrix} X_{8}.$$

In this instance the formula given by  $q_1$ , gives the reduced quadratic form

$$q_1(z_1, z_2) = 1092z_1^2 + 4z_2^2.$$

The matrix  $M^2$  has the two eigenvectors

$$b_1 = \begin{pmatrix} v \\ J_k v \end{pmatrix}, \quad b_2 = \begin{pmatrix} -J_k u \\ u \end{pmatrix}$$

(as we divided  $b_2$  by  $\alpha$ ) for eigenvalue  $\lambda = \alpha(u^T u)(v^T v) = 8736$ , so  $b_1^T b_2 = 2u^T u = 2184$ , and these vectors are orthogonal. We can then write the quadratic form such that

$$q_3(\gamma_1, \gamma_2) = 8736(8\gamma_1^2 + 2184\gamma_2^2) = 17472(4\gamma_1^2 + 1092\gamma_2^2).$$

Applying our two-sided eigenvector matrix construction from theorem 9.7, we obtain the rational symmetric (left and right) eigenvector matrix

$$P = \frac{1}{11} \begin{pmatrix} 11 & 0 & 0 & -16 & 5 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 11 & 0 & 15 & -4 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 11 & 12 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -16 & 15 & 12 & -11 & 0 & -1 & -4 & 5 \\ 5 & -4 & -1 & 0 & -11 & 12 & 15 & -16 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 12 & 11 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -4 & 15 & 0 & 11 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 5 & -16 & 0 & 0 & 11 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Taking the middle columns of this matrix for the (non-orthogonal) eigenvectors  $b_1, b_2 = J_8 b_1$ , we now have  $b_1^T b_1 = b_2^T b_2 = \frac{788}{121}$ ,  $b_1^T b_2 = -\frac{304}{121}$  and the above formula gives

$$q_2(\gamma_1, \gamma_2) = 8736 \left(\frac{788}{121}\gamma_1^2 - \frac{608}{121}\gamma_1\gamma_2 + \frac{788}{121}\gamma_2^2\right) = \frac{34944}{232} (197\gamma_1^2 - 152\gamma_1\gamma_2) + 197\gamma_2^2.$$

The inverse for the eigenvector matrix can similarly be obtained from the formula

$$P^{-1} = diag(1_3, 0_2, 1_3) - \frac{M}{\lambda} = \frac{8}{\lambda} \begin{pmatrix} 735 & 336 & 273 & -252 & -21 & 0 & -63 & 84 \\ 336 & 775 & -260 & 241 & 32 & -13 & 44 & -63 \\ 273 & -260 & 871 & 208 & 65 & -52 & -13 & 0 \\ -252 & 241 & 208 & -197 & -76 & 65 & 32 & -21 \\ -21 & 32 & 65 & -76 & -179 & 208 & 241 & -252 \\ 0 & -13 & -52 & 65 & 208 & 871 & -260 & 273 \\ -63 & 44 & -13 & 32 & 241 & -260 & 775 & 336 \\ 84 & -63 & 0 & -21 & 252 & 273 & 336 & 735 \end{pmatrix},$$

so that  $P^{-1}M^2P = PM^2P^{-1} = diag(0_3, \lambda, \lambda, 0_3).$ 

Although the three quadratic forms  $q_1, q_2$  and  $q_3$  are different they are in fact equivalent to each other as a transformation matrix exists with determinant 1 for the co-ordinate transformation.

**Example.** For our last example, we consider  $\{u, x\}$  non-parasymmetric sum-anddistance system given by,

$$u = \{10, -14, -18, 22\}, \quad x = \{23, -25, -39, 41\} \quad and \quad v = y = \{-1, 1, 1, -1\},$$

so that

$$M = X_8 \begin{pmatrix} \hat{0}_4 & vu^T \\ xy^T & \hat{0}_4 \end{pmatrix} X_8 = \begin{pmatrix} -63 & 59 & 55 & -51 & -31 & 27 & 23 & -19 \\ 61 & -57 & -53 & 49 & 29 & -25 & -21 & 17 \\ 47 & -43 & -39 & 35 & 15 & -11 & -7 & 3 \\ -45 & 41 & 37 & -33 & -13 & 9 & 5 & -1 \\ 1 & -5 & 9 & 13 & 33 & -37 & -41 & 45 \\ -3 & 7 & 11 & -15 & -35 & 39 & 43 & -47 \\ -17 & 21 & 25 & -29 & -49 & 53 & 57 & -61 \\ 19 & -23 & -27 & 31 & 51 & -55 & -59 & 63 \end{pmatrix}$$

Then  $M^2$  has the non-symmetric block representation

$$M^{2} = 8X_{8} \begin{pmatrix} 273 & -273 & -273 & 273 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -273 & 273 & 273 & -273 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -273 & 273 & 273 & -273 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 273 & -273 & -273 & 273 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 115 & -161 & -207 & 253 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -125 & 175 & 225 & -275 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -195 & 273 & 351 & -429 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 205 & -287 & -369 & 451 \end{pmatrix} X_{8}.$$

Here the non-zero eigenvalue is given by  $\lambda = (u^T x)(y^T v) = 8736$ , and the (right and left) eigenvector matrix P has the form

$$P = \frac{1}{115} \begin{pmatrix} 115 & 0 & 0 - 160 & 45 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 115 & 0 & 155 & -40 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 115 & 120 & -5 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -184 & 161 & 138 & -115 & 0 & -23 & -46 & 69 \\ 69 & -46 & -23 & 0 & -115 & 138 & 161 & -184 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -5 & 120 & 115 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -40 & 155 & 0 & 115 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 45 & 160 & 0 & 0 & 115 \end{pmatrix}$$

Now ordering the columns of P as  $P = (b_3, b_4, b_5, b_1, b_2, b_8, b_7, b_6)$  to define eigenvectors  $b_1, b_2, \ldots, b_8$ , we see that  $b_2 = J_8 b_1$  and  $b_{j+3} = J_8 b_j$   $(j \in \{3, 5, 6\})$ , and calculate further  $b_1^T b_1 = b_2^T b_2 = \frac{80900}{115^2}, -\frac{28000}{115^2}$  as well as  $b_3^T b_1 = -b_3^T b_2 = -b_6^T b_1 = b_6^T b_2 = \frac{2760}{115^2}, b_4^T b_1 = b_4^T b_2 = -b_7^T b_1 = b_7^T b_2 = -\frac{690}{115^2}$  and  $b_5^T b_1 = b_5^T b_2 = -b_8^T b_1 = b_8^T b_2 = -\frac{2070}{115^2}$ . Hence the quadratic form associated with this sum-and-distance system is given by

$$\sum_{j=3} (b_j^T b_1 \gamma_j \gamma_1 + b_j^T b_2 \gamma_j \gamma_2) = \sum_{j=3}^5 (b_j^T b_1 (\gamma_j - \gamma_{j+3}) \gamma_1 + b_j^T b_2 (\gamma_j - \gamma_{j+3}) \gamma_2)$$

$$= \sum_{j=3}^{\infty} (b_j^T b_1) (\gamma_j - \gamma_{j+3}) (\gamma_1 - \gamma_2),$$

for our example

$$\sum_{j=3}^{5} (b_j^T b_1)(\gamma_j - \gamma_{j+3}) = \frac{6}{115} (4(\gamma_3 - \gamma_6) - (\gamma_4 - \gamma_7) - 3(\gamma_5 - \gamma_8)),$$

writing the linear combination  $4(\gamma_3 - \gamma_6) - (\gamma_4 - \gamma_7) - 3(\gamma_5 - \gamma_8)$  as one new variable  $\gamma_0$ , we obtain the ternary quadratic form

$$q(\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_0) = 8736 \left( \frac{4}{529} (809\gamma_1^2 - 560\gamma_1\gamma_2 + 809\gamma_2^2) + \frac{6}{115}\gamma_0(\gamma_1 - \gamma_2) \right).$$

# Appendix 2

Divisor Paths, Non-Inclusive Sum-and-Distance Systems and Even Sided Reversible Squares The following tables list all even sided reversible squares for  $n \in \{2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12\}$ , there corresponding divisor path sets, block representations and sum-and-distance systems.

n=2	
÷	
Table	

Sum-and-Distance System	$\{\{1\}, \{2\}\}$
Block Representation	$\left(\begin{array}{ccc} 5 & -1 \\ -2 & 0 \end{array}\right)$
Reversible Square	$\left(\begin{array}{rrr}1&2\\3&4\end{array}\right)$
Divisor Paths	1 $\{(2), (2)\}$

Table 2: n=4

		5 - -	t t	5     
	Divisor Paths	Reversible Square	Block Representation	Sum-and-Distance System
		$\left\langle 1  2  3  4 \right\rangle$	$\left( \begin{array}{cccc} 17 & 17 & -1 & -3 \end{array} \right)$	
-		5 6 7 8	17 17 -1 -3	[[1 9] [4 19]]
-	$\{(4), (4)\}$	9  10  11  12	-4 $-4$ $0$ $0$	{{1, 3}, {4, 12}} * *
		$\left( \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\left( \begin{array}{cccc} -12 & -12 & 0 & 0 \end{array} \right)$	
		1 2 9 10	7 17 17 -7 -9	
c		$3 \ 4 \ 11 \ 12$	17 17 -7 -9	(נט ב) נא פןן
V	$\{(4), (2)\}$	$5 \ 6 \ 13 \ 14$	-2 $-2$ $0$ $0$	{{∠,0}, { <i>l</i> , <sup>y</sup> }}
		$\begin{pmatrix} 7 & 8 & 15 & 16 \end{pmatrix}$	( -6 -6 0 0 )	
		$\left\langle 1  2  5  6 \right\rangle$	1 17 17 -3 -5	
ç		3 4 7 8	17  17  -3  -5	[[0 E] [8 10]]
o	$\{(2, 4), (2, 4)\}$	9  10  13  14	-6  -6  0  0	{{o, 0}}, {v, 10}}
		$\langle 11 12 15 16 \rangle$	$\left( \begin{array}{cccc} -10 & -10 & 0 \end{array} \right)$	

	Divisor Paths	Rever	sible	Sqt	lare			Block R	eprese	ntatio				Sum-and-Distance System
		$\begin{pmatrix} 1 \end{pmatrix}$	0	က	4	ഹ	9	/ 37	37	37		-3	-5 /	
		2	$\infty$	6	10	11	12	 37	37	37	-1	-3	-5 -5	
-	$\left[ \left( \theta \right) - \left( \theta \right) \right]$	13	14	15	16	17	18	37	37	37		-3	ار ت	[[1 3 E] [6 18 30]]
-	$\{(0), (0)\}$	19	20	21	22	23	24	 -00	-6	-6	0	0	0	{{1, 0, 0}, {0, 10, 10, 0}}
		25	26	27	28	29	30	-18	-18	-18	0	0	0	
		( 31	32	33	34	35	36	 (-30)	-30	-30	0	0	0	
		/ 1	0	က	19	20	21	/ 37	37	37	-16	-18	$-20$ \	
		4	ю	9	22	23	24	37	37	37	-16	-18	-20	
c		7	$\infty$	6	25	26	27	37	37	37	-16	-18	-20	
1	{(o), (o)}	10	11	12	28	29	30	 -3	-33	-3	0	0	0	{{10, 10, 20}, {0, 3, 10}}
		13	14	15	31	32	33	-0	$^{-6}$	6 -	0	0	0	
		16	17	18	34	35	36	 (-15)	-15	-15	0	0	0	
		/ 1	0	13	14	25	26	/ 37	37	37		-23	$-25$ \	
		က	4	15	16	27	28	37	37	37	-1	-23	-25	
¢	[(6) (9)]	ŋ	9	17	18	29	30	 37	37	37	-1	-23	-25	(נעד א פן (10 טער 10 טער))
°	$\{(0), (2)\}$	2	$\infty$	19	20	31	32	-2	-2	$^{-2}$	0	0	0	$\{\{1, 20, 20\}, \{2, 0, 10\}\}$
		6	10	21	22	33	34	9-	-6	-6	0	0	0	
		$\langle 11 \rangle$	12	23	24	35	36	 (-10)	-10	-10	0	0	0	
		/ 1	0	ഹ	9	6	10	/ 37	37	37		-7	6-	
		n	4	1	$\infty$	11	12	 37	37	37		2-	6-	
_		13	14	17	18	21	22	37	37	37	-1	2-	6-	וושט טט לו 17 בין ל
<del>1</del>	$\{(2,0), (2,0)\}$	15	16	19	20	23	24	-2	-2	-2	0	0	0	<b>ί</b> (1, 1, 3 <i>f</i> , 1 <i>z</i> , <i>zz</i> , <i>z</i> 0 <i>ff</i>
		25	26	29	30	33	34	 -22	-22	-22	0	0	0	
		27	28	31	32	35	36	 (-26)	-26	-26	0	0	0	

Table 3: n=6

	Divisor	Paths	Ĥ	ever	sible	Squ	are				Block F	leprese	entation				Sum-and-Dis	tance System
				1	0	က	2	$\infty$	6		/ 37	37	37	-4	-0	-8 /		
				4	ю	9	10	11	12		37	37	37	-4	$-0^{-}$	- 8		
Ľ	(96)	(19 6)		13	14	15	19	20	21		37	37	37	-4	$-0^{-}$	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~		(וקף וף
ົ	{( <sup>2</sup> , 0),	(0,0)}		16	17	18	22	23	24		-3	-3	-3	0	0	0	{{4, 0, 0}, {0	, 21, 21 }}
				25	26	27	31	32	33		-21	-21	-21	0	0	0		
				28	29	30	34	35	36 /	_	(-27)	-27	-27	0	0	0		
				1	2	2	$\infty$	13	14 \		/ 37	37	37	-1-	-11	-13		
				က	4	6	10	15	16		37	37	37	-1	-11	-13		
J.	(96))	(19 G)		ŋ	9	11	12	17	18		37	37	37	-1	-11	-13	[61 11 1]]	[[06 01 71]
0	{(0,0),	(2, 0)		19	20	25	26	31	32		-14	-14	-14	0	0	0	{{1,11,10},	{14,10,22}}
				21	22	27	28	33	34		-18	-18	-18	0	0	0		
				23	24	29	30	35	36 /	_	(-22)	-22	-22	0	0	0		
				1	2	က	10	11	12		/ 37	37	37	-7	-0	-11		
				4	Ŋ	9	13	14	15		37	37	37	2-	-0	-11		
1	(96))	(19 6)		2	$\infty$	6	16	17	18		37	37	37	2-	-0	-11		(10 10 01 01
-	{(o, 0),	(0,0)}		19	20	21	28	29	30		-12	-12	-12	0	0	0	{{ <i>(</i> , <i>3</i> , 11}, {	12, 10, 24 } }
				22	23	24	31	32	33		-18	-18	-18	0	0	0		
				25	26	27	34	35	36 /	_	/ -24	-24	-24	0	0	0		

Sum-and-Distance System					<pre>[11, 0, 0, 1], [0, 24, 40, 00]]</pre>								$\{1, 0, 1, 0, 4, 4, 3\}, \{2, 0, 10, 14\}$							[[90 31 33 35] [7 13 30 38]]	$[2^{2}, 0^{1}, 0^{0}, 0^{0}], [4, 12, 20, 20]$								[ [], 0, 11, 10], [1 <sup>4</sup> , 10, <sup>4</sup> 0, 00]]			
Block Representation	$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	65 $65$ $65$ $65$ $-1$ $-3$ $-5$ $-7$	65 $65$ $65$ $65$ $65$ $-1$ $-3$ $-5$ $-7$	65 $65$ $65$ $65$ $-1$ $-3$ $-5$ $-7$	-8 -8 -8 0 0 0 0	-24 $-24$ $-24$ $-24$ $0$ 0 0 0 0	-40 $-40$ $-40$ $-40$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	$\langle -56 -56 -56 -56 0 0 0 \rangle$	$\begin{pmatrix} 65 & 65 & 65 & 65 & -15 & -17 & -47 & -49 \\ \end{pmatrix}$	65  65  65  65  -15  -17  -47  -49	65  65  65  65  -15  -17  -47  -49	65  65  65  65  -15  -17  -47  -49	-2 $-2$ $-2$ $-2$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	-6 $-6$ $-6$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	-10 $-10$ $-10$ $-10$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	$\left( \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{pmatrix} 65 & 65 & 65 & 65 & -29 & -31 & -33 & -35 \\ \end{pmatrix}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 65 & 65 & 65 & 65 & -29 & -31 & -33 & -35 \end{bmatrix}$	65  65  65  65  -29  -31  -33  -35	65 $65$ $65$ $65$ $-29$ $-31$ $-33$ $-35$	-4 $-4$ $-4$ $-4$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	-12 $-12$ $-12$ $-12$ $0$ 0 0 0 0	-20 $-20$ $-20$ $-20$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$		$\begin{pmatrix} 65 & 65 & 65 & 65 & -3 & -5 & -11 & -13 \end{pmatrix}$	65  65  65  65  -3  -5  -11  -13	65 $65$ $65$ $65$ $-3$ $-5$ $-11$ $-13$	65 $65$ $65$ $65$ $-3$ $-5$ $-11$ $-13$	-14 $-14$ $-14$ $-14$ $0$ 0 0 0	-18 $-18$ $-18$ $-18$ $-18$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	-46 $-46$ $-46$ $-46$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	$\left( \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Divisor Paths Reversible Square		9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16	17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24	L(8) (8)1 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32	$\left  \begin{array}{c c} 1^{(0)}, {}^{(0)} \end{array} \right  = 33 \ 34 \ 35 \ 36 \ 37 \ 38 \ 39 \ 40 \ 1 \ 30 \ 30 \ 31 \ 30 \ 31 \ 30 \ 31 \ 30 \ 31 \ 30 \ 31 \ 30 \ 31 \ 30 \ 31 \ 30 \ 31 \ 30 \ 30$	41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48	49 50 51 52 53 54 55 56	$\left( \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\left( \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	3  4  19  20  35  36  51  52	5 6 21 22 37 38 53 54	7 8 23 24 39 40 55 56	$\left[ \left[ \left\{ (0), (2) \right\} \right] = \left[ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	11 12 27 28 43 44 59 60	13 14 29 30 45 46 61 62	$\left< 15 \ 16 \ 31 \ 32 \ 47 \ 48 \ 63 \ 64 \right>$		5 6 7 8 37 38 39 40	9 10 11 12 41 42 43 44	13 14 15 16 45 46 47 48	$\left  \left[ 1(0), (4) \right] \right  = 17 18 19 20 49 50 51 52 \right $	21 22 23 24 53 54 55 56	25 26 27 28 57 58 59 60	$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\left( \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	3  4  7  8  11  12  15  16	17 18 21 22 25 26 29 30	[ [ [ [ [ [ [ [ [ [ [ [ [ [ [ [ [ [ [	$\begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 3 \\ 3$	35 36 39 40 43 44 47 48	49 50 53 54 57 58 61 62	$\left( \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Table 4: n=8

Sum-and-Distance System					{{0, 1, 9, 11}, {12, 20, 44, 02}}							[[97 90 95 97] [8 10 99 98]]	{{∠ι, z3, 00, 01}, {υ, 10, 22, 20}							[[2 0 93 9E] [9E 30 31 38]]	{{ <i>1, 3, 20, 20</i> }, { <i>2</i> 0, 00, 0 <del>4</del> , 00}}								{{10, 10, 10, 11, 17}, {zu, zo, ou, 44}			
Block Representation	$\begin{pmatrix} 65 & 65 & 65 & 65 & -5 & -7 & -9 & -11 \end{pmatrix}$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	65  65  65  65  -5  -7  -9  -11	65  65  65  65  -5  -7  -9  -11	-12 $-12$ $-12$ $-12$ $0$ 0 0 0 0	-20 $-20$ $-20$ $-20$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	-44 $-44$ $-44$ $-44$ $0$ 0 0 0	$\left( \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	765656565-27-29-35-37	65  65  65  65  -27  -29  -35  -37	65  65  65  65  -27  -29  -35  -37	65  65  65  65  -27  -29  -35  -37	-6 $-6$ $-6$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	-10 $-10$ $-10$ $-10$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	-22 $-22$ $-22$ $-22$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	$\left( \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	765656565-7-9-23-25	$\begin{bmatrix} 65 & 65 & 65 & -7 & -9 & -23 & -25 \\ \end{bmatrix}$	65 $65$ $65$ $65$ $-7$ $-9$ $-23$ $-25$	65  65  65  65  -7  -9  -23  -25	-26 $-26$ $-26$ $-26$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	-30 $-30$ $-30$ $-30$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	-34 $-34$ $-34$ $-34$ $0$ 0 0 0	$\langle -38 - 38 - 38 - 38 - 38 0 0 0 \rangle$	$\left( \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	65 65 65 65 -13 -15 -17 -19	65  65  65  65  -13  -15  -17  -19	-20 $-20$ $-20$ $-20$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	-28 $-28$ $-28$ $-28$ $-28$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$	-36 - 36 - 36 - 36 0 0 0 0	$\begin{pmatrix} -44 & -44 & -44 & -44 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$
	1 12	5 16	7 28	1 32	3 44	7 48	9 60	3 64	7 38 \	9 40	5 46	7 48	3 54	5 56	1 62	3 64	5 26	7 28	9 30	1 32	7 58	9 60	1 62	3 64 /	9 20	3  24	7 28	1 32	1 52	5 56	09 60	3 64 /
	0 1	4 1	6 2	0 3	2 4	6 4	м м	2 6	4 3	6 3	2	4	0 5	2 5	8	0 0	8	0 2	2	4 3	0 5	2	4 6	9 9	8 1	2	6 2	0 3	0 5	4 5	8 S	2 6
	9 1	3	5	60 33	1 4	5	1 2	1 6	3 3 3 3	5 2 3	14	33	9 5	1 5	1 5	60	7 1	9 2	1 2	33	9 2	1 5	3 2 2	រ ប	7 1	11 2	5	60 33	9 5	3 2 2	7 5	1 6
e	4	8	00	24	<b>36</b> 4	<b>[0</b> 4	22	90	9	8	4	9	22	4	000	22	0 ]	2	4	9	12 4	4	10 9	<u>w</u>	4 1	8	5	9	<b>36</b> 4	0	4	8
quar	6	2	6		5	68	12	5	2	2		5	11	сл С	60	1	6	1		5	LI 4	[3	15	17		2	1	5	5	6	[3	2
ole S	5	9	8	22	4	8	00	4	5	4	0	2	ω α	00	90	$\infty$	5	4	9	8	54	98 10	80	FO ¢	2	9	0	4	4	8	12	- 9
eversil	-	ю	17 j	21 2	33	37 5	49	53	-	с С	6	11	17	19 2	25 2	27 2	-	3	ъ	2	33	35	37 5	39 ć	-	ъ	6	13	33	37 3	41 4	45 4
E.				(8) $(8)$ $(8)$ $(8)$ $(8)$ $(33)$ $(37)$ $(37)$ $(37)$										$\leq$													 			_		
Divisor Paths					$0   \{(2,0), (4,0) \}$								$0 \mid \{(0), (2, 4)\}$								$(1)^{(4,0)}, (2,0)^{-1}$								$\circ   \{(^4, 0), (^4, 0)\}$			

Sum-and-Distance System					$\left  \{\{z_0, z_0, 0^3, 4^1\}, \{10, 14, 10, 2^2\} \right $							[[67 19 10 01] [66 96 96 [1]]	$\{111, 10, 13, 21\}, \{22, 20, 00, 42\}$			
	-41	-41	-41	-41	0	0	0	0	-21	-21	-21	-21	0	0	0	0
	-39	-39	-39	-39	0	0	0	0	-19	-19	-19	-19	0	0	0	0
	-25	-25	-25	-25	0	0	0	0	-13	-13	-13	-13	0	0	0	0
	-23	-23	-23	-23	0	0	0	0	-11	-11	-11	-11	0	0	0	0
	65	65	65 -	65 -	-10	-14	-18	-22	65	65 - 65	65 - 65	65 - 65	-22	-26	-38	-42
cation	65	65	65	65	-10	-14	-18	-22	65	65	65	65	-22	-26 -	-38	-42
present	65	65	65	65	-10	-14	-18	-22	65	65	65	65	-22	-26 -	-38	-42
ck Re <sub>l</sub>	65	65	65	65	-10 -	-14	-18	-22	65	65	65	65	-22	-26 -	-38	-42
BIC				_				_	<u> </u>							_
	2	4	9	ŝ	8	0	52	4 /	2	4	0	2	4	9	52	4 /
	<b>1</b> 1 4	13 4	<b>15</b> 4	47 4	24	59 6	31 6	33 6	21 2	23	29	31 5		50	31 6	<b>33</b> (
	34	36	38	40	50	52	54	56	$\frac{18}{18}$	20	26	28	50	52	58	09
	33	35	37	39	49	51	53	55	17	19	25	27	49	51	57	59
are	10	12	14	16	26	28	30	32	9	$\infty$	14	16	38	40	46	48
Squa	6	11	13	15	25	27	29	31	ഹ	2	13	15	37	39	45	47
sible	2	4	<b>9</b>	$\infty$	18	20	22	24	7	4	10	12	34	36	42	44
Rever	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 \end{pmatrix}$	e Second	ഹ	2	17	19	21	23	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 \end{pmatrix}$	က	6	11	33	35	41	43
Divisor Paths					$\left  \{ (4, 0), (2, 4) \} \right $								$\left  \{ \{(2,4,0), (2,4,0) \} \right $			

Table 5: n=10

	Divisor Paths	Reve	ersib	le S	Juar	e.							Bl	ock F	lepre.	senta	tion							Sum-and-Distance System
		/ 1	2	33	4	2	11	12	13	14	15	-		101	101	101	101	101	9-	8	-10	-12	-14 \	
		9	7	×	6	10	16	17	18	19	20	_	_	101	101	101	101	101	9-	8	-10	-12	-14	
		21	22	23	24	25	31	32	33	34	35			101	101	101	101	101	9-	8	-10	-12	-14	
		2(	3 27	28	29	30	36	37	38	39	40			101	101	101	101	101	9-	8	-10	-12	-14	
Ц	1(01 2) (01 6))	4	42	43	44	45	51	52	53	54	55			101	101	101	101	101	9-	8	-10	-12	-14	[[8 0 10 10 14] [E 3E 4E 7E 8E]]
ົ	{(Δ, IU), (J, IU)}	46	3 47	. 48	49	50	56	57	58	59	60			-5	15	1.5	-5	-5	0	0	0	0	0	{{0, 5, 10, 12, 14}, {0, 50, 40, 70, 50}}
		[9]	62	63	64	65	7	72	73	74	75			-35	-35	-35	-35	-35	0	0	0	0	0	
		96	5 67	, 68	69	70	76	77	78	79	80			-45	-45	-45	-45	-45	0	0	0	0	0	
		<u>[</u> 8	82	83	84	85	91	92	93	94	95	_		-75	-75	-75	-75	-75	0	0	0	0	0	
		∕ 8(	87	88	89	06	96	97	98	66	100	<b>_</b>	_	-85	-85	-85	-85	-85	0	0	0	0	0	
		/ 1	2	11	12	21	22	31	32	41	42	/	<u> </u>	101	101	101	101	101	-1	-19	-21	-39	-41	
		3	4	13	14	23	24	33	34	43	44	_	_	101	101	101	101	101	-	-19	-21	-39	-41	
		2	9	15	16	25	26	35	36	45	46			101	101	101	101	101	-1	-19	-21	-39	-41	
		7	x	17	18	27	. 28	37	38	47	48			101	101	101	101	101	1	-19	-21	-39	-41	
Ś	J(F 10) (9 10)	6	10	19	20	29	30	39	40	49	50			101	101	101	101	101	-1	-19	-21	-39	-41	[[1 10 91 90 11] [19 16 E0 E1 E8]]
>	l(0, 10), (2, 10) ζ	5	52	61	62	71	72	81	82	91	92			-42	-42	-42	-42	-42	0	0	0	0	0	{{1, 13, 21, 03, 41}, {42, 40, 00, 04, 00}
		55	54	i 63	64	73	74	83	84	93	94			-46	-46	-46	-46	-46	0	0	0	0	0	
		5	56	65	66	75	76	85	86	95	$\overline{96}$			-50	-50	-50	-50	-50	0	0	0	0	0	
		2	55	3 67	68	77	78	87	88	97	98	_		-54	-54	-54	-54	-54	0	0	0	0	0	
		<ul><li>56</li></ul>	90	69 U	70	29	80	89	60	66	100	-	_	-58	-58	-58	-58	-58	0	0	0	0	0	
		/ 1	2	3	4	ນ	26	27	28	29	30		<u> </u>	101	101	101	101	101	-21	-23	-25	-27	-29 \	
		9	7	x	6	10	31	32	33	34	35	_	_	101	101	101	101	101	-21	-23	-25	-27	-29	
		11	12	13	14	15	36	37	38	39	40			101	101	101	101	101	-21	-23	-25	-27	-29	
		16	11	18	19	20	41	42	43	44	45			101	101	101	101	101	-21	-23	-25	-27	-29	
-1	J(F 10) (F 10)	21	22	23	$^{24}$	25	46	47	48	49	50			101	101	101	101	101	-21	-23	-25	-27	-29	
-		51	52	53	54	55	76	77	78	62	80			-30	-30	-30	-30	-30	0	0	0	0	0	<pre>[1] [[41, 20, 20, 21, 23], [00, 40, 00, 10]]</pre>
		56	57	58	59	60	81	82	83	84	85			-40	-40	-40	-40	-40	0	0	0	0	0	
		[9]	62	63	64	65	86	87	88	89	06			-50	-50	-50	-50	-50	0	0	0	0	0	
		66	67	68	69	70	91	92	93	94	95	_		-60	-60	-60	-60	-60	0	0	0	0	0	
		12	12	73	74	75	96	97	98	66	100	-	_	-20	-70	-70	-70	-70	0	0	0	0	0	

																											_								-		
																		10	10	10	10	10	_	_			_										
			- 11	0	0	0 0		-12	-12	1 1		-12	0	0	0 0		0 0	T	T	Ϊ		Π	U	0			0	6	م	ລູ	ກດ	n o					
	6 6	6- 6-	6 -	0	0	0		19	19	10	19	19	_	_				108	108	108	108 108	108	0	0	0 0		0	6	) 	500	ກ c 	n 0 	0	0	0 0		00
			۔ ۲-		0	_		Γ	Ϊ	-		Ϊ	0	0														-97	-97 -	-97 -	- 6-	- 67-	, 0	0	0		0
		1 1	_		U	0		-73	-73	- 73 73	2 2	-73	0	0	0 0		0 0	-106	-106	-106	- 10C	-106	0	0	0 0	0	0	5	ں م	Ω Ω	с и	្រួ	,	_	_		
		ĨĨ	°ĭ ⊂	0	0	0		1	E i		- 2	L	_	_		_		8	8	× ×	xx	2 00	_	_			_	1		1	1	1 1	0	0	0 0		
		- 3	°_ ⊂	0	0	0 0						Ì	0	0 (	00			Ĩ	Î	Î	ĨĨ	Î	0	0			0	-93	- 93	- 93	- 93 09	- 9.0 - 0.3	0	0	0	0 0	0
				0	0	0 0	0 0	-25	-25	- 25 25	-25	-25	0	0	0 0		0 0	-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	0	0	0 0	0	0	ب م		ကို	က ဂ	ာက်	, o	0	0 č	0 0	0 0
	145 145 145	$145 \\ 145$	145 - 12	-36	-60	-84	-108 -132	-23	-23	-23	- 23	-23	0	0	0 0		0 0	-34	-34	-34	-34	-34	0	0	0 0	0	0	-			_, ,	-, <u>-</u> , -	0	0	0	0 0	0 0
	សិសិសិ	ស ស	5 5 2	2.02	30	84	 35 0	145	145	145 145	145	145	$^{-2}$	9-0;	-10	- 14	-10 -22	145	145	145	145 145	145	-3	6-	-15	-27	-33	145	145	145	140 145	145	-4-	-12	-20	-28	-44
	14	14	14	Ĩ	Ĩ	ĩ		45	45	45 7 45	45	45	-2	9-0,	-10	- 14 10	 	45	45	42 1	45	45	-3	6-	- 15	-27	-33	45	45	45	140 140	54 54	-4-	-12	-20	9 28 7 78	- 44
п	145 145 145	$145 \\ 145$	145 - 12	-36	-60	-84	-132	5 1	1	លិក 	ם היי	5	5	9.9	- 10	- - -	9 23	5	5	ر ت 1	ت 1 –	1 L 1 L		റ	51 52 1 1 1	- 22	33	5	5 I	رت ۱۰	ດ ມ 	2 <u>5</u>	54	- 12	20	2 2 2 2	5 4 I I
tatio	$\begin{array}{c} 145\\ 145\\ 145\\ 145\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 145\\ 145\end{array}$	145 - 12	-36	-60	-84	-108	5 14	14	2 I Z	14	5 14			0 -	1 1 7	і ї 0 01	5 14	14	14	0 17 17	14			ີ່ ທີ່	-1-	ີ ຕ	5 14	0 14	0 I4	- 17 - 17		;   	2	0	ו ד ס מ	04 1 1
esent	លលល	ស ស	53 C	3.6	30	84	, , 32 0	14	14	14	14	14	1	Ÿ,			- 1	14	14	14	14	141	Ĩ	1		1 0	-3	14	14:	1.	 -	14	1	-1	- 2	7 7 	04
Repr		14	14	Ĩ	Ĭ	ĩ		145	145	145 145	145	145	$^{-2}$	9-	-10	- 14 10	-10	145	145	145	145 145	145	-3	6-	-15	-27	-33	145	145	145	140	145	-4	-12	-20	-28	
ock	$145 \\ 145 \\ 145 \\ 145$	$145 \\ 145$	145 - 12	-36	-60	-84	-132	145	145	145 145	145	145	$^{-2}$	9-	-10	-14 10	-10	145	145	145	145 145	145	-3	6	-15	-27	-33	145	145	145	140 145	145	-4-	-12	-20	-28	
B							_	$\frown$	_								_	$\geq$	_					_			_	$\geq$	_								_
							_																														
	$\begin{array}{c} 12\\ 24\\ 36\end{array}$	$48 \\ 60$	72 84	96	108	120	144																				_										
	$ \begin{array}{c} 11 \\ 23 \\ 35 \end{array} $	47 59	71	95	107	119	$131 \\ 143$		<del>, 1</del>			~1	<del></del>		~ ~				114	117	120	126	129	132	[35 28	141	144 /			~ ~	N (1			~	~		_
	10 22 34	$ \frac{46}{58} $	20	94	-06	18	- 30 - 42	$12'_{12}$	$12^{\prime}$	126	13(	$13'_{2}$	$13^{\prime}$	13(	133	14	14	10	13	919	n e	18	28		4 c	- 0	43	10(	TO <sup>7</sup>	ñ,		12(	$12^{\circ}$	126	132	13(	+ <del>1</del>
		10 F	~ -		5		ה ת ה	121	123	125	129	131	133	135	137	1.139 1.11	$141 \\ 143$	1.			~ - ~ -		H	- H		i A	1	66	103	107	111	119	123	127	131	135 130	143 143
	0 2 8	4 2	ũ x	6	10	11	141	98	100	102	106	108	[10	[12	114 116	10	120	105	11	= ;	1121	124	127	13(	133	13.0	145	98	102	106	110	1 7	122	126	130	138	142
	8 20 32 8	44 56	89 80	$\frac{32}{2}$	104	116	140	2	6	<u> </u>	ະ	2	60		ຕຸມ 	۱ ن	- 6	75	78	81 81	x 4 7	60	93	$\overline{96}$	99 103	105	108	1	_ ;	<u>د</u> د	ي. م	40		5	60	<u>.</u> 20	: =
	$\frac{7}{19}$	$43 \\ 55$	67 79	91	103	115	139	6	6	22	1 1	10	H	=;	= =	= =		74	22	80	222	68	92	95	8 5	04	07	6		= ;	= =	= =	12	12	1	22 2 	17
		0.4	ωx		02	14	5 %	74	20	28	82	84	86	8 8 8	88	20	96 96	~		~ ~		) w	_	<del></del>		 >	6 1	52	56	<u> </u>	70 97	on 62	76	80	84	8 S	7 <i>6</i> 96
	0 - 0	4 KO	910	- ೧	1		- H	73	12	77	- 18 18	83	85	87	68 5	16 03	6 6 7	22	2	ř (	xòx	őõõ	6	6	6 <u>2</u>	10	10	51	55	59	002	5 5	75	79	8 8	22 01	95 95
	5 17 29	$\frac{41}{53}$	65 77	89	101	11	13 E	50	52	54 76	280	60	62	64	99 99	000	22	39	42	45	84 E	54	57	09	63 66	69	72	50	54	200	20 70	002	74	78	82	99 80	94 94
е	$\begin{array}{c} 4\\16\\28\end{array}$	$40 \\ 52$	$64 \\ 76$	2 88	100	112	$124 \\ 136$	49	51	с 5 7 3 3	57	59	61	63	65 67	10	03 71	38	41	44	47 702	53	56	59	62 67	68	71	49	53	57	10 0	69	73	77	81	85 80	93 93
quar	$\frac{3}{15}$ 27	39 51	$63 \\ 75$	87	66	111	135	26	28	30	34	36	38	40	42	44 7 8	40 48	37	40	43	40 40	52	55	58	61 61	10	70	4	x ;	12		77	28	32	36	40	44 48
ole S	$\frac{2}{14}$	38 50	$62 \\ 74$	86	98	10	34	25	27	29	33 7	35	L 37	39	8 41 9 4	1 43 75 75	1 47	3	9	6	12 12	18	) 21	24	30	3 8	36	က		= ÷	10 10	23	5 27	) 31	1 35	20 20 20 20 20	6 <del>1</del> 5
ersib		0	- ~		2	6	 	5	4	90	° 1	12	14	9,		5 F	57	0	ю,	so ;			20	2	3 8	1 8	33	0	; 0	Ξ.	5 F	1 6	5	30	8	ž č	14
leve	$\frac{1}{22}$	ξ	91	- õõ	, 6	10	13 13		က	1 വ	- 6	11	13	β. Γ	17	ы с Г	23	$\begin{pmatrix} \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\$	4	r- ,	1310	16	19	52	5 5 7 5	3 2	34	/ 1	റ	ი; ი	1 5	16	$52 \\ -52 \\$	29	8	5.5 7	45
<u> </u>																																	_				
aths			$\frac{1}{2}$									ہے	_									_	~									~	~				
r P			(15									(0)	)									(6)	0									1	(4)				
iso			2),									(6)	.(),									ĺ	(7),									ć	(2),				
2			_									_																				-					
Div			{(1									.) <u>,</u>	Ľ,									5	<u>۔</u>														

Table 6: n=12

Divisor Paths Reversible Square	Keversible Square	eversible Square	sible Square	Square	are ,			<u>i</u>	1	1	20	11	100		lock I	Sepres	sentati	0U	T T	L L	1		1	i 0	1		[
$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 2 3 4 5 6 73 74 7 8 9 10 11 12 79 80	$egin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	73 74 79 80	74 80		$\frac{75}{81}$	76 82	77 83	84		145 145	$145 \\ 145$	$145 \\ 145$	$145 \\ 145$	145 145 145	45 (	57 –6 57 –6	6 2 1 6		3 7 7	22-22	_	
13 14 15 16 17 18 85 86 87			14 15 16 17 18 85 86 87		6 17 18 85 86 87	18 85 86 87	85 86 87	86 87	87		1 00 0 00	89	90		 145	145	145	145	145 1	45 – (	57 –6 57 –6	6 - 2	- 12	- 12 - 12 - 12	5 -77		
19 20 21 22 23 24 91 92 93	19 20 21 22 23 24 91 92 93	19 20 21 22 23 24 91 92 93	20 21 22 23 24 91 92 93	21 22 23 24 91 92 93	2 23 24 91 92 93	24 91 92 93	91 92 93	92 93	93		94	95	96		 145	145	145	145	145 1	45 –(	57 –6	9 -7	1 - 75	3 -75	5 -77		
25 26 27 28 29 30 97 98 99 1	25 26 27 28 29 30 97 98 99 1 21 25 26 27 28 29 30 97 98 99 1	25 26 27 28 29 30 97 98 99 1	26 27 28 29 30 97 98 99 1	27 28 29 30 97 98 99 1	8 29 30 97 98 99 1	0 30 97 98 99 1	97 98 99 1	98 99 1	99 1		00 8	101	102		145	145	145	145	145 1	45 –(	57 –6 17	6 0	121	33 - 12 - 12	2 -77		
$ \{(12), (6)\} $ $  37 38 39 40 41 42 109 101 111 1$	37 38 39 40 41 42 109 110 111 1	37 38 39 40 41 42 109 110 111 1	32 $39$ $40$ $41$ $42$ $109$ $110$ $111$ $1$	39 40 41 42 109 110 110 111 1	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	42 109 110 111 1 42 109 110 111 1	109 110 110 110 111 110 110 110 110 110	110 111 111 111 111 111 1111 1111 1111			12	113	114 114		 0#1 -0	-66 -66	-66 -66	-66 -66	9	°₽ -0 -0		- 0 n				_	
43 44 45 46 47 48 115 116 117 1	43 44 45 46 47 48 115 116 117 1	43 44 45 46 47 48 115 116 117 1	44 45 46 47 48 115 116 117 1	45 46 47 48 115 116 117 1	6 47 48 115 116 117 1	48 115 116 117 1	115 116 117 1	116 117 1	117 1	÷	18	119	120		-18	-18	-18	-18	-18 -	-18 0	0	0	0	0	0		
49 50 51 52 53 54 121 122 123 1	49 50 51 52 53 54 121 122 123 1	49 50 51 52 53 54 121 122 123 1	50 51 52 53 54 121 122 123 1	51 $52$ $53$ $54$ $121$ $122$ $123$ $1$	2 53 54 121 122 123 1	54 121 122 123 1	121 122 123 1	122 123 1	123 1		$^{24}$	125	126		-30	-30	-30	-30	-30 -	-30 0	0	0	0	0	0		
55         56         57         58         59         60         127         128         129         1           81         83         83         84         85         64         132         134         135         13	55         56         57         58         59         60         127         128         129         1           a1         a2         a3         a3         a3         a3         134         135         13	55 56 57 58 59 60 127 128 129 1 e1 e2 e2 e4 e5 e6 122 124 125 1	56 57 58 59 60 127 128 129 1 69 63 64 65 66 133 134 135 1	57 58 59 60 127 128 129 1 29 64 65 66 133 134 135 1	8 59 60 127 128 129 1 24 65 66 133 134 135 1	) 60 127 128 129 ] : 66 123 124 125 1	127 128 129 ] 123 124 125 1	128 129 ] 124 125 1	129 ]		130 136	131	132		 -42 74	-42 54	-42 54	-42 57	-42 54	-42 0 54	0 0	00	0 0	0 0	0 0		
67 68 69 70 71 72 139 140 141	$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	67 $68$ $69$ $70$ $71$ $72$ $139$ $140$ $141$	68 $69$ $70$ $71$ $72$ $139$ $140$ $141$	69 70 71 72 139 140 141	0 71 72 139 140 141	72 139 140 141	139 $140$ $141$	140 141	141		142	143	144		-99 -	₽0 - 09	-00 -	. 99 - 99	- 99 - 99	0 99-	0 0	0	00	0 0	0 0	_	
7 1 2 5 6 9 10 13 14	7 1 2 5 6 9 10 13 14	1  2  5  6  9  10  13  14	2 5 6 9 10 13 14	5 6 9 10 13 14	6 9 10 13 14	9 10 13 14	10 13 14	13 14	14		17	18	21	22	145	145	145	145	14	5 14	5 -3	-5	-11	-13	-19	-21	
3 4 7 8 11 12 15 16	3 4 7 8 11 12 15 16	3 4 7 8 11 12 15 16	4 7 8 11 12 15 16	7 8 11 12 15 16	8 11 12 15 16	11 $12$ $15$ $16$	12 $15$ $16$	15 16	16		19	20	23	24	145	145	145	145	14	5 14	5   3	-5	-11	-13	-19	-21	_
25 26 29 30 33 34 37 38	25 26 29 30 33 34 37 38	25 $26$ $29$ $30$ $33$ $34$ $37$ $38$	26 $29$ $30$ $33$ $34$ $37$ $38$	29 $30$ $33$ $34$ $37$ $38$	30 $33$ $34$ $37$ $38$	33  34  37  38	34  37  38	37 38	38		41	42	45	46	145	145	145	145	14	5 14	3	1.5	-11	-13	-19	-21	
27 28 31 32 35 36 39 40	27 28 31 32 35 36 39 40	27 28 31 32 35 36 39 40 4	28 31 32 35 36 39 40 4	31 32 35 36 39 40 4	32 35 36 39 40 i	35 36 39 40	36 39 40	39 40	40		<u>양</u> :	44	47	48 1	145	145	145	145	14	14	, n 1 1 1 1 1	10,1	-11	-13	-19	-21	
49 00 03 04 07 08 01 02 0 		49 00 03 04 07 08 01 02 0 e1 e0 ee ee eo eo e0 e3 e4 o	20 23 24 27 28 01 02 1 E9 EE EE E0 E0 E9 E4 6	03 04 07 08 01 02 0 EE EE EO EO EO EO E	24 27 28 01 02 0 EE EO EO E3 E4 0	50 10 20 10 27 10 20 10 20 10 20 10 20 10 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	10 70 10 20 10 20 10 20 10 20 10 20 10 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	70 TO	70	00	Ω Į	00	06 1	5 5	 145	140	145	140	14:	0 - 14	0 × 0 r	ດ ມ 	11	-13	61 -	17-	
$ \{(2,12),(2,12)\} $ $  \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0.7 & 0.7 & 0.0 $	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	00 09 00 09 04 0 78 81 82 85 86 8	29 00 03 04 0 81 82 85 86 8	00 00 04 0 85 86 8	0.0 04 0 85 86 8	0 % 80	o oc	- 6	06	11	7 76	 -22	-22	-22	-27 -27	14	2 -14 -2	0 0 − 0		10		0 T a	17 C	
		75 76 79 80 83 84 87 88 9			80 83 84 87 88 9	83 84 87 88 0	84 87 88 9	00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00		50	. —	00	020	96	-26	-26	-26	1.2		101	0 C 1 S						
97 98 101 102 105 106 109 110 11		97 98 101 102 105 106 109 110 11	98 101 102 105 106 109 110 11	101 102 105 106 109 110 11			106 109 110 11	109 110 11	110 11	Ξ	, n	114	117	118	 -70	02 - 20	-70	4 F  -		0		0	0	00	0 0	0	
99 100 103 104 107 108 111 112 11	99 100 103 104 107 108 111 112 11	99 100 103 104 107 108 111 112 111	100 103 104 107 108 111 112 11	103 104 107 108 111 112 11	104 107 108 111 112 11	107 108 111 112 11	108 111 112 11	111 112 11	112 11	Ē	10	116	119	120	-74	-74	-74	-7-	1 -7	4 -7	4 0	0	0	0	0	0	
121 122 125 126 129 130 133 134 13	121 122 125 126 129 130 133 134 13	121 122 125 126 129 130 133 134 13	122 125 126 129 130 133 134 13	125 126 129 130 133 134 13	126 129 130 133 134 13	129 130 133 134 13	130 133 134 13	133 134 13	134  13	13	-1	138	141	142	-118	-118	-118	8 -11	8 -11	l8 –1.	18 0	0	0	0	0	0	
123 124 127 128 131 132 135 136 13	123 124 127 128 131 132 135 136 13	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	124 127 128 131 132 135 136 13	127 128 131 132 135 136 13	128 131 132 135 136 13	131 132 135 136 13	132 135 136 13	135 136 13	136 13	13	6	140	143	144 /	-122	-125	-125	2 -12	2 -12	22 -15	22 0	0	0	0	0	0	
	$/$ 1 2 3 7 8 9 13 14 1	1 2 3 7 8 9 13 14 1	2 3 7 8 9 13 14 1	3 7 8 9 13 14 1	7 8 9 13 14 1	8 9 13 14 1	9 13 14 1	13 14 1	14 1	-	2	19	20	21	145	145	145	145	14	5 14	5 -4	9-	× ×	-16	-18	20	
4 5 6 10 11 12 16 17 1	$\left  \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4 5 6 10 11 12 16 17 1	5 6 10 11 12 16 17 1	6 10 11 12 16 17 1 <sup>1</sup>	10 11 12 16 17 1	11 12 16 17 1	12 16 17 10	16 17 18	17 18	Ä	<b>2</b> 0	22	23	24	145	145	145	145	14	5 14	5 -4	9-	8	-16	-18	20	
25 26 27 31 32 33 37 38 30	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	27 31 32 33 37 38 30	31 $32$ $33$ $37$ $38$ $30$	32 33 37 38 30	33 37 38 39	37 38 36	38	с, с	_	43	44 !	45	145	145	145	145	14	14	- 4 - 1 - 4	9-	80 ( 	-16	-18	20	
		28 29 30 34 35 36 40 41 4 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 31 30 30 30 40 41 4		30 34 35 36 40 41 4	34 35 36 40 41 4	35 36 40 41 4	36 40 41 4	40 41 4	41 41	4.6		46	47	48	145	145	145	14. 14.	- <del>-</del> -	0 14	0 Y	9	ю 	- 16 -		50	
49 50 51 55 56 57 61 62 6	49 50 51 55 56 57 61 62 6 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	49 50 51 55 56 57 61 62 6 79 70 71 70 70 70 71 77	50 51 55 56 57 61 62 6				57 61 62 (	61 62 (	27.0	-	2 2	29	8 6 8	69	145	145	145	145	14	0 14	0 N	9 0	x o I	-16	- - - -	20	
$ \{(2,12), (3,12)\}  = \frac{52}{7}, \frac{53}{2}, \frac{54}{2}, \frac{58}{2}, \frac{59}{2}, \frac{60}{2}, \frac{64}{2}, \frac{65}{2}$	$\begin{bmatrix} 52 53 54 58 59 60 64 65 \\ 72 75 77 70 50 51 57 50 \\ 72 57 50 51 57 50 \\ 72 57 50 51 57 50 51 57 50 50 51 57 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 $	52 53 54 58 59 60 64 65 79 74 77 70 60 61 65 65	53 54 58 59 60 64 65 74 77 70 50 51 57 55	54 $58$ $59$ $60$ $64$ $65$	58 59 60 64 65 70 50 51 57 50		60 64 65 61 67 65	64 65 67 65	65 0		00	0, 5	77	2 2	145 61	145 24	145 61	14: 14:	14: - 14:	0 - 4 0	0 - 7 4	0   	× ×	01- 10	- - - -	0.20	
		73 74 75 79 80 81 85 80 76 77 76 69 69 61 60 60	74 75 76 80 81 85 80 77 76 89 80 81 85 80	75 76 80 81 80 80 76 89 80 81 80 80	08 G8 T8 D8 6/	80 81 85 86 69 64 66 60	81 85 80 64 66 60	85 80 60	0 0 0		20	91 04	92 7 7	93 93	 12-	12-		5 K 				<b>-</b> 0					
		10 11 18 82 83 84 88 89 67 68 60 169 101 167 100 110	11 18 82 83 84 88 89 00 103 104 107 100 110	78 82 83 84 88 89 00 103 104 107 100 110	82 83 84 88 89 109 104 107 100 110	53 54 55 59 104 107 100 110	84 88 89 107 100 110	58 89 100 110	89		06 <u>-</u>	94 11	رب 1. م	90 1 1	 12-	12-	12-	7 0									
97 98 99 103 104 105 109 110 100 101 109 106 107 108 119 119	97 98 99 103 104 105 109 110 100 101 109 106 107 108 119 119	97 98 99 103 104 105 109 110 100 101 103 106 107 108 113 113	98 99 103 104 105 109 110 101 109 106 107 108 119 119	99 103 104 105 109 110 109 106 107 108 119 119	103 104 105 109 109 10 106 107 108 119 119	104 105 109 110 119 119	011 601 C01	11.9 11.9 11.9 11.9	119		111	011 011	110	711	-09 75	-09 75	-09 75	3 F 	10	ים 10 10	0 0 5 2						
	CTI 7TI 001 /01 001 701 101 001 001 001 001 001 001 0	011 711 001 /01 001 701 101 101 101 001 001 001 001 0	011 711 001 /01 001 701 101 011 711 001 /01 001 201 001	011 711 001 101 001 701 001 701	011 711 001 /01 001 791 001 001 001	CTT ZTT OUT /OT	CII 711 OOI	011 711 101 001	011 101		114	011	119	170	 0.5	0 ;	0;	;;;   	- ;   			-	- 0				
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	121 122 123 12/ 128 129 133 134 124 125 126 130 131 132 136 137	122 123 12/ 128 129 133 134 125 126 130 131 132 136 137	123 127 128 129 133 134 126 130 131 132 136 137	12/ 120 129 133 134 130 131 132 136 137	120 129 133 134 131 132 136 137	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	136 137 136 137	137 137		138 138	142	140 143	$^{141}_{144}$	-11.	-11.0	-112	-11	- 12	17	53 O		0 0	0 0	0 0		
7 1 2 3 4 9 10 11 12	7 1 2 3 4 9 10 11 12	1 2 3 4 9 10 11 12	2 3 4 9 10 11 12	3 4 9 10 11 12	4 9 10 11 12	9 10 11 12	10 $11$ $12$	11 12	12		17	18	19	20	145	145	145	145	14	5 14	-1	-3	-13	-15	-17	-19	
5 6 7 8 13 14 15 16	5 6 7 8 13 14 15 16	5 $6$ $7$ $8$ $13$ $14$ $15$ $16$	6 7 8 13 14 15 16	7 8 13 14 15 16	8 13 14 15 16	13 $14$ $15$ $16$	14  15  16	15 16	16		21	22	23	24	145	145	145	145	14	5 14	5 -1	-3	-13	-15	-17	-19	_
25 26 27 28 33 34 35 36	25 26 27 28 33 34 35 36	25 26 27 28 33 34 35 36	26 27 28 33 34 35 36	27 28 33 34 35 36	28 33 34 35 36	33 $34$ $35$ $36$	34 $35$ $36$	35 36	36		41	42	43	44	145	145	145	145	14	5 14	5 -1	-3	-13	-15	-17	-19	
29 30 31 32 37 38 39 40	29 30 31 32 37 38 39 40	29 $30$ $31$ $32$ $37$ $38$ $39$ $40$	30 $31$ $32$ $37$ $38$ $39$ $40$	31 $32$ $37$ $38$ $39$ $40$	32 $37$ $38$ $39$ $40$	37 $38$ $39$ $40$	38  39  40	39  40	40		45	46	47	48	145	145	145	145	14	5 14	5 -1	-3	-13	-15	-17	-19	
49 50 51 52 57 58 59 60	49 50 51 52 57 58 59 60	49 50 51 52 57 58 59 60	50 51 52 57 58 59 60	51 52 57 58 59 60	52 57 58 59 60	57 58 59 60	58 59 60	59 60	60		65	66	67	68	145	145	145	145	14	5 14	5 -1	-3	-13	-15	-17	-19	
[//u 1 u) / 1 u) 53 54 55 56 61 62 63 64	1 53 54 55 56 61 62 63 64	53 $54$ $55$ $56$ $61$ $62$ $63$ $64$	54 $55$ $56$ $61$ $62$ $63$ $64$	55 $56$ $61$ $62$ $63$ $64$	56 $61$ $62$ $63$ $64$	61 $62$ $63$ $64$	62 $63$ $64$	63 $64$	64		69	70	71	72	145	145	145	145	14	5 14	-1	-3	-13	-15	-17	-19	
$ \{(2, 12), (4, 12)\} $ 73 74 75 76 81 82 83 84	$\left \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	73 74 75 76 81 82 83 84	74 75 76 81 82 83 84	75 76 81 82 83 84	76 81 82 83 84	81 82 83 84	82 83 84	83 84	84		89	06	91	92	-20	-20	-20	-2(	) -2	0 - 2	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	
77 78 79 80 85 86 87 88	77 78 79 80 85 86 87 88	77 78 79 80 85 86 87 88	78 79 80 85 86 87 88	79 80 85 86 87 88	80 85 86 87 88	85 86 87 88	86 87 88	87 88	88		93	94	95	96	-28	-28	-28	-26	s -2	8 -2	8 0	0	0	0	0	0	
97 98 99 100 105 106 107 108	97 98 99 100 105 106 107 108	97 98 99 100 105 106 107 108	98 99 100 105 106 107 108	99 100 105 106 107 108	100 105 106 107 108	105 106 107 108	106 107 108	107 108	108		113	114	115	116	 -68	-68	-68	-68	8 -6	8 -6	8 0	0	0	0	0	0	
101 102 103 104 109 110 111 112	101 102 103 104 109 110 111 112	101  102  103  104  109  110  111  112	102 103 104 109 110 111 112	103 104 109 110 111 112	104 109 110 111 112	109 110 111 112	110 111 112	111 112	112		117	118	119	120	-76	-76	-76	-7(		6 -7	6 0	0	0	0	0	0	
121 122 123 124 129 130 131 132	121 122 123 124 129 130 131 132	121 122 123 124 129 130 131 132	122 123 124 129 130 131 132	123 124 129 130 131 132	124 129 130 131 132	129 130 131 132	130 131 132	131 132	132		137	138	139	140	-116	-116	-116	6 -11	6 -11	l6 –1:	16 0	0	0	0	0	0	
125 126 127 128 133 134 135 136	125 126 127 128 133 134 135 136	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	126 127 128 133 134 135 136	127 128 133 134 135 136	128 133 134 135 136	133 134 135 136	134 135 136	135 136	136		141	142	143	144 /	-124	-124	-124	1 -12	4 -15	24 -1	24 0	0	0	0	0	0	

	Divisor P	<sup>aths</sup> 1	Rever	sible	Squ	lare										BI	ock R	sprese	ntatic	n l									
				5	3		ц)		9	13	14	15	16	[ 2 ]	18		145	145	145	145	14	1 1	45	5- 	-11	1-13	-15	-17	-
			2 2 2	x ç	9 7	≓č	5 H		2 5	19 72	07 82	21 20			24		145 145	145 145	145 145	145 145	14	0 r 	45 74 1				115	-17	
			31	32	333	က်	یں ہے۔ من	 	, <u>9</u>	- 13	3 4	55	46 4		1 22		145	145	145	145	14	ы Г	45	- 1-		1 - 13	-15	-17	
			49	50	51	2	ی م	 	54	51 (	52 (	33	64 6	55 C	36		145	145	145	145	14,	5	45 –	- 2	) -11	1 -13	-15	-17	
0	(61 6))	1011	55	56	57	55	3 5:	9 6	30	57 (	58 (	<b>3</b> 9	. 02	7 7	72		145	145	145	145	14	5 1.	45 –	5- 2-	) -11	1 -13	-15	-17	
a	ر <i>۱</i> 4, ۱4),	(0, 14)J	73	74	75	7	3 7		28	85 2	36 2	87	38	39 5	06		-18	-18	-18	-18	-1	8	18 (	0	0	0	0	0	
			79	80	81	80	s S	3	34	91 9	92	93	94 6	95 6	96		-30	-30	-30	-30	-3	- 0:	30 (	0	0	0	0	0	
			67	98	66	10	0 10	)1 1	02 1	09 1	10 1	11	12 1	13 1	14		-66	-66	-66	-66	-0	- 99	99 (	0	0	0	0	0	
			103	104	105	5 10	6 1C	1 1	08 1	15 1	16 1	17 1	.18 1	19 1:	20		-78	-78	-78	-78	-1	- 18	78 (	0	0	0	0	0	
			121	122	$12^{\circ}$	3 12	4 15	25 1	26 1	33 1	34 1	35 1	36 1	37 1:	38		-114	-114	-114	$-11_{4}$	4 -1.	14 —.	114 (	0	0	0	0	0	_
			127	128	12(	9 13	0 15	31 1	32 1	39 1	40  1	41 1	42 1	43 1/	44 /	/	-126	-126	-126	-12(	5 -1:	26 –.	126 (	0	0	0	0	0	<u> </u>
				2	2	9	19 5(	0 55	3 54	97	98	101	102				145	145	145 1	45 1	45 1	145 -	-5	91	6	3 -99	-10		
			က	4	7	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	51 52	2 55	56	66	100	103	104	_		_	145	145	145 1	45 1	45 1	145 -	-3	91		399	-10		
			6	10	13	14 5	57 58	8 61	. 62	105	106	109	110				145	145	145 1	45 1	45 1	145 -	-3	91		3 -99	-10		
			11	12	15	16 5	59 60	9 63	3 64	107	108	111	112				145	145 .	145 1	45 1	45 1	145 -	-3 -5	-91	- 99	3 -99	-10	1	
			17	18	21	22 (	35 60	59 <u>6</u> 5	02 (	113	114	117	118				145	145	145 1	45 1	45 1	145 -	-3	-91	- 99	3 -99	-10		
10	(01 0/)		19	20	23	24 (	37 68	8 71	72	115	116	119	120				145	145	145 1	45 1	45 1	145 -	-3	91	65	3 -99	-10		
Π	$\{(2, 12),$	(2, 4)	25	26	29	30	73	4 77	78	121	122	125	126				9-	9-	- 9-	- 9-	- <u>9</u> -	9-0-	0	C	C	C	С		
			010	a x	- 	, 200 200	й 7	- 20	80	193	101	101	198				- 1 1	-1, c	- 1 c	-1 c	-1- -	-10							
			- cc	0.40	1 1	100	- 2 - 2	а - 0 - 0	00	091	190	121	194																
			S.	04 0	ئ ر م	000	0. 21 0.		00 00 00 00	129	130	100	134				77 -	- 77-	- 77-	- 77-	- 77-	77-			0	) o			
			35	36	39	40 8	ŝ	4 87	88	131	132	135	136				-26	-26 -	-26 -	- 26 -	- 26 -	-26	0	0	0	0	0		
			41	42	45	46 8	39 9(	0 95	3 94	137	138	141	142			_	-38	-38 -	-38 -	-38 -	-38 -	-38	0	0	0	0	0		
			43	44	47	48 5	11 9.	2 95	5 96	139	140	143	144	_		/	-42	-42 -	-42 -	-42 -	-42 -	-42	0 0	0	0	0	0	_	
				2	2	9	9 I(	0 7	3 7	4 7	7 7	8	1 8	2			145	145	145 1	45 1	45 1	145 -	-63	- 05	- 11 -	- 73 –	- 62	81	
			°	4	4	×	11	2	5 7	6 7	8	0 8	м м	4		_	145	145 j	145 1	45 1	45 1	145 -	-63	- 65	- 11 -	- 73 –	- 62	81	
			13	14	17	18	2, 12	% %	5 8	6 8	6 6	0	6 9	4			145	145 1	145 1	45 1	45 1	145 -	-63	- 65	- 11 -	- 73 –	- 62	81	
			15	16	19	20	2	4	7 8	8	1 9	2	5	9			145	145 j	145 1	45 1	45 1		-63	- 65	- 11-	- 73 –	- 62	81	
			25	26	29	30		- 7 - 7	6 2	8 10	11 10		05 10	90			145	145	145 1	45 1	45	- 45	- 03	- 05	- 12-	-73 –	- 62	81	
Ţ	(01 0))		27	28		32	20 21 21	6 	. 6	100	33 1(	- 1(	77 10	x			145	145	145	45	45	145	-63	- - -	- 12-	- 7.3	- 62	2	
TT	$\{(2, 12),$	(2,0)	37		41.	4.5	15 46	9 C	- 1 6(	10	13	- 1	17 11	ox			- 10	-10	- 10	- 1 01,	- 10 - 1	-10				2	2		
			30	40	43	44	17 45	5 F	 	- 11 	5 E	- i - i - i	10 15				-14 -14	-14	-14	-14	-14	-14							
			30		202	1 - E	1		 			, i 90	10 UC				10	10	10	10	10	F F 6							
			1 1 1 2		רי היי	ייי דעי עיי	10 U.			71 77	35		24 TC				40 40 00	- 104 106	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	- 04 - 06	- 	40- 00							
			5.5	7 0			i d n		0, 5 1 5	24 T	1 - 1 - 1 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 -	-i - 0 0	01 F	1 0			000	- 001 001	000	0 0 0 0	000	000							
			10	70	со С0	00	1 N N	U Ić	55 F	34 I.	5/ L.	No i	4T T4			_	80 - 58	- 20 - 20 -		- 20 - 20	- 200-	× 0.0	n i	0 0	D o	0		_	
			63	64	2.9	89	2	2  :   1:	25   1.	36 1:	39 I	10 10	$\frac{43}{14}$	4 /		-	-62	-02	- 62 -	- 02	- 62	-62	0	0	0	0			
			$\left( \begin{array}{c} 1 \end{array} \right)$	7	ŝ	2	ා න	- -	3	4 7	5 7	9 8	8			<u> </u>	145	145	145 1	.45 1	45	145 -	-64 -	- 99	-68	- 26 –	- 28	> 08	
			4	ഹ	9	10		5	. 9	2 2	x	2	só S	4			145	145	145 1	.45 1	45	145 -	-64	- 99	-68	- 26 –	- 28	20	
			13	14	15	19	20 2.	1 &	5 V	8	7 9	1.0	29.				145	145	145 1	45 1	45 1	145 -	-64 –	- 99	-68	- 26 –	- 82	80	
			16	17	18	22	23	4	so So	6	60	4 0	5 9	9			145	145	145 1	45 1	45 1	145 -	-64 -	- 99	- 68	- 76 –	- 82	80	
			25	26	27	31	32 32	3	7 9	80	ig 1(	33 1(	04 1C	55			145	145	145 1	45 1	45 1	145 -	-64 -	- 99	- 68	- 26 -	- 82	80	
10	(01 0/)	(13 6)	28	29	30	34	35 3(	5 10	00 10	01 10	)2 1(	JG 1(	JT 10	8			145	145	145 1	45 1	45 1	145 -	-64 -	- 99	- 68	- 76 -	- 82	80	
T	{(0, 12),	(0,0)}	37	38	39	43 4	14 45	5 10	.1 6(	10 11	11	15 1.	16 11	4			6-	6-	- 6-	- 6-	- 6-	6-	0	0	0	0	0		
			40	41	42	46 4	17 45	8 11	2	13 11	11	18	19 12	0			-15	-15	-15	-15	-15	-15	0	0	0	0	0	_	
			49	50		1. 1. 1.	56 57	7 12	1	25 15	33 15	1:	28 12	6			- 33	-33	-33	-33	-33	-33	0	0		0			
			52	23	54		19 6(	12 12	12	25 12	26 15	30	31 13	2			- 39	-39 -	-39 -	- 39	- 39 -	-39	0		0 0				
			5 19	65	63	67 f	28	0 13		34 15	22	30 1	10 14				-52	-52	-57	- 57	- 57	22-	0						
			10	1 1			й с с г	2 C				 		_		_	- 0	- 0	- 6-3	-0-	- 0	- 0						_	
			₽0 /	3		2	-	3		01 TY	. T		FO IA			_	00-	- 00-	- 00-	- -	- 00-	00-	0					/	

	Divisor I	Paths	Ř	eversi	ble S	guar	e									Blo	ck Re	resen	cation									
				-	2	2	×	13	14	19	20	25	26	31	32		145	145	145	145	145	145	-5	- 2-	17 -1	9 -26	9 -3.	
			_	ŝ	4	6	10	15	16	21	22	27	28	33	34	_	145	145	145	145	145	145	13	- 2-	17 –1	9 -29	-3	_
				ъ	9	11	12	17	18	23	$^{24}$	29	30	35	36		145	145	145	145	145	145	21	- 2-	17 -1	9 -29	- 3.	
				37	38	43	44	49	50	55	56	61	62	37 (	38		145	145	145	145	145	145	-1 1 1	- 2-	17 –1	9 -29	-3.	
				39	40	45	46	51	52	57	58	63	64 (	39	02		145	145	145	145	145	145	1 2	- 2-	17 –1	9 -29	9 - 3	
1 9	(01 0)]	(61 6)		41	42	47	48	53	54	59	60	65	99	, 12	72		145	145	145	145	145	145	-5-	- 2-	17 –1	9 -29	9 -3.	
0T	l(0, 14),	(2,12)}		73	74	79	80	85	86	91	92	97	98 1	03 1	04		-32	-32	-32	-32	-32	-32	0	0	0 0	0	0	
				75	76	81	82	87	88	93	94	66	100 1	05 1	06		-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	0	0	0 0	0	0	
				77	78	83	84	89	90	95	96	101	102 1	07 1	08		-40	-40	-40	-40	-40	-40	0	0	0 C	0	0	
				109	110	115	116	121	122	127	128	133	134 1	39 1	40		-104 -	-104 -	-104 -	-104 -	-104	-104	0	0	0	0	0	
				111	112	117	118	123	124	129	130	135	136 1	41 1	42		-108 -	- 108 -	-108 -	-108 -	-108	-108	0	0	0	0	0	
			/	113	114	119	120	125	126	131	132	137	138 1	43 1	44 /	_	-112 -	-112 -	-112 -	-112 -	-112	-112	0	0	0 0	0	0	_
			$\uparrow$	-	2	ۍ	10	11	12	19	20	21	28	29	30		145	145	145	145	145	145	-7-	-0 -0	11 -2	15 -2'	7 - 29	
			_	4	ьc.	Ś	13	14	<u>г</u>	2.2	23	2.4	5	32	33	_	145	145	145	145	145	145	- 1-	6	11	5	- 20	_
				4 1-	o oc	о <b>о</b>	16	14	2 2	1 C 1 C	26 26	1 T	75	1 12	29		145	145	145	145	145	145	- 1- 	 	1	2 E 1 0 E	1 Å   	
				- 6	0 00	00	16	- 1-	101	о и и и	0 U U	- L 4 L		с н С н	0.00		146 146	145 145	145 145	145 145	145 145	140 146	- r			יי     	4 C   - N	
				10	00 5	00 0	40	4 -	0 <del>1</del> 7	00 00	00	10	04 10	000	8 8		140	140 14	140	140	140	140	- 1 	ן הית ו		0 1 0   	5 7   - 1	
				40	41	42	49	00	10	20	60	00	1.0	200	09		145	145	145	145	145	145		- ب ا	 	2 - 2		
14	$\{(3 \ 12)\}$	(3 12)		43	44	45	52	53	54	61	62	63	20	. 17	72		145	145	145	145	145	145	-1	- 6-	11 - 2	25 -2'	7 -29	
-			-	73	74	75	82	83	84	91	92	93	100 1	01 1	02		-30	-30	-30	-30	-30	-30	0	0	0	0	0	_
				76	77	78	85	86	87	94	95	96	103 1	04 1	05		-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	0	0	0	0	0	
				79	80	81	88	89	06	97	98	66	106 1	07 1	08		-42	-42	-42	-42	-42	-42	0	0	0	0	0	
				109	110	111	118	119	120	127	128	129	136 1	37	800		-102	-102	-102	-102	-102	-102	C	0		C	0	
				110	119	111	191	100	103	120	191	195	1 001		5.5		100	100	100	100	100	1001						
			_	711	011	114 17	171	771	071	190	101	102	1 901	40 1 1	41	_	- 100 - 110	- 100	- 100 - 110	- 100 - 110	001 -	- 100						_
			1	GII	011	711/	124	GZT	170	133	134	135	142 1	43 I	44 /		- 114 -	- 114 -	- 114 -	- 114 -	- 114	- 114	-			∍		$\downarrow$
				1	0	က	4	13	14	15	16	25	26	27	28	<u> </u>	145	145	145	145	145	145		-3	21 -2	13 -2	1 2	
			_	ы	9	2	x	17	18	19	20	29	30	31	32		145	145	145	145	145	145		33 33	21 -2	13 -2	1-2	_
				6	10	11	12	21	22	23	24	33	34	35	36		145	145	145	145	145	145		-3	21 - 2	23 -25	5 - 2	
				37	38	39	40	49	50	51	52	61	62 (	33 (	54		145	145	145	145	145	145		-3	21 - 2	23 -25	5 - 2	
				41	42	43	44	53	54	55	56	65	99	37 (	58		145	145	145	145	145	145		-3	21 - 2	23 -25	-27	
ц Г	(61 6)]			45	46	47	48	57	58	59	60	69	20	71 7	72		145	145	145	145	145	145		-3	21 - 2	23 -2	- 27	
CT.	{(0, 12),	(4,12)}		73	74	75	76	85	86	87	88	97	38	<b>99 1</b>	00		-28	-28	-28	-28	-28	-28	0	0	0	0	0	
				77	78	79	80	89	06	91	92	101	102 1	03 1	04		-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	0	0	0	0	0	
				81	82	83	84	93	94	95	96	105	106 1	07 1	08		-44	-44	-44	-44	-44	-44	0	0	0	0	0	
				109	110	111	112	121	122	123	124	133	134 1	35 1	36		-100 -	-100 -	-100 -	-100 -	-100	-100	0	0	0	0	0	
			_	113	114	115	116	125	126	127	128	137	138 1	39 1	40		-108 -	-108 -	-108 -	-108 -	-108	-108	0	0	0	0	0	
			_	117	118	119	120	129	130	131	132	141	142 1	43 1	44 /		-116 -	-116 -	-116 -	-116 -	-116	-116	0	0	0	0	0	_
			$\geq$	-	2	3	4	2	9	19	20	21	22 2	23	24		145	145	145	145	145	145	-13	-15	-17	-19 -	-21 -	23
			_	7	x	6	10	11	12	25	26	27	28	39	30		145	145	145	145	145	145	-13	-15	-17	-19 -	-21 -	23
				13	14	15	16	17	18	31	32	33	34	35	36		145	145	145	145	145	145	-13	-15	-17	-19 -	-21 -	23
				37	38	39	40	41	42	55	56	57	58	59 (	50		145	145	145	145	145	145	-13	-15	-17	-19 -	-21 -	23
				43	44	45	46	47	48	61	62	63	64 (	35 (	<u> 56</u>		145	145	145	145	145	145	-13	-15	-17	-19 -	-21 -	23
0	(01 0/)	((01 0)		49	50	51	52	53	54	67	68	69	20	. L2	72		145	145	145	145	145	145	-13	-15	-17	-19 -	-21 -	23
01	$\{(3, 12),$	(0, 12)		73	74	75	76	77	78	91	92	93	; 94	35 (	96		-24	-24	-24	-24	-24	-24	0	0	0	0	0	0
				62	80	<u></u>	82	83	84	26	86	66	100 1	01	02		-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	C	0	C	0	0	
				85	86	87	88	89	06	103	104	105	106 1	07 1	08		-48	-48	-48	-48	-48	-48	C	0	C	0	0	
				109	110	111	112	113	114	127	128	129	130 1	31 1	32		-96	-96	-96	-96	-96	-96	0	0	0	0	0	0
				115	116	117	118	119	120	133	134	135	136 1	37	800		-108	-108	-108	-108	-108	-108	C	0	- C			
				121	122	123	124	125	126	139	140	141	142 1	43 1	44 /		-120 -	-120 -	-120 -	-120 -	-120	-120	0	0	0	0	0	

	Divisor P	aths	Ř	sversi	ible ;	Squi	are									B	lock R	tepres	entati	uo									
			$\geq$	-	2	4	8	9 50	) 55	56	97	98	103	104			145	145	145	145 j	45 1	45 -	5 -7	-89	-91	-10	l -10	23	
				ი ი	4	6' 6'	0 0 1	1 52	2 57	28	66	100	105	106			145	145	145	145	45	45	-5 7	-89	-91	-10	L -10		
				ы С	6 1	[] ]	0 0	3 54	1 59	60	101	102	107	108			145	145	145	145	45 1	45 –	5 -7	-89	-91	-10	l –10		
				13	14 1	19 2	0.0	1 62	3 67	68	109	110	115	116			145	145	145	145 1	45 1	45 –	5 -7	-89	-91	-10	-10		
				15 j	16 2	21 2	2 6.	3 64	1 69	70	111	112	117	118			145	145	145	145 j	45 1	45 –	5 -7	-89	-91	-10	l -10	e 0	
1	(01 0/)			17 ]	18 2	23 2	14 6.	5 66	3 71	72	113	114	119	120			145	145	145	145 ]	45 1	45 -	5 -7	-89	-91	-10	l -10		
T	{(0, 14),	(2, 4)		25 2	26 3	31 3	2 7	3 74	1 79	80	121	122	127	128			-8	8	8	%	8-	-8	0	0	0	0	0		
				27 2	28 3	33 3	4 7	5 76	3 81	82	123	124	129	130			-12	-12	-12 -	-12 -	- 12 -	-12 (	0	0	0	0	0		
				29 5	30 3	35 3	2 9	7 78	3 83	84	125	126	131	132			-16	-16	-16 -	-16 -	-16 -	-16 0	0	0	0	0	0		
				37 5	38 4	13 4	4 8	5 86	3 91	92	133	134	139	140			-32	-32	-32	-32 -	-32 -	-32 (	0	0	0	0	0		
				39 4	40 40	15 4	000 000	2 88	63 33	94	135	136	141	142			-36	-36	-36	-36 -	-36	-36	0	0	0	0	0		
			_	41 4	42 4	17 4	sõ Sõ	06 6	) 95	96	137	138	143	144	_		-40	-40	-40 -	-40 -	-40 -	-40 0	0	0	0	0	0	_	
			$\uparrow$		5	2	8	3 14	1 73	12	1 75	80	85	86			145	145	145	145 1	45 1	45 -	- 20	61 -	71 –	73 -8	33 -8	2	
			_	· در:	14	. 6	0,1	5 16	122	7	5	8	8	2000 2000	_		145	145	145	145	45	45 -	- 20	61 –	- 12	73 - 8			
				о <u>к</u>	- 	, <u>-</u>	ч÷ Эс	18		- - -	o X	200	- 0	86			145	145	145	145 1	45 1	45	50	- 19 19		73			
				ں 10 د	- c 	1 Ĕ - C	۱ èr ۱ èr	1 - 1-	5 6	- 6	55	88	° ⊂	2 <u>7</u>			145	145				1 72 72	50 1			73			
				рт с т с	4 C 0 C 0 C	1 C	5 6 5 9	70 70 70	- 60 	n ĉ		100					140 141 141	1450 1415	1450 1415 1415		ייד שני דיד	р Н Т	1 2 2	01 10	1 5	1 2 2		שכ	
				7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	4 C 7 F	4 0 - 2 - 2	0 0 0	0 v 1 v 1 v		ń č	55 Ç						140 77	140	140 140	140 140	1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	1 1 1	ט מי ו	1 10					
$\frac{1}{2}$	$\{(3, 12),$	(2, 6)		.7.3	24 2	: 67	0 20	5 30	95	ಗ	. IU	10:	101	201			145	145	145	145	45 1	45 -	- 29	61 –	- 12	73 -8	53 8		
)				37 5	38 4	13 4	14 4	9 50	10,	9 11	0 11	2 11(	3 12	1 122			-14	-14	-14 -	-14 -	-14 -	-14	0	0	0	0	0		
				39 4	40 4	15 4	16 5.	1 52	2 11.	1 11	2 11	7 118	3 125	3 124			-18	-18	-18	-18 -	-18	-18	0	0	0	0	0		
				41 4	42 4	17 4	8 2	3 54	111	3 11	4 11	9 120	125	5 126			-22	-22	-22 -	-22 -	-22 -	-22	0	0	0	0	0		
				ц. Ц.	ž6 6	31 6	5	7 68	12	7 12	8	3 132	1 130	0 14C			-50	-50	- 50	-50	-50	-50	0	0			0		
					200	201	2 2	- 10	100								202	2 2	202	о г С	2 2	2 2							
			_	20 2 20 2	200 200	n N N N N	4 C	- 1 - 1 - 1	7 10	- 10 10	0 F 0 F		 	147	_	_	10 10 10	104 104	- 101 101 101	- 04 - 05	1 7 7 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1							_	
			1	12				7	2  i		2		1 1 1	- T#4		1						000						$\downarrow$	
			<u> </u>	-	2	ຕ	0	1 12	22	~	1	82	ŝ	84	_		145	145	145	145	45 1	45 –		63	65 –	- 62	81 -8	~	
				4	ທ	9	ы ц	4 15	5 76	í~	75	85 85	86	87			145	145	145	145	45 1	45 –		63	65 –	79 -8	81 -8		
				7	x	9 1	6 1	7 18	32 25	x x	.81	88	89	60			145	145	145	145 1	45 1	45 –	- 19	63 –	65 –	- 62	81 -8		
				19 2	20 2	21 2	8 8	9 30	91	<b>.</b> 6	36	100	10.	1 102			145	145	145	145 j	45 1	45 -	- 10	63 –	65 –	- 62	81 -8		
				22	23 2	24 5	31 33	2 33	3 94	і б	5 96	10:	3 104	4 105			145	145	145	145 j	45 1	45 -	- 19	63 –	65 –	- 62	81 -8	с С	
10	(01 0)]	119 6)		25 2	26 2	27 3	14 3,	5 36	3 97	б	36 56	100	3 107	7 108			145	145	145	145 ]	45 1	45 -	- 19	63 –	65 –	3- 62	81 -8		
гз	{(J, 14),	(0,0)}		37 5	38 3	39 4	6 4	7 48	3 10:	9 11	0 11	1 118	3 119	9 120			-12	-12	-12 -	-12 -	-12 -	-12	0	0	0	0	0		
				40 4	41 4	12 4	19 51	0 51	11:	2 11	3 11.	4 12.	122	2 123			-18	-18	-18	-18 -	-18 -	-18	0	0	0	0	0		
				43 4	44 4	15 5	2 5	3 54	t 11,	5 11	6 11	7 122	1125	5 126			-24	-24	-24 -	-24 -	-24 -	-24	0	0	0	0	0		
				55	56 5	57 6	i4 6.	5 66	3 12	7 12	8 12	9 13(	3 13	7 138			-48	-48	-48 -	-48 -	-48 -	-48	0	0	0	0	0		
				58	59 6	30 6	37 6	8 69	) 13(	0 13	1 13.	2 139	) 14(	0 141			-54	-54	-54 -	-54 -	-54 -	-54	0	0	0	0	0		
			_	61 (	52 6	33 7	7 0.	1 72	2 13.	3 13	4 13	5 142	2 145	3 144	_		-60	-60	- 09-	- 09-	- 09-	-60	0	0	0	0	0	_	
			$\geq$		7	6	10	17	1.	8	5 2	6 3	ς Ω	4 47	42		145	145	145	145	14	5 14	15 -	7 -9	-23	-25	-39	-41	
				က	4	11	12	16	9	0	7 2	с С	š	6 45	44		145	145	145	145	14	5 1.	15 –	7 -9	-23	-25	-39	-41	_
				ю	9	13	14	21	1 2	2	6. 6	0	23	8 45	46		145	145	145	145	14	5 1.	15 –	7 –9	-23	-25	-39	-41	
				7	x	15	16	25	3	4 5	1 3	2	9 4	0 47	48		145	145	145	145	14	5	15 –	7 –9	-23	-25	-39	-41	
				49	50	57	58	65 0	0	6 7	3 7	4 8	1 8	2 80	06		145	145	145	145	14	5 14	15 –	7 -9	-23	-25	-39	-41	
00	(01 1)	101 67		51	52	59	09	67	7 6.	8	5 7	6 8	ŏ œ	4 91	92		145	145	145	145	14	5 14	15 –	7 –9	-23	-25	-39	-41	
04	{(4, 14),	(2,12)}		53	54	61	62	39	5 6	0 7	2 2.	so so	× ×	6 95	94		$^{-2}$	-2	-2	-2			2 0	0	0	0	0	0	
				55	56	63	64	71	1 7.	2 7	8 6.	0	28	8 95	96		9-	9-	9-	9-	Ī		9.00	0	0	0	0	0	
				97	98	105	10(	3 11.	3 11	14 1.	21 12	22 12	9 13	0 13	7 138		-90	-90	-90	-90	6- (	- - 0	90 C	0	0	0	0	0	
				66	100	107	105	3 11.	5 11	16 1.	23 12	24 13	1 13	13 13	9 140		-94	-94	-94	$-9_{4}$	6-	4	94 C	0	0	0	0	0	
				101	102	109	110	11.	7 11	18	25 1,	26 13	3 13	4 14	1 142		-98	-98	-98	36	6-	i x	98 C	0	0	0	0	0	_
			_	103	104	111	112	2 11:	9 12	20 1.	27 11	28 13	5 13	6 14	3 144 /	$\leq$	-102	-102	-102	-10	2 -1(	)2 –1	02 0	0	0	0	0	0	

	-38	-38	-38	-38	-38	-38	0	0	0	0	0	0	35	35	35	35	35	35						_	-29	-29	-29	-29	-29	-29	0	0	0	0	0	0 /										-
	-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	0	0	0	0	0	0	-33 -	-33 -	-33 -	-33 -	-33 -	-33	0	0	0	0		0	-27	-27	-27	-27	-27	-27	0	0	0	0	0 0	105	-105	-105	-105	-105	-105	0	0	0	0	•
	4 - 34	4 - 34	4 -34	4 -34	4 -34	4 - 34	0	0	0	0	0	0	-31	-31	-31	-31	-31	-31	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	$\frac{-25}{-25}$	-25	23 - 25	23 - 25	23 - 25	23 -25	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 01	-103	-103	-103	-103	-103	0	0	0	0	
	-12 -1	-12	-12	-12	-12 -1	-121	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	3 -29	3 -29	3 -29	3 -29	3 -29	3 -29	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	-21 -2	-21 -2	-21 -2	-21 -2	-21 -2	-21 -2	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	00		68- 2	7 -89	7 -89	7 -89	7 -89	0	0	0	0	
	-10 -	-10 -	-10	-10 -	-10 -	-10 -	0	0	0	0	0	0	-1-		-1-	-1-1-	- - -	-1-	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	-19	-19 -	-19 -	-19 -	-19 -	-19 -	0	0	0	0	0 0	ò D D	6- 6- 6-	-9-	-9-	-9 -8	-9 -8	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	
	145	145	145	145	145	145	-3	$^{-0}$	-87	-93	-99	-105	145	145	145	145	145	145	-4	-12	-84	-92	-100	-108	145	145	145	145	145	145	9-	-18	-78	-90	-102	-114	- 1-	- 2-	- 2-	- 7 -	- 2-	0	0	0	0	
	145	145	145	145	145	145	-3	6-	-87	-93	-99	-105	145	145	145	145	145	145	-4	-12	-84	-92	-100	-108	145	145	145	145	145	145	9-	-18	-78	-90	-102	-114	145	145	145	145	145	-2	9-	3 - 26	0 -30	
	145	145	145	145	145	145	-3	6-	-87	-93	-99	-105	145	145	145	145	145	145	-4	-12	-84	-92	-100	-108	145	145	145	145	145	145	9-	-18	-78	-90	-102	-114 15 115	45 145	45 145	45 145	45 145	45 145	-2 -2	-0 -0	26 - 20	30 -3(	
entatio	145	145	145	145	145	145	-3	6-	-87	-93	-99	-105	145	145	145	145	145	145	-4	-12	-84	-92	-100	-108	145	145	145	145	145	145	9-	-18	-78	-90	-102	-114 145 1	145 1	145 1	145 1	145 1	145 1	-2	- 9-	-26 -	-30 -	
Repres	145	145	145	145	145	145	-3	6-	-87	-93	-99	-105	145	145	145	145	145	145	-4	-12	-84	-92	-100	-108	145	145	145	145	145	145	-09	-18	-78	-90	-102	1 - 114	145	145	145	145	145	-2	-6	-26	-30	
Block	/ 145	145	145	145	145	145	-3	6-	-87	-93	66-	-105	/ 145	145	145	145	145	145	-4	-12	-84	-92	-100	-108	$\rightarrow 145$	145	145	145	145	145	9-	-18	-78	-90	-102		$\binom{145}{145}$	145	145	145	145	-2	9-	-26	-30	_
		_										_												_		_									_	$\overline{}$										
	39	42	45	48	87	06	93	96	135	7 138	141	3 144	36	40	44	48	84	88	92	96	132	i 136	140	144	30	36	42	48	78	84	60	$\overline{000}$	126	. 132	138	5 144										
	37 38	10 41	13 44	16 47	35 86	88 89	91 92	94 95	33 134	36 137	39 140	42 145	35 35	38 39	12 43	16 47	32 83	36 87	90 91	95 95	30 131	34 135	38 139	42  145	29	35 35	10 41	16 47	77 77	32 83	38 89	95 95	24 125	30 131	36 137	4Z 140	108	110	112	122	124	126	128	138	140	
	27 :	30	33	36	75	78	81	84	123 1	126 1	129 1	132 1	33	37	41 4	45	81	85	68	93	129 1	133 1	137 1	141 1	27	33	39	45	75	81 %	87 8	93	123 1	129 1	135	141 I	0 107	2 109	4 111	4 121	6 123	8 125	0 127	0 137	2 139	
	26	29	32	35	74	77	80	83	122	l 125	7 128	131	20	24	28	32	68	72	76	80	116	) 120	124	128	26	32	38	44	74	80	86	92	122	128	134 134 134	0 140	99 10 10	101 10	103 10	113 11	115 11	117 11	119 12	129 13	131 13	
	15 25	18 28	21 31	24 34	63 73	66 76	62 69	72 82	11 121	14 124	17 127	20 130	18 19	22 23	26 27	30 31	66 67	70 71	74 75	78 79	14 115	18 119	22 125	26 127	6 25	12 31	18 37	24 43	54 73	60 79	66 85	72 91	02 121	08 127	-14 135	- ZU 135	09 6	1 62	3 64	3 74	5 76	7 78	9 80	06 6	1 92	
	14	17	20	23	62	65	68	71	110	113	116 1	119 1	17	21	25	29	65	69	73	77	113	117	121	125	2	11	17	23	53	59	65	71	101	107	113		27 27 27	54 6	56 6	2 99	68 7	70 7	72 73	82	84 9	
lare	13	16	19	22	61	64	. 67	02 0	109	2 112	5 115	3 118	4	×	12	16	52	56	09	64	100	3 104	7 108	1 112	4	10	16	22	52	58	64	02	100	5 106	1 112	V 118	12 $51$	14 53	16 55	26 65	28 67	30 69	32 71	42 81	44 83	
ole Squ	2 3	5 6	6	11 12	50 51	53 54	56 57	59 60	96 99	01 10	04 10	07 108	2 3	6 7	10 11	14 15	50 51	54 55	58 59	62 63		02 10:	06 10'	10 11	2	6   8	14 15	20 21	50 51	56 57	62 63	68 69	<u>98</u> 99	04 10		11 01	<i>ع</i> 11	13	15	3 25	) 27	29	1 31	l 41	; 43	
teversil	1	4	- 2-	10	49	52	55	58	67	100	103	106		ъ	6	13	49	53	57	61	67	101	105	109		- 2-	13	19	49	55	61	67	97	103	109		- m	20	2 2	17 18	19 2(	21 2:	$23 - 2_{\pm}$	33 33 33	35 3(	
r E						_	_											_	_												_										_	_				-
aths						(0 10)	(7, 12)											(010)	$(3, 12)_{j}$											(4 19)	( <del>,</del> , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,										(6 10)	(0, 14)				
Divisor F						(01 10)	(4, 12),											(01 1)	(4, 12),											(4 19)	(1,1,1),										(01 7)	(4,12),				
						01	71 {											00	77											93 5	2					+					J 70	74				

	Divisor Paths	s	Reve	rsibl	le Sc	luare										Bloc	k Rec	reset	itatio	u u									
			1	6	0	10	17	8	73	74	×1	32	30 6	00		11	14	1	12	12	15	15	1	, – ,	7 - 7	8	7		1
				1 -	, ;		- 0			H 0				~		_		 		2.2	 2 1	2 1	2 1	- 1	- 1		5 6 - 1	_	_
			υ L	4 c	1:	77	га 9-1-6	07	0 E	0,0	S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	04 04	91 91	76			61 Ci	ດີ r ປີ -	1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	1. 1.	0 1 1 1 1	0 L	i S	1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	- c     	00   09	5 6     - 1	_	
			C.	0	Γ	14	17	77		2	co Co	80	33	<del>)</del> 4			FI Ci	ې ۲	FI CT	51 C <del>1</del>	-T Cf	i Gf	1		U – U	2 2 2		_	
			2	x	15	16	23	$^{24}$	29	80	87	88	95 6	96		17	15 14	5 1	<b>1</b> 5 1₄	<b>1</b> 5 14	15	45 	55 –	57 –'	71 -7	3 1 8	7 -8	_	
			25	26	33	34	41	42	97	. 86	105 1	06 1	13 1	14		14	l5 14	5 1	<b>1</b> 5 1₄	<b>1</b> 5 14	15 1	45 !	55 –	57 –'	7- 17	3 - 8	7 -8	_	
ы С	(1 1 1 ) (0 G		27	28	35	36	43	44	66	100	107 1	08 1	15 1	16		14	15 14	5 12	15 14	15 14	15 1	45 -5	55 -	57 –'	2- 12	3 - 8	7 -8	_	
27	$\{(4, 12), (2, 0)\}$	) } ((	29	30	37	38	45	46	101	102	109 1	10 1	17 1	18			2	1	- 7	2		-2	-	0	0	0	0		
			31	32	39	40	47	48	103	104	111 1	12 1	19 1	20			- 9	۔ 9	9	9	- 9-	9-		0	0	0	0		
			49	50	57	58	65	. 99	121	122	129 1	30 1	37 1.	38		Ì	42	12 -	42	42 -	42 –	42 (			0	0	C		
			Ъ.	52	02	60	67	89	123	194	31	32	30	40		Ì	16	ا 19	46	16 - 1	46	46				0			
			101	ч <del>с</del> 2 и	5 5	200	50		195	100	101	1 1 0		0# CF															
			50	04	10	70	60	5	C7 1	170	100	1 1	4T T	77		ĺ	R R			00							0	-	
			55	56	63	64	71	72	127	128	135 1	36 1	43 1	44 /		- -	54 -5	54 —	54 -	54 -	54 –	54 (		0	0	0	0	/	
			$\left  \right  1$	0	က	13	14	15	73	74	75	85	36 2	87		/ 1/	15 14	5	<b>15</b> 1₄	<b>45 1</b> 4	15 1	45 -!	- 80	- 09	32 -8	2 -8	4 -8	-	
			4	ъ	9	16	17	18	76	77	28	88	39 5	06		14	15 14	5 1	<b>1</b> 5 1₄	15 14	15 1	15 –	- 80	- 09	32 –8	2 -8	4 -8		
			4	x	6	19	20	21	62	80	5	31	32	33		1	14	51 	15	12	15	15	8	60 - (	32 - 8	2 - 8	4 - 8		
					, t	55	a c	10	2 S	n or	2 2		. ਮੁ ਹ			- i	25	יר יר	2 E	1	5 년 1 년	ן ן ן	l x x	90 - 10		n c n c			
					1 0	1 F 1 C		# C	1 1	000		1 1 1 1		2 -			2 2	ייי ה-	2 2	2 L	2 L	ן ביי ביי				9 0 1 9 0	5 d   # 7		
			07	07	17	31	20	39	91	98	1 66	- na	T OT	11		T	60 I4	ې ۲	to I⊄	FI CŦ	1 01	i l	00	)   	Ω - Ω	0	4 - 8	_	
26	{(4 12) (3 6	115	28	29	30	40	41	42	100	101	102 1	12	13 1	14		1.	15 14	ີ 1	15 14	15 14	15	15	18	- 09	32 –8	2	4 -8		
01	$(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v}), (\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{v})$	رر د	31	32	33	43	44	45	103	104	105 1	.15 1	16 1	17			3 3	ا د	ဂ	ن ا	i S	ы С		0	0	0	0		
			34	35	36	46	47	48	106	107	108 1	18 1	19 1	20		I	- 6	- 6	- 6-	6	- 6.	0-6-	-	0	0	0	0		
			49	50	ŗ.	61	62	63	121	122	123	33	34	35		1	68	- 65	39	30	39	39			0	C	C		
			2 2	0 0 U	1 1	10	1 1	200	101	101		1 30	1 1 1 0				2 L	<u>, 1</u>	2 H	2 12	20	2014						_	
			0.1		0 1 1	04	00	00	124		1 071	1 00		8 :		Ì		। ⊊ :	í Cf J	) CH 1	CF 5	10					0 0		
			55	56	57	67	68	. 69	127	128	[29 ]	39 1	40 1	41		Í	01 - 10		51	51  -	51	51 (	_	0	0	0	0		
			58	59	60	70	71	72	130	131	132 1	42 1	43 1	44 /		-i -/	57 -5	57 –	57 -	57 -1	57 –	57 (	-	0	0	0	0	_	
			$\left< \frac{1}{1} \right>$	7	13	14	25	26	37	38	49	50	61	62		/ 14	15 14	5	15 14	15 14	15 1	15	11	13 - 5	35 -3	7 -5	9-0	-	
			с С	4	15	16	27	28	39	40	51	52	63	64		14	15 14	5 12	<b>1</b> 5 1₄	<b>1</b> 5 14	15 1	15	- 11	13	35 - 3	7 -5	9-6	_	
			гЭ	9	17	18	29	30	41	42	53	54	65	66		1	14	5	15 12	15 14	15	15	- 11	13	35 - 3	7 -5	9— 6		
			-1	x	10	90 06	6	33	43	44	) L.	50	67	e se			14	, <u>-</u>	12	12	15	1	ו ב :	1 1 1	22	- F	0 0		
			- 0		5 5	ŝ	33	7070	р¥	16	о Г 0 С	0 0 0 1	- 09	86			2 H	ч н ри	р ц н н	2 <u>1</u> -	1 F	р ц ц	1 =	2 <u>2</u>	0 6 0 2 0 2	- L			
			י ע מי		1 2	1 5	3	5	Ĵ ţ	010		000	5 G	2 2			5 F 1 - 1 -	יי יי		3 F	 	₽ I		ст Г	5 1 2 2	- L - L	50   		
27	$\{(6, 12), (2, 1)\}$	12)}	Ï		22.0	77	00 10	000	41	49 7	80. 207	00	1.00	2 2		1	60 14	- ດູ (	FD 14	17 If	-1 04	i Gi Qi	-	Γ Γ	00 01 0	0   	0   		
			73	74	ς2	86	97	98	109	110	121	122	133	134		Ī	0.7 -(	- 22		2.5	0.5	62	_		0	0	0		
			75	76	87	88	66	100	111	112	123	124	135	136		Ī	36 –(	90	- 90	96 	- 00	96	-	0	0	0	0		
			22	78	89	<u> 60</u>	101	102	113	114	125	126	137	138		Ì	1 02	- 02	- 02	`- 20	- 02	20	-	0	0	0	0		
			79	80	91	92	103	104	115	116	127	128	139	140		Ì	74 – 7	74 —	74 -	74 –'	74 –	74 (	-	0	0	0	0		
			81	82	93	94	105	106	117	118	129	130	141	142		Ì	1 82	- 82	- 82	- 1 82	- 28	78 (		0	0	0	0		
			<b>8</b> 3	84	95	96	107	108	119	120	131	132	143	144 /		ĩ	82 -8		82	82 -	82	82 (		0	0	0	0	_	
			$\overline{1}$	2	က	19	20	21	37	38	39	55	56	57		1	14 14	5 1	15 14	15 14	15 1	15 -	16 –	18 -	20 -5	2 -5	4 -50	-	
			4	ю	9	22	23	24	40	41	42	58	59	09	_	14	15 14	5 12	45 1 <sub>4</sub>	15 14	15 1	45 -	16 –	18	20 -5	2 -5	4 -50		
			2	x	6	25	26	27	43	44	45	61	62	63		1	15 14	5 1	15 14	15 14	15 1	15	16 –	18	20 -5	2 -5	4 -50		
			10	11	12	28	29	30	46	47	48	64	65	66		14	15 14	5 12	<b>1</b> 5 1₄	<b>1</b> 5 14	15 1	15	16 –	18	20 -5	2 -5	4 -50		
			13	14	15	31	32	33	49	50	51	67	68	69		14	15 14	5	15 14	15 14	15	15	16 –	18	20 -5	2 -5	4 -50		
Ċ	(0 10) (0 10		16	17	- x	34	35	36	52	53	54	20	7	72		1	14	57 	15	15	15	15	16	- - 	20 -5	2 -5	4 -50		
20	$\{0, 12\}, (3, 12)$	<u></u> {(7	73	74	75	91	66	93	100	110	111	197	128	1 29			1		1		22	57							
			76	77	28	70	20	96	11.5	113	114	130	131	132		Ī		ا ج	٦ ي		63								
			202	80	2 2	20	80	00	1 -	116	117	133	134	135		Ī	00		1	000	1	60							
			. č	) č	24	. 001	101	102	115	119	120	136	137	138	_		8 E 	ن ہے ا	1 2 2		1 25	25				) C	) C		
			) 0 1 R	200	5 0	103	101	105	151	199	103	130	140	111			5 2	5 5	5 5	5 5	5 5	5 2 2				) C	) C		
			~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	200	6	106	107	108	194	125	126	149	143	144	_		- 12 - 12	.   	1 2		 8 7 8 0	01 84 87				) C	$\sim$	_	
		-	)) /	5	2	201	->-	3		1	211	1	7	Ę	-	-	5	-	-		5	5			,	>	>	~	-1

	Divisor Paths	ß	Reversible Square		<b>Block Rep</b>	resentation									
			/ 1 9 2 / 95 96 97 98 /0 50 51 59		/ 14E 14E	145 14	17L	145	-	0	ц 71 7	10	51		
		_		_	140 140	140 I4	0 I40	140	    	0- 1 1 1		-43			
		_	5 6 7 8 29 30 31 32 53 54 55 56		145  145	145 14	5 145	145	-	-3 -4	5 - 47	-49	-51		
		_	9 10 11 12 33 34 35 36 57 58 59 60		145 145	145 14	5 145	145	- - -	-3 -4	5 - 47	-49	-51		
		_	13 14 15 16 37 38 39 40 61 62 63 64		145 145	145 14	5 145	145	י 	-3 -4	5 -47	-49	1 72		
		_								4 ₹ 0 0	о н 		5 5		
		_			140 140 140 140	140 14	- 140 - 140	140 7	 -  , 	0 1 1 1	- 1 - 1	-49	1		
20	$\{(6, 12)   (4, 1)$	19)}	21 22 23 24 45 46 47 48 69 70 71 72		145 145	145 14	5 I45	145		-3 -4	5 —47	-49	10-		
1			73 74 75 76 97 98 99 100 121 122 123 124		-52 -52	2 -52 -5	2 - 52	-52	0	0	0	0	0		
		_	77 78 79 80 101 102 103 104 125 126 127 128		-60 - 60	9-09-0	09-0	-60	0	000	0	0	0		
			81 82 83 84 105 106 107 108 129 130 131 132		-68 -68	8 -68 -6	8 -68	-68	0	0 0	0	0	0		
		_	85 86 87 88 100 110 111 112 133 134 135 136		- 26 - 76	2- 92- 9	6 - 76	-76	0	0	0	C	0		
		_	00 00 01 00 100 111 117 117 100 100 100										> <		
		_	89 90 91 92 113 114 115 116 137 138 139 140		-84 -87	1 -84 -8	4 - 84	-84	0	0	0	0	0		
		_	03 94 95 96 117 118 119 120 141 142 143 144	_	/ -92 -92	2 -92 -9	2 - 92	-92	0	000	0	0	0		
			7 1 2 3 4 5 6 37 38 39 40 41	42	7 145 1	45 145	145	145	145	-31	-33	35 - 3	7 - 39	-41	Γ
		_								5 5	000		6		
		_	7 8 9 10 11 12 43 44 45 40 47	48	-T C+T	40 I40	140	140	145	-31	-33	30 -3	( 39	-41	
		_	13 14 15 16 17 18 49 50 51 52 53	54	145 1,	45 145	145	145	145	-31	-33	35 -3'	7 -39	-41	
		_	10 20 21 22 23 24 55 56 57 58 50	60	145 1,	15 145	145	145	145	-31	-33	35 -3'	730	-41	
		_	10 TO TI TT TO TO TO 00 00 00 00 00 00	0.0						5 5	3 8			1	
		_	25 20 27 28 29 30 61 62 63 64 65	00	-1 C+1	45 I45	145	145	145	-31 -	-33 -	35 -3	-39	-41	
00	ן <i>(פ</i> וט) (פונ	10)]	31 32 33 34 35 36 67 68 69 70 71	72	145 1,	45 145	145	145	145	-31	-33	35 -3'	7 -39	-41	
<b>3</b> 0	$\{(0, 12), (0, 1_4)\}$	12)}	73 74 75 76 77 78 100 110 111 119 113	11.1	- 67-	61 - 61	67-	67-	61-	0			0	0	
				114		77	77	77	75-	0				5	
		_	79 80 81 82 83 84 115 116 117 118 119	120	-54 $-$	54 -54	-54	-54	-54	0	0	000	0	0	
		_	85 86 87 88 89 90 121 122 123 124 125	126	- 99-	-66	-66	-66	-66	0	0	0 0	0	0	
				001	10	10 10	1 0	1 0	10						
		_	AT AZ AZ AZ AZ AO AO TZI 1ZA TZA 120 121	132	- 10	10 -10	0/-	0	0/-						
		_	97 98 99 100 101 102 133 134 135 136 137	138	- 06-	06- 06	-90	-90	-90	0	0	000	0	0	
		_	103 104 105 106 107 108 139 140 141 142 143	144 /	-102 -	102 - 102	-102	-102	-102	0	0	0 0	0	0	
					) 1AE 1AE	145 14	и 17 17 17 17	145	11	13	63	9E 10	10		Т
		_				140 14	140 140	041 77	1;	- <u>5</u>	001	00 - T(			
		_	3 4 15 16 51 52 63 64 99 100 111 112		145 145	145 14	5 145	145	11	-13	-83	85 -1(	)7 – I(	0	
		_	5 6 17 18 53 54 65 66 101 102 113 114		145  145	145 14	5 145	145	-11	-13	-83	85 -10	)7 - 10	6	
		_	7 8 19 20 55 56 67 68 103 104 115 116		145 145	145 14	5 145	145	;  -	- 13	- 83	8.5 -10	-10	6	
		_			145 145	1 1 1 1 1			; :	61	00	ов 1 - 1 0 - 1 0 - 1 0 - 1 0 - 1 0 - 1 0 - 1 0 - 1 0 - 1 0 - 1 0 - 1 0 - 1 0	101		
		_	OTT UTT ODT OT 01 00 00 01 77 17 0T 6		140 140 140	140 14	- 140 - 140	140 7	1;	- 				<u>م</u>	
31	$\{(6 \ 12) \ (2 \ 4)$	1)}	11 12 23 24 59 60 71 72 107 108 119 120		145 145	145 14	5 145	145	-11	-13	-83	85 -1(	)7 – I(	0	
1		(/ <del>-</del>	25 26 37 38 73 74 85 86 121 122 133 134		-14 $-14$	1 -14 -1	4 - 14	-14	0	0	0	000	0		
		_	27 28 39 40 75 76 87 88 123 124 135 136		-18 - 18	8 -18 -1	8 -18	-18	0	0	0	0 0	0		
		_	20 30 41 42 77 78 80 00 125 126 137 138		- 00-	6- 66- 0	00 - 00	66 <u>–</u>	0	0	0	0	0		
		_							, c						
		_	01 07 75 74 19 00 01 07 171 170 100 140		07-07-	7- 07- 0	07 - 0	07-	Ð	Ð					
		_	33 $34$ $45$ $46$ $81$ $82$ $93$ $94$ $129$ $130$ $141$ $142$		-30 -3(	) -30 -3	0 - 30	-30	0	0	0	0	0		
		_	$\begin{pmatrix} 35 & 36 & 47 & 48 & 83 & 84 & 95 & 96 & 131 & 132 & 143 & 144 \end{pmatrix}$		-34 -34	1 - 34 - 3	4 -34	-34	0	0	0	0 0	0	_	
			7 1 2 13 14 25 26 73 74 85 86 97 98 V		/ 145 145	145 14	5 145	145	-47	- 40	- 71	730!	20-		Γ
			3 4 15 16 27 28 75 76 87 88 00 100		145 145	145 14	145	145	-47	-49	- 71	73 - 05	-07		
		_			145 145	145 14	141	145	14	10	1 -	10 01	- 20		
		_			140 140	140 I4	0 I40	140	- 1-	- 43 יייי		10 10 10			
		_	7 8 19 20 31 32 79 80 91 92 103 104		145 145	145 14	5 145	145	-47	-49	- 11 -	73 -95	2 - 97		
		_	9 10 21 22 33 34 81 82 93 94 105 106		145 145	145 14	5 145	145	-47	-49 -	- 71 -	73 - 9!	5 -97		
0		~	11 12 23 24 35 36 83 84 95 96 107 108		145 145	145 14	5 145	145	-47	- 49	- 71 -	73 - 9!	- 97		
32	$\{6, 12\}, (2, 6)$	~			01-7 01-7				-		+		- - -		
			37 38 49 50 61 62 109 110 121 122 133 134			0 20 2	0 - 70	-26	0	0	0	0 0	0		
		_	39 40 51 52 63 64 111 112 123 124 135 136		-30 -3(	) -30 -3	0 -30	-30	0	0	0	0	0		
		_	41 42 53 54 65 66 113 114 125 126 137 138		-34 $-34$	1 - 34 - 3	4 - 34	-34	0	0	0	000	0		
		_	43 44 55 56 67 68 115 116 127 128 139 140		-38 -38	-38 -3	8 - 38	-38	0	0	0	0	0		
		_	AF AF 57 58 60 70 117 118 190 130 141 149		,V- 6V-	- 67- 0	0V- 6	67-							
		_						4 C # 7	5 0	5 0			<b>-</b>	_	
			\ 41 48 59 00 /1 /2 119 120 131 132 143 144 \	_	-40 -40	0 -40 -4	0 -40	-40		0	0		-	/	

																									_		_							_	$\downarrow$	_									_	~
											/	-37	-37	-37	-37	-37	-37	0	0	0	0	0	0	-33	-33	-33	-33	-33	-33	0	0	0	0	0 0		1.02	-32	-32	-32	-32	0	0	0 0			>
	-92	- 92	- 92	-92	-92	0	0	0	0	0	0	-35 -	-35	-35 -	-35 -	-35	-35 -	0	0	0	0	0	0	-31	-31	-31	-31	-31	-31	0	0	0	0	0 0		0.00	-30	-30	-30	-30	0	0	0 0			>
	-90	06-		-90	-90	0	0	0	0	0	0	29 –	29 -	29 -	29 –	29 -	29 –	C	C	C	C	C	C	-25	-25	-25	-25	-25	-25	0	0	0	0	0 0	n	07 07 1 7 0	-28	-28	-28	-28	0	0	0 0			,
	88-	x 0 x 0 1		88-	-88	0	0	0	0	0	0	27 —	27 —	27 –	27 —	27 –	27 —	<u> </u>	• •	•				-23	-23	-23	-23	-23	-23	0	0	0	0	0 0		07-	-20	-20	-20	-20	0	0	0 0			,
	-56	-56 re	- 20	-56	-56	0	0	0	0	0	0	-5 -	نہ ۱	ې ۱	ب ا	ند آ	ب ا	0	0	0	0	0	0	-17	-17	-17	-17	-17	-17	0	0	0	0	0 0		o <u>x</u>	8 1 2	-18	-18	-18	0	0	0 0	0		,
	-54	-54 54	 	-54	-54	0	0	0	0	0	0	-3	-3	ا ب	-3	-3	-3	0	0	0	0	0	0	-15	-15	-15	-15	-15	-15	0	0	0	0	0 0		01 - 10 - 1 - 1	-16	-16	-16	-16	0	0	0 0			,
	-52 -	- 2.5 -2.5		-52	-52 -	0	0	0	0	0	0	45 -	45 -	45	45 -	45 -	45 -	-9	.10	-86	-90	102	106	45 -	45 -	45 -	45 -	45 -	45 -	$\cdot 10$	-14	82	-86	106	110	 52 22	45	45	45 -	45 -	-6	$\cdot 15$	81	20,	105 111	• • •
	45	45 74 1	64 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19	45	45 -	-21	-27	-33	-39	-45	-51	5	1		1	,- -	1		0	9	- 0		- 90	1	1	5	1	1	1	- 0	4	2	9	90					1	1	-	5 	 	- )	े । जन्म	-
	45	45 7 1 1	1 1	42 1	45 1	21 -	27 –	33 –	39 –	45 –	51 -	14	14	14	14!	14	14	Ĩ	-1	-8	6-	-10	-1(	14	14	14!	14	14	14	-1	-1	8 N	8	1		14:	14:	14	14!	14	Î	-1	× ×	χ	1 1	i
u l	1.	0 1 1	3 2 	1 - 1 2 - 1 2 - 1	15 1.	21 -	27 —	33 –	39 –	45 –	51 -	145	145	145	145	145	145	9-	-10	-86	-90	-102	-106	145	145	145	145	145	145	-10	-14	-82	-86	-106		145	145	145	145	145	6-	-15	-81 1	-8-	- 111 - 111	•
tatio	5 14	с 14 - 14	0 L 1 L	5 I	5 14	- -	2	 	;- 6	15  5	- 1	145	145	145	145	145	145	9-	-10	-86	-90	-102	-106	145	145	145	145	145	145	-10	-14	-82	-86	-106	- 110	145 145	145	145	145	145	6 -	-15	-81	-87	- 105 - 111	•
resen	14	0 14		14	5 14	1 -2	7 - 2	3	6	5 -4	1 -5	45	45	45	45	45	45	-0	-10	-86	-90	102	106	45	45	45	45	45	45	-10	-14	-82	-86	106	110	45	45	45	45	45	6-	-15	-81	-8-	105	+ + +
Rep	145	14	141	14	145	1 -2	7 -2	3 -3	9 -3	5 -4	1 -5	5 1	5	0 1	5	5	5 1		- 0	- 9	- 0		- 90	5 1	5 1	5 1	5 1	5 1	5 1	- 0	4	5	9	- 90			 	0 1 1	5 1	5 1	-	5 I		-	رد 1 ۱۱	-
3lock	$\left( \frac{145}{145} \right)$	145	145	145	145	-2	$-2^{-1}$	ю - ЭЭ	-35	-45	-27	/ 14	14	14	14,	14	14.	Ĭ	-1	8	6-	-10	(-10)	7 14	14	14,	14	14	14	1	-1	~ N	× 1	- 10		14	14.	14	14,	14	Î	-1	x c	χ   	) [ ]	-
-																								-											-											_
												38	40	46	48	86	88	94	96	34	36	42	44 /	34	36	46	48	82	84	94	96	30	32	42		29.00	45	48	81	84	93	96	29	27	41	/
	8	9 0	2 6	5	80	29	32	35	38	11	44 /	37	39	45	47	85	87	93	95	33 ]	35 ]	41 1	43 1	33	35	45	47	81	83	33	95	29 1	31	41	43	7 5	44	47	80	83	92	95	28	<u>1</u> 1 1	43	2
	2 9	0 0 0	0 1 1	04 I(	07 10	28 15	31 15	34 15	37 15	40 14	43 14	34	36	42	44	82	84	60 06	92	130 1	132 1	138 1	140 1	30	32	42	44	78	80	60 06	92	126 1	128	38	1 1	37	43	46	62	82	91	94	127 1		[39 ] [42 ]	
	10		~ 00 1	03 1	06 1	27 1	30 1	33 1	36 1	39 1	42 1	33	35	41	43	81	83	89	91	129	131	137	139	29	31	41	43	77	79	89	91	125	127	137	139 77	30	39	42	75	78	87	90	123	120	135 138	222
	75	8- 5 8- 5	- 78 87	87 1	90 1	111 1	114 1	117 1	120 1	123 1	126 1	22	24	30	32	20	72	78	80	118	120	126	128	26	28	38	40	74	76	86	88	122	124	134	130 96	20	38	41	74	77	86	89	122	125	134 137	
	74	77	200	86	89	110	113	116	119	122	125	21	23	29	31	69	71	77	79	117	119	125	127	25	27	37	39	73	75	85	87	121	123	133	133	0 X C	37	40	73	76	85	88	121	124	133 136	>>+
	73 22	40 20	83. 83.	85	88	109	112	115	118	121	124	18	20	26	28	66	68	74	76	114	116	122	124	10	12	22	$^{24}$	58	60	20	72	106	108	118	07.T	ع 12 م	21	24	57	60	60	72	105	108 1	120	-
	$\frac{21}{21}$	74 74	308	33	36	57	60	63	66	69	72	17	19	25	27	65	67	73	75	113	115	121	123	6	11	21	23	57	59	69	71	105	107	117	118	o (;	20	23	56	59	68	71	104	107	119 119	
	20	73	07 0	32	35	56	59	62	65	68	71	9	x	14	16	54	56	62	64	102	104	110	112	9	x	18	20	54	56	66	68	102	104	114	10	10	19	22	55	58	67	20	103	100	115 118	>++
uare	19	7.7 7.7	0 X 7 V	31	34	55	58	61	64	67	70	ы	-1	<u></u>	5	33	55	51	33	0	03	60	E	2	4	12	61	33	55	35	37	5	8	<u></u>		ം പ	, <u>1</u>	8	51	54	33	36	66 5	7 7	11	•
e Sq	с, с	900	<u>ع</u> ر	15	18	39	42	45	48	51	54			_	~		~	~	0	~	0	6	8					0	~	~	+	~	0	0 0	7		+		0	~	~	5	~ ·	 	- г с с	5
sible	0,1	ഹം	0	14	17	38	41	44	47	50	53	7	4	10	H	50	22	32	99	<u> </u>	10	10	10	5	4	17	1(	50	22	62	ġ	8	10	= :		4 LC	7	H	50	ŝ	62	<u>3</u> 9	86 Ç	3;	1 =	+
Sever	$\left\langle \begin{array}{c} 1 \\ \cdot \end{array} \right\rangle$	41	10	13	16	37	40	43	46	49	52	$\begin{pmatrix} 1 \end{pmatrix}$	က	6	11	49	51	57	59	67	66	105	107	1	က	13	15	49	51	61	63	97	66	105			13	16	49	52	61	64	26,	TUC	SUT 112	
																	_												_	_					_											_
																	19)]												19)]	[]										10)1	[(~]) }					
ls					5)]	ζ(n											9.4	í í											9 С	5 í											, C					
Patl					6)	ý.											(	~											(	~										с) -	·)					
Sor					10)	14),											115	• • •											1 10	, L L										10)	Ì TV					
Divi					. 9) J	l (u,											(0, 2	í Ú											ر (۲)	( ) )										ر م ا	ر، <del>1</del>					
					55	•••											34	-											л С	20										36	00					-

	Divisor Paths	F	lever	sible	Squ	are									Blo	ck Re	Drese	ntatic	u l								
		+	-	c	-	0	C N	5	06	10	C H	67	1			A R	74	1	16	1	2	2	61	А М	н Т	62	
			- T	N	C	0	2	5 0	ر با	49	0C	00	54		_		I 01-1	1 C+	1 C+	5I 075	0 0	0   	-43	C <del>1</del> -	10-	00-	
			cro	4	1-	8	7	с С	32	51	52	55	56		_	[45	145 1	45 1	45 1.	$45  1_{4}$	تر ا	20 1 20	-43	-45	-51	-53	
			0	10	13	Т Т	3 2 2	1 3	7 38	57	х Х	61	65			45	45	45	45 1,	45 12	1	ີ [ ເ	-43	-45	15	-53	
			, <u>-</u>	2 2	2 12 1 17	0 c 1 9	o č o u	5 6 1 0		5 1	00	5	1 5					 			<u>.</u>	ວ 1 ວ ເ	ç ç	ς Ψ	5 1	2	
			;;	1	. , ,	0 0 0	، د ، د		ب 4ر	0.0	00	3	10 10				1 1	1.	1. 1.	1. 1.	ر ت ا	י ה   	04-	0 <del>1</del> -	101	0.0	
			L7	Ix	.71	22 4	1 4	2.4	5 4t	65	99	69	02			145	[45 I	45 I	45 I	45 Ić	ۍ ۱	2 1 2	-43	-45	10-	-53	
01	(61 7 6) (61 9 6) ]	7	19	20	23	24 4,	34	4 4'	7 48	67	68	71	72			[45	[45 ]	45 1	45 I.	45 14	ۍ ۱	3 1 2	-43	-45	-51	-53	
5	1(4, 0, 14), (4, 4, 14)	<i>ر</i> ا	73	74	. 22	78 9.	7 9.	8 10	1 10	2 121	122	125	126		-	-54 -	-54 -	- 54 -	-54 -	54 -	54 0	0	0	0	0	0	
			75	76	3 62	30 01	9 10	10 10	3 102	1 123	124	1.97	128		_	82-	85-	829	85	28	8	C	C	C	C	0	
			2 2	83		36 10	10	10 10	0 111	129	130	133	134			- 20	- 20	- 02	- 20	- 20 20	0 02	0					
			5		10			2 <u>0</u>		191	001	1001	1961			- 1 -				1.0							
			8	84	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		)/ TC	11 01	TT	2 151	132	130	130		_	- (4	- (4	- (4 -	- (4	- +	14 0						
			89	<u> 60</u>	93 93	<b>34 11</b>	[] []	4 11	7 11,	8 137	138	141	142			-86	-86	-86	-86	86	86 0	0	0	0	0	0	
			16	92	95 5	<b>∂</b> 6 11	11 11	6 11	9 12(	) 139	140	143	144	_	_	- 06-	- 06-	- 06-	- 06-	i - 06	0 06	0	0	0	0	0	_
		+	-	c	ы	<i>u</i>	0	10	270	00	11	10				ц И	72	11	1 1 1 1	1	ы	10	00	020	1	127	
				1	0	0	מ	PI :	10	000	1	7 7 7	6 - -	-	_		1	1 1	1 .	1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-	ן פי		- 73	00	- 1 1	041	_
				4	-	×	Π	12	39	40	43	14 4	7	00		[45	[45 ]	45 1	45 1.	45 14	ت ا	27 –	29	35	7 -4	3 -45	_
			13	14	17	18	21	22	49	50	53	54	12			45	45 1	45 1	45 1.	45 14	اتر ا	27 -	29	35 -3	7 -4	3 -45	_
			1	• •				10	1	0 L	- 										<u>.</u>	1 -		0 C	- 1	2 4	
			ст	qΤ	ГŊ	07.	23	74	Γ¢	22	00	00	0 8		_	145	[45] I	45 I	45 I	45 I4	ں ا		67	30 -3	1-4	5 -45	
			25	26	29	30	сс СС	34	61	62	65	36 6	69	0		145	145 1	45 1	45 I.	$45  1_{4}$	ات ا	27 –	29	35 -3	7 -4	3 -45	
0		-	27	38	31	30	35	36	63	64	67	20	1			15	15	45	45	15 1/	ا ۲	- 20	20	35	V   _	145	
8 20 20	$\{(2, 6, 12), (2, 6, 12)\}$		i ē		51	2 1	3	2	3	# <sup>0</sup>			- ; - ;	4	_			- -	- -	£. ₽	2 S	1	57 C		τις 		
		, ,	2	74	<u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>	8	81	82	109	110	113	14 I.	L7 11			-46	-46 -	-46 –	-46 –	46 –	16	_		0	0	0	
			75	76	79	80	83	84	111	112	115 1	16 1	19 12	0	-	- 20	-20	- 20	- 20	- 20	00	_	0	0	0	0	
			0	20	00		6	2	101	100	101	1 30	61 00			10	10	10				_					
			ĉõ	00	89	90	93	94	171	771	1 C2 I	70	51 I.C	2		- 01-	- 0	- 01-	- 0/-	- 0	0	_			Ο	Ο	
			87	88	91	92	95	36	123	124	127 1	28	31 13	2	-	- 74 -	-74 -	- 74 –	- 74 –	74 –'	74 (	_	0	0	0	0	
			20	980	101	102	105	106	133	134	137 1	38 1	41 14	ç	-	- 04	- 04	- 70	- 707	07	) 10	_	0	0	C	0	
			5	86								 -			_		50	F C		H C	t c						_
		-	66	001	TU3	104	TU/	201	130	130	1.39	40 I	43 I4	4 /	/	- 98 -	-98	- 98	- 98	98	30	_				0	_
			$\left  \right $	2	e C	-	×	6	37	38	39	43	44	45		145	145 1	45 1	45 1.	45 1 <sub>4</sub>	ات ا	28	30	32 -4	0 -4	2 -44	
			Ā	ЪC,	Ś	10		12	40	41	49	46	47	48	_	45	45	45	45 1,	45 12	1	28	30	32 -4	0 - 4	2 - 44	_
			- <del>,</del>	;	,			16			1 -							 -	 -		2						
			<u>Г</u> ?	14	ΓD	ГŊ	.20	71	49	00	10	55	20	2.1	_	[45	[45 I	45 I	45 I	45 I4	ن ا	- 28	30	32 -4	0 -4	2 44	
			16	17	$18 \\ 18 \\ 18 \\ 18 \\ 18 \\ 18 \\ 18 \\ 18 \\$	22	23	24	52	53	54	58	29	00		[45	[45 1	45 1	45 1.	45 14	تر ا	- 28	30	32 -4	0 -4	2 -44	
			25	26	27	31	32	33	61	62	63	67	68	69		145	145 1	45 1	45 1.	45 14	ار ا	28 -	30	32 -4	0 - 4	2 -44	
1		-	36	06	30	37	с С	36	РУ	ц С	99	20	4	73	1	<u>г</u>	7	7 7	дд Т	л Т	ы	30	30	50 1		14	
6 2 2	$\{(2, 6, 12), (3, 6, 12)\}$	~		3 i	3 6	56		3 5	50,	85	5 5	2		1 <u>1</u>							5 1		3			Fc	
			5	(4	C)	67	80	8	TU9	110	111	CTT	110	) T		- 64-	-40	- 10-	- 40	70 71	0 CT	_			Ο	Ο	_
			26	27	78	82	83	84	112	113	114	118	119 1	20	1	-51	-51	-51 -	-51 –	51	51 (	_	0	0	0	0	
			85	86	87	91	92	93	121	122	123	127	128 1	29	-	- 69-	- 69-	- 69	- 69-	- 69	39 (	_	0	0	0	0	
			x	80	00	70	05	96	194	125	126	130	131 1	32		- 75	- 75	75	- 75	75	75 (	_		0	C	0	
			6	00	00	102	101	105	199	194	105	120				6	60	60	60	2.00		_					
			007	S 5	001					1 1				1	_		) ) ) )			200							_
				IOI	T07	901	TO	TU8	130	13/	138	142	143	44 /	/	- 66-	-99	- 66-	- 66-	99	<u> </u>					∍∣	
			$\overline{}$ 1	0	7	8	5	6 3.	1 32	49	50	55	56		<u> </u>	[45	145 1	45 1	45 1.	45 14	ات ا	5 -7	-41	-43	-53	-55	
			က	4	6	10 2	7 2	ж ж	34	51	52	57	58		_	[45	145 1	45 1	45 I.	45 14	ا5 ا	5 -7	-41	-43	-53	-55	
			ъ.	9 9	1	1.9 .	9	3	36	53	54	50	60			45	45 1	45	45 1.	45 12	يد ا	1	-41	-43	-533	 55	
			- 61	2	10		50	) <del>,</del> ,		9 E	69	67	89			2	1 1 1	15	11	1 1	р <u>и</u>	- 1 - 	11	12	0 C 1	) L ) L	
			3	# •	13	<b>0</b>	- ·	÷ ÷	 -		1.0	5				1			1. 1.	- F	2		1 1	- 			
			15	16	21	22	9	0 4	5 46	63	64	69	70			45	[45 ]	45 1	45 I.	45 Ić	ري ا	5 -7	-41	-43	-53	-55	
UV	13619) (0710)	- -	17	18	53 23	24 4.	1 4.	2 4	7 48	65	66	71	72			[45	[45 ]	45 1	45 1	45 14	ات ا	5 - 7	-41	-43	-53	-55	
0 <del>1</del>	[0, 0, 14), (4, 4, 14)]	<u> </u>	73	74	3 62	30 9	7 9	8 10	3 102	1 121	122	127	128			- 26	-56	- 26	-26	56	56 0	C	0	C	0	0	
			75	76	8	30 OI	0 10	01	д 101	3 193	197	190	130			- 60	60	60	60	60	0 08	0		0	0	0	
			1 2	1 -								 				0		0.0	0.0	80							
			::	0	00	24 TC			TO TO	071 0	071	151	132		1	-07	-04	- 0-	-04	04	04 				Ð		
			85	86	91	J2 I(	11 6(	0 11	5 II.	5 133	134	139	140			- 80	-80	- 80	- 80	80	80	0	0	0	0	0	
			87	88	93	<b>34</b> 11	11	2 11	7 116	3 135	136	141	142			-84	-84	- 84	-84	84	84 0	0	0	0	0	0	
			89	ЧU	9.5	ы. 11	3 11	Д 11	a 121	137	138	143	144	_	_	88-	88	x x I	88	xx XX	ss 0	C	C	C	C	C	
		-	20												1	8	0	8	8	8				,	,	,	

hs						1961361	, (4, 0, 14 <i>)</i>											1 (3 6 19)	), ( <sup>0</sup> , <sup>U</sup> , <sup>1</sup> <sup>2</sup> )					
Reve		e	1	ï	45	<u>5</u>	.0	.;;	.6	<i>б</i>	10			4	2	19	22	25	73	26	29	91	94	67
rsibl	2	4	3 14	5 1(	9 5(	1 5.	1 6.	3 64	7 98	9 10	11 60	1 11	2	വ	x	20	23	26	74	177	80	92	i 95	98
e Sqt	3	1 7	4 1	6 1:	0	2	2 6.	4 6	8 10	00 10	11 01	12 11	e S	9	6	21	$^{24}$	27	75	78	81	93	96	66
lare	9	\$	7 18	9 20	3 54	5 56	5 66	7 68	10: 10:	)3 10 <sup>,</sup>	3 11,	5 11(	10	13	16	28	31	34	82	85	88	100	103	106
	6	11	3 21	) 23	t 57	59	69 8	3 71	2 105	4 107	4 117	6 115	11	14	17	29	32	35	83	86	89	101	104	107
	10	12	22	24	58	60	20	72	5 106	7 108	7 118	) 120	12	15	18	30	33	36	84 j	87 j	100	102 j	105 1	108 j
	25	27	37	39	73	75	85	87	121	123	133	135	37 3	40 4	43 4	55 5	58 5	51 6	09 1	12 1.	.15 1.	27 1:	30 1.	33 1.
	26	28	38	40	74	76	86	88	122	124	134	136	8 35	1 42	4 45	6 51	9 6	2 65	10 11	13 11-	16 11	28 12	31 13.	34 13
	29	31	41	43	77	79	89	91	125	127	137	139	) 46	3 49	5 52	7 64	) 67	507	1 115	4 12]	$7 12_{4}$	9 136	2 139	5 142
	30	32	42	44	78	80	90	92	126	128	138	140	47	50	53	65	68	71	3 119	1 122	125	3 137	) 140	2 143
	33	35	45	47	81	83	93	95	129	131	141	143	48	51	54	66	69	72	120	123	126	138	141	144
	34	36	46	48	82	84	94	96	130	132	142	$^{144}$ /		_										/
BI		_										/		_					_					/
lock I	145	145	145	145	145	145	-50	-54	-58	-86	-90	-94	145	145	145	145	145	145	-48	-54	-60	-84	-90	-96
<u>tepre</u>	145	145	145	145	145	145	-50	-54	-58	-86	-90	-94	145	145	145	145	145	145	-48	-54	-60	-84	-90	-96
sentat	145	145	145	145	145	145	-50	-54	-58	-86	-90	-94	145	145	145	145	145	145	-48	-54	-60	-84	-90	-96
ion	145	145	145	145	145	145	-50	-54	-58	-86	-90	-94	145	145	145	145	145	145	-48	-54	-60	-84	-90	-96
	145	145	145	145	145	145	-50	-54	-58	-86	-90	-94	145	145	145	145	145	145	-48	-54	-60	-84	-90	-96
	145	145	145	145	145	145	-50	-54	-58	-86	-90	-94	145	145	145	145	145	145	-48	-54	-60	-84	-90	-96
	-23	-23	-23	-23	-23	-23	0	0	0	0	0	0	-25	-25	-25	-25	-25	-25	0	0	0	0	0	0
	-25	-25	-25	-25	-25	-25	0	0	0	0	0	0	-27	-27	-27	-27	-27	-27	0	0	0	0	0	0
	-35	-35	-35	-35	-35	-35	0	0	0	0	0	0	-29	-29	-29	-29	-29	-29	0	0	0	0	0	0
	-37	-37	-37	-37	-37	-37	0	0	0	0	0	0	-43	-43	-43	-43	-43	-43	0	0	0	0	0	0
	-47	-47	-47	-47	-47	-47	0	0	0	0	0	0	-45	-45	-45	-45	-45	-45	0	0	0	0	0	0
	-49	-49	-49	-49	-49	-49	0	0	0	0	0	0	-47	-47	-47	-47	-47	-47	0	0	0	0	0	0
1																								
$SD_1 = \{\{1, 3, 5, 7, 9, 11\}, \{12, 36, 60, 84, 108, 132\}\}$  $SD_2 = \{\{23, 25, 71, 73, 119, 121\}, \{2, 6, 10, 14, 18, 22\}\}$  $SD_3 = \{\{34, 36, 38, 106, 108, 110\}, \{3, 9, 15, 21, 27, 33\}\}$  $SD_4 = \{\{1, 3, 93, 95, 97, 99\}, \{4, 12, 20, 28, 36, 44\}\}$  $SD_5 = \{\{67, 69, 71, 73, 75, 77\}, \{6, 18, 30, 42, 45, 66\}\}$  $SD_6 = \{\{3, 5, 11, 13, 19, 21\}, \{22, 26, 70, 74, 118, 122\}\}$  $SD_7 = \{\{4, 6, 8, 16, 18, 20\}, \{21, 27, 69, 75, 117, 123\}\}$  $SD_8 = \{\{1, 3, 13, 15, 17, 19\}, \{20, 28, 68, 76, 116, 124\}\}$  $SD_9 = \{\{7, 9, 11, 13, 15, 17\}, \{18, 30, 66, 78, 114, 126\}\}$  $SD_{10} = \{\{3, 5, 91, 93, 99, 101\}, \{6, 10, 22, 26, 28, 42\}\}$  $SD_{11} = \{\{63, 65, 71, 73, 79, 81\}, \{10, 14, 34, 38, 58, 62\}\}$  $SD_{12} = \{\{64, 66, 68, 76, 78, 80\}, \{9, 15, 33, 39, 57, 63\}\}$  $SD_{13} = \{\{5, 7, 17, 19, 29, 31\}, \{32, 36, 40, 104, 108, 112\}\}$  $SD_{14} = \{\{7, 9, 11, 25, 27, 29\}, \{30, 36, 42, 102, 108, 114\}\}$  $SD_{15} = \{\{1, 3, 21, 23, 25, 27\}, \{28, 36, 44, 100, 108, 116\}\}$  $SD_{16} = \{\{13, 15, 17, 19, 21, 23\}, \{24, 36, 48, 96, 108, 120\}\}$  $SD_{17} = \{\{5, 7, 89, 91, 101, 103\}, \{8, 12, 16, 32, 36, 40\}\}$  $SD_{18} = \{\{59, 61, 71, 73, 83, 85\}, \{14, 18, 22, 50, 54, 58\}\}$  $SD_{19} = \{\{61, 63, 65, 79, 81, 83\}, \{12, 18, 24, 48, 54, 60\}\}$  $SD_{20} = \{\{7, 9, 23, 25, 39, 41\}, \{2, 6, 90, 94, 98, 102\}\}$  $SD_{21} = \{\{10, 12, 14, 34, 36, 38\}, \{3, 9, 87, 93, 99, 105\}\}$  $SD_{22} = \{\{1, 3, 29, 31, 33, 35\}, \{4, 12, 84, 92, 100, 108\}\}$  $SD_{23} = \{\{19, 21, 23, 25, 27, 29\}, \{6, 18, 78, 90, 102, 114\}\}$  $SD_{24} = \{\{7, 9, 87, 89, 103, 105\}, \{2, 6, 26, 30, 34, 38\}\}$  $SD_{25} = \{\{55, 57, 71, 73, 87, 89\}, \{2, 6, 42, 46, 50, 54\}\}$  $SD_{26} = \{\{58, 60, 62, 82, 84, 86\}, \{3, 9, 39, 45, 51, 57\}\}$  $SD_{27} = \{\{11, 13, 35, 37, 59, 61\}, \{62, 66, 70, 74, 78, 82\}\}$  $SD_{28} = \{\{16, 18, 20, 52, 54, 56\}, \{57, 63, 69, 75, 81, 87\}\}$  $SD_{29} = \{\{1, 3, 45, 47, 49, 51\}, \{52, 60, 68, 76, 84, 92\}\}$  $SD_{30} = \{\{31, 33, 35, 37, 39, 41\}, \{42, 54, 66, 78, 90, 102\}\}$  $SD_{31} = \{\{11, 13, 83, 85, 107, 109\}, \{14, 18, 22, 26, 30, 34\}\}$  $SD_{32} = \{\{47, 49, 71, 73, 95, 97\}, \{26, 30, 34, 38, 42, 46\}\}$  $SD_{33} = \{\{52, 54, 56, 88, 90, 82\}, \{21, 27, 33, 39, 45, 51\}\}$  $SD_{34} = \{\{3, 5, 27, 29, 35, 37\}, \{6, 10, 86, 90, 102, 106\}\}$  $SD_{35} = \{\{15, 17, 23, 25, 31, 33\}, \{10, 14, 82, 86, 106, 110\}\}$  $SD_{36} = \{\{16, 18, 20, 28, 30, 32\}, \{9, 15, 81, 87, 105, 111\}\}$  $SD_{37} = \{\{3, 5, 43, 45, 51, 53\}, \{54, 58, 70, 74, 86, 90\}\}$  $SD_{38} = \{\{27, 29, 35, 37, 43, 45\}, \{46, 50, 70, 74, 94, 98\}\}$  $SD_{39} = \{\{28, 30, 32, 40, 42, 44\}, \{45, 51, 69, 75, 93, 99\}\}$  $SD_{40} = \{\{5, 7, 41, 43, 53, 55\}, \{56, 60, 64, 80, 84, 88\}\}$  $SD_{41} = \{\{23, 25, 35, 37, 47, 49\}, \{50, 54, 58, 86, 90, 94\}\}$  $SD_{42} = \{\{25, 27, 29, 43, 45, 47\}, \{48, 54, 60, 84, 90, 96\}\}$ 

# Appendix 3: Divisor Paths, Inclusive Sum-and-Distance Systems and Odd Sided Reversible Squares

The following tables list all even sided reversible squares for  $n \in \{3, 5, 7, 9, 11, 13, 15\}$ , there corresponding divisor path sets, block representations and inclusive sum-and-distance systems.

\_

٢

Sum-and-Distance System	$\{\{1\}, \{3\}\}$	
Block Representation	$\left(\begin{array}{rrr} 10 & 5\sqrt{2} & -2 \\ 5\sqrt{2} & 5 & -\sqrt{2} \end{array}\right)$	$\begin{pmatrix} -6 & -3\sqrt{2} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$
Reversible Square	$\left(\begin{array}{rrrr}1&2&3\\4&5&6\end{array}\right)$	$\begin{pmatrix} 7 & 8 & 9 \end{pmatrix}$
Divisor Paths	$1 $ {(3), (3)}	

Table 8: n=5

Divisor Paths	Revei	rsible	e Sq.	uare		B	lock R(	prese	ntation			S & D System <sup>*</sup>
	/ 1	2	3	4	5		26	26	$13\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	
	9	7	×	6	10	_	26	26	$13\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	
 $\{(5), (5)\}$	11	12	13	14	15		$13\sqrt{2}$	$13\sqrt{2}$	13	$-\sqrt{2}$	$-2\sqrt{2}$	$\{\{1,2\},\{5,10\}\}$
	16	17	18	19	20	_	-10	-10	$-5\sqrt{2}$	0	0	
	21	22	23	24	25 /		-20	-20	$-10\sqrt{2}$	0	0	

 $^{1*}$  Here S&D stands for sum-and-distance and D. P. for divisor path.

n=7	
9:	
Table	

DIVISOR Paths	Rever	sible	Squ	are			-	Block R	epresei	ILAUIOI	T				S & D System <sup>*</sup>
	/ 1	5	, ,	4	9	7		/ 50	50	50	$25\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-4	9-	
	8	6	10 1	E E	2 13	14		50	50	50	$25\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-6	
	15	16	17 1	18	9 20	21		50	50	50	$25\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-0	
$\{(7), (7)\}$	22	23	24 2	25 21	6 27	28		$25\sqrt{2}$	$25\sqrt{2}$	$25\sqrt{2}$	25	$-\sqrt{2}$	$-2\sqrt{2}$	$-3\sqrt{2}$	$  \{\{1, 2, 3\}, \{7, 14, 21\}\}$
	29	30	31 5	32 3.	3 34	35		-14	-14	-14	$-7\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	
	36	37	38 5	39 41	0 41	42		-28	-28	-28	$-14\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	
	43	44 .	45 4	16 4	7 48	49 /		-42	-42	-42	$-21\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	

Table 10: n=9

${ m S}~\&~{ m D}~{ m System}^*$					$\{\{1, 2, 3, 4\}, \{9, 18, 27, 36\}\}$									$\{\{1, 26, 27, 28\}, \{3, 6, 9, 12\}\}$				
	/				2				_	-56	-56	-56	-56	$28\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0
	30 I	30 I	30 I	30 I	$\overline{2}$ $-4$	0	0	0	0	54 .	54	54	54 .	<u></u>	_	_	_	_
	-6	9	9-	9–	-3	0	0	0	0	Ĩ	Ĩ	Ĩ	Ĩ	$\overline{2} - 27$	0	0	0	0
	-4	-4	-4	-4	$-2\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	-52	-52	-52	-52	-26	0	0	0	0
	-2	$^{-2}$	-2	$^{-2}$	$-\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	$^{-2}$	-2	-2	-2	$-\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0
	$41\sqrt{2}$	$41\sqrt{2}$	$41\sqrt{2}$	$41\sqrt{2}$	41	$-9\sqrt{2}$	$-18\sqrt{2}$	$-27\sqrt{2}$	$-36\sqrt{2}$	$41\sqrt{2}$	$41\sqrt{2}$	$41\sqrt{2}$	$41\sqrt{2}$	41	$-3\sqrt{2}$	$-6\sqrt{2}$	$-9\sqrt{2}$	$-12\sqrt{2}$
J	82	82	82	82	$41\sqrt{2}$	-18	-36	-54	-72	82	82	82	82	$41\sqrt{2}$	-6	-12	-18	-24
ntatio	82	82	82	82	$41\sqrt{2}$	-18	-36	-54	-72	82	82	82	82	$41\sqrt{2}$	9-	-12	-18	-24
eprese:	82	82	82	82	$41\sqrt{2}$	-18	-36	-54	-72	82	82	82	82	$41\sqrt{2}$	9-	-12	-18	-24
lock R	82	82	82	82	$41\sqrt{2}$	-18	-36	-54	-72	82	82	82	82	$41\sqrt{2}$	9-	-12	-18	-24
В		_						_			_							
	6	18	27	36	45	54	63	72	81 /	57 \	60	63	66	69	72	75	78	81 /
	×	17	26	35	44	53	62	71	80	56	59	62	65	68	71	74	77	80
	2	16	25	34	43	52	61	70	79	55	58	61	64	67	70	73	76	29
	9	15	24	33	42	51	60	69	78	30	33	36	39	42	45	48	51	54
e	ъ	14	23	32	41	50	59	68	77	29	32	35	38	41	44	47	50	53
dua:	4	2 13	22	31	9 40	3 49	58	67	202	28	31	34	2 37	5 40	3 43	1 46	1 49	52
ole S	0	1	0 21	9 3(	8 35	7 48	5.	5 6(	4 7:	3	9	6	1 12	4 15	7 15	0 21	3 2/	6 2'
Reversi	/ 1 2	1 10 1	19 2	28 2	37 3	46 4	55 5	64 6	73 7	/ 1 2	4	2	10 1	13 1	16 1	19 2	22 2	25 2
Divisor Paths					$\{(9), (9)\}$									$\{(9), (3)\}$				

	<u> </u>											_
				$4, 27, 30\}$								
m*				{3,2	` `							
Syste				$9, 10\}$	<b>`</b>							
5 & D				{{1,8,	` ``							
								_				
	-20	-20	07-	$-10\sqrt{2}$	. 0	0	0	0				
	-18	- <u>1</u> 0	-18	$-10^{-10}$	0	0	0	0				
	-16	- 10 -	-16 -16	$^{-10}$	. 0	0	0	0				
	-2	2 C	7 C	$-\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$	0	0	0	0				
	$\frac{41\sqrt{2}}{5}$	17.2 17.2	4172	41 41	$-3\sqrt{2}$	$-24\sqrt{2}$	$-27\sqrt{2}$	$-30\sqrt{2}$				-
	82	7	7 00	$\frac{52}{1\sqrt{2}}$	- 9-	-48	-54 -	- 09-			11	4
ation	82	2.2 0	7.8	$\frac{62}{1\sqrt{2}}$	. 9–	-48	-54	-60			1: n=	Ē
resent	82	2.2 0	7.8	$\frac{62}{1\sqrt{2}}$	0	-48	-54	- 09-			able 1	
ck Rep	82	7.0	28	$\frac{02}{1\sqrt{2}}$	. 9-	-48	-54	-60				
Blo	<u> </u>			~				~				
	21 \	24	27	40 51	54	75	78	81 /				
	20	53	26 1	4 ( 50	53	74	77	80				
	19	22	52 72	40 49	52	73	76	79				
	12	15	18	42	45	66	69	72				
ure	0 11	3 14	0 II 9 I	~ 0 ~ 14	3 44	4 65	7 68	0				
Sque	3	6 1	 62	00 00 00 40 00 40	36 4	57 6	30 6	33 7				5
ible	5	ഹ	∞ 8	 8 8	35	56	59	62				
Revers		4	- <sup>0</sup>	31	34	55	58	61				f
aths												-
sor P				(2)	~							.
Divi				$\{(5)\}$								. 
	-			ŝ								

$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	73       74       75       76       77 $-22$ $-22$ $-22$ $-22$ $-11\sqrt{2}$ 0       0       0         84       85       86       87       88 $-44$ $-44$ $-44$ $-44$ $-22$ $0$ 0       0       0         95       96       97       98       99 $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-66$ $-73\sqrt{2}$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $0$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$ $100$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	00 - 00 - 00	88 -88 -88 10 -110 -110 20 20 44 77 3	$1, 22, 33, 44, 55 \}$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	ATA 7 ATA 7 ATA	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-88 -88 -8 -110 -110 -11 -12 -11	$\{1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}, \{11\}$
$\begin{array}{cccc} 43 & 44 \\ 54 & 55 \\ 2 & 25 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\ 2 & 2 \\$	65 66	76 77 87 88 99 99	120 $121$ $/$	~
40 41 42 51 52 53 62 63 64	10 00 10	73 74 75 84 85 86 95 96 97	117 118 119	
37 38 39 48 49 50	59 60 61	70 71 72 81 82 83 92 93 94	14 115 116	
35 36 46 47	56 $57$ $58$	67 68 69 78 79 80 89 90 91	111 112 113	s & D System

	D. P.	Reversible Square	B	lock Rej	preser	Itatio	d									
		$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		170 17	0 170	170	170	170	$85\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-6	$^{\circ}$	-10	-12	_
		14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26		170 17	0 170	170	170	170	$85\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-4	$^{9-}$	8	-10	-12	
		27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38 39		170 17	0 170	170	170	170	$85\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-4	$^{9-}$	8 N	-10	-12	
		40 41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52		170 17	0 170	170	170	170	$85\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-4	$^{-0}$	8	-10	-12	
		53 54 55 56 57 58 59 60 61 62 63 64 65		170 17	0 170	170	170	170	$85\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-4	$^{-9}$	8	-10	-12	
		66 67 68 69 70 71 72 73 74 75 76 77 78		170 17	0 170	170	170	170	$85\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-4	-6	8	-10	-12	
1	$\{(13), (13)\}$	79 80 81 82 83 84 85 86 87 88 89 90 91		85√ <u>2</u> 85√	$\sqrt{2} 85\sqrt{3}$	$\overline{2} 85\sqrt{2}$	$85\sqrt{2}$	$85\sqrt{2}$	85	$-\sqrt{2}$	$-2\sqrt{2}$	$-3\sqrt{2}$	$-4\sqrt{2}$	$-5\sqrt{2}$	$-6\sqrt{2}$	
		92 93 94 95 96 97 98 99 100 101 102 103 104		-26 -2	6 -26	-26	-26	-26	$-13\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		105 106 107 108 109 110 111 112 113 114 115 116 117		-52 - 5	2 -52	-52	-52	-52	$-26\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		118 119 120 121 122 123 124 125 126 127 128 129 130		- 78 - 7	87 - 78	-78	-78	-78	$-39\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		131 132 133 134 135 136 137 138 139 140 141 142 143		-104 - 10	$04 - 10^{\circ}$	4 - 104	-104	-104	$-52\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		144 145 146 147 148 149 150 151 152 153 154 155 156		-130 - 13	30 -13	0 - 130	-130	-130	$-65\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		157 158 159 160 161 162 163 164 165 166 167 168 169	$\leq$	-156 -1	56 -15	3 - 156	-156	-156	$-78\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	_
		S & D System	$\approx$	[1,2,3,4]	[, 5, 6]	, {13	, 26, 3	39, 52	2, 65, 7	∭ S						

Table 12: n=13

Table 13: n=15

	D. P.	R	evers	sible	$\mathrm{Sqr}$	lare										Blc	ck Rel	presei	ntatio	u												
			1	5	4	ъ	9	2	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	9 1(	11 0	12	13	14 1.	5		226 2	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-6	8	-10	-12	-14	
			16	17 1	8 19	20	21	22	23 2	34 2!	5 26	27	28	29 3	0		226 2	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-6	8	-10	-12	-14	
			31	32 3	3 34	35	36	37	38 38	39 4(	0 41	42	43	44 4	5 L		226 2	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-4	-6	8	-10	-12	-14	
			46	47 4	8 49	50	51	52	53 5	54 55	5 56	57	58	59 6	0		226 2	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-6	8	-10	-12	-14	
			61 (	52 6	3 64	65	99	67	68 6	39 7(	12 C	72	73	74 7.	ы С		226 2	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-6	8	-10	-12	-14	
			. 92	77 77	8 79	80	81	82	83 8	¥4 8:	5 86	87	88	68	0		226 2	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-6	8	-10	-12	-14	
			91 (	<b>32</b> 9.	3 94	95	96	67	98 9	<b>99 10</b>	0 101	102	$103 \ 1$	04 10	)5		226 2	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-6	8	-10	-12	-14	
Η	$\{(15), (15)\}$		$106 \ 1$	07 1C	10%	9 110	111	112 1	113 1.	14 11	5 116	117	118 1	19 12	30	-1	$13\sqrt{2}$ 11	$3\sqrt{2}$ 1	$13\sqrt{2} \ 1$	$13\sqrt{2} \ 1$	$13\sqrt{2}$ 1	$(13\sqrt{2})$	$113\sqrt{2}$	113	- ~2	$\overline{1}$ -2 $\sqrt{2}$	$-3\sqrt{2}$	$-4\sqrt{2}$	$-5\sqrt{2}$	$-6\sqrt{2}$	$-7\sqrt{2}$	
			$121 \ 1$	22 12	3 124	125	126	127 1	128 1	29 13	0 131	. 132	133 1	34 13	25		-30 -	-30	-30	-30	-30	-30	-30	$-15\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
			$136 \ 1$	37 13	8 13	9 140	141	142 1	$143 1_{4}$	44 14	5 146	147	$148 \ 1$	$49 \ 15$	20		- 09-	. 09-	-60	-60	-60	-60	-60	$-30\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
			$151 \ 1$	$52 \ 15$	$15_{4}$	155	156	157 1	158 18	59  16	0 161	162	$163 \ 1$	64 16	35		- 06-	. 06-	-90	-90	-90	-90	-90	$-45\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
			$166 \ 1$	67 16	38 169	9 170	171	172 1	173 1	74 17	5 176	177	178 1	79 18	<u></u>	'	-120	- 120 -	-120 -	-120 -	-120	-120	-120	$-60\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
			181 1	82 18	3 18	185	186	187 1	188 1	89 19	0 191	192	$193 \ 1$	94 19	35		-150 -	- 150 -	-150 -	-150 -	-150	-150	-150	$-75\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
			$196 \ 1$	97 19	<b>38</b> 19(	9 200	201	202 2	203 2(	$04 \ 20$	15 206	3 207	208 2	09 21	0]		-180 -	- 180	-180	- 180	-180	-180	-180	$-90\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
			211 2	12 21	.3 21	1215	216	217 2	218 2	19 22	0 221	222	223 2	24 22	25)		-210 -	-210 -	-210 -	-210 -	-210	-210	-210	$-105\sqrt{5}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_
		$\infty$	& D	$Sy_5$	stem											{{1	,2,3,4	1, 5, 6	, 7}, 1	[15, 3(	), 45, (	50, 75	, 90, 1	$05\}$ }								

	D. P.	Reversible Square	Ē	ock R	epres	entati	on												
		$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-88	-90	-92	-178	-180	-182	
		4  5  6  49  50  51  94  95  96  139  140  141  184  185  186		226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-88	-90	-92	-178	-180	-182	
		7  8  9  52  53  54  97  98  99  142  143  144  187  188  189		226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-88	-90	-92	-178	-180	-182	
		$10 \ 11 \ 12 \ 55 \ 56 \ 57 \ 100 \ 101 \ 102 \ 145 \ 146 \ 147 \ 190 \ 191 \ 192$		226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-88	-90	-92	-178	-180	-182	
		$13\ 14\ 15\ 58\ 59\ 60\ 103\ 104\ 105\ 148\ 149\ 150\ 193\ 194\ 195$		226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-88	-90	-92	-178	-180	-182	
		$16 \ 17 \ 18 \ 61 \ 62 \ 63 \ 106 \ 107 \ 108 \ 151 \ 152 \ 153 \ 196 \ 197 \ 198$		226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-88	-90	-92	-178	-180	-182	
		$19\ 20\ 21\ 64\ 65\ 66\ 109\ 110\ 111\ 154\ 155\ 156\ 199\ 200\ 201$		226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-88	-90	-92	-178	-180	-182	
2	$\{(15), (3)\}$	22 23 24 67 68 69 112 113 114 157 158 159 202 203 204		$113\sqrt{2}$ ]	$13\sqrt{2}$	$113\sqrt{2}$	$113\sqrt{2}$	$113\sqrt{2}$	$113\sqrt{2}$	$113\sqrt{2}$	113	$-\sqrt{2}$	$-44\sqrt{2}$ -	$-45\sqrt{2}$ .	$-46\sqrt{2}$	$-89\sqrt{2}$	$-90\sqrt{2}$ .	$-91\sqrt{2}$	
		25 26 27 70 71 72 115 116 117 160 161 162 205 206 207		-6	-6	-6	-6	-6	-6	-6	$-3\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$28\ 29\ 30\ 73\ 74\ 75\ 118\ 119\ 120\ 163\ 164\ 165\ 208\ 209\ 210$		-12	-12	-12	-12	-12	-12	-12	$-6\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		31 32 33 76 77 78 121 122 123 166 167 168 211 212 213		-18	-18	-18	-18	-18	-18	-18	$-9\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$34\ 35\ 36\ 79\ 80\ 81\ 124\ 125\ 126\ 169\ 170\ 171\ 214\ 215\ 216$		-24	-24	-24	-24	-24	-24	-24	$-12\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		37 38 39 82 83 84 127 128 129 172 173 174 217 218 219		-30	-30	-30	-30	-30	-30	-30	$-15\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		40 41 42 85 86 87 130 131 132 175 176 177 220 221 222		-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	-36	$-18\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		43 44 45 88 89 90 133 134 135 178 179 180 223 224 225		-42	-42	-42	-42	-42	-42	-42	$-21\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		S & D System		1, 44, 4	15, 46	, 89, 9	0,91	, <del>(</del> 3, <b>(</b>	3, 9, 15	2, 15,	18, 21	<b>_</b>							

	D. Р.	Reversible Square	Block	Kepr	esenta	tion												
		$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-4	-146	-148	-150	-152	-154	_
		$6 \ 7 \ 8 \ 9 \ 10 \ 81 \ 82 \ 83 \ 84 \ 85 \ 156 \ 157 \ 158 \ 159 \ 160$	226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-4	-146	-148	-150	-152	-154	
		$11\ 12\ 13\ 14\ 15\ 86\ 87\ 88\ 89\ 90\ 161\ 162\ 163\ 164\ 165$	226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-4	-146	-148	-150	-152	-154	
		$16 \ 17 \ 18 \ 19 \ 20 \ 91 \ 92 \ 93 \ 94 \ 95 \ 166 \ 167 \ 168 \ 169 \ 170$	226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-4	-146	-148	-150	-152	-154	
		$21 \ 22 \ 23 \ 24 \ 25 \ 96 \ 97 \ 98 \ 99 \ 100 \ 171 \ 172 \ 173 \ 174 \ 175$	226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	-4	-146	-148	-150	-152	-154	
		$26\ 27\ 28\ 29\ 30\ 101\ 102\ 103\ 104\ 105\ 176\ 177\ 178\ 179\ 180$	226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-146	-148	-150	-152	-154	
		$31 \ 32 \ 33 \ 34 \ 35 \ 106 \ 107 \ 108 \ 109 \ 110 \ 181 \ 182 \ 183 \ 184 \ 185$	226	226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	$^{-2}$	$^{-4}$	-146	-148	-150	-152	-154	
က	$\{(15), (5\}$	36 37 38 39 40 111 112 113 114 115 186 187 188 189 190	113	$\overline{2} 113v$	$\overline{2} 113$	$\overline{2} \ 113\sqrt{2}$	$113\sqrt{2}$	$113\sqrt{2}$	$113\sqrt{2}$	113	- \sqrt{2} -	-2√2 -	- 73 √2 -	$-74\sqrt{2}$	$-75\sqrt{2}$	$-76\sqrt{2}$ .	$-77\sqrt{2}$	
		$41 \ 42 \ 43 \ 44 \ 45 \ 116 \ 117 \ 118 \ 119 \ 120 \ 191 \ 192 \ 193 \ 194 \ 195$	-10	-10	) -10	-10	-10	-10	-10	$-5\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$46\ 47\ 48\ 49\ 50\ 121\ 122\ 123\ 124\ 125\ 196\ 197\ 198\ 199\ 200$	-20	-20	) -20	-20	-20	-20	-20	$-10\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$51\ 52\ 53\ 54\ 55\ 126\ 127\ 128\ 129\ 130\ 201\ 202\ 203\ 204\ 205$	-30	-30	) -30	-30	-30	-30	-30	$-15\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$56\ 57\ 58\ 59\ 60\ 131\ 132\ 133\ 134\ 135\ 206\ 207\ 208\ 209\ 210$	-40	-40	) -40	-40	-40	-40	-40	$-20\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$61 \ 62 \ 63 \ 64 \ 65 \ 136 \ 137 \ 138 \ 139 \ 140 \ 211 \ 212 \ 213 \ 214 \ 215$	-20	-50	-50	-50	-50	-50	-50	$-25\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$66\ 67\ 68\ 69\ 70\ 141\ 142\ 143\ 144\ 145\ 216\ 217\ 218\ 219\ 220$	-60	-90	-60	-60	-60	-60	-60	$-30\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$71 \ 72 \ 73 \ 74 \ 75 \ 146 \ 147 \ 148 \ 149 \ 150 \ 221 \ 222 \ 223 \ 224 \ 225 \\$	-20	70	02 (	-70	-70	-70	-70	$-35\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		S & D System	$\{\{1, 2,$	$73, 7_2$	1, 75, 7	6, 77	$\{5, 1$	0, 15, 5	20, 25,	30, 35	<u> </u>							

í

	D. P.	Reversible Square	B	ock Repi	resenta	ation												
		$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		226 22	6 22(	3 226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{3}$	-2	-16	-18	-20	-34	-36	-38	_
		4 5 6 13 14 15 22 23 24 31 32 33 40 41 42		226 22	6 22(	3 226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{3}$	-2	-16	-18	-20	-34	-36	-38	
		7 8 9 16 17 18 25 26 27 34 35 36 43 44 45		226 22	6 22(	3 226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{3}$	-2	-16	-18	-20	-34	-36	-38	
		46 47 48 55 56 57 64 65 66 73 74 75 82 83 84		226 22	6 22(	3 226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{3}$	-2	-16	-18	-20	-34	-36	-38	
		49 50 51 58 59 60 67 68 69 76 77 78 85 86 87		226 22	6 22(	3 226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{3}$	-2	-16	-18	-20	-34	-36	-38	
		52 53 54 61 62 63 70 71 72 79 80 81 88 89 90		226 22	6 22(	3 226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{3}$	-2	-16	-18	-20	-34	-36	-38	
		$91  92  93  100 \ 101 \ 102 \ 109 \ 110 \ 111 \ 118 \ 119 \ 120 \ 127 \ 128 \ 129$		226 22	6 22(	3 226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{3}$	-2	-16	-18	-20	-34	-36	-38	
4	$\{(3, 15), (3, 15\}$	$94  95  96  103 \; 104 \; 105 \; 112 \; 113 \; 114 \; 121 \; 122 \; 123 \; 130 \; 131 \; 132$		$13\sqrt{2}$ 113.	$\sqrt{2} 113$	$\sqrt{2}$ 113 $$	$\overline{2} 113$	$\overline{2} 113$	$\overline{2} 113$	2 113	$-\sqrt{2}$	$-8\sqrt{2}$	$-9\sqrt{2}$	$-10\sqrt{2}$	$-17\sqrt{2}$	$-18\sqrt{2}$ -	$-19\sqrt{2}$	
		$97  98  99  106 \ 107 \ 108 \ 115 \ 116 \ 117 \ 124 \ 125 \ 126 \ 133 \ 134 \ 135$		- 9-	-0	9-	9-	9-	9-	$-3\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$136\ 137\ 138\ 145\ 146\ 147\ 154\ 155\ 156\ 163\ 164\ 165\ 172\ 173\ 174$		-84 -8	4 -8	484	-84	-84	-84	-42	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$139\ 140\ 141\ 148\ 149\ 150\ 157\ 158\ 159\ 166\ 167\ 168\ 175\ 176\ 177$		06	6-0	06- 0	-90	-90	-90	-45	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$142\ 143\ 144\ 151\ 152\ 153\ 160\ 161\ 162\ 169\ 170\ 171\ 178\ 179\ 180$		96	6 - 9	5	-96	-96	-96	-48	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$181\ 182\ 183\ 190\ 191\ 192\ 199\ 200\ 201\ 208\ 209\ 210\ 217\ 218\ 219$		-174 -1'	74 -17	4 - 17	1 -174	1 - 17	1 -174	-87	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$184\ 185\ 186\ 193\ 194\ 195\ 202\ 203\ 204\ 211\ 212\ 213\ 220\ 221\ 222$		-180 -18	80 -18	0 -180	) -18(	) -18(	) -18(	$\sim 00 $	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$187\ 188\ 189\ 196\ 197\ 198\ 205\ 206\ 207\ 214\ 215\ 216\ 223\ 224\ 225\ $	_	-186 - 18	36 -18	6 -180	) -18(	3 -180	) -18(	-93	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_
		S & D System	{}	1, 8, 9, 10	, 17, 1	$8, 19\},$	$\{42, 1$	45, 48	87,90	, 93								

	D. P.	Reversible Square	Bloc	ik Repr	esentat	ion												
		$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		26 226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-26	-28	-30	-32	-34	_
		6  7  8  9  10  21  22  23  24  25  36  37  38  39  40	7	26 226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-26	-28	-30	-32	-34	
		11  12  13  14  15  26  27  28  29  30  41  42  43  44  45	-7	26 226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-26	-28	-30	-32	-34	
		46 47 48 49 50 61 62 63 64 65 76 77 78 79 80		26 226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-26	-28	-30	-32	-34	
		$51 \ 52 \ 53 \ 54 \ 55 \ 66 \ 67 \ 68 \ 69 \ 70 \ 81 \ 82 \ 83 \ 84 \ 85$		26 226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-26	-28	-30	-32	-34	
		56 $57$ $58$ $59$ $60$ $71$ $72$ $73$ $74$ $75$ $86$ $87$ $88$ $89$ $90$		26 226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-26	-28	-30	-32	-34	
		$91  92  93  94  95  106 \ 107 \ 108 \ 109 \ 110 \ 121 \ 122 \ 123 \ 124 \ 125$		26 226	226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-26	-28	-30	-32	-34	
ю	$\{(3, 15), (5, 15\}$	$96  97  98  99  100 \ 111 \ 112 \ 113 \ 114 \ 115 \ 126 \ 127 \ 128 \ 129 \ 130$	11	$3\sqrt{2}$ 113v	$\frac{7}{2}$ 113 $\sqrt{2}$	$113\sqrt{2}$	$113\sqrt{2}$	$113\sqrt{2}$	$113\sqrt{2}$	113	$-\sqrt{2}$	$-2\sqrt{2}$	$-13\sqrt{2}$	$-14\sqrt{2}$	$-15\sqrt{2}$	$-16\sqrt{2}$ -	$-17\sqrt{2}$	
		$101\ 102\ 103\ 104\ 105\ 116\ 117\ 118\ 119\ 120\ 131\ 132\ 133\ 134\ 135$		10 -10	-10	-10	-10	-10	-10	$-5\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$136\ 137\ 138\ 139\ 140\ 151\ 152\ 153\ 154\ 155\ 166\ 167\ 168\ 169\ 170$		-80 -80	-80	-80	-80	-80	-80	$-40\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$141 \ 142 \ 143 \ 144 \ 145 \ 156 \ 157 \ 158 \ 159 \ 160 \ 171 \ 172 \ 173 \ 174 \ 175$		)6- 06.	06- (	-90	90	-90	-90	$-45\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$146\ 147\ 148\ 149\ 150\ 161\ 162\ 163\ 164\ 165\ 176\ 177\ 178\ 179\ 180$		100 - 10	0 -100	-100	-100	-100	-100	$-50\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$181\ 182\ 183\ 184\ 185\ 196\ 197\ 198\ 199\ 200\ 211\ 212\ 213\ 214\ 215$		170 -17	0 -170	-170	-170	-170	-170	$-85\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$186\ 187\ 188\ 189\ 190\ 201\ 202\ 203\ 204\ 205\ 216\ 217\ 218\ 219\ 220$		180 -18	0 -180	-180	-180	-180	-180	$-90\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		191 192 193 194 195 206 207 208 209 210 221 222 223 224 225 $\Big)$	_	190 - 19	0 -190	-190	-190	-190	-190	$-95\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_
		S & D System	$\{\{1,$	$2, 13, 1_{2}$	1, 15, 10	$5, 17\},$	$\{40,$	45, 50	, 85, 9	0, 95								

	. P.	Reversible Square	B	ock Rep	present	ation												
		$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		226 2	26 22	3 226	226	226	226	113	$\sqrt{2}$ -2	-28	-30	-32	-58	-60	-62	_
		4  5  6  19  20  21  34  35  36  49  50  51  64  65  66		226 2	26 22	3 226	226	226	226	113	$\sqrt{2}$ -2	-28	-30	-32	-58	-60	-62	
		7  8  9  22  23  24  37  38  39  52  53  54  67  68  69		226 2	26 22	3 226	226	226	226	113	72 -2	-28	-30	-32	-58	-60	-62	
		10  11  12  25  26  27  40  41  42  55  56  57  70  71  72		226 2	26 22	3 226	226	226	226	113	$\sqrt{2}$ -2	-28	-30	-32	-58	-60	-62	
		13  14  15  28  29  30  43  44  45  58  59  60  73  74  75		226 2	26 22	3 226	226	226	226	113	/2 -2	-28	-30	-32	-58	-60	-62	
		76 77 78 91 92 93 106 107 108 121 122 123 136 137 138		226 2	26 22	3 226	226	226	226	113	/2 -2	-28	-30	-32	-58	-60	-62	
		79  80  81  94  95  96  109  110  111  124  125  126  139  140  141		226 2	26 22	3 226	226	226	226	113	$\sqrt{2}$ -2	-28	-30	-32	-58	-60	-62	
€ {<	$[5, 15), (3, 15\}$	82 83 84 97 98 99 112 113 114 127 128 129 142 143 144	1	$13\sqrt{2}$ 11:	$3\sqrt{2} 113$	$\sqrt{2} 113_{v}$	$\sqrt{2} 113_{v}$	$\sqrt{2}$ 113 $$	$\overline{2} 113v$	$\overline{2}$ 113	· ·	$\bar{2} - 14\sqrt{3}$	$\overline{2} - 15\sqrt{2}$	$\bar{2} - 16\sqrt{2}$	$\bar{2} - 29\sqrt{2}$	$-30\sqrt{2}$	$-31\sqrt{2}$	
		$85  86  87  100 \ 101 \ 102 \ 115 \ 116 \ 117 \ 130 \ 131 \ 132 \ 145 \ 146 \ 147$		- 9-	90	9-	9	9-	9-	-3v	$\overline{2}$ 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		88  89  90  103  104  105  118  119  120  133  134  135  148  149  150		-12 -	12 -1	2 -1;	2 -12	2 -12	-12	-64	$\overline{2}$ 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$151 \ 152 \ 153 \ 166 \ 167 \ 168 \ 181 \ 182 \ 183 \ 196 \ 197 \ 198 \ 211 \ 212 \ 213$		-138 -	138 -15	8 -13	8 -13	8 -13	8 -13	869	$\sqrt{2}$ 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$154\ 155\ 156\ 169\ 170\ 171\ 184\ 185\ 186\ 199\ 200\ 201\ 214\ 215\ 216$		-144 -	144 —14	4 -14	4 -14	4 -14	4 -14	4 -72	$\sqrt{2}$ 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$157\ 158\ 159\ 172\ 173\ 174\ 187\ 188\ 189\ 202\ 203\ 204\ 217\ 218\ 219$		-150 -	150 - 15	0 - 15	0 -15	0 -150	0 - 15	0 -75,	$\sqrt{2}$ 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$160\ 161\ 162\ 175\ 176\ 177\ 190\ 191\ 192\ 205\ 206\ 207\ 220\ 221\ 222$		-156 -	156 - 15	6 - 15	6 -15	6 -15	3 - 15	6 -781	$\sqrt{2}$ 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$\left( 163 \ 164 \ 165 \ 178 \ 179 \ 180 \ 193 \ 194 \ 195 \ 208 \ 209 \ 210 \ 223 \ 224 \ 225 \right)$		-162 -	162 - 16	2 - 16	2 - 16	2 - 16	2 -16	2 -81	$\sqrt{2}$ 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_
		S & D System	<u>`</u>	1, 14, 15	, 16, 29	, 30, 3	l}, {3	, 6, 69	, 72, 7	5, 78, 8	81} }							

	D. P.	Reversible Square	BIC	ock Repr	esenta	lion												
		$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		226 22(	3 226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-46	-48	-50	-52	-54	_
		6 7 8 9 10 31 32 33 34 35 56 57 58 59 60		226 220	3 226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-46	-48	-50	-52	-54	
		11 12 13 14 15 36 37 38 39 40 61 62 63 64 65		226 220	3 226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-46	-48	-50	-52	-54	
		16  17  18  19  20  41  42  43  44  45  66  67  68  69  70		226 22(	3 226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-46	-48	-50	-52	-54	
		21 22 23 24 25 46 47 48 49 50 71 72 73 74 75		226 22(	3 226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-46	-48	-50	-52	-54	
		76         77         78         79         80         101         102         103         104         105         126         128         129         130		226 220	3 226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-46	-48	-50	-52	-54	
		81 82 83 84 85 106 107 108 109 110 131 132 133 134 135		226 220	3 226	226	226	226	226	$113\sqrt{2}$	-2	-4	-46	-48	-50	-52	-54	
1	$\{(5, 15), (5, 15\}$	86 87 88 89 90 111 112 113 114 115 136 137 138 139 140		$13\sqrt{2}$ 113	$\sqrt{2} 113\sqrt{3}$	$\overline{2} \ 113\sqrt{2}$	113√	ī 113√ <sup>5</sup>	<u>₹</u> 113√5	2 113	$-\sqrt{2}$	$-2\sqrt{2}$	$-23\sqrt{2}$	$-24\sqrt{2}$	$-25\sqrt{2}$	$-26\sqrt{2}$	$-27\sqrt{2}$	
		91 92 93 94 95 116 117 118 119 120 141 142 143 144 145		-10 -1	0 -10	-10	-10	-10	-10	$-5\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		96  97  98  99  100  121  122  123  124  125  146  147  148  149  150  124  124  125  146  147  148  146  150  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  126  12		-20 -2	0 -20	-20	-20	-20	-20	$-10\sqrt{3}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$151\ 152\ 153\ 154\ 155\ 176\ 177\ 178\ 179\ 180\ 201\ 202\ 203\ 204\ 205$		-130 -13	80 -130	-130	-130	-130	-130	$-65\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$156\ 157\ 158\ 159\ 160\ 181\ 182\ 183\ 184\ 185\ 206\ 207\ 208\ 209\ 210$		-140 - 14	140 -140	-140	-140	-140	-140	$-70\sqrt{5}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$161\ 162\ 163\ 164\ 165\ 186\ 187\ 188\ 189\ 190\ 211\ 212\ 213\ 214\ 215$		-150 - 15	60 -150	-150	-150	-150	-150	$-75\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$166\ 167\ 168\ 169\ 170\ 191\ 192\ 193\ 194\ 195\ 216\ 217\ 218\ 219\ 220$		-160 -16	0 -160	-160	-160	-160	-160	$-80\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		$171\ 172\ 173\ 174\ 175\ 196\ 197\ 198\ 199\ 200\ 221\ 222\ 223\ 224\ 225$		-170 - 17	70 -170	-170	-170	-170	-170	$-85\sqrt{2}$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
		S & D System	{{]	-, 2, 23, 2	4, 25, 2	$6, 27\},$	$\{5, 1$	0, 65,	70, 75	, 80, 8!	;} }							

# Appendix 4 : Prime Factorisation and the Number of Sumand-Distance Systems, $N_n$

The following table lists the number of sum-and-distance systems,  $N_n$ , for the first 200 values of n.

n	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
$N_n$	0	1	1	3	1	7	1	10	3	7
n	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20
$N_n$	1	42	1	7	7	35	1	42	1	42
n	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30
$N_n$	7	7	1	230	3	7	10	42	1	115
n	31	32	33	34	35	36	37	38	39	40
$N_n$	1	126	7	7	7	393	1	7	7	230
n	41	42	43	44	45	46	47	48	49	50
$N_n$	1	115	1	42	42	7	1	1190	3	42
n	51	52	53	54	55	56	57	58	59	60
$N_n$	7	42	1	230	7	230	7	7	1	1158
n	61	62	63	64	65	66	67	68	69	70
$N_n$	1	7	42	462	7	115	1	42	7	115
n	71	72	73	74	75	76	77	78	79	80
$N_n$	1	3030	1	7	42	42	7	115	1	1190
n	81	82	83	84	85	86	87	88	89	90
$N_n$	35	7	1	1158	7	7	7	230	1	1158
n	91	92	93	94	95	96	97	98	99	100
$N_n$	7	42	7	7	7	5922	1	42	42	393
n	101	102	103	104	105	106	107	108	109	110
$N_n$	1	115	1	230	115	7	1	3030	1	115
n	111	112	113	114	115	116	117	118	119	120
$N_n$	7	1190	1	115	7	42	42	7	7	9350
n	121	122	123	124	125	126	127	128	129	130
$N_n$	3	7	7	42	10	1158	1	1716	7	115
n	131	122	133	134	135	136	137	138	139	140
$N_n$	1	1158	7	7	230	230	1	115	1	1158
n	141	142	143	144	145	146	147	148	149	150
$N_n$	7	7	7	20790	7	7	42	42	1	1158
n	151	152	153	154	155	156	157	158	159	160
$N_n$	1	230	42	115	7	1158	1	7	7	5922
n	161	162	163	164	165	166	167	168	169	170
$N_n$	7	1190	1	42	115	7	1	9350	3	115
n	171	172	173	174	175	176	177	178	179	180
$N_n$	42	42	1	115	42	1190	7	7	1	16782
n	181	182	183	184	185	186	187	188	189	190
$N_n$	1	115	7	230	7	115	7	42	230	115
n	191	192	193	194	195	196	197	198	199	200
$\overline{N_n}$	1	28644	1	7	115	393	1	$1\overline{158}$	1	3030

 $1081\ 1082\ 1087\ 1088\ 1093\ 1094\ 1135\ 1136\ 1141\ 1142\ 1147\ 1148$  $936 \ \ 1085 \ 1086 \ 1091 \ 1092 \ 1097 \ 1098 \ 1139 \ 1140 \ 1145 \ 1146 \ 1151 \ 1152$  $950 \ 1099 \ 1100 \ 1105 \ 1106 \ 1111 \ 1112 \ 1153 \ 1154 \ 1159 \ 1160 \ 1165 \ 1166$  $952 \ 1101 \ 1102 \ 1107 \ 1108 \ 1113 \ 1114 \ 1155 \ 1156 \ 1161 \ 1162 \ 1167 \ 1168$  $954 \ 1103 \ 1104 \ 1109 \ 1110 \ 1115 \ 1116 \ 1157 \ 1158 \ 1163 \ 1164 \ 1169 \ 1170$  $970\ 1119\ 1120\ 1125\ 1126\ 1131\ 1132\ 1173\ 1174\ 1179\ 1180\ 1185\ 1186$  $972 \ 1121 \ 1122 \ 1127 \ 1128 \ 1133 \ 1134 \ 1175 \ 1176 \ 1181 \ 1182 \ 1187 \ 1188$  $1028\ 1033\ 1034\ 1039\ 1040\ 1189\ 1190\ 1195\ 1196\ 1201\ 1202\ 1243\ 1244\ 1249\ 1250\ 1255\ 1256$  $1029\ 1030\ 1035\ 1036\ 1041\ 1042\ 1191\ 1192\ 1197\ 1198\ 1203\ 1204\ 1245\ 1246\ 1251\ 1252\ 1257\ 1258$  $990 \ \ 1031 \ 1032 \ 1037 \ 1038 \ 1043 \ 1044 \ 1193 \ 1194 \ 1199 \ 1200 \ 1205 \ 1247 \ 1248 \ 1253 \ 1254 \ 1259 \ 1260 \ 1260 \ 1205 \ 1206 \ 1247 \ 1248 \ 1253 \ 1254 \ 1259 \ 1260 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \ 1206 \$  $996 \hspace{.1in} 1001 \hspace{.1in} 1002 \hspace{.1in} 1007 \hspace{.1in} 1008 \hspace{.1in} 1049 \hspace{.1in} 1050 \hspace{.1in} 1051 \hspace{.1in} 1051 \hspace{.1in} 1062 \hspace{.1in} 1211 \hspace{.1in} 1212 \hspace{.1in} 1217 \hspace{.1in} 1218 \hspace{.1in} 1223 \hspace{.1in} 1224 \hspace{.1in} 1265 \hspace{.1in} 1261 \hspace{.1in} 1272 \hspace{.1in} 1277 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1224 \hspace{.1in} 1265 \hspace{.1in} 1266 \hspace{.1in} 1271 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1224 \hspace{.1in} 1265 \hspace{.1in} 1266 \hspace{.1in} 1277 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1224 \hspace{.1in} 1266 \hspace{.1in} 1266 \hspace{.1in} 1277 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1224 \hspace{.1in} 1266 \hspace{.1in} 1266 \hspace{.1in} 1277 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1228 \hspace{.1in} 1266 \hspace{.1in} 1266 \hspace{.1in} 1266 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1228 \hspace{.1in} 1266 \hspace{.1in} 1266 \hspace{.1in} 1266 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1278 \hspace{.1in} 1266 \hspace{.1in} 1266$  $1083\,1084\,1089\,1090\,1095\,1096\,1137\,1138\,1143\,1144\,1149\,1150$  $968 \ 1117 \ 1118 \ 1123 \ 1124 \ 1129 \ 1130 \ 1171 \ 1172 \ 1177 \ 1178 \ 1183 \ 1184$  $998 \ \ 1003 \ 1004 \ 1045 \ 1051 \ 1052 \ 1057 \ 1058 \ 1207 \ 1208 \ 1213 \ 1214 \ 1219 \ 1220 \ 1261 \ 1267 \ 1268 \ 1273 \ 1274 \ 1219 \ 1220 \ 1261 \ 1262 \ 1267 \ 1268 \ 1273 \ 1274 \ 1216 \ 1220 \ 1261 \ 1262 \ 1267 \ 1268 \ 1273 \ 1274 \ 1216 \ 1266 \ 1267 \ 1268 \ 1273 \ 1274 \ 1216 \ 1266 \ 1267 \ 1268 \ 1273 \ 1274 \ 1216 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \ 1266 \$  $999\ 1000\ 1005\ 1006\ 1047\ 1048\ 1053\ 1054\ 1059\ 1060\ 1209\ 1210\ 1215\ 1216\ 1221\ 1222\ 1263\ 1264\ 1269\ 1270\ 1275\ 1276$  $\begin{array}{c} 500\\ 502\\ 504\\ 518\\ 522\\ 522\\ 536\\ 538\\ 540\\ 540\\ \end{array}$  $610 \\ 612$ 535 537  $^{496}$  $493 \\ 495 \\ 497 \\$  $^{487}$  $^{489}$  $^{491}$  $590 \\ 592$  $\begin{array}{c} 466 \\ 468 \\ 482 \\ 484 \\ 486 \\ 486 \end{array}$ 556 558 572  $^{448}$  $^{442}$  $^{480}$  $^{444}$  $^{439}$  $^{459}$  $^{434}$  $^{136}$  $^{438}$  $^{135}$  $288 \\ 302$  $428 \\ 430$  $^{429}$ 280  $282 \\ 296 \\ 298 \\ 300 \\ 300$  $388 \\ 390$  $408 \\ 422 \\ 424 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426 \\ 426$ 928 930  $421 \\ 423$ 274 290 292 924 955 957  $415 \\ 417$ 273 275 275 289 289 291 293 307 307  $379 \\ 381 \\ 383 \\ 397 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 399 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 390 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300 \\ 300$ 923 937 939  $^{401}$  $228 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242 \\ 242$ 226  $328 \\ 330$  $222 \\ 236$  

 3
 4
 9
 10
 15
 16
 57
 58
 63
 64
 69
 70
 219
 22

 5
 6
 11
 12
 17
 18
 59
 60
 65
 66
 71
 72
 221
 22
 235
 235
 23

 19
 20
 25
 26
 31
 32
 73
 74
 79
 80
 85
 86
 235
 23
 237
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 23
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
 25
  $127\ 128\ 133\ 134\ 139\ 140\ 181\ 182\ 187\ 188\ 193\ 194\ 343\\ 129\ 130\ 135\ 136\ 141\ 142\ 183\ 184\ 189\ 190\ 195\ 196\ 345$  $113\ 114\ 119\ 120\ 125\ 126\ 167\ 168\ 173\ 174\ 179\ 180\ 329$  $131\ 132\ 137\ 138\ 143\ 144\ 185\ 186\ 191\ 192\ 197\ 198\ 347$  $147\,148\,153\,154\,159\,160\,201\,202\,207\,208\,213\,214\,\,363$  $149\ 150\ 155\ 156\ 161\ 162\ 203\ 204\ 209\ 210\ 215\ 216\ 365$  $649\ 650\ 655\ 656\ 661\ 662\ 703\ 704\ 709\ 710\ 715\ 716\ 865$  $651\ 652\ 657\ 658\ 663\ 664\ 705\ 706\ 711\ 712\ 717\ 718\ 867$  $653\ 654\ 659\ 660\ 665\ 666\ 707\ 708\ 713\ 714\ 719\ 720\ 869$  $667\,668\,673\,674\,679\,680\,721\,722\,727\,728\,733\,734$  $669\ 670\ 675\ 676\ 681\ 682\ 723\ 724\ 729\ 730\ 735\ 736\ 885$  $671\ 672\ 677\ 678\ 683\ 684\ 725\ 726\ 731\ 732\ 737\ 738\ 887$  $685\ 686\ 691\ 692\ 697\ 698\ 739\ 740\ 745\ 746\ 751\ 752\ 901$  $687\ 688\ 693\ 694\ 699\ 700\ 741\ 742\ 747\ 748\ 753\ 754\ 903$  $689\ 690\ 695\ 696\ 701\ 702\ 743\ 744\ 749\ 750\ 755\ 756\ 905$  $757\ 758\ 763\ 764\ 769\ 770\ 811\ 812\ 817\ 818\ 823\ 824\ 973$  $759\ 760\ 765\ 766\ 771\ 772\ 813\ 814\ 819\ 820\ 825\ 826\ 975$  $761\ 762\ 767\ 768\ 773\ 774\ 815\ 816\ 821\ 822\ 822\ 827\ 828\ 977$  $775\ 776\ 781\ 782\ 787\ 788\ 829\ 830\ 835\ 836\ 841\ 842\ 991$  $777\ 778\ 783\ 784\ 789\ 790\ 831\ 832\ 837\ 838\ 843\ 844\ 993$  $779\ 780\ 785\ 786\ 791\ 792\ 833\ 834\ 839\ 840\ 845\ 846\ 995$  $145\ 146\ 151\ 152\ 157\ 158\ 199\ 200\ 205\ 206\ 211\ 212\ 361$  $\frac{60}{20}$ 

The following table lists the number of number of sum-and-distance systems  $N_n$  for n in terms of the prime factorisation of n.

$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$\Omega(n)$	$N_n$
1	0	0	0	0	1	1
2	0	0	0	0	2	3
3	0	0	0	0	3	10
4	0	0	0	0	4	35
5	0	0	0	0	5	126
6	0	0	0	0	6	462

Table 14:  $n = p_1^{a_1} p_2^0 p_3^0 p_4^0 p_5^0$  (one prime)

$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$\Omega(n)$	$N_n$
1	1	0	0	0	2	7
1	2	0	0	0	3	42
1	3	0	0	0	4	230
1	4	0	0	0	5	1190
1	5	0	0	0	6	5922
2	2	0	0	0	4	393
2	3	0	0	0	5	3030
2	4	0	0	0	6	20790
2	5	0	0	0	7	131796
3	3	0	0	0	6	30670
3	4	0	0	0	7	264740
3	5	0	0	0	8	2050020
4	4	0	0	0	8	2781065
4	5	0	0	0	9	25586694
5	5	0	0	0	10	271679058

Table 15:  $n = p_1^{a_1} \ p_2^{a_2} \ p_3^0 \ p_4^0 \ p_5^0$  (two primes)

$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$\Omega(n)$	$N_n$
1	1	1	0	0	3	115
1	1	2	0	0	4	1158
1	1	3	0	0	5	9350
1	1	4	0	0	6	66290
1	1	5	0	0	7	430794
1	1	6	0	0	8	2628780
1	2	2	0	0	5	16782
1	2	3	0	0	6	180990
1	2	4	0	0	7	1636740
1	2	5	0	0	8	13141044
1	2	6	0	0	9	96687612
1	3	3	0	0	7	2474030
1	3	4	0	0	8	27413540
1	3	5	0	0	9	262999044
1	3	6	0	0	10	2243103996
1	4	4	0	0	9	361969790
1	4	5	0	0	10	4001024034
1	4	6	0	0	11	37210138644
1	5	5	0	0	11	48035790810
2	2	2	0	0	6	334833
2	2	3	0	0	7	4676670
2	2	4	0	0	8	52682490
2	2	5	0	0	9	512075340
2	3	3	0	0	7	80988270

Table 16:  $n = p_1^{a_1} p_2^{a_2} p_3^{a_3} p_4^0 p_5^0$  (three primes)

$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$\Omega(n)$	$N_n$
1	1	1	1	0	4	3451
1	1	1	2	0	5	52422
1	1	1	3	0	6	583670
1	1	1	4	0	7	5404490
1	1	1	5	0	8	44200170
1	1	2	2	0	6	1083318
1	1	2	3	0	7	15509070
1	1	2	4	0	8	178011540
1	1	2	5	0	9	$1\ 758\ 179\ 556$
1	1	2	6	0	10	$15\ 558\ 091\ 164$
1	2	3	3	0	9	11 521 530 270
1	2	3	4	0	10	190 441 098 540

Table 17:  $n = p_1^{a_1} p_2^{a_2} p_3^{a_3} p_4^{a_4} p_5^0$  (four primes)

Table 18:  $n = p_1^{a_1} \ p_2^{a_2} \ p_3^{a_3} \ p_4^{a_4} \ p_5^{a_5}$  (four primes)

$a_1$	$a_2$	$a_3$	$a_4$	$a_5$	$\Omega(n)$	$N_n$
1	1	1	1	1	5	164731
1	1	1	1	2	6	$3\ 518\ 358$
1	1	1	1	3	7	$51 \ 569 \ 510$
1	1	1	1	4	8	$602 \ 678 \ 090$
1	1	1	1	5	9	$6\ 038\ 986\ 842$
1	1	1	2	2	7	98 090 142
1	1	1	2	3	8	1 795 856 670
1	1	1	2	3	9	25 445 723 940

# Appendix 5: Mathematica Scripts for Inclusive Sum-and-Distance Systems

The following contain Mathematica scripts that produce inclusive sum-and-distance systems for any n with length  $\alpha = 1, 2$  or 3 divisor path sets.

```
(* For all k_i < 10 and alpha = 2 *)
```

(\*Defining the alpha=2 length divisor path set\*)

```
In[10]:= S1 = \{\{i1, n\}, \{j1, j2\}\}Out[10]= \{\{i1, n\}, \{j1, j2\}\}
```

(\*Defining the set of L\_{2} lattice points associated with divisor path set "set1"\*)

```
In[13]:= L1[S_] := Flatten[Table[{k0, k1, k2},
        \{k0, 1, S[[2]][[1]]\},\
        {k1, 1, S[[2]][[2]] / S[[2]][[1]]},
{k2, 1, S[[1]][[2]] / S[[2]][[2]]}], 2]
     (*Defining the set of L' {2} lattice
      points associated with divisor path set "set1"*)
In[98]:= L1a[S_] := Flatten[Table[
             If
                   k0 + k1 + 10 + k2 + 10^2 < (1/2) + ((S[[2]][[1]] + 1))
                                 + (S[[2]][[2]]/S[[2]][[1]]+1) * 10
                                 + (S[[1]][[2]]/S[[2]][[2]]+1) * 10^2),
                   {k0, k1, k2},
                   Nothing],
        {k0, 1, S[[2]][[1]]},
        {k1, 1, S[[2]][[2]]/S[[2]][[1]]},
        {k2, 1, S[[1]][[2]]/S[[2]][[2]]}], 2]
In[99]:= (*The formula that gives the left set of the sum and
      distance system associated with divisor path set "set1"*)
         SDL1[set1_] := Sort[-1*(Table[
                     L1a[set1][[k]][[1]]
                       + (L1a[set1][[k]][[2]] - 1) (set1[[1]][[1]] * set1[[2]][[1]])
                       + (L1a[set1][[k]][[3]] - 1) (set1[[1]][[2]] * set1[[2]][[2]]),
                 {k, 1, Length[L1a[set1]]}] - 1 / 2 (1 + set1[[2]][[1]]
              + (set1[[2]][[2]] / set1[[2]][[1]] - 1) (set1[[1]][[1]] * set1[[2]][[1]])
                  + (set1[[1]][[2]] / set1[[2]][[2]] - 1) (set1[[1]][[2]] * set1[[2]][[2]])))
     (*Defining the set of M_{2} lattice points associated with divisor path set "set1"*)
```

```
In[100]:= M1[S_] := Table[{m0, m1},
        {m0, 1, S[[1]][[1]]},
        {m1, 1, S[[1]][[2]] / S[[1]][[1]]}]
      (*Defining the set of M'_{2} lattice
        points associated with divisor path set "set1"*)
```

```
In[101]:= M1a[S_] := Flatten[
                      Table \left[ If \left[ m0 + m1 + 10 < (1/2) + (S[[1]][[1]] + 1) + (S[[1]][[2]] / S[[1]][[1]] + 1) + 10 \right) \right]
                            {m0, m1}, Nothing],
                         {m0, 1, S[[1]][[1]]},
                         {m1, 1, S[[1]][[2]] / S[[1]][[1]]}], 1]
                (*The formula that gives the left set of the sum and
                  distance system associated with divisor path set "set1"*)
 In[107]:= SDR1[set1 ] :=
                  Sort[-1* (Table[1+ (M1a[set1][[m]][[1]] - 1) set1[[2]][[1]] + (M1a[set1][[m]][[2]] - 1)
                                        (set1[[2]][[2]] / set1[[2]][[1]]) (set1[[1]][[1]] * set1[[2]][[1]])
                                  , {m, 1, Length[M1a[set1]]}] - ((1 + (1/2) (set1[[1]][[1]] - 1) set1[[2]][[1]]) +
                                     (1/2) (set1[[1]][[2]] / set1[[1]][[1]] - 1)
                                        (set1[[1]][[1]] * set1[[2]][[1]]) (set1[[2]][[2]] / set1[[2]][[1]])))]
                (*Function to check if SDR2 and SDL2 form a sum and distance system*)
 In[124]:= PMU1[set1_] := Union[
                      Sort[
                        Flatten[
                           Table[
                                          {Abs[SDR1[set1][[k]] - SDL1[set1][[m]]],
                                              SDR1[set1][[k]] + SDL1[set1][[m]],
                                              SDR1[set1][[k]],
                                              SDL1[set1][[m]]},
                               {k, 1, Length[SDR1[set1]]},
                               {m, 1, Length[SDL1[set1]]}]]]
 In[112]:= (*Example*)
               TestSet = {{3, 15}, {5, 15}}
Out[112]= \{\{3, 15\}, \{5, 15\}\}
 In[114]:= L1[TestSet]
\mathsf{Out[114]} = \{\{1, 1, 1\}, \{1, 2, 1\}, \{1, 3, 1\}, \{2, 1, 1\}, \{2, 2, 1\}, \{2, 3, 1\}, \{3, 1, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 1\}, \{3, 3, 2, 2\}, \{3, 3, 2, 2\}, \{3, 3, 2, 2\}, \{3, 3, 3, 2\}, \{3, 3, 3, 2\}, \{3, 3, 3, 2\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3, 3, 3, 3\}, \{3,
                   \{3, 3, 1\}, \{4, 1, 1\}, \{4, 2, 1\}, \{4, 3, 1\}, \{5, 1, 1\}, \{5, 2, 1\}, \{5, 3, 1\}\}
 In[115]:= L1a[TestSet]
\mathsf{Out[115]=} \{\{1, 1, 1\}, \{1, 2, 1\}, \{2, 1, 1\}, \{2, 2, 1\}, \{3, 1, 1\}, \{4, 1, 1\}, \{5, 1, 1\}\}
 In[116]:= M1[TestSet]
Out[116]= \{\{\{1, 1\}, \{1, 2\}, \{1, 3\}, \{1, 4\}, \{1, 5\}\},\
                   \{\{2, 1\}, \{2, 2\}, \{2, 3\}, \{2, 4\}, \{2, 5\}\}, \{\{3, 1\}, \{3, 2\}, \{3, 3\}, \{3, 4\}, \{3, 5\}\}\}
 In[117]:= M1a [TestSet]
Out[117]= \{\{1, 1\}, \{1, 2\}, \{1, 3\}, \{2, 1\}, \{2, 2\}, \{3, 1\}, \{3, 2\}\}
```

- In[119]:= SDL1[TestSet]
- Out[119]=  $\{1, 2, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17\}$
- In[118]:= SDR1 TestSet
- Out[118]=  $\{5, 40, 45, 50, 85, 90, 95\}$
- In[125]:= PMU1[{{3, 15}, {5, 15}}]
- Out[125]= {1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73, 74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 79, 80, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86, 87, 88, 89, 90, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96, 97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112}

(\* For all  $k_i < 10^2$  and alpha = 3 \*)

(\*Defining the alpha=3 length divisor path set\*)

```
\ln[1]:= S2 = \{\{i1, i2, n\}, \{j1, j2, j3\}\}
```

```
Out[1]= \{\{i1, i2, n\}, \{j1, j2, j3\}\}
```

(\*Defining the set of L\_{3} lattice points associated with divisor path set "set1"\*)

```
In[8]:= L2[S_] := Flatten[Table[{k0, k1, k2, k3},
        \{k0, 1, S[[2]][[1]]\},\
         {k1, 1, S[[2]][[2]]/S[[2]][[1]]},
        {k2, 1, S[[2]][[3]]/S[[2]][[2]]},
        {k3, 1, S[[1]][[3]]/S[[2]][[3]]}], 3]
     (*Defining the set of L'_{3} lattice
      points associated with divisor path set "set1"*)
In[38]:= L2a[S_] := Flatten[Table]
            If k0 + k1 * 10^2 + k2 * 10^4 + k3 * 10^6
                                 < (1/2) * ((S[[2]][[1]] + 1))
                                + (S[[2]][[2]]/S[[2]][[1]]+1) * 10^2
                                + (S[[2]][[3]]/S[[2]][2]]+1) * 10^4
                                + (S[[1]][[3]] / S[[2]][[3]] + 1) * 10^6),
                  \{k0, k1, k2, k3\},\
                  Nothing],
        {k0, 1, S[[2]][[1]]},
        {k1, 1, S[[2]][[2]]/S[[2]][[1]]},
        {k2, 1, S[[2]][[3]] / S[[2]][[2]] },
        {k3, 1, S[[1]][[3]]/S[[2]][[3]]}], 3]
     (*The formula that gives the left set of the sum and
      distance system associated with divisor path set "set1"*)
     SDL2[set1_] := Sort[-1* (Table[
                    L2a[set1][[k]][[1]]
                      + (L2a[set1][[k]][[2]] - 1) (set1[[1]][[1]] * set1[[2]][[1]])
                      + (L2a[set1][[k]][[3]] - 1) (set1[[1]][[2]] * set1[[2]][[2]])
                      + (L2a[set1][[k]][[4]] - 1) (set1[[1]][[3]] * set1[[2]][[3]]),
            \{k, 1, Length[L2a[set1]]\}
          -1/2(1+set1[[2]][[1]]
                   + (set1[[2]][[2]] / set1[[2]][[1]] - 1) (set1[[1]][[1]] * set1[[2]][[1]])
                   + (set1[[2]][[3]] / set1[[2]][[2]] - 1) (set1[[1]][[2]] * set1[[2]][[2]])
                   + (set1[[1]][[3]] / set1[[2]][[3]] - 1) (set1[[1]][[3]] * set1[[2]][[3]]))
              )]
```

(\*Defining the set of  $M_{3}$  lattice points associated with divisor path set "set1"\*)

```
In[49]:= M2[S_] := Flatten[Table[\{m0, m1, m2\}],
            \{m0, 1, S[[1]][[1]]\},\
            {m1, 1, S[[1]][[2]]/S[[1]][[1]]},
           \{m2, 1, S[[1]][[3]] / S[[1]][[2]]\}, 2\}
       (*Defining the set of M'_{3} lattice
        points associated with divisor path set "set1"*)
 In[54]:= M2a[S_] := Flatten[Table[If[m0 + m1 * 10^2 + m2 * 10^4
              < (1/2) * ((S[[1]][[1]] + 1))
                  + (S[[1]][[2]]/S[[1]][[1]] + 1) * 10^2
                  + (S[[1]][[3]] / S[[1]][[2]] + 1) * 10^4), {m0, m1, m2}, Nothing],
           {m0, 1, S[[1]][[1]]},
            {m1, 1, S[[1]][[2]] / S[[1]][[1]]},
           {m2, 1, S[[1]][[3]] / S[[1]][[2]]}], 2]
       (*The formula that gives the left set of the sum and
        distance system associated with divisor path set "set1"*)
       SDR2[set1_] := Sort[-1 (Table[1+ (M2a[set1][[m]][[1]] - 1) set1[[2]][[1]]
                  + (M2a[set1][[m]][[2]] - 1)
                  (set1[[2]][[2]] / set1[[2]][[1]]) (set1[[1]][[1]] * set1[[2]][[1]])
                  + (M2a[set1][[m]][[3]] - 1) (set1[[2]][[3]] / set1[[2]][[2]])
                  (set1[[1]][[2]] * set1[[2]][[2]])
                , {m, 1, Length[M2a[set1]]}] - ((1 + (1/2) (set1[[1]][[1]] - 1) set1[[2]][[1]])
                 + (1/2) (set1[[1]][[2]] / set1[[1]][[1]] - 1)
                   (set1[[1]][[1]] * set1[[2]][[1]]) (set1[[2]][[2]] / set1[[2]][[1]])
                 + (1/2) (set1[[1]][[3]] / set1[[1]][[2]] - 1) (set1[[1]][[2]] * set1[[2]][[2]])
                   (set1[[2]][[3]] / set1[[2]][[2]])))
       (*Function to check if SDR2 and SDL2 form a sum and distance system*)
In[122]:= PMU2[set1_] := Union[
          Sort
           Flatten[
             Table[
                    Abs[SDR2[set1][[k]] - SDL2[set1][[m]]],
                     SDR2[set1][[k]] + SDL2[set1][[m]],
                     SDR2[set1][[k]],
                     SDL2[set1][[m]] 

</p
              {k, 1, Length[SDR2[set1]]},
              {m, 1, Length[SDL2[set1]]}]]
In[147]:= (*Example*)
       TestSet = {{3, 9, 27}, {3, 9, 27}}
Out[147]= \{\{3, 9, 27\}, \{3, 9, 27\}\}
```

### In[148]:= L2[TestSet]

## In[149]:= L2a[TestSet]

### In[150]:= M2[TestSet]

### In[151]:= M2a TestSet

- In[152]:= SDL2[TestSet]
- $Out[152]= \{1, 8, 9, 10, 71, 72, 73, 80, 81, 82, 89, 90, 91\}$
- In[153]:= SDR2[TestSet]

Out[153]= {3, 24, 27, 30, 213, 216, 219, 240, 243, 246, 267, 270, 273}

4 CodeForThesisAlpha3.nb

In[154]:= PMU2 [TestSet]

Out[154]= {1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73, 74, 75, 76, 77, 78, 79, 80, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86, 87, 88, 89, 90, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96, 97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 114, 115, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 122, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 129, 130, 131, 132, 133, 134, 135, 136, 137, 138, 139, 140, 141, 142, 143, 144, 145, 146, 147, 148, 149, 150, 151, 152, 153, 154, 155, 156, 157, 158, 159, 160, 161, 162, 163, 164, 165, 166, 167, 168, 169, 170, 171, 172, 173, 174, 175, 176, 177, 178, 179, 180, 181, 182, 183, 184, 185, 186, 187, 188, 189, 190, 191, 192, 193, 194, 195, 196, 197, 198, 199, 200, 201, 202, 203, 204, 205, 206, 207, 208, 209, 210, 211, 212, 213, 214, 215, 216, 217, 218, 219, 220, 221, 222, 223, 224, 225, 226, 227, 228, 229, 230, 231, 232, 233, 234, 235, 236, 237, 238, 239, 240, 241, 242, 243, 244, 245, 246, 247, 248, 249, 250, 251, 252, 253, 254, 255, 256, 257, 258, 259, 260, 261, 262, 263, 264, 265, 266, 267, 268, 269, 270, 271, 272, 273, 274, 275, 276, 277, 278, 279, 280, 281, 282, 283, 284, 285, 286, 287, 288, 289, 290, 291, 292, 293, 294, 295, 296, 297, 298, 299, 300, 301, 302, 303, 304, 305, 306, 307, 308, 309, 310, 311, 312, 313, 314, 315, 316, 317, 318, 319, 320, 321, 322, 323, 324, 325, 326, 327, 328, 329, 330, 331, 332, 333, 334, 335, 336, 337, 338, 339, 340, 341, 342, 343, 344, 345, 346, 347, 348, 349, 350, 351, 352, 353, 354, 355, 356, 357, 358, 359, 360, 361, 362, 363, 364

# References

- W. Abramowitz, I. A. Stegan, Handbook of Mathematical Functions: with Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables, Dover Books on Mathematics, 1965.
- [2] R. B. J. T. Allenby, *Rings, Fields and Groups: An Introduction to Abstract Algebra*, Arnold Publishing, 1991.
- [3] G. E. Andrews, Applications of Basic Hypergeometric Functions, SIAM Review 16, 1974, pp.441-484.
- [4] W. S. Andrews, Magic Squares and Cubes, Dover Publishing, 1960.
- [5] T. M. Apostol, Introduction to Analytic Number Theory, Undergraduate Texts in Mathematics, 1998.
- [6] F. Ayres, Theory and Problems of Matrices, Schaum's Outline Series, 1962.
- [7] W. N. Bailey, *Generlized Hypergeometric Series*, Cambridge University Press, 1935.
- [8] R. Bellman and H. N. Shapiro, On a Problem in Additive Number Theory, Annals of Mathematics, Vol 20, pp.333-340, 1948.
- [9] B. C. Berndt, S. Kim and A. Zaharescu, Circle and divisor problems, and double series of Bessel functions, Adv. Math. 236, 2013, pp.24-59.
- [10] D. S. Brée and K. Ollerenshaw, Most-perfect Pandiagonal Magic Squares: their construction and enumeration, Southend-on-Sea: Institute of Mathematics and its Applications, 1998.
- [11] N. N. Bogolubov, Some Algebraic Properties of Almost Periods, Zap. Kafedry Mat. Fiz. Kiev 4, 1939, pp.185 - 194 (Russian).
- [12] J. Bourgain, On Arithmetic Progressions in Sums of Sets of Integers, in A Tribute to Paul Erdos, 1990.
- [13] J. Bourgain and N. Watt, Decoupling for Perturbed Cones and the Mean Square of  $\zeta(\frac{1}{2}+it)$ , Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, 2017, doi: 10.1093/imrn/rnx009.
- [14] R. Brunnock, M.C. Lettington and K. M. Schmidt, On square roots and norms of matrices with symmetry properties, Linear Algebra and its Applications 459, 2014, pp. 175-207.
- [15] J. G. Van der Corput, Zum Teilerproblem, Math. Ann. 98, pp. 697-716, 1928.
- [16] D. A. Cox, Primes of the Form  $x^2 + ny^2$ , Wiley Publishing, 1989.
- [17] P. J. Davies, Leonhard Euler's Integral: A Historical Profile of the Gamma Function, The American Mathematical Monthly vol.66, 1959, pp849-869.
- [18] J. M. De Koninck and A. Ivic, *Topics in Arithmetical Functions*, North-Holland Publishing Company, 1980.

- [19] L. E. Dickson, *History of the Theory of Numbers*, Chelsea Publishing, Vol 1, 1999.
- [20] C. F. Gauss, *Disquisitones Arthmetica*, New Haven And London, Yale University Press, 1966.
- [21] H. W. Gould, *Combinatorial Identities*, Morgantown, 1972.
- [22] H. W. Gould and J. Quaintance, Table of Combinatorial Identities, http://www.math.wvu.edu/gould/Vol.4.PDF, Vol 4, 2010.
- [23] R.L Graham, E. Knuth and O. Patashnik, Concrete Mathematics: Foundation for Computer Science, Addison-Wesley Publishing, 1998.
- [24] A. Granville and F. Roesler, The Set of Difference of a Given Set, American Mathematical Monthly 106, 1999, pp.338-344.
- [25] A. Granville, An Introduction to Additive Combinatorics, CRM Proceedings and Lecture Notes vol. 43: American Mathematical Society, 2007, pp.1-27.
- [26] G.H. Hardy, Ramanujan: Twelve Lectures on Subjects Suggested by his Life and Work, AMS Chelsea Publishing, 1999.
- [27] G. H. Hardy, On Dirichlet's Divisor Problem, Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, 1917.
- [28] R. Heath-Brown, A New Form of the Circle Method, and its Application to Quadratic Forms, J. Reine Angew. Math. 481, 1996, pp.149-206.
- [29] H. Heinz, Most-perfect Magic Squares, http://www.magic-squares.net/, 1998.
- [30] N. J. Higham, Functions of Matrices, Theory and Computation, SIAM 2008.
- [31] A. J. Hildebrand, Introduction to Analytic Number Theory, University of Illinois Math 531 Lecture Notes, 2005, Chapter 4.
- [32] S. L. Hill, M. C. Lettington and K. M. Schmidt, On Superalgebras of Matrices with Symmetry Properties, Linear and Multilinear Algebra (published online 2017).
- [33] S. L. Hill, M. C. Lettington and K. M. Schmidt, Block Representation and Spectral Properties of Constant Sum Matrices, Electronic Journal of Linear Algebra, 34, pp. 170-190.
- [34] M. N. Huxley, Exponential Sums and Lattice Points III, Proc. London Math. Soc. 87, 2003, pp.591-609.
- [35] M. N. Huxley, Exponential Sums and Lattice Points II, Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society 66, 1993, pp. 279-301.
- [36] H. Iwaniec and C. J. Mozzochi, On the Divisor and Circle Problem, Journal of Number Theory 29, 1988, pp. 60-93.
- [37] D. E. Knuth, The Art of Computer Programming: Volume 1: Fundamental Algorithms, Addison Wesley, 1997.

- [38] J. P. S. Kung, *Möbius Inversion*, Encyclopedia of Mathematics, 2001.
- [39] I. E. Leonard, Notes on Elementary Number Theory, University of Alberta, 2010.
- [40] M. C. Lettington, Fleck's Congruence, Associated Magic Squares and a Zeta Identity, Functiones et Approximatio Commentarii Mathematici 45(2), 2011, pp. 165-205.
- [41] M. C. Lettington, Topics Related to the Theory of Numbers, PhD Thesis, Cardiff University, 2009.
- [42] J. E. Littlewood and A. Walfisz, *The Lattice Points of a Circle*, Proceedings of the Royal Society London (A) 106, 1925, pp.478-488.
- [43] G. Martin and K. O'Bryant, Many Sets Have More Sums Than Differences, CRM Proceedings and Lecture Notes: American Mathematical Society, 2006, pp.287-305.
- [44] E. McClintock, On the Most Perfect Forms of Magic Squares, with Methods for Their Production, American Journal of Mathematics 19(2), 1897, pp.99-120.
- [45] M. B. Nathanson, Sets with more Sums than Differences, Integers 7, 2007, pp.1-24.
- [46] K. Ollerenshaw, On Most Perfect or Complete 8 × 8 Pandiagonal Magic Squares, Proceedings of the Royal Society of London A407, 1989, pp.259-281.
- [47] K. Ollerenshaw and H. Bondi, *Magic Squares of Order* 4, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A306, 1982, pp.443-532.
- [48] K. Ollerenshaw, Living Mathematics: Introduction to the 25th Anniversary Issue, Bulletin of the Institute of Mathematics and its Applications 25, 1989, pp.55-56.
- [49] C. Planck, Pandiagonal Magic of Orders 6 and 10 with Minimal Numbers, The Monist 29.2, 1919, pp. 307-316.
- [50] S. Ramanujan, G.H. Hardy, P.V. Aiyar and B.M. Wilson, Collected Papers of Ramanujan, American Mathematical Society, 1927.
- [51] I. Z. Ruzsa, On the number of sums and differences, Acta Mathematica Hungarica vol 59, 1992, pp. 439-447.
- [52] W. Schwarz, J. Spilker, Arithmetical Functions, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series 184, 1994.
- [53] J. Solymosi, On the Number of Sums and Products, Bulletin of the London Mathematical Society 37, 2005, pp.491-494.
- [54] R. P. Stanley, Enumerative Combinatorics Volume 1, Cambridge University Press, 1999.
- [55] E. C. Titchmarsh, R. Heath-Brown, The Theory of the Reimann Zeta-function, Oxford University Press, 1986.
- [56] I. M. Vinogradov, Anzahl der Gitterpunkte in der Kugel, Traveaux Inst. Phys.-Math. Stekloff (Leningrade) 9, 1935, pp.17-38.

- [57] E. W. Weisstein, *Dirichlet Divisor Problem*, Wolfram Web Resource: http://mathworld.wolfram.com/DirichletDivisorProblem.html.
- [58] E. W. Weisstein, *Divisor Function*, Wolfram Web Resource: http://mathworld.wolfram.com/DivisorFunction.html.
- [59] E. M. Wright, G. H. Hardy and R. Heath-Brown, An Introduction to the Theory of Numbers, Oxford University Press, 1979.